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INTRODUCTION.

THE following reply to the ¢ Awful Exposure,”
consists of two parts. Part L. is occupied with
an examination and refutation of that book. And Part
II. contains the principal arguments, which may be
adduced in confirmation of Maria Monk's “ Awful
Disclosures.” The work is somewbhat more exten-
sive than it was first designed to be; and yet, in
some respects, it is less full than could be wished,
or than was originally intended. On some points,
the author has failed in his attempts to obtain from
Canada, such .information as he has sought for.
It appears that, for some cause or other, several of
his letters sent by mail to gentlemen in Montreal,
have never been received by the persons to whom
they werce directed.

The author has also found an extreme backward-
ness on the part of individuals, especially in Canada,
to furnish such testimony as they possess, in‘support’
of Miss Monk’s claims to public confidéfice; in
some instances, he has met with an absolute refusal ;
in others, he has received a strict prohibition to pub-
lish any thing in connexion with their names. This
is particularly true, as it respects Miss Monk's near-
est relatives, some of whom are using every means
in their power to induce her to deny the truth of
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her narrative, going so far as even to threaten her
life, if she does not do it. The public will deduce
their own inferences from such conduct.

The author would further remark, that his pro-
duction has the usual defects of hasté in composi-
tion. IFrom a variety of circumstances, he has felt
himself compelled to hasten his publication, as rap-
idly as possible. He has done the best he could
under existing circumstances. His sole object has
been to elicit and exhibit the truth, in regard to the
“ Awful Disclosures.” He has, thercfore, one re-
quest to make of the public, and it is certainly a
very just one. It.is, that he may receivean impar-
tial trial, before he shall be condemined, either as to
his motives or hisconduct. The subject is extreme:
ly exciting, and is attended with difficulties peculiar
to itself It would be a wonder, therefore, if he had
not erred in some minor particulars; but he will ac-
knowledge his errors, whatever.they may be, as soon
as they shall be satisfactorily pointed out to him. The
subject is one of deep and solemn interest to the
parties concerned, and all he-wishes in regard to
the matter is, that the truth, whatever it may be,
may be brought to light.

J. J. SLOCUM.

New York, Nov. 7th, 1836. '
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PART I

REPLY TO THE PRIESTS’ BOOK,

DENOMINATED “AWFUL EXPOSURE OF AN ATROCIOUS PLOT
FORMED BY CERTAIN INDIVIDUALS AGAINST THE CLERGY
AND NUNS OF LOWER CANADA, THROUGH THE INTERVEN-
TION OF MARIA MONK.

CHAPTER I

GENERAL REMARKS.

Culpable eonduct of the priests——Authors of the “ Awful Exposure’'—
Eutitled the Priests’ Book— its contents—its style and spirit vulgar—
Clamorous about matters of iifling importance— Exirancous matter.

Ir Maria Monk be an impostor, the conduct of the
Montreal Roman priesthood is unpardonable. At the
commencement of the controversy, they ought to have
shown it, so clearly as to have silenced every reason-
able doubt on the subject. This could have been done
with very little trouble, and have saved the world from
the painful excitement which her disclosures have
produced. Had the doors of the Hotel Dieu Nunnery
-been opened for the inspection of a few impartial ex-
aminers, when she first appealed to the test of exami-
nation, in the August of 1835; or had a single page
of credible testimony been produced, clearly proving
an alibi in her case—the work would have been ac-
complished, and the “ Aw{ul Disclosures” would never
have seen the light. ‘

But very different has been the course pursued by
heropponents. They steadfastly refused, for the space
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of about one year, to subject that convent to the pro-
posed test; and even then refused to have it explored,
except by individuals of their own selecting, such as
were known to be hostile to Miss Monk’s claims. The
consequence has been to deepen the conviction on the
public mind, that her pretensions, as an ex-nun, are
founded in truth.

It is true, they collected and published to the world
in November, 1535, several affidavits, the object of
which was to prove that she was unworthy of confi-
dence, and that she had never been a nun. These
affidavits, however, were of such a character as to
produce an effect, opposite to their intention, on the
minds of those who had the means and the ability
intelligently to examine them.

The boolt recently published in New York, entitled,
“ Awf{ul Exposure of the atrocious plot formed by cer-
tain individuals against the clergy and nuns of Lower
Canada, through the intervention of Maria Monk,” is
of such a character, that it will by no means terminate
the dizpute between Maria Monk and the priests.

“Who is the author ?”? is an iaquiry which naturally
springs up in the mind, when we first take up a book
to read, that we have never seen before. In regard to
the book above named, it is believed, that the inquiry
will be made in vain. As to authorship, it is name-
less. Accurding to the title page, its publishers are
“Jones & Co., of Montreal.”” Mr. Jones has made
different and contradictory statements as to who wrote
it. Tie has repeatedly alleged himself to be the au-
thor, and as such, responsible for its contents. He
has also said that a gentleman by the name of Mr.
McGan, was its author. But a Philadelphia priest,
in a letter from Montreal to the Catholic Herald, says,
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#] am happy to be able to inform you that there is
forthcoming a most satisfactory review of the vile
work, (Awful Disclosures,) from the pen of a talented
Scotch gentleman of this place.” Now, Mr. Jones is
a French Canadian, and Mr. McGan an Irishman.
We have then, according to these statements, a irio of
authors; a Canadian Frenchman, an Irishman, and a
Scotchman; the representatives of three different
nations. The probability is, that neither of them
wrote it.

The book is written in defence of the Canadian
priests and nuns; and was announced before publica-
tion, and recommended after it, by priests in this and
other cities. And if credible report be true, money
from the priests’ treasury sustained the-expense of
getting it up. It undoubtedly has their sanction. I
can, therefore, see no impropriety in calling it, The
Priests’ Book. If they did not write it themselves, it
was written for them in their defence, and may at
least, be called theirs in this sense, if in no other.
Having thus found a name for it, let us proceed in our
examination of its contents and general character.*

The book before us is a small 18mo., containing
about 130 pages. After the introduction, which con-
tains a fulsome eulogy on the exalted character of the

* I _have understood that Mr. Jones is endeavoring to pru-
duce the impression that the priests of Lower Canada wholly
dieregard this book—not having purchased a single copy of it.
I trust that none will be gulled by this priestly manceavre. It
is undoubtedly the object of the wily priesta to conceal them-
velves behind Mr. Jones and others, whom they use as the
mere tools of their defence. The priests are cclebrated for this
mode of warfare. I expect a flourish in respect to this matter.
Perhaps Mr. Jones will falsifv himself, once at least, in refer-
ence toit. -~

9]
~
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priests, nuns, and convents of Lower Canada, we
have 71 pages occupied with unsupported denials of
the truth of Maria Monk’s statements, interspersed
with jeers and scoffs at her and her friends. Then
comes a chapter of some reight or nine pages as a
“biographical article on the life of Maria Monk,”—
the charvacter of which I forbear naming at present.
The remainder of the book contains affidavits and let-
ters, the object of which is to prove, 1st, that Maria
Monk has never been a nun—2d, that she lived in
sundry specified places during the time, which, she
says, she spent in the convent—3d, that she obtained
her nunnery knowledge from the Montreal Magdalen
Asylum—ith, that she has described the asylum in-
stead of the nunnery—>5th, that her character from her
earliest vouth has been lewd, lying, thievish, and ad-
venturous—~6th, that the father of her child is not
priest Phelan, but one Louis Malo of Montreal. Such
1s an outline of the priests’ book.

Whoever will take the trouble to examine this hook
of the priests, will find it to be of a character ex-
tremely vulgar, both in its style and in its spirit. Its
spirit is any thing rather than what it should be. This
1s the more to be regretted by the friends of truth, be-
causc of the immense importance of the subject dis-
cussed. Such are anxious to know the truth; and if
Miss Monk is an impostor, they wish to know it, that
they may treat her and her disclosures accordingly.
On the other hand, if her narrative is essentially true,
they wish to be convinced of it, in order that they may
make such use of it, as the cause of suffering humanity
an.d religion ¢-uand. But how will they be repulsed
with the grossness, the bitterness, and the denypci-

atory spirit, of this book! Qnre thing is very certain,
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and that is, if the priests have the truth on their side,
their cause is most wretchedly managed in the pre-
sent instance,

A specimen of the coarse vulgarity spoken of may
be seen, in the manner in which Miss Monk is gener-
ally spoken of by the priests. They call her “ Monk
the thief)” “the tool Monk,” “the prostitule Monk,”
&e. &e. In a single chapter she is called * Monk"
upwards of seventy times. Now, whatever the char-
acter of Maria Monk may be, it can afford no justifi-
cation for so gross a breach on the appropriate use of
language. 1t both' offends and insults the readers
themselves.

The authors of the “ Awful Exposure,” are very
clamorous respecting matters in Maria Monk’s hook
which are of trifling importance to mankind,—such
as Miss Monk’s ignorance of dates—of the proper use
and translation of French phrases—of the correct
spelling of names—of the true names of the different
convents, and of their founders, &ec. &e. Now sup-
pose she has erred in these matters, what does it
amount 10? If in spelling Bourgeois, she spells it
Bourgeoise, adding the letter e, when, according to
the priests, it should not be added, what is th. mis-
chief done? This mistake is more than once gravely
pointed out, by the writers of the “ Awful Exposure.”
Respecting dates they remark:—* We repeat here that
the utter absence of dates from the pretended *Dis-
closures,” ought in itself to have been sufficient to
cause their rejection by a man of common sense and
common honesty.” This is very remarkable indeed.

Rejeet the solemn testimony of an eloped nun, re-
specting the secret practices of her former secluded
abode, on the simple ground of her incapacity to recol-
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lect the dates, when such and such things narrated
by her occurred! One is instinctively led to ask,
whether the writer of this passage can possibly be in
earnest 2 Nuns have little or no occasion to disci-
pline their memories to retain dates. They are pro-
fessedly dead to the world, and all its variations of
time. To them, life is made up of one monoto-
nous round of senseléss ceremonies. Besides, what
1s it to the world whether Maria Monk is a correct
scholar or no, 50 as accurately 1o mark dates—to trans-
late T'rench phrases—to spell names, &ec.? The
great question is, has she correctly delineated the
character of Canadian priests and Convents? But
were it not trifling with the reader’s patience, it were
easy to show that most of the charges brought
against her book, in respect to these matters, are with-
out foundation. Tt were easy to point out two literary
blunders in their own book, for every ore that can be
marked in hers. Buat I forbear, as it would be of ne
use to the cause of truth. The assertion, however,
that her book is without dates is untrue, the priests
themselves contradicting it, as will be shown hereaf-
ter. And as for bad spelling in Miss Monk’s book,
seeing the pricsts have seniuch to say about it, I will
furnish my readers with a single specimen of their
own. They give us an affidavit from a woman,
whose name is spelt at its commencement, Jane Mec-
Coy, but at its close, itisspelt, Jean McKuy. If the
pricsts wiil point out as great a blunder as this, in’
Miss Monk’s book, I will yield to them the vietory im
point of spelling.
There are many statements in the book before us,
\Yhich have little or nothing to do with the great ques-
ton in dispute, namely ; whether Maria Monk was
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ever an inmate of the Hotel Dieu Nunnery of Mon-
treal, and, having been such, reveals the vicious prac-
tices of priests and nuns ; or whether she is an impos-
tor, and, of course, her disclosures a mere fiction—
‘ the vicious workings of a distempered brain.” Eve-
ry thing disconnected with this, will be passed over
unnoticed, as extraneous matter. Among the state-
ments referred to, are. those which speak of her vi-
cious habits out of the Convent, and at the very time
she professes to have been a cloistered nun. Of
course, if it be proved that her profession is founded
in truth, then all these assertions, affidavits, &c. muzt
be so many false aspersions upon her character.

2%
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CHAPTER IL

MISREPRESENTATIONS AND CONTRADICTIONS.

The priests and Miss Monk contradict each other—The priests worthy
of no confidence—Contradict Dr. Robertsen; Louis Malo; them-
sclves; Miss Monk—Misrepresent Lher—False statements about the
sale of Fancy Articles—Another respecting Congregational Nuns
being in the States—Another abont the use of a coffin, when the
veil is taken—Alleged attempt of Mrs. Monk to introduce her
daughter into the Nunnery—Three reasons assigned for her failure
—3Siupid inendacity—Gross absurdity and perjury—DMiss Monk
charged with disrespect for her mother—Untrue—Celebrated pencil
story—Miss Monk falsely charged with insanity—Ier statements re-
specling priests denouncing the Protestant Bible contradicted—Con-
firmed by extracts from Popes and the Council of Trent—Shifts of
the Rowan priesthood to conceal the Bible from the people—Seve-
ral misstatements—Testimony of a lady who was three years in the
Congregational Nunnery.

Tae ¢ Awful Exposure” devotes one of its chap-
ters to pointing out misrepresentations, said to be con-
taired in Maria Monk’s book. This chapter, however,
like several others, is occupied simply with contradic-
tions, and ridicule of her statements. Maria Moak
declares that certain things and practices existed in
the Congregational Nunnery and in the Hotel Dieu,
during the time of her residence in those Convents ;
and her opponents stoutly deny the truth of what she
asseiis. INow which of the parties are to be credited ?
Forthe truth of many of herstatements, Maria Monkap-
pea'sd, waen she first made them, to an examination of
the totei Dien Con-ent; thusaffordine a touchstone,
by Wh'ich they could hav > been infallibiy tested. But
the priests refused to have \e matter thus brought to
a fair rial.  And now, at this late period, the;' give
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us a book in which, upon their own unsupported au-
thority, they flatly contradict what she says. Again,
I aslt, whom shall we believe? Whose conduct best
comports with the appearance of honesty and truth?
Maria Monk travelled from New York to Montreal,
and there, upon oath, made her solemn chaiges against
the inmates and visiters of the Convent; and appeal-
ed 10 a simple test, easily applied, by which, if untrue,
they could have been disproved in a single hour.
Certainly, on her part, this looks like honesty, in the
highest degree. On the other hand, the corduct of
the priests has every appearance of conscious guilt.
Matters being thus, therefore, the unsupported con-
tradictions of the priests, when placed in the scale op-
_posite to Miss Monk’s statements, are lighter than a
“ puff of empty air.”

It is not my design to notice all the particulars,
concerning which, the priests declare that Maria
Monk has made false statements. In themselves
considered, many of these thingsare of no consequence.
I shall therefore notice only a few of them ; enough,
however, toshow that the writers of the “Awful Expo-
sure” are as destitute of veracity, as they would fain
have us to believe that Miss M. is. I confess that my
main object at present is to show, that no confidence
whatever can be reposed in any thing these men say.
For this purpose I will present my readers with a few
(if I may be allowed to express myself in plain Eng-
lish) of their most palpable lies ; taken inespective
of order from different parts their book.

Itis admitted on all hands, that Maria Monk was in
jail for a few days in the month of November, 1634.
She had stated it, and it had been written down be-
fore her opponents ever mentioned it.  She states in
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her narrative, that after leaving the Convent she took
passage in a steamboat for Quebee—that the Captain,
mistrusting who she was, detained her as a prisoner,
and brought her back to Montreale-that she escaped
from his boat, quite early. in the morning, and wan-
dered about the city of Montreal—-that amidst her suf-
ferings and fears, she determined to drown herself]
and accordingly flung herself into the Lachine Canal--
that she was rescued ere life was extinet, and brought
before Doctor Robertson, whose questions to her, as
to who she was, she declined, from prudential rea-
sons, to answer; and that he, “ thinking her to be ob-
stinate and unreasonable, sent her to jail.” Such is
the substance of Maria Monk’s statement of the mat-
ter. See Awful Disclosures, p. 262.*

On page 7, of their book, the priests declare that
she was imprisoned for theft. On page 94, Doctor
Robertson says in his affidavit :—* As she could not
give a satisfactory account of herself| I, as a Justice
of the Peace, sent her to jail as a vagrant.” Here
then the priests deelare that her imprisenment wa.-
for theft ; while the magistrate who imprisoned her
affirms, that he did it on the ground of her beinga
vagrant. Who tells the truth, the priests or Doctor
Robertson? One thing is certain, either the priests
have told an untruth for the purpose of sinking the
character of Maria Monk, or their Doctor has perjur-
ed himself. 1 leave it f'or them to decide which is
true. I will only add, that the unfeeling paragraph
on page 66, respecting “ Monk’s bemcr immured in
the Montreal house of correction,” refers 1o the same
imprisonment: and that what is said on page 74,

* 1 use the last editions of Miss Monk’s Disclosures.
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respecting “ Capt. Armstrong’s carrying her on board
his boat to Quebec ; and looking upon her as insane;
and lotking her up in his state-room,”—evidently re-
fers to the voyage which she says she made on bhoard
of his boat, just before her attempt to drown herself in
the Lachine canal. This was in November, 1834,
though it is said in the priests’ account of it, to have
been in the year 1829. Now it is my deliberate opin-
ion, that the priests have inserted 1829, in the place
of 1834. How could Miss Monk’s account of the
voyage agree so exactly with that of Capt. Arm-
strong’s, except the year, unless they both refer to the
same voyage ? “ Awful Disclosures,” page 262,

The priests say that Maria Monk was an inmate of
the Montreal Magdalen Asylum, from the close of
November, 1834, until about the beginning of March,
1835. Respecting her conduct while there, on page
78 they say :—“1It was even discovered that the se-
clusion of the Asylum, did not prevent her from re-
newing her intercourse with the constable. She re-
ceived his visits, and held converse with him through
the yard enclosure.” Now compare this with what
the constable Malo says in his affidavit, page 93. He
affirms that he parted with Maria Monk sometime in
October, 1834, and that he “never heard of her after-
wards, until about the early part of the month of
September last, (1835.)” Here then is a direct con-
tradiction between the parties. The priests declare
that the constable paid his visits to Maria Monk du-
ring the winter of 1831-35; while the constable af-
firms that he never heard of her from October, 1834,
until September, 1835. Here again the priests have
fabricated a malignant falsehood, in order to asperse
and blacken Maria Monk’s character, or Louis Maulo
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peace and freedom from impertinence.” Now be it
known to all the world, that there are fancy articles
nqw in this city, (New York,) in the possession of a
highly respectable and Christian lady, which she pur-
chased in the Gray and Hotel convents of Montreal,
about the middle of last August, 1836, and for which
she paid some three or four times their real value.
These articles, [ have both seen and handled, so that
there can be no mistake in the matter. What then
can we think of a set of men, who are so utterly lost
toall truth, as to be capable of fabricating a falsehood,
s0 palpable, for the sake of making good their decla-
ration, “that Maria Monk has not made a correct
statement in her book concerning the convents.”
This declaration Jones and Leclerc made times al-
most without number in this city, while their book was
publishing. Since the foregoing was penned, Col.
Stone, their recent champion, thus contradicts them:
“In each of the apartments visited, articles of fancy
needlework were produced, sales of which are made
for the benefit of the institution. We appeal on this
subject to every person who has ever visited the Hotel
Dieu.

It is stated by Maria Monk in her disclosures, that
nuns of the Congregational Nunnery, or sisters of
charity, as they are sometimes called, are sent to dif-
ferent parts of the United States, as instructresses of
§cllools. This her opponents deny, as usual. There
1s, l?owever, something rather uncommon about this
:]‘e;;]al, viz. a reason assigned' for it in these words:—

e rules of the foundation expressly limit the
labours c-:.f the sisterhood to Canada.” God has a rule
also, which is, that men should always speak the truth
and never lie. But what do priests and nuns care for
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rules, whether they be ordained of God, or of lhex.n-
selves, if they cross their wishes? Now, there is,
or was a short time since, a female, call her a sister
of charity or a Congregational nun, or whatever else
you please, in New York, who is in someway con-
nected with the Montreal convents. Her name 1s
Miss Keoph, and she is a teacher of young ladies, and
when she gets a company of them suitably bewitched
to go to the Montreal convents “to finish their educa-
tion,” she packs off with them. When making her
second trip from this city to Canada, some three or
four years since, accompanied by six of her pupiis,
she travelled in company with my informant, a gen-
tleman of respectability, during the latter part of her
journey. She stated to him that she was connected
with the Congregational Nunnery—that she received
her education there—that she had intended to take the
veil ; but was refused on the ground of “her levity !”
and was appointed to tlie work of teaching in the
States. I doubt not, that many more might be found
of the same description in the States on a little in-
quiry, notwithstanding “their rules limit their labors
to Canada.” So much for their “rules.” ,
In describing the ceremonies connected with her
taking the veil, Maria Monk speaks of a coffin into
which she placed herself, as if dead ; thus signifying
her renunciation of, or rather dying unto the world:
{and I have no doubt but the priests have wished a
thousand times that her dying had been real instead
of fareical.) The use of a coffin on such occasions is
denied by the authors of the book before us. “Is it
necessary,” they ask, * to say that there is no such
cofin 7’ I answer, ves, if Maria Mouk is to be con-
tradicted in all her statements. But if it be asked,

£

v
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whether truth demands it, I answer, no. It is ama-
zing that these men should have the- impudence to
insinuate that no such coffin is used on such occa-
sions, when they must know that every person who
has any knowledge on the subject, knows that their
insinuation is untrue. A wmultitude of witnesses
might be oltained, if it were necessary, to confirm
Miss Monk’s statement. I will mention a Catholic
gentleman, by the name of Guerin dit La Fontain,
who resides in La Prairie, near Montreal. This
gentleman was recently in New York, and, although
not a believer in the “ Awful Disclosures,” yet he
stated that he was present, sometime since, at the
reception of a nun into the Hotel Dieu, and that on
that ocecasion a coffin was used.

On page 74, we have an account of a voyage made
by Maria Monk to Quebec, on board the Hercules
steamer. 'This, we are told, was in the year 1820,
*On her return to Monureal, her mother was induced
1o endeavor to get her received into a Convent.” But
Mrs. Monk failed in her endeavor. Three reasons are
mentioned as the ground of her failure. First, Mrs.
Monk’s poverty. On page 42, we are informed that
the admission fee into the Nunnery, is *“three thou-
sand francs, or about {ive hundred and sixty dollars.”
" But Mrs. Monk was too poor to pay so great a sum
thercfore her daughter could not be admitted into the
Romish “holy of holies.” None but ‘the rich, it
seems, are allowed to enter the popish heaven through
this exalted channel. Very charitable, indeed, for a
house of charity. Another reason assigned for Mrs.
Monk’s failure is, that “ Maria was not a Roman Ca-
‘tholic,” though she expressed a “readiness to become
one.” The remaining reason is expressed in the fol-
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lowing words :—“ As the Convents of Montreal are
not asylums for corrected vice, or reformed profligacy,
Maria’s previous habits rendered her admittance, even
as a postulante, utterly impossible.” In reading this
passage, one is paturally lead to ask—Suppose that
Maria Monk had been as vicious and profligate as is
here insinuated, and that she wished to reform and
live a life of purity, placing herself beyond the reach
of temptation, ought she to have been denied the
privilege 7 “ Do not publicans and harlots,” on condi-
tion of their reforming, *enter into the kingdom of
God,” while “whited sepulchres” are excluded 2 1Is
the Hotel Dieu more holy than the kingdom of
Gnd?

But my design in noticing this passage, is to show
that, what is said here respeeting Maria Monk’s ha-
bits of vice and profligacy, is as untrue as it is base
and calumnious. The first sentence in the chapter
from which the above extract is taken, is in the fol-
lowing words :—% Maria Monk was born at St.
John’s, in Lower Canada, about the year 1817, and
is now in her nineteenth year.” It was in the year
1829, we art told, that the application of her mother
to have her received into the nunnery, was refused
for the above reasons. It was seven years ago; of
course, according to their own showing, she must
have been in her twelfth year! and yet, habituated
in vice and profligacy ! 1 leave the reader to select
his own language, in which to express his abhorrence
of such mendacity.

The gross absurdities and falsehoods. into which
the Compilers of the “ Awful Exposure,” in their un-
righteous attempts to annihilate the slightest appear-
ance of virtue in the character of Maria Monk, are
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almost as cadless as they are sickening to a virtuous
mind. On page S5, speaking of her residence in St
Denis, they say :—% She pursued her adopted profes-
sion (school teaching) during the spring, summer,
and autumn of 1833, and on the 2d of December in
the same year, entered the employment of Miss
Louise Bousquet, government School Mistress, as
her English Assistant.” DMiss Bousquet testifies that
she remained as English teacher in her school about
seven months. The point to which I wish to direct
the attention of the reader, in this counnexion, is
this :—That a girl of Maria Monk’s alleged charac-
ter should have been thus employed as a school
teacher. It seems that this singular compound of
“confirmed vagrancy,” “strange flightiness and
unaccountable irregularities,” * insantty,” “thiev-
ery,” “lies,” and “profligacy,” was employed from
the spring of 1833, until the month of July, 1834, as
an English school teacher, in St. Denis ! In the fol-
lowing November, they tell us, she entered the Mag-
dalen Asylum, of Montreal, under the management
of “the exemplary and charitable Mrs. McDonell,”
who, “ after making oath on the Holy Evangelists,
declared : That she understood that the said Maria
had, for many years, led the life of a stroller and a
prostitute.” Several of Mrs. McDonell’s pupils in the
Asylum swear to the same thing. Thus we are told
on one page that Maria Monk was teaching school
in 8t. Denis, for some 14 or 15 months: and then on
another, a whole tribe of Magdalens, Matron and all,
come forward and swear that she was leading, at the
same time, the life of a wandering prostitute, O,
shame, where is thy blush!

Again, lest there should be one spot in -the charace
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ter of Maria Monk unblackened, these men charge
upon her the want of respect towards her mother.
On page 82, they say:—“The conduct of Monk
towards her mother has always been ungrateful ; and
her habit of indulging in calumnious remarks on her
parent, could be testified to by hundreds of witness-
es.” Yes: so could any thing else by such wit-
nesses. It were no great matter to prove, by such
characters, that the sun was a jack-o’-lantern, the
moon a haystack, and the stars, a flock of sheep.
The charge here brought against Miss Monk, by
her imbittered enemies, I am confident, has no foun-
dation in truth. One thing is certain, if ever a child
had cause for unkind feeling towards a parent, it is
Maria Monk. Mrs. Monk has treated her daughter
in a most unfeeling and unparental manner. Her
conduct relating to her pretended affidavit, is unpar-
donable. Alas, that a mother could ever become so
callous in her feelings towards an own child, bone of
her bone, and flesh of her flesh! Mrs. Monk knovws,
as well as she knows any thing, that many of the
statements, which she is represented as making in
her affidavit, are untrue. She ought, therefore, to re-
pent for having sold herself to such a body of unprin-
cipled men, as are the Montreal Romish priests. It
is true, as I believe, she has represented to Maria,
that she never swore to the affidavit which bears her
name ; that the priests carried it to her, and secured
a promise from her that she never would contradict
its statements. Hence the fact, that it is without her
signature. This she ought to publish to the world, and
to do all she can to vindicate her danghter, from the
numberless calumnies which are heaped upon her.
On the other hand, the feelings of Maria towards her
3x
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mother, since she has been in New York, have been
of a very filial character, as all who have any know-
ledge on the subject would readily testify. - On all
occasions, she goes as far as truth will admit, in vin-
dicating her mother’s conduct. The severe, though
perhaps just, remarks on the character of Mrs. Monk,
which are contained in the dissertation published in
the Appendix to the * Awful Disclosures,” from the
hand of a gentleman of this eity, have always been
a source of grief to Maria. I well recollect how she
felt when she [irst saw them; but it was too late
then to make alterations.

On page 73, we have the celebrated peneil story.
Itis as follows:—*“It appears that Maria, while at
school, had her ear perforated by a slate pencil, and
that a piece of the pencil has remained in her ear to
this day. Her sufferings arising from this cause have
been acute, and have led to the supposision that her
intellect bas been from the time of the accident, seri-
ously and badly affected. It is known to medical
Jurisconsults, that no question is of more difficult de-
termination than that of alleged insanity. Thus it
lias happened that the cause of her malady still sub-
sists, and that she still endures its effects.” To say
the least, this is a curious piece of historic knowledge.
There are, however, two statements in it, which are
as distant from truth, as the southern from the north-
ern pole. First, the declaration that a piece of a slate
pencil remains in her ear to this day, is too ridicu-
lously false to deserve hardly a passing notice. The
origin of the story is this; when Maria Moak was
quite a child, she and another little girl were at play,
and they put each into the other’s car a piece of slate
pencil. Maria says the piece in her ear remained for
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some time ; but she declares, that she ca.nnot pos:i-
tively tell, now, whether it was in her rlght, or in
her left ear. The assertion, therefore, that it remaing
to this day in her ear, and that she still suffers from
it, is destitute of the least semblance of truth. But
we are told that the pencil remaiuos, seriously affect-
ing her intelleet, and producing, if not absul_ute in~
sanity, “strange flightiness and unaccountable irregu-
larities.” But to talk of an effect without a cause,
is an absurdity ; and in the present case we see that
the alleged cause does not exist, Therefore the al-
leged effect cannot exist. If Maria Monk is insane,
it is unaccountable that none of her friends in New
York have ever been able to discover the least indica-
tions of it. When her friends call to mind what she
has passed through since she left the convent, they
wonder that she has not been driven to insanity.
Not one female in ten thousand would have endured
the ordeal, through which she has been enabled to
pass without injury. With an infant in her arms,
she commenced the contest. She told her sad tale;
but scarce anybody was prepared to believe it, It
was too horrible for belief. Hence all about her was
suspicion. Her circumstances were suspicious. She
was examined, re-examined, and cross-exan:ined by
every sort of people. She has been persecuted by
Catholics and by Protestants. Malice has direct-
ed against her its bitterest arrows of slander. Her
feelings have been excited to the highest pitch
for days and weeks, for she is naturally very ex-
citable, being constitutionally sensitive. And yet,
amidst all her excitements, she has never given any
symptoms of insanity while she has been in New
York. What confidence, therefore, can be reposed
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in the multipled charges of insanity whieh are made
against her in the “ Awful Exposure?” Sad indeed
must be the predicament of truth, if it needs for its
support such weapons.

But this charge itself is one of the proofs of her
having been a nun. It appears to be the standing or-
der to charge upon every female who makes disclo-
sures, disadvantageous to eonvents, madness and in-
sanity. Rome set the example. Says Scipio de
Rieei, “ they say at Rome, to defend the Monks, that
the two nuns are mad ; but up to the present hour, no
one has ever taken them for such.” Thus Miss Reed
was mad or insane, and also Miss Harrison, and now
Maria Mork.

“ Among the instructions given us by the priests,”
says Maria Monk, “some of the most pointed were
those directed against the Protestant Bible. They
often enlarged upon the evil tendency of.that book, and
told us that but for it many a soul now condemned fo
hell, and suffering eternal punishment, might have
been in happiness. They could not say any thing
in its favor; for that would be speaking against re-
ligion and against God. They warned us against it
as a thing very dangerous to our souls.” In com-
menting on this passage, the “ Awful Exposure” be-
comes quite warm and wrathful. It is denounced as
the “language of a New York Conventicle.” “Itis
atterly incredible, nay, impossible in the ordinary
course of things, that the language aseribed to the
priests should have been used by them.” ¢ The word
of God is the Christian’s text, Protestants and Catho-
lics equally revere it.” “It is well known that Roman
Catholic clergymen are more given to scriptural quo-
tation than the ministers of any other denomination ;
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good taste is frequently offended by their escess n
this particular ! !

Whom now are we to believe, in this case, Maria
‘Mook or her opponents, the priests? Every intelli-
gent reader will teply at once, Maria Monk. Be-
cause her statements agree perfectly with the instrue-
tions, on this subject, given by popes and Councils:
and on the other hand the language of her antagonists,
is condemned by these high and infallible Romish
authorities. A few specimens shall here be given,
illustrating and confirming the truth of this declara-
tion. In 1713, Pope Clement XI. issued the celebra-
ted bull Unigenitus. In this he condemns certain
“Moral reflections on the New Testament,” by Fa-
ther Quesnel, stigmatizing them as “ false, captious,
schocking, offensive to pious ears, scandalous, perni-
cious, rash, seditjous, impious, blasphemous.” Among
the reflections thus unmercifully condemned by “ his
holiness,” the following are to be found: that “it is
useful and necessary, at all times, in all places, and
for all sorts cf persons, to study and know the spirit,
piety, and mysteries of the Holy Scripture ;” that “ the
reading of the Holy Secripture is for everybody;”
that “ the Lord’s day ought to be sanctified by Chris-
tians in reading pious books, and above all, the Holy
Scriptures.”  In 1816, Pope Pius VII. writing to the
Archbishop of Gnezn, calls the Bible Society a ** most
crafty device, by which the very foundations of religion
are undermined,” a “ pestilence,” and “ defilement of
the faith, most imminently dangerous to souls.” Pope
Leo XII in 1824, speaking of the same institution,
says that it “strolls with eifrontery throughout the
wqud, contemning the traditions of the Holy Fathers,
and contrary to the well known decree of the Coun-
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cil of Trent, labors with all its might, and by every
means, to translate or rather to pervert, the Holy Bi-
ble into the vulgar languages of every nation.” Thus
bitter are the popes against a soeiety which labors
to furnish mankind with the word of God, in lan-
guages which they canread. But as the subject is of
such vital importance, and as some Catholies admit
that popes may err in their decisions, but all agree
that a general council sanctioned by a pope cannot,
I will here subjoin the fourth rule of the Congrega-~
tion cf the Index, of the Council of Trent, which is
the last general council ever held by the Romish
Church. It is as follows =—* Inasmuch as it is mani-
fest from experience, that if the Holy Bible, transla-
ted into the vulgar tongue, be indiscriminately allow-
ed to every one, the temerity of men will cause more
evil than good to arise from it, it is, on this point, re-
ferred to the judgment of the bishops, or inguisitors,
who may, by the advice of the priests or confessors,
permit the reading of the Bible translated into the
vulgar tongue by Catholic authers, to those persons
whose faith and piety, they apprehend, will be aug-
mented, and not injured by it; and this permission
they must have in writing. Butif any oane shall have
the presumption to read or possess it without such
written permission, he shall not receive absolution
until he have first delivered up such Bible to the or-
dinary. Booksellers, however, who shall sell, or
otherwise dispose of Bibles in the vulgar tongue, to
any person not having such permission, shall forfeit
the value of the books, to be applied by the bishop to
some pious use ; and be subjected by the bishop to
such other penalties as the bishop shall think proper,
according to the quality of the offence. Put regulars
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shall neither read nor purchase such Bibles without
a special license from their superiors.”

Truly, the Bible must be a very bad book, or infal-
libility must have erred in this instance. The truth
is, there is no book in the world so destructive to
Catholicism as is the Bible. It is not to be wondered
at, therefore, that general councils, popes, bishops,
and priests, are o anxious to lock it up in a language
which the people de not understand. Nor is it to be
wondered at, that, when the people become so rebel-
iious as te demand it in their mother tongue, their
priests put them off with something as remote from
the true Bible, as they can possibly satisfy them with.
Hence, in different countries the people have different
Bibles, graduated according to the light with which
they are surrounded. In countries where there are
but few heretics, a mere primer, called the Bible, will
answer every purpose. A curious specimen of this
was observed by the learned and pious Daniel Wilson,
bishop of the Episcopal church in the East Indies,
during his travels in the summer of 1833, on the con-
tinent of Europe. Says he, “as I walked down the
hill, 1 asked our guide if he had a Bible. He told me
be had, and that he read it constantly. I asked him
a few questions about the Old and New Testament
history ; when I discovered that his Bible was a pam-
phlet of eighteen or nineteen pages, drawn up by the
priests. He had no idea that there was any book
such as we mean by the Bible—so sad is the igno-
rance of these poor people.” Here is popery in its
meridian splendors, if darkness have splendors. How
numerous are the tricks of Roman priests to counter-
act the effects of the Bible! [1as conversing, a short
time since, with a Catholic girl in New York, who
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msisted upon it, that her Bible was the production of
man, and that her prayer-book was the word of God!!
The misstatements and contradictions of the priests
are more namerous than the paragraphsin their book.
It is painful to the writer of these pages, and doubt-
less also to the reader of them, to be long detained in
an atmosphere so impure. I shall, therefore, briefly
allude only tu a few wore of them in this connexion.
The priests contradict the statement of Miss Mouk,
that nuns, on their reception, have assigned to them
the names of saints, as St. Mary, St. Eustace, St.
Erances, &c. 'They also deny that priests, with the
exception of the chaplain of each, ever visit either the
Hotel Dieu or the Congregational nunneries. These
denials are so notoriouslv untrue, that it is matter of
astonishment, how the priests were ever so foolish as
to make them. Ask almostany female, Catholic ot
Protestant, who ever aitended the (‘ongregational
nuowery school, and she will tell yon at once that the
priests are in ervor.  They deny Maria Monk’s state-
ment that there are about one hundred and fifty priests
connected with the seminary of Montreal, which isa
place of general rendezvous for all the priests in the
districtof Montreal. Now they do not deny that there
are this number of priests in the district, nor that they
a1l occasionally resort to the seminary ; but they deny
that all are connected with the seminary as an incor-
porated body. This is marvellous. They also deny
Miss Monk’s statements respecting the number of
novices and nuns in the Hotel Dieun nunnery ; and
they support their denial by quotations from an old
Quebec almanac printed for the year 1831! What
can the Quebec almanac know about the interior of.
> Hotel Dieu convent, except what the pricsts ma
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inform it; and it is doubtless their policy to produce
the belief that the number of novices and nuns is
much smaller than it really is. The fact, that the
committee who examined the Hotel Dieu in July last,
and since then Col. Stone, found the number of nuns
to agree with the statement of this old almanac, has
led some to doubt Maria Monk’s statement as to their
number. Such should remember that it is a very
easy matter for the priests to remove as great o num-
ber as they choose. They can remove them to the
Quebec Hotel Dieu, and to the nun’s island, and to
other filthy establishments, which the priests have
scattered about Lower Canada. I will here wdd, that
what they say about certain legislative enactments,
requiring girls tobe of a certain age before * they cun
take the religious habit,” and also that they should
sign some kind of a deed, attested by others, &e., may
be true, or untrue; none the more either way, how-
ever, for their saying so. But if such enactments ex-
ist, they are observed or not, doubtless, justas it suits
thte pleasure of the priests. What civil magistrate
ever entered the cloistered apartments of the Hotel
Dieun, in order to ascertzin whether or not such laws
were obeyed? To the proof of this we challenge
them; they might as well show us the law of God to
prove their holiness. The priests conclude what hey
‘have to say about Miss Monk’s misstatements in rela-
tion to the Congregational Nunnery, as follows:—
“ We have examined all the representations concern-
ing the Congregational nunnery, and we have shown
them to be false in every instance.” INow I have
taken pains to converse somewhat extensively with
several ladies who have been educated, to a greater or
less extent, in that convent, and they all state that
4
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Miss Monk’s representations of that nunnery are gen-
erally very correct. The subjoined statement is from
one who was there about three years. Her name is
suppressed for several reasons, all of which are justi-
fiable in her case. The fullest credit, however, may
be reposed in her testimony, for she is a lady of char-
acter and standing, and a member of the Protestant
Episcopal Church.

‘T was at the school in the Congregational Nunnery
of Montreal nearly three years. 'When I entered the
school I was a Protestant; but I had not been there
more than three months before my faith was shaken:
and I began to think that the Catholic religion was
the only true religion. I was young, and nearly all
my companions were Catholics, and I had none but
Catholic books to read. I at length became uniaver-
ing in my Catholie belief.

“My impressions respecting the cloistered life of the
nuns, were of the most exalted kind. My feelings at
length became =0 excited that I determined to take
the veil. I felt that there was no other way for me
to secure the salvation of my soul. I felt that I had,
what they call in the nunnery, a calling to become a
cloistered nun. I never have been able to this day,
to understand how my mind arrived to such a degree
of excitement, for I was all but distracted, such was
my desire to take the veil. I visited my friends, who:
lived at some distance, with the fixed determination
to enter the Hotel Dieu on my return; but they, un-
derstanding my case, refused positively to let me re-
turn to Montreal, and I now most heartily thank my
Mz‘z‘ker for 50 orderm.g it in His kind Providence.

Respecting Maria Monk’s description of the Comv
gregatio‘nal Nunnery, T think they are generally very
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orrect. I can’t doubt for a moment but what she
as been a scholar in the nunnery, as she states in her
ook,

% The fact that her descriptions of the Congregation-
| Nunnery are so correct, has always led me to be-
eve what she says of the Hotel Dieu; though the
escription is so awful that I am sometimes led to
oubt its truth. But then when I recollect what 1
ave read, seen, and heard, of the character of Roman
riests, my doubts vanish. I bave thought a thou-
ind times of a remark that priest Larkin, who was
rofessor of Moral Philosophy in the College at
Iontreal, made to us one day in the public school-
om. It was this: he said if he was able ke would
ang every Protestant there was on the face of the
wrth. Though I was a Catholic then, my feelings
ere shocked at such a remark.”

Here it seems was Father Larkin, although not the
1aplain of the nunnery, instructing the young ladies,
1d endeavoring to imbue their minds with the true
iirit of Romanism,
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CHAPTER IIL
THL PRIESTS' ATTEMPT TO PROVE AN ALIBL

Easily done, if true—-Character of the evidence demanded—-Miss
Mouk’s alieged residence in Sorel—Testimony of Charles Gouin—
Of Angelica Monk—Of Martel Panl—Evidence against the priests’
position—1st, Character of their witnesses—R2d, Maria Monk’s ignc-
rance both of the withesses aml the place—3d, An argument from.
the cvidence of her having been a nun—dth, Statement of Mr, Bur-
tery—>5th, Of Mr. Edler—b6th, Of a lady—A pscudo Maria Monk-—
Maria Mouk’s alleged residence in 8t. Denis—-Withesses—Mrs.
St. Gerrmin--Michacl Guertin—Ambroise Vigeaut--Louisa Bous..
quet—Character of their testimony—Diflicnlty of obtaining testimo-
ny from 3t. Denis--Interception of letters—Rermarks respocting a
yuung Canadian—His testimony--bMiss Monk’s accoant of the nat-
ter confirmed—Iter alleged residence in the family of Mr. Lovis of
Montreal—His testimony—Bvilently false—Capt. Ryan’s story—
Louis Malo—His cheracter and testimony--Dr. Nelsoa’s statement—
Statcments of Dr. Robertson and Mrs Munk—The Magdalens—Char-
acler of the evidenec offered by e priests—Their failureo to prove
an alibi.

For the priests to prove an alibi in the case of
Maria Monk, provided it be true that she never was
a nun, must be a task easily accomplishrd. They
possess every imaginable facility for doing \t. They
are dispersed over the cntire face of Can:da, and
nearly all the inhabitants in the province are dispo-
sed to render them every assistance in their pover to
accomplish it. By their management, they have
created a strong popular prejudice in favor of \oeir
cause, and against Miss Monk. Indeed, such is the
state of feeling in Canada, that it is almost impossi-
ble to induce a single individual to utter any thing in
his own name, or even to divulge in any way, any
thing favorable to her claims, however much he may
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know. Public opinion rides over every law, both hu-
man and divine.

Matters being thus, no evidence which the priests
or their advocates may offer in proof of an alibi, ought
to be received, unless it be of an unexceptionable
character. The reason is extremely obvious. The
momentous importance of the subject demands it;
and if it be true that Maria Monk has never been a
cloistered nun, it is an easy matter to produce such
evidence in proof of it. If Maria Monk was, as is
maintained, at service for some ten or eleven months
in Sorel, and some six monthsin St. Denis, and for
some fourteen or fifteen months a school mistress in
the same place, at the very time she professes to have
been in the nunnery—it must be a matter of public
notoriety. Hence there can be nodifficulty in furnish-
ing unexceptionable testimony of the faet, if it be so.

Ought the testimony of Roman Catholics, unsup-
ported by respectable Protestants, to be received as
such evidence? I answer, no. The reason is obvi-
ous. It is an established principle, acted on for ages
in the Catholic church, “ that the end sanctifies the
means.” And according to this principle, he is a
good Catholic that falsifies his word, if by so doing
he may thereby promote a good end; and what end,
in the eye of a faithful Catholie, is so precious as the
honor of his church? Among Catholics the priest-
hood constitutes the church. Hence every Roman
Catholic on earth is bound, by his religion, to defend
the priesthood, right or wrong. No intelligent reader
of Catholic authors will dispute the truth of this posi-
tion. Let me not be misunderstood ; I speak now
with reference to a single point—that of defending
the honor of the Romish church; and I speak of

4#
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thorough going Catholies, not nominal ones living
amidst intelligert Protestants. ‘

The first testimony presented to us in the “Awful
Exposure,” is that of €harles Gouin, of Sorel: He
states that Maria Monk was a servant girl in his fam-
ily, from the month of November, 1831, until Sep-
tember of the following year. This testimony is
either true or false: if true, it overthrows Maria
Monk’s claims as an eloped nun. That it is false,
there can be no doubt. Mr. Gouin is stated, by very
respectable authority, to be a Roman Catholie, so far
as he has any religion. A man notoriously destitute
of moral principle; a bankrupt, owing much and pay-~
ing little. He is described by his own friends, as
“an active conspirator, unworthy of confidence.”

Before pre<enting counter testimouy, I wish to put
my readers in possession of all the evidenee which
the priests have furnished .in confirmation of Mr.
Gouin’s statement. A woman by the name of Mary
Angelica Monk, of Sorel, makes oath that Maria
Monk was in her service as a domestic, one week in
the antumn of 1832. She states that she understood
that Maria had been a servant girl in the family of
Mr. Gouin. Who then is this Mary Angelica Monk?
We are told by the priests, that she is not a relative
of Maria Monk ; and it is very eertain, from respect-
able testimony received here, that her relationship
would be no honor, either to Maria Monk, or to any
other person. She is an impure woman ; having
been separated {rom her husband, on the ground of her
criminal connexion with a man by the name of Hall.
Report also says, that she is very intimate with the
notoriously profligate priest Kelly, of Sorel. Of what
value, then, is the testimony of such a person?
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The statements of Mr. Gouin and Mrs. Monk, are
confirmed by the testimony of one Martel Paul Hus
Cournoier. The affidavit of this man has every
appearance of having been fabricated, for the sole
purpose of bolstering up, not only the testimonv of
Mr. Gouin and Mrs. Monk, but also that of other in-
dividuals, to be examined hereafier. He is described
by those who know him, “as an illiterate fellow, who
can neither read nor write ; an active speculator, of
no property, little eredit, reputation for virtue or in-
tegrity ; having not long since debauched one of Lis
own creed named Couthnay.” He was convicted of
perjury in the case of the King against Isaac Jones
and others, for the murder of Louis Marcoux. If any
man in Canada doubts the trath of this, he is refer-
red to the legal registers of that Province, for the
proof of it. Sueh, then, is the unprincipled charac-
ter of Martel Paul: and I ask, what confidence can
be reposed in the affidavit of such a perjured igno-
ramus ?

. Here, then, is the testimony adduced by the priests,
to prove that Maria Monk resided in Sorel, as a serv-
ant girl, for some ten or eleven months of the time
which she alleges herself to have passed in the Hotel
Dieu nunnery, of Montreal. And that it is false, is
evident from the following reasons :—

1. The individuals thus testifying, have little or no
character for veracity. This the priests well knew,
and they never would have rested their cause on
such testimony, if they could have procured better.
Can any man believe, that.if Maria Monk had resi-
ded for ten or eleven months in Sorel, the priests could
not have obtained such evidence of the fact, as would
have challenged even suspicion itself! Sorel or Wil-
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liam Henry, is a small place on the southeastern
bark of the St. Lawrence river, containing about
fifteen hundred inhabitants, so that each individual
of the town is generally known to every other.
Hence, if Maria Monk had been there, as is main-
tained by the priests, she would have been generally
koown by the inhabitants of that village; and the
testimony of any number could have been obtained.

2. Maria Monk declares that she never was in
Sorel; and it is very evident that she is altogether
ignorant of the place, except what she knows from
mere report. Before she had seen Dr. Roberison’s
affidavit in Nov. 1835, she was examined with refer-
ence to her knowledge of Sorel, and it was evident
that she knew nothing about it. T took special paing
to ascertain, before she knew any thing of the priests’
attempt to prove that she had resided in Sorel, whether
she knew their witnesses. She evidently had never
heard of Mr. Gouin, and Mr. Paul ; but of Angelica
Monk she had some knowledge, as she had formerly
resided near her mother’s, in Montreal.

3. All the multiplied and varied evidence of her
having been a nun, hereafter to be offered to the read-
er, proves that the testimony of these witnesses is
false.

4. Mr. Buttery, a reputable merchant of Sorel, was
in New York in June or July last, and called upon
Maria Monk. This was before the priests’ book:
made its appearance, but Doctor Robertson, of Mon-
treal, had given it as his opinion, formed on mere
hearsay testimony, that she had resided, during the
summer of 1832, in Sorel. Special pains, therefore,
Wwere taken lo ascertain whether Mr. Buttery and
Maria Monk had ever seen each other before, and it
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was evident to those present that they never had.
Mr. Buttery declared, that it was impossible for her
to have resided 1n Sorel, as above stated, without his
having had some knowledge of it. e was, there-
fore, decidedly of the opinion that she had never liv-
ed in that place. Mr. Buttery lives near Mr. Gouin’s,
and would of course have seen her, had she lived
there for ten months.

5. The following testimony of Mr. John Edler, of
New York, is decisive on the point. DNr. BEdler first
became acquainted with Maria Monk some time in
the summer of 183G, in the city of New York. His
statement is as follows:—

“1 have friends, a grand-parent and a brother, re-
siding in Sorel or William Henry, whom I have fre-
quently visited in that place. My mother resided
there before her decease. I am personally acquaint-
ed with Mr. Chasles Gouin and his family, who keep
a tavern in Sorel. Their residence is in the immedi-
ate vicinity of my relatives. On one occasion I re-
sided with my connexions in Sorel, for about the
space of nine months, immediately preceding the
commencement of the Cholera in July, 1832, Du-
ring this period I wus often at Mr. Gouin’s, and per-
sonally knew the members of his household ; and
I am very certain that Maria Monk, authoress of
the “ Awful Disclosures,” was not, during this period
of time, a member of Mr. Gouin’s family, in any
sense whatever. Nor did I ever hearof her living in
Sorel, until I recently heard of it in New York. I
first became acquainted with Maria Monk in New
Yeorlk, some three or four months since.”

Mr. Edler’s testimony covers eight out of the ten
months, during which time, Mr. Gouin says, that



46 REPLY TO THE FRIESTS’ BOOK.

Maria Monk was a menial in his family. Mr. Edler,
so far as I have been able to ascertain, is a young
gentleman of veracity and industry. His statement,
therefore, can be relied on as true.

Since writing the ahove, a lady from Sorel has
visited Maria Monk in New York. And she gives
it as her decided opinion, that the authoress of the
“ Awful Disclosures” has never been a resident of
Sorel, as testified by the priests’ witnesses. Thus
the evidence, that Charles Gouin, Martel Paul Hus
Cournoier, and Angelica Monk, have given false tes-
timony, is constantly augmenting.

Itis evident, therefore, that Maria Monk, authoress
of the “ Awful Disclosures,” has not resided in Sorel,
as maintained by the priests and their perjured sup-
porters. It seemns, however, that a person assuming
the name of Maria Monk, did reside at Mr. Gouin’s
in Sorel, at the time specified. A gentleman of char-
acter and standing, who appears to have faithfully
examined the matter, writes as follows :—“ From all
then that I can ascertain—and it is in the mind of
others—I suspect that ¢ Maria Monk was made by
the priests and nuns of Montreal, in anticipation of
what should follow from the disclosures of the true
Maria Mook after leaving the convent.” This isa
right priestly trick—what the venerahle Baxter would
denominate “ Jesuit juggling.” Who can fathom the
depths of their deceptive workings—prophetically
called by the Apostle Paul, “the deceitfulpess of all
unrighteousness?” The arts of deception have been
cultivated by them, now, for more than one thousand
years.

After Maria Monk left Sorel, we are told by the
priests, that she went to reside in St. Denis. Here
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she resided, it is said, from the month of Octaber,
1832, until the month of July, 1834, ahout one year
and nine months. They tell us that she was em-
ployed as a domestic servant for the first six months,
in the family of Mrs. St. Germain ; and the remainder
of the time in school-teaching. All the witnesses
adduced by the priests, to prove her residence in St.
Denis, are Roman Catholics; two out of the five pre-
sented are incapable of writing their names.

Mrs. St. Germain, styled in her affidavit Angelica
Hodjius, testifies “that she knew well the so-called
Maria Monk,” and that she was in her service from
about the first day of October, 1832, until the follow-
ing March, about six months. There is something
worthy of special notice in this woman’s affidavit.
She says that she knew well the so-called Maria
Monk. What iz the meaning, in this connexion of
the compound word so-called 2 Does it not look as
if the priests or their agents had so called some ser-
vant girl, who has been in the service of Mrs. St.
Germain? If they could make a Maria Monk for
Sorel, could they not do the same for St. Denis ?

The next evidence is that of Michael Guertin, who
testifies in the same langnage as Mrs. St. Germain,
“that he knew well the so-caLLEp Maria Monk ;”
and that she taught school in his house from the fif-
teenth of May to the end of June, 1833. This manis
an ignorant papist, incapable of writing his name.

We have an affidavit from a young man, by the
name of Ambroise Vigeaut. He tells us that he lives
in the St. Lawrence suburbs of Montreal. He testi-
fies that he “attended a school kept by the so-called
Maria Monk at St. Denis, for the space of about two
months in the year 1833.” He states that he attended
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her school in two different places, at Michael Guer-
tin’s and at Jean Baptiste Laflamme dit Timineur,
He also says that he saw the said Maria on the 29th
day of Junre, 1834, in St. Denis. He further declares
that in the summer of 1835, Maria Monk, accompanied
“by a man dressed in black,” called on him, at the
bar of Philip Lavoiel, tavern keeper in the St. Law-
rence suburbs, where he resided, and requested him to
write a letter to Miss Louise Bousquet of St. Denis,
and invite her to come to Montreal and receive two
hundred pounds currency, which Maria had for her.
‘We shall see more of this currency matter, when we
come to examine the testimony of Louise Bousquet.
The testimony of this young man is evidently a
compound of truth and falsehood. While Miss Monk
was an assistant teacher to Miss Bousquet, in St
Denis, this young man, then but a hoy, attended her
school. The man “dressed in black” was Mr. Hoyt;
he and Miss Monk called on him, as he states. Their
object was to learn, if possible, the precise time that
Miss Monk was employed as assistant teacher to
Louise Bousquet. He thought that it was in the year
1829 or 1830. His statement, therefore, in his affida-
vit, that he attended her school in the summer of 1833,
is manifestly untrue. There is something on the very
face of it, which strongly indicates it to be so. He
was quite a youth, being a bar-keeper when Mr. Hoyt
and Miss Jenk called on him, in the August of 1835,
which was about two years from the time he says, in
his affidavit, that he attended her school. - In 1833, he
must have been some fourteen or fifteen years of age.
The idea, therefore, that a youth of his age should
attend on the instructions of such a teacher as Miss
Monk must have been at that time, is very improba-
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ble; especially in a country town, in the Leart of the
summer, when the business of the farmer is most ur-
gent. Moreover, his statement that he was requested
by Maria Monk, to write to Louise Bousquet and in-
form her, that if she would come to Montreal she
should receive two hundred pounds currency, is so
absurdly false as to show that little or no confidence
can be put in whatever he may say.

Another witness is Martel Paul Hus Cournoier.
He states that he knew of Maria Monk residing in
St. Denis ; but he does not tell us when it was. The
worthless character of this man has been already
noticed. .

The only remaining testimony to be examined is
that of Louise Bousquet.

Maria Monk states in her Disclosures, that while a
novice in the Hotel Dieu, she became displeased, and
left the convent and went to St. Denis, and engaged
as an assistant teacher in the Government school to
Louise Dousquet, She states that she remained with
Miss-Bousquet about three months, and then returned
to the convent. Miss Bousquet testifies to the fact,
that Maria Monk was at one time in her employment,
as an assistant teacher. There is, therefore, an agree-
ment between them, as to the fact, that they were
once associated together as instructresses of children
in St. Denis; but in every thing else they disagree.
Miss Bousquet contradicts every statement that
Maria Monk has made in her book, which is in any
way connected with her, except it be the one just
noticed. The only point of importance, however, re-
spects the time when Miss Monk was associated with
her, as teacher in St. Denis. Miss Bousquet affirms
that it was from December, 1833, till July, 1834,—the

5
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very time when Miss Monk declares that she was a
nun in the Hotel Dieu. There are two things in
Miss Bousquet's affidavit, which especially give to
her testimony the appearance of fabrication: 1. The
fact that she denies all Miss Monk’s statements re-
specting her, some of which are of no importance,
with the single exception of the one that they were
associated together in teaching school. This looks
like art, not like the utterings of simple nature or
truth. She does not contradict Miss Mouk’s state-
ments in the gross, but in the detail, oue after another.
2. Her statement that she received two letters in the
month of August, 1835. one in English, signed
“Hoyte,” which she “remained ignovant of because
she could not read English:” the other in French,
signed “ Ambroise Vigeaut,” which invited her to go
to Montreal and receive two hundred pounds curren-
ey, “which a lady in Moutreal was commissioned to
give her.” She tells us that she proceeded to Mon-
treal, and called on Ambroise Vigeuut, who informed
her that the lady was Maria Monk. She then called
on Maria’s mother, ©* who inan angry manner burned
the letters on the spot,” saying “that her daughter
was a victim and an unfortunate.” Now the mean-
ing of all this is, that Mr. oyt and Mi<s Monk wish-
ed to bribe her, with two hurndred pounds currency, to
testify that Maria Monk had been a nun in the Hotel
Dieu—thus insinuating thot a vile conspiracy had
been formed against the nunnery. This is known,
however, to be absolutely false, for Miss Monk com-
municated her principal statements respecting the
Hotel Dieu, lLefore she ever saw or heard of Mr.
Hoyt; as will be seen hereafter. Besides, Mr. Hoyt and
Miss Blonk werc poor, not being worth the tythe of twe
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hundred pounds currency. Idow then could they offer
it? But suppose that they had wished to bribe her.
Would they have offered her two hundred pgunds,
currency, when the fifiieth part would have answered
every purpose ? Would they have sent her a letter
in English, which Maria Monk must have known she
could not read 2 Would they thus foolishly have ex-
posed themselves to detection? Would they have
employed Ambroise Vigeaut to make her the offer in
French, when Maria Monk could have done it herself,
and thus have kept him out of the secret 2 The whole
affair is absurd and false. Of what value then is the
testimony of Louise Bousquet, and of Ambroise Vi-
geaut?

Thus we have reviewed all the evidence which the
priests have produced, to prove that Maria Monk resi-
ded at St. Denis, from October, 1832, until July, 1834.
Setting aside the fact, thatall the witnesses are Catho-
lics, the mere tools of the priests, their testimony
bears internal marks of fubrication. Had Maria Monk
resided twenty-one months in St. Denis, how easy a
matter for the priests to adduce such proof of the fact,
as would remove every reasonable doubt on the sub-
ject!

The inhabitants of St. Denis are nearly all of them
Catholics. Hence the difficulty of obtaining any tes-
timony from that place, which wonld be favorable to
Miss Monk’s claims, and which would, as a matter
of course, militate against the cause of the priests.
Even the few Protestants there, are so intimately con-
nected with the Catholics, that they cannot do any
thing on the subject, without securing to themselves
consequences highly disagrecable. I wrote to a gen-
tleman of that town, requesting his assistance in the
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matter ; and the following is an extract from his re-
ply :—“Tam sorry to say I am unable to meet with
your views, as I cannot give you any information re-
specting her (Maria Monk) from personal knowledge;
and I must at the same time positively decline making
the inquiries you desired me to make, as it might,
and would lead to consequences highly disagreeable
to myself hereafter.” 1 would here observe that such
is the situation of this gentleman, that if Maria Monk
had resided in St. Denis, as maintained by the priests
and sworn to by their vassals, he must have had some
¢« personal knowledge” of her.

Another serious difficulty with which I have met
in attempting 1o secure such an investigation of the
matter, as I have wished, has been the interception of
letters, as I suppose in the Post-office at Montreal.
Since receiving the one, from which an extract is giv-
en above, I have written several letters to gentlemen
in Montreal on the subject, which appear never to
have been received, by those to whom they were ad-
dressed. Tdo not say who has done this. I simply
state a fact, and leave my readers to make their own
inferences.

The following statement, as will be seen, is direct-
ly to the point. It is presented without being sworn
to, and without the young man’s signature. [tis
proper that T should state the reason of this. Itis
simply the fact, that all his friends are Catholics, and
of course unwilling that he should do any thing to
establish the truth of Maria Monk’s claims. A short
time since I had an interview with him, when he very
readily communicated tome the facts contained in this
statemment. At that time he was uncertain, whether
it was in the early part of the summer of 1830, or of
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1831, that Maria Monk was assistant teacher to Louise
Bousquet in St. Denis; but he thought, however, he
could ascertain by examining his papers. This he
agreed to do, and to call on me the Saturday follow-
ing—it being on Monday we had the interview.
During the intervening time, I arranged the facts
which he communicated to me, leaving a blank for
dates to be filled when he should callaccording to his
agreement; when [ expected that he would confirm
the whole on oath. Satarday arrived, but he did not
call, as he engaged to do. During the following
week, I engaged a gentleman to visit him in Brook-
lyn, and have him fill the blank dates, correct any
error which might exist in the statement, and confirm
it belore a magistrate. The gentleman called on him
and read to him the statement, but he declined to con-
firm it on oath, or to have his name published in con-
nexion with it, as that would offend his friends in
Canada, and he felt himself to be amonz strangers
here. He stated that he had received a letter from
his brother, stating that it was in the summer of 1333,
that Maria Monk was in St. Denis. I have been thus
particelar in detailing these facts, in order that the
public may be enabled to judge in the matter. The
statement that Maria Monk was connected with
Louise Bousquet’s school 1n the su:nmer of 1833, con-
tradicts all the testimony which the priests have pro-
duced on the subject. Louise Bousquet, as we have
seen, testifies that it was in the summer of 1334.
This Canadian tampering does not help the matter.
The statement, therefore, is given, with the date as
first given by the young man, before he had been tam-
. pered with from Capada. Of its truth, I have no
doubt; especially since this (oreign popish influence
5.
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was exerted upon this young man, to destroy his tes-
timony.

“A. V., now a resident of Brooklyn city, State of
New York, having been duly sworn, doth depose and
say:

“I was born and brought up in St. Denis, Lower
Canada, where most of my relatives still live. Tam
acquainted with Maria Monk, authoress of ¢ Awful
Disclosures.” T first became acquainted with her in
the vear of 1830, or 1831, in St. Denis, She was then
an assistant teacher, as I understood, in the Govern-
ment school, taught by one Louise Bouzquet. She was
frequently at my mother’s house, as my three brothers
younger than myself attended her school, two of
whom she prepared for their first communion. After
she had been residing for several weeks in St. Denis,
I'left home, and went to reside for two months in
Montreal. When I returned home in the latter part
of the summer, 1 inquired for the ltle English gitl,
as we used to call her, and was informed by my
mother and others that she had left St. Denis. Af
ter this I never knew nor heard any thing as to where
she was, until after she published her ¢ Disclosures’
in New York. And further deponent saith: I know
Michael Guertin, Jean Baptiste Laflamme dit Timi-
neur, and Angelica Hodjins, widow of the late An-
thony Gazaille dit Sr. Germain, all of St. Denis.
They reside in the neighborhood of my mother’s resi-
dence. Had Maria Monk ever resided in either of
their families, either asa servant girl or as a school
mistress, during any part of the years 1832 and 1833,
I feel quite certain that I should have known it, or at
least have heard of it, at the time : but I never heard
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"of it until published m a book called ¢ Awful Expo-
sure,’ &c., in New York.”

Three things are rendered very clear by this man’s .

testimony :—1st, That Maria Monk was in St. Denis
but a short time, as stated in her “Disclosures.” 2d,
That during this time she was connected with Lou-
ise Bousquet’s school. 3d, That she was not connect-
ed with the families before mentioned. And thus
her account of her residence in St. Denis, is con-
firmed.

Wesare told that Maria Monk proceeded directly
from St, Denis to Montreal, and entered into the ser-
vice of Charles D. 8. Lovis, where she remained
from the 12th of July, 1834, until the 7th or 8th of
the following month. DMr. Lovis testifies that, while
ghe was in his family, “she was often deranged in
her mind ;* and that she expressed a wish “ to be-
come a Roman Catholic, and be baptized.” Mr.
Lovis is a Roman Catholic, and his testimony is to
be received as such. 'The following statement of
Mr. Jones, one of the publishers of the “ Awful Ex-
posure,” made at the interview which he and his
coadjutor, Mr. Le Clere, had with Miss Monk, in
New York, on the 17th of August, 1836, does much
towards overthrowing the aflidavit of Mr. Lovis:—
“Mr. Lovis, of Montreal, told me that Maria Monk
left his service in July, 1834; and about that time
Fanny Johnson came to live with us. She stayed
with us about a week, and was dismissed on account
of her negligent habits. She answered the descrip-
tion given by Mr. Lovis so well, and having declared
that she came from Mr. Lovis’, I was strongly im-
pressed with the belief that they were the same per-
son. But now I see my mistake. You (Miss Monk)
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are not Fanny Johnson.” There is no doubt but that
if Mr. Lovis, (provided he is an honest man,) should
see Miss Monk, he would also see his mistake, and
see that iis Maria Monk was Fanny Johnson, or
some other person.

That the affidavit of Mr. Lovis is false, I have not
the least doubt. 1. We have seen that Maria Monk
did not come to his house directly from St. Denis, in
July, 1834 ; for it is evident that she was not in St.
Denis during that year. 2. The above statement of
Mzr. Jones is enough to show that Maria Mork was not
in his service ; but that it was one Fanny Johnson.
3. Mr. Lovis’ declaration that “she was often de-
ranged in her mind,” during the three or four weeks,
that, he says, she was in his service, is evidently un-
true of Maria Mook, and is enough in itself to show
that his testimony is unworthy of the least confi-
dence. They tell us that she was a teacher in the
Goverument school for a long time, immediately pre-
ceding this; and would a deranged person have been
thus employed? Besides, she has evinced no symp-
toms of cerangement during her residence in New
York, for the last year and a half. Doctor Robert-
son, of Montreal, who examined her hands some
three months afterwards, states in lis affidavit, that
“From the appearance of her hands, she evidently
had not been used to work” It is very manifest
from the whole appearance and conduct of Miss
Monk, that she has never been a servant girl in any
family. This is the decided opinion of the families,
1n which she has resided since she came to New
York.' Hence the affidavits of Mr. Gouin, and Mrs.
Angelica Monk, of Sorel, and of Mrs. St. Germain,
of St. Denis, and Mr. Lovis, of Montreal, all of them
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testifying, that she has been at service in their fami-
lies,—are undoubtedly false.

We have next a statement from one Lawrence
Kidd. This consists of a conversation which he had
sometime in the summer of 1834, with Capt. Ryan,
“master of a steamer.” Mr. Kidd states that ““ Capt.
Ryan told him that Monk had journeyed on board
his boat from Sorel to Montreal ;” and that he
had lost his watch, and that he suspected that
¢ Monk” had stolen it.—The priests think that this
must have been after she left the service of Mr.
Lovis. But what does it all amount to? Mr. Kidd
says, that Mr. Ryan told him thus and thus. And
who is Capt. Ryan? He is a miserable atheist;
ejected, on account of his vile atheism, from his of-
fice, by the government authorities. Of what value
then is his idle tale ?

We are furnished in the next place with a long
affidavit from one Louis Malo, a constable of Mont-
real. He tells us that in October, 1834, he arrested
Maria Monk for stealing—*“that on account of her
youth, and the respectability of her family,” the man
from whom she stole declined prosecuting her—and
that he, taking pity on her, took her to a tavern, where
he kept her two or three days—and that a few days
afterwards, being sent for by her, he saw her again at
another tavern—and that the next time he saw her
was in September, 1835, when she, being in a house
of ill-fame, sent for him, and told him that she had
come to Moantreal from New York, with Mr. Hoyt,
with whom she had left his (Malo’) child, at
Goodenough’s tavern. It is in this way that this
contemptible creature, aided by the priests, wishes to
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tell the world that he 1s the father of Maria Monk’s
child. Thus he glories in his own shame,

A full delineation of this man’s character would
pollute even pollution itself. T must, therefore, be
excused from the loathsome task of even attempting it.
T will only say, that he is considered by all who know
Lim, as the greatest of blackguards, a pertect paragon
of 1mmora11n a man destitute of veracity, whose
oath, unsupported by others, even Mr. Jones himsell
admltted in New York, was worthy of no confidence,
He owns some two or three houses in one of the
Montreal suburbs, all devoted to the goddess of in-
famy, himself being the presiding genius over each
of them. What confidence, then, can possibly be
placed in this man’s affidavit—an affidavit covering
some two or three pages of detail, all of which bear
the marks of sheer fabrication? Thus I will take my
leave of Louis Malo, with the simple remark, that
his affidavit appears to have been fabricated by the
priests or their agents, for the single purpose of find-
in2 a father for Maria Monk’s child, other than priest
Phelan, of Montreal, on whom she had sworn it.

Maria Monk professes to have eloped from the
Hotel Dieu nunnery in the early part of November,
1334. The pricsts say, that she left the service of
Mr. Lovis on the 7th or 8th of August, of the same
year. There is, therefore, some three months inter-
vening between the two points of time—fiom the time
she is said to have left Mr. Lovis’ until the time she
professes to have escaped from the convent, Where
was she during these three months? ‘The priests
tel] us that “she took up her habitation in various
brothels, at Griffin Town, a suburh of Montreal, and
elsewhere.” They donot pretend to offer any other evi-
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dence of this than their own declaration ; and what
is that good for ? Are they not the criminated party 7
And is their testimony to be received against the per-
son criminating thern? This is not our mode of act-
ing in the *“ States.”

We have thus traced their account of the different
places, in which they say Maria Monk resided from
the autumn of 1831, to November, 1831. And what
i¢ the result ? Is it not manifest, that all the state-
ments and affidavits, which we have examined, pre-
sent us with one train of popish lies and perjury?
Can _any man believe, afler examining the subject,
that the priests have given us a true account of Maria
Monk's residence during the time specified ? Where
then was she during this time? DBefore answering
this question, we must examine the statement of
Doctor Nelson. He says :—* That when I was the
medical attendant of the Hotel Dieu hospital, and
occasionally of the convent, which is the cloistered
part of the establishment, I never once saw Miss
Monk there; but more than once, at her mother’s re-
quest, I saw her at the Government housekeeper’s
apartments, which are those occupied by her mother.”
On page 184, Awful Disclosures, Maria Monk states
that she frequently attended Dr. Nelson in his visits
to the public hospital, and wrote down his prescrip-
tions, &c. One or other of them, therefore, must be
mistaken, or a wilful deceiver. The doctor’s state-
ment consists of two parts:—I1. He denies having
seen her in the nunnery. This may be true, and yet
she may have been there, and he not have known herin
her nun’s apparel as being Miss Monk, though he
must in that case have known her as Saint Kustace,
the name by which she was called in the convent.
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2. He says that by her mother’s request, he saw her
more than once at her mother’s house. The question
is, when did he thus repeatedly see her at her mo-
ther's house? Was it during the time she professes
to have been in the nunnery 2 The doctor’s declara-
tion is equivocal, and I fear designedly so. If he re-
peatedly saw her at her mother’s request, at her resi-
dence, she must have been sick there. Now, if the doc-
tor’s declaration, that he more than once saw her at her
mother’s house, means any thing to the point, it means
that he saw her there during the time she professes to
have been a nun in the Hotel Dieu. DBut the priests
have professedly proved, that she lived during this
time, in Sorel, St. Denis, Mr. Lovis’, aud in the Griffin
Town brothels. How could she have lived in these
places, and at the same time be sick at her mother’s
house, under the care of Dr. Nelson? Let Dr. Nel-
son and the priests explain this, if they can, for it is
more than I can comprehend. One thing, however,
is certain, viz. that Dr. Nelson’s testimony either
proves no alibi from the nunnery, or else an alibi from
Sorel and St. Denis.

However skilful Dr. Nelson may be as a physician,
his veracity appears to be, especially on this subject,
at a very low ebb. He is or has been physician to
the nuns. The priests call him a Protestant ; but he
i; not a Protestant, but a professed ridiculer of all re-
ligion. He keeps a mistress ; and, according to the
statement of Maria Monk, his conduct when in the
bunnery is very little better than that of the priests,
His declaration, therefore, that he never saw Miss
Monk in the convent, ought not to have the weight

of a feather in deciding the point whether she has
been a nun or not.



REPLY TO THE PRIESTS’ BOOK. 61

The testimony of Dr. Robertson and Mrs. Monk,
"Maria’s mother, re-presented in the ¢ Awful Expo-
sure,” has been for a long time before the public. It
amounts to little or nothing on the question, whether
or no Miss Monk has been an inmate in the nunnery.
Dr. Robertson expresses his opinion from hear say
testimony, that Maria Monk was in Sorel and St.
Denis, during a greater part of the time she profess-
es to have been in the nunnery. I suppose the priests
or their agents told him so. Mrs. Monk states that,
in conversation with certain gentlemen, she told them
that her daughter had never been in the nunnery.
The long affidavit of Mrs. Monk is a mere farce,
never confirmed by her. Hence it has not her signa-
ture. It was fabricated under the direction of the
priests, who obtained a promise from her that she
would not contradict its statements. But if this were
not so, still we have the affidavit of Mr. William
Miller, who testifies that Mrs. Monk told him in the
summer of 1833, that her daughter Maria was then
in the nunnery : Awfal Disclosures, page 237. The
reader may judge at which time she told the truth.
At the time she stated the fact to Mr. Miller, she was
under no temptation to tell an untruth. But not so
in August, 1835, when she says that she told certain
individuals, that her daughter had never been in the
nununery. Besides, Mr. Jones expressly declared in
New York, in August, 1836, that the affidavit of
Mrs. Monk was now considered as injurious to their
cause, and that its first publication’was regretted.

The affirmations of the Montreal tribe of Magda-
lens are beneath contempt. Théy affirm that, in the
winter of 1834-5, Maria Monk told them of her resi-
ding in Sorel, St. Denis, &e., but never intimated to

6
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them any thing respecting her having been a nun in
the Hotel Dieu. Admitting all they say on this sub-
ject were true, however, it would amount simply to
this, that Miss Monlk, for the sake of her own safety,
practised deception upon them as to the fact of her
having eloped from the convent. But who has any
confidence in this fictitious tribe of Magdalens ? Well
did Mr. Jones, publisher of the ¢ Awful Exposure,”
say to me in New York, that many of his witnesses
could not be found, and that I should need his assist-
ance to find them. Some of these Magdalens have
been searched for, but lo, they were not to be found !
Respecting this manceuvre of the priests, I shall have
occasion to remark more at length hereafter. Suffice
it to say, that the priests could never have expected to
gull anybody with this Magdalen trick, except it
were such as ‘“love darkness rather than light.”
These Magdalens and Louis Malo are at direct antip-
odes in their affidavits. They affirm that he had in-
tercourse with Maria Monk, during the winter of
1834-5, in the yard of the Asylum. He affirms that
he never heard of her from October, 1834, until Sept.
1835.

This completes our review of the documentary tes-
imony presented by the priests, to prove an alibi in
the case of Maria Monk—that she resided elsewhere
than in the nunnery, during the time she professes to
have been a nun in that establishment. What then
is the result? Have the priests succeeded in their
attempt to prove an alihi? So far as the number of
statements and affidavits are concerned, their is no
deficiency. But oh, their character! What a com-
pound of ignorance, contradictions, falsehoods, and
perjury ! Among those who have testified from per-
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sonal knowledge, there is not a single Protestant wit-
ness, unless it be the notoriously profligate Mary An-
gelica Monk-—the intimate friend of Kelly, the most
licentious priest there is in Canada. Not a single un-
exceptionable witness is to be found among them.

I wish my readers to remember, how easy a matter
it is to prove an alibi in Maria Monk’s case, provided
she has never been & nun in the Hotel Dieu. If she
lived about one year in Sorel, and about one year and
a half in St. Denis, as maintained by the priests, how
easy a matter it would have been to prove it, by un-
exceptionable witnesses ? If true, why prezent to us
as witnesses, such unprincipled characters as Martel
Paul, Charles Gouin, Angelica Monk, &c.? The
very fact, that the priests have been unable to furnish
any better testimony, after the labor of so may months,
is in itself evidence of the desperateness of their un-
dertaking. I beg of my readers 1o ponder well this
particular point, for it is of great importance in the
controversy. When I take into consideration all the
circumstances of the case—the length of time which
the priests have had to collect evidence—the fact
that Maria Monk is said to have lived for two years
and a half in the two places specified—the fact that
the mass of the people in these two towns are favora-
ble to the priests, and of course, decidedly hostile to
Miss Monk’s claims—and above all, when I consider
its immense importance to the priests; that upon it
is suspended the strength of their defence; and then
look at the testimony adduced—I feel constrained to
say that, in my judgment, the priests and their
agents have utterly failed in their attempt to prove
an alibi.
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It is perfectly proper to remark further, that such
an attempt, in such a case, thus resulting in ill-suc-
cess and failure, leaves their cause in a condition far
more hopeless than before. Every unsuccessful ef-
fort greatly strengthens the contrary position.
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CHAPTER 1V.

REPORT OF MESSRS. CURRY, PERKINS, ESSON, HOLMES, AND
JONES, WHO EXAMINED THE HOTEL DIEU NUNNERY.

Preliminary Conslderations—Time elapsed from her elopement—
Since she first appealed to this test—Rince the announcement of
alterations in the Nunuery—Appointment and qualifications of the
Examining Comimittee—Hostile to Miss Monk—Thelr examination
—Their nnfavorable report—Made up of negatives—Nuns' apart.
ments changed—DBook of registers-——Miss Muak’s passage through
the nunnery yard—Report of an architect—Mr. Ostell’s three
reasons for his unfavorable report—One has nothing to do with
the subject—The other two stated—Origin and circuinstauces of
Migs Monk’s drawing—The two reasons known to exist before the
drawing was published—Furnish evidence of her honesty--Mr.
Ostell’s report furnishes strong evidence in support of Miss
Monk--Alterations in the nunnery—Strictures on the conduct of
the Committee--The fiction that Miss Monk bhas described Mrs.
McDonell’s Asylum—NMrs. McDonell unworthy of confidence—Mr.
Btone’s Report the result of a mere hoax—Resolutions of August,
1836, passed in New York.

Frox the time of her visit to Montreal, in August,
1835, Maria Monk, in confirmation of the fact that
she had been an inmate of the Hotel Dieu, appealed
to an impartial examination of that convent—staking
the truth of her claims to public confidence on the
result of such an examination. She thus challenged
her opponents to test the matter by a fair tribunal.
This challenge the friends of the priests pretend to
say, has been accepted, because on the fifteenth day
of July, 1836, they subjected the nunnery to the ex-
amipation of a few individuals, as a commiltee, ap-
pointed by themselves for that purpose. But before
receiving the report of this committee, as deciding

6#
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the point in controversy, several things should be dis-
tinctly noticed.

1. The time which elapsed from the period she
left the convent, until the day the examination was
made. She professes to have eloped from the nun-
nery in the early part of November, 1834, and the
examination took place in July, 1836. Thus about
one year and eight months intervened hetween the
poeints of time. A period of time more than sufficient
to have rebuilt the nunnery, if they had been so dis-
posad,

2. She first made her appeal to this test in the Au-
gust of 1835; so that eleven months intervened, be-
fore the pretended examination of it was made.

3. It was announced in the public prints in Octo-
ber, 1835, that men were employed in making altera-
tions in the Hotel Dieu ; so that this announcement,
uncontradicted, was before the public about nine
months, prior to the examination. On page 63, of
her book, which was publizhed in the following Janu-
ary, Miss Monk wmakes the same charge in these
words :—“ And T have been credibly informed, that
masons have been employed in the nunnery since I
left it.” Such assurarces she had while in Montreal,
as well as since her return to New York,

So much in reference to time for making altera-
tions. The next thing worthy of notice, is the ap-
pointment and character of the committee, who made
the examination. In:the appointment of this com-
mittee, neither Maria Monk, nor her friends, had any
voice \vhatevgr. It was chosen exclusively by her
avowed enemies. Mr. Jones, the agent of the priests,
and puPllsl)er ot'" the “ Awful Exposure,” declared, in
New York, again and again, that he selected and in-
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vited the individuals composing it. It was, therefore,
altogether an exparte committee.

As to the qualifications of these judges in the case,
were it consistent with the demands of truth and
justice, I would gladly pass them over in mute si-
lence. But fidelity to the task I have undertaken,
peremptorily forbids it, however unpleusant it may
be. The public stand which these gentlemen have
taken, and the tremendous responsibility which they
have voluntarily assumed, in taking upon themselves
the office of judges in the case, and publishing their
verdict to the world, authorizes gvery man to examine
their qualifications, as well as their right, thus to act.

I remark, then, that one and all of them have, from
the commencement of the controversy, been the de-
cided opponents of Maria Monk. Mr. Jones, the os-
tensible leader in all the movements which have been
made to vindicate the criminated priests—avows him-
self to be a Roman Catholic, though ke is understood
to be, by those who know him, an infidel—a man in
whose word, little or no confidence can be placed.
Ie declared in New Yorl, in the presence of several
gentlzmen, that he published the first article that was
ever published against Maria Monk in Canada, be-
fore Lie ever saw either her or her book: and then on
another occasion, when he was shown that that very
article was in direct opposition to the whole tenor of
his book, he denied that he ever bad published it.
Mr. Holmes is a decided opponent of Miss Monk.
The Rev. Mr. Esson is a Scotch clergyman ; a man
whose character has labored exceedingly for several
years past. His name is quite conspicuous in the
various documents which have been issued. from time
to time in Montreal, against Maria Monk. Of the
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general characters of the Rev. Messrs. Perkins and
Curry, I have nothing to say, but what is praisewor-
thy of them. As ministers of Christ, they have the
general confidence of the Christian eommunity. But,
unfortunately, both for themselves and the cause of
truth, they have been led to pursue a course, in refer-
ence to the controversy between Miss Monk and the
priests, which appears to me, every enlightened and
unprejudiced man must unhesitatingly condemn. It
is known, that, from the first, they have, in their let-
ters, and in their conversation, been active in oppo-
sing the claims of Maria Monk. Being early prejudiced
against her, they took a decided stand in their oppo-
sition ; and thus becoming partisans, they have been
goaded on from step to step in vindication of their
own conduct. I speak advisedly on this subject, and
with no other feelings, than those of kindness to-
wards these gentlemen.

The origin and growth of their prejudice can be
easily traced. Miss Monk went in company with
Mr. Hoyt, from New York to Montreal, to procure a
legal investigation of her charges against the priests.
An unhappy difference existed between Mr. Perkins
and Mr. Hoyt, who had been residing for some time
previous in and about Montreal, as an agent for some
benevolent societies. This fact, connected with the
circumstance that Mr. Hoyt was a member of the
Free Presbyterian church of that city, and was espe-
cially befriended in the object of his visit, by its lead-
ing members, who had gone off from Mr. Perkins’
chu.rch, very much against his wishes, gave to the
subject a strong party character, and thus awakened
the‘ prejl.ldice of that gentleman, against the cause
which his opponents had espoused. Had Miss Monk
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fallen into other hands, it is probable Mr. Perkins
would never have occupied the unnatural position in
which he now presents himself, to the astonishment
of the Protestant public. His position is not the re-
sult of any friendship which he feels towards priests,
nuns, and their religion. Popery in all its forms be
abominates. '

It was evident from an early date, to those who
were investigating Miss Monk’s case, in New York,
that he was under strong excitement: for he replied
only in terms of passion to a respectful letter address-
«d to him, for information on the subject.

Mr. Curry, having then but recently arrived in
Canada, and being intimately associated with Mr.
Perkins, was, amidst the general unpopularity of
Miss Monk’s cause, easily led to array himself against
her clains ; and the sarcastic tone of his letter sta-
ting the resnlts of his examination of the Convent
exhibits the violence of his prejudice. Ide has since
been serving the cause of the priests, however much
he may dislike their religion. The first intimations
received in New York, respecting Maria Monk’s hav-
ing described the Montreal Magdalen Asylum, in-
stead of the Hotel Dieu nunnery—a fiction of recent
date—were connected with his movements. He was
represented as searching the building, and applying
the test; and Mr. Jones, in the presence of the Edi-
tors of the New York Sun, declared to the writer of
this, on his (Mr. C.’s) authority, that he (Mr. C.)
found Maria Monlk’s plan to be an exact fac-simile of
the interior of that Asylum!!

Such, then, were the qualifications of the examining
committee. And that I have not misjudged in the
matter, [ feel quite confident; especially in reference
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to the Rev. Mr. Perkins,—whose opinion is perhaps
considered to be the most important of any in the
committee—for I have several letters from him, whichk
abundantly evince the imbitrered state of his feelings
on this subject.®

One word respecting the time occupied in examin-
ing the nunnery. The building is a huge affair. Ac-
cording to Bouchette’s Topographical Description of
Lower Canada, it is 324 feet in front, on St. Paul
street, by 468 feet in depth, on St. Joseph street. Now
Mr. Jones declared in New York that the committee
were occupied only between two and three hours in
making their examination, “{rom garret to cellar.”
This being the case, it is impossible that the examina-
tion could have been any thing like a thorough one.

Such being the eircumstances of the case, it may
be asked, what but an unfavorable report could be
expected, by the friends of Miss Monk, {rom sach
a committee ? But let us examine the report itself,
and see what it amounts to. Itis professedly written
by the Rev. Mr. Curry, and sanctioned by the remain-
der of the committee.

There is something quite imposing in the first sen-
tence ; says Mr. Curry, “I did a few weeks since, in

» * The following is an extract from a letter published in Au-
gust, 1836, by the Rev. Mr. Clary, of Montreal. Speaking of the
report of the committes, he says :—

But the community who know the facts of the ease will not
be satisfied with such an examination; for ali the Sfive gentle-
men who examined the convent were strongly prejudiced against
the book, and none of them were more so than Messrs. Per-
king and Curry : and that prejudice in them is the result of a
personal dislike to Hoyt, and perhaps to others here who were

af:tivc in the firs! movement that was made in regard to those
disclosnres.
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company with N. B. Doucetand J. P. Lacroix, Esgs.,
and without sending any previous notice, visit said
nunnery,” &c. He goes on to state that he examined
every thing “ from the cellar to the roof,” out-houses
and all, except the cloistered department; and that
the lady Superior and the nuns, to whom he was in-
troduced, offered him every facility ; and tihat he was
assured by one of them “that if they had had timely no-
tice of his visit, a permit from the bishop would have
been obtained to give him immediate access to the
whole of the cloistered department.” Now the im-
pression that all this is adapted to make is, that Mr.
Curry’s visit was unexpected to the nuns, and that
they and their lady Superior earnestly courted an ex-
amination of their convent. But be it known that
N. B. Doucet and J. P, Lacroix, Esquires, Mr. Curry’s
associates in his adventure, are Roman Catholics,
and great friends of the priests ; and Maria Monk de-
clares that they are habitual visiters of the Holel
Dieu, for the same purpose that the priests visit that
house of ill-fame. Hence the probability is, that the
priests, nuns, and their two comrades, had the matter
all “cut and dried,” in order that they might make
the experiment, and see how far they could mislead
Mr. Curry ; and thus judge whether they might pre-
dently admit a committee, in part under his general-
ship, to explore the nunnery. It appears that the ex-
periment succeeded just as they would have it. In
this exploration, Mr. Curry found nothing that bore
any resemblance, as he tells us, to Maria Monk’s de-
scriptions. This may be called the first part of the
examination—a sort of preparation for the work of the
future committee.

Some time after this the committee was organized,
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“and the examination made. The result was the same

as before with Mr. Curry; the committee  were
unable to discover the remotest resemblance between
any part of said building, and the plan or description
of Maria Mounk.” Maria’s name was not to be found,
cither in ¢ the register of deaths,” or in the register
in which are entered the names, ages, and dates of
the taking the veil of each nun.” No trace of her.
was to be found; not even the names of those men-
tioned in her disclosures.

'This report of the committee is all negatives. The
committee tell us that they repeatedly traversed every
section of the nunnery,” and could find nothing re-
sembling Maria Monlk’s descriptions. But they do
not tell us what they did find ; whether a greater or
less number of rooms, than she mentions in her de-
scriptions. We are thus left to grope our way in all
the darkness of negatives.

To a letter from the Rev. Mr. Perkins, written im-
mediately after the examination took place, he in-
forms the writer of these pages, that Maria ¢ has pla-
ced the cloistered part of the establishment where the
kitchen is: and that the whole concern is turned up-
side down.” Tt appears from this statement, and :
from a conversation which I had with Mr. Jones,
_confirmed by the testimony of Mr. Ostell, that the
cloistered part of the Hotel Dieu nunnery, is not, at
present, the rear central wing of that building, as de-
scribed by Maria Monk. The truth iz, that amidst
the changes and alterations which have taken place
in that convent, since she left it, the nuns’ depart-
ment has been changed from the rear middle wing, to
another part of the building. That they formerly oc-
cupied the part of the nunnery described by Miss
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Monk, is a fact that the priests dare not deny. Itis
a fact that can be proved by several witnesses, now
residing in New Yotk. Hence * the whole concern,”
as Mr. Perkins says, “is turned upside down” from
what she described it. And well it should be, for she
does not, in her published writings, attempt to de-
scribe the present habitation of the nuns.

From Mr. Jones, I learned that that part of the
building described by Miss Monk, is now occupied as
a kitchen, sleeping-rooms for servants, storage-rooms,
a place for old rubbish, &ec. &c. How easy, then, to
mislead and bewilder such a committee, hastening
through the nunnery as they must have done, seeing
they despatched their scarch in so short a time —
Since the report of the committee, some of Miss
Monlk’s friends have attempted to examine this part
of the building, and have been peremptorily excluded.
Why is this? My readers can easily conjecture.

Before leaving this exparte report of the commit-
tee, two things mentioned in it, deserve a passing
notice. First, speaking of the register of names, Mr.
Curry says: “ To ascertain whether this was the real
register, I called for the name of a nun with whom I
had become acquainted about one year since, and was
immediately referred to it. In this record, which was
an old book, there were no erasures, no mutilapions.
We searched for the name of Maria Monk, and others
mentioned in her book; no such names were there,”
Now this looks like a piece of accomplished Jesuitism
on the part of the priests and nuns. Whoknows but
this book may have been prepared with said names,
for the express purpose of deception? Mr. Curry has
said, in conversation, that he was expressly request-
ed by the mother of said nun to make inquiries re-

7
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specting her davghter. It was therefore known before-
hand that Mr. Curry would inquire for her.  Or, per-
haps, it is an old register of admissions. but false o1
imperfect. But to settle the question beyond dispute,
let the bishop and the Superior present it to the pub-
lic ; and let its names be tranceribed ; and let inquiry
be made, and see if it contains the name of every i
dividual who has been known to enter that eonvent
No one can raise an objection to this course.

The other thing to be noticed is the statement, tha
Maria Monk in passing from the nunnery through the
yard into the street, according to the course which she
says she took—* must have passed directly over, under
or through, at least, three high stone walls.” Thi:
may be true, as things now exist in that yard. Buti
is known that alterations have been made in that yard
By referring to the ground plan of the drawing in he
book, which was taken in the autumn of 1835, by :
competent gentleman in Montreal, it will be see
that no walls then existed in the course she describe
herself to have taken, until she arrived to the one o1
Jean Baptiste street, in which she says there was:
small gate, opening on the inside, through which sk
passed into the street. T have been credibly inform
ed that such a gate formerly existed in that wall.
But be that as it may, it is matter of little conse
quence. She may be mistaken in this particular
and may have passed into Jean Baptiste stree
through the gate leading out of the yard of the Cor

* A gentiernan in New York, who recently visited Montrea
declares that he saw such a gate there. A highly respectab’
lady now on a visit to this city from Montreal, declares thi
ehe has often seenit. Another, who lived in Montreal f
twelve years, declares the same.
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gregaiional Nunnery, or in some other way. it was
dark, and she had just left the nunnery, and was,
doubtless, much terrified and bewildered, hardly
knowing what course she did take. She knew that
she had just violated the awful oaths by which she
bad been bound to the convent, and that she was
fearfully exposing herself to be taken and cruelly
punished, if not absolutely murdered, as her saintly
sister St. Francis had been. This being the case,
the conunittee vught to be ashamed of their unfeeling
and contemptuous statement, that *she must have
passed directly over, under, or through at least three
high stone walls that would have discouraged a less
adventurous lody.”

Appended to the report of the exawnining commit-
tee, we have a statement from Mr. Johu Ostell, ar-
chitect and survevor, giving us the result of a pro-
fessional application of Maria Monk’s plan or draw-
ing, to that part of the Hotel Dieu professedly de-
scribed by her—ihe centre wing. He © declares it to
be his opinion, that, architecturally speaking, and
with reference to the practice prevailing in Canada,
in the construction of buildings, it is impossible that
the said plan should have any real existence,” in con-
nexion with that part of the nunnery. Mr. Ostell
assigns three reasons for his opinion. The present
cloistered apartments, he informs us, © he was not
permitted to enter.”

One of the three reasons mentioned by Mr. Ostell,
has nothing to do with the subject. Itis a discre-
pancy between Maria Monk’s drawing of the inte-
rior, and the ground or block plan, of the building,
drawn by another person. Miss Monk distinctly
states in her book, ‘“that the general plan of the
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grounds and buildings, were in some respects defec-
tive and erroneous,” and that she was not responsi-
ble for its errors. It was drawn by a gentleman in
Montreal, who was fully competent to do it correctly,
and who would have done it so, had he not been
driven uncerernoniously out of the yard. See Awful
Disclosures, p. 374. Why Mr. Ostell should men-
tion, as a reason for his opinion, a discrepancy, which
exists between her drawing of the interior, and a
drawing of the exterior, of the nunnery, by another
person, I am unable to understand.

Another reason assigned, is in the following
words :—* That the partition walls on the first and
second stories, have no correspondence with each
other, commencing and ending on each separate
story ; whereas it is necessary that such walls should
not only correspond with each other, but that they
should commence in the cellar.” According to what
is said here, by Mr. Ostell, Canadian houses must be
very singular in their construction—each story, {from
the cellar upwards, must have an equal number of
rooms, of equal size. For example, if there be five
rooms oa the first floor, there must be five, of pre-
cisely the same dimensions, on the second floor, and
also in the cellar. If there be a bed-room in the
third story, of a three story house, there must be a
bed-room in each story beneath, even down into the
cellar. If this be so, all I have to say is, that the
mode of constructing houses in Canada, is a very
absurd mode. There is no doubt, however, but what
many of the walls are one and the same, beginning
in the cellar, and passing through each story in the
house; but to say that this is the case with each
partition wall, is evidently incorrect.
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The remaining reason is, that—*¢ The second story
plan shows a portion of building at one extremity,
without any similar substructure in the lower sto-
ries.” This is true, and was spoken of by myself
and the gentleman who assisted Miss Monk in ar-
ranging her drawing for the engraver. It was dis-
tinetly pointed out to her, but she was unable to re-
move the difficulty. All she knew was, that on the
second story, there were such and such rooms, thus
and thus located, containing such and such furniture,
and devoted to such and such uses. She showed
none of that ready wit and expedient, which her
enemies so liberally attribute to her ; nor did she even
attempt to reconcile the discrepancy pointed out to
het. She exhibited the artlessness of a child in the
matter.

It is proper here to say a word or two, respecting
the origin of Miss Monk’s drawing of the interior of
the Hotel Dieu, or that part of it formerly occupied
by the cloistered nuns. At the time it was done, she
had been out of the nunnery some fifteen or sixteen
months—months of excitement and variea ‘rials and
sufferings, such as few females of her age a.e ever
called upon, in the providence of God, to endure. It
was made solely from memory, and in considerable
haste; for the idea of drawing an entire plan of the
department was not suggested, until the edition, in
which it was to be inserted, was nearly ready for the
press, although several sketches of different parts had
been previously drawn. The building described, is
a huge establishment; containing many rooms, and
of course, a description of them, solely from recollec-
tion, was attended with much perplexing difficulty,
This will be readily seen by every reflecting mind , 352

7‘
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if any man doubts it, let him remove his doubts, by at-
tempting to give a drawing from memory, even of the
house in which he was born and raised. Under these
circumstances, nothing but an imperfect and general
description, could possibly have been expected. The
demand, that she should have given to each room its
exact proportionate size, so as to have the separating
walls on each story exactly correspond with each
other, is beyond measure unreasonable. No man on
earth could do it, except he were on the spot, with
his measuring rule in his hand. How preposterous,
then, to require it of a girl in her situation !

The two discrepancies between her drawing and
the building, pointed out by Mr. Ostell, were known
to exist before her plan was published. It was known
that the walls between the rooms on each story, did
not correspond with each other ; nor was such a cor-
respondence even sought for, much less professed.
It was also known that a portion of the second story
extended beyond the first story, so as to be without
any corresponding substructure. Miss Monk knew
it; and had she been an impostor, and of course her
drawing a mere fancy work, her fancy would have
created a room or two more for the first story, and
thus have removed the want of the substructure spo-
ken of. This is a strong evidence of her honesty.
Or had we who assisted her in arranging it, been so
disposed, we could have done it; but that would have
been contrary to our determination from the first,
which was, that every thing ascribed to Miss Monk,
in her book, should be her own production, and not
ours. As we sought nothing but truth, it was our

determination, that she should stand or fall by her
own descriptions.
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And now, understanding the subject, as I do, I so-
lemnly aver, that the architectural report of Mr. Os-
tell presents to my mind, irresistible evidence of the
fact, that Maria Monk has described, though imper-
fectly, the centre wing or main building of the Hotel
Dieu, from a personal knowledge of it, ebtained by
a long residence in that establishment. Her de-
scription of it appears, from this report, to be quite
as accurate as I ever supposed it to be. In speaking
of a portion of the first story, on page 396 of her
book, Miss Monk says:—‘“ Of the size and precise
number of the two or three succeeding rooms, I am not
very certain. I think I have drawn them pretty nearly
right” Now, suppose—what is probably the truth in
the case—that, in the indistinctness of her recollec-
tion alluded to in this passage, she has omitted in her
drawing, a single room; would not the omission ac-
count for the discrepancies spoken of by Mr. Ostell ?
Would it not represent the first story of that long
building, as being shorter than the second, and thus
produce the absence of the substructure spoken of ?
And would it not produce the want of a general cor-
respondence in the separating walls, on the two sto-
ries of the building ?

I beg of the reader to pause and consider this pro-
fessional report of Mr. Ostell, for a single moment.
Maria Monk, in the first place, gave us a general de-
scription of the first story of the nunnery—her former
abode ; and then of the second story. We compared
the two together, to see if they corresponded with
each other; and we saw that they did not. We saw
that she had made the second story somewhat long-
er than the first, and of course that there was a want
of a general correspondence in the walls, separating
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the rooms in each story. We stated the fact to het,
and she made another effort, but came to the same re-
sult, saying, I have done as well as 1 could, and if
there are mistakes, I can’t help it.” Ve saw that she
was confused in her rtecollections, respecting a por-
tion of the first story—where the rooms are number-
ed, the 4th, 5th and 6th. This imperfection of mem-
ory is alluded to in the above extract from her book.
But notwithstanding this known imperfection in her
drawing, we published it; and what is the result?
An architect is employed, some time afterwards, by
her opponents, to compare the drawing with the
building ; and he reports unfavorably, assigning as
his reasons, the very imperfections which we knew
existed before the drawing was published. I ask,
then, what stronger evidence could be presented to
our minds, than is here offered by Mr. Ostell, of the
fact, that her drawing is not the work of fancy, but
of sober reality 7 If Mr. Ostell had found any other
discrepancies than these two, between her drawing
and the building, he unquestionably would have
named them, in place of mentioning the one first no-
ticed above, which has nothing to do with the sub-
Ject—the discrepancy between her drawing of the
interior, and the plan of the exterior, of the building,
furnished by another person. He does not intimate
any incorrectness as to the general form and size of
the building, as described in her drawing.

If any man will take into consideration the entire
circumstances of the case—her youth and inexperi-
ence in such matters—the undisciplined state of her
mind—the size of the building, and consequent diffi-
culty attending its description—the agitations, trials,
and sufferings she had experienced—the long time
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which had elapsed since her elopement from the nun-
nery ; he must see, in the light of Mr. Ostell’s report,
that the drawing of Miss Monk is as accurate as could
have been reasonably expected. He must and will
see the intrinsic absurdity of the idea, that she drew
her plan of the interior of the nunnery from the mere
workings of a wild, undisciplined imagination. The
man that can understandingly believe, that her draw-
ing is mere fancy work, can believe any thing, how-
ever absurd, FHis helief is heyond the point of being
influenced by evidence ; and of course it were an ab-
surdity to attempt to reason with him on the subject.

What then is the conclusion ? Have not the priests
failed in this attempt to mislead the public? Is not
their attempt here as fruitless, as that in the preceding
chapter to prove an alibi? Nay, this attempt is more
than a failure. It {urnishes evidence of a high degree
m support of Miss Monk’s claims.

In connexion with Mr. Ostell’s report, how reck-
less does the following declaration of Mr. Curry,
sanctioned by the other members of the commitiee, ap-
pear !—“[n conclusion, I declare, to all whom it may
concern, that if Maria Monk has told the truth in her
description of the interior of the Hotel Dieu nunnery
of Montreal, I shall not be slow to believe that the
nuns of Canada yet retain the power of working mira-
cles with stone and mortar.” No miracle need to
have been wrought, nor a particle of stone or mortar
used, and yet it is extremely manifest from Mr. Os-
tell’s professional report, that her description of the
interior of the nunnery has its foundation in truth,

* Query—Did they ever possess this power? If so, when did
thay lose it ?
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But then there can be no doubt but what extensive
alterations have been madc in that convent, since
Maria Monk left it; and the priests, in any responsi-
ble manner, dare not deny it* Mr. Curry knows
that alterations have been made; for he has declared,
as I have been credibly informed, that he saw a hole,
or well, newly dug, in the cellar of that establishment;
and when asked why he did not mentiou it in his
report, he replied, that he did not feel himself called
upon to state what he saw in the nunnery !” True,
if he wished faithfully to serve the priesthvod of Mon-
treal, he was not called upon to report any thing un-
favorable to their interests. Alas, for such a commit-
tee! What motive could have influenced them to
take upon themselves the performance of a task,
for which they must have known themselves to be so
incompetent? They knew, as well as they knew they
existed, that they were among the bitterest of Miss
Monk’s opponents; and they also must have known

* The Rev. Mr. Clary of Montreal, published in August, 1836,
to the world, over his own giznature, the following statement,
which, o far as I know, remains uncontradicted by any respon-
gible person in Montreal. “ Material allerations have been
made in and around the Conrent!!! Those persons living
where they can look over the wall into the enclosure of the
convent, say, that cartmen and masons have been at work’
there much of the winter and spring, orerhauling and firing
Jor an examination.”” Again in October 17th, 1826, speaking
of Mr. Stone's report, hie says:—" He said nothing about the
recent building and repairing of stone walls within the enclo-
sure of the convent, and which everybody who wishes can
see, nor the new wall within the building, as mentioned privately
by one of the former examiners—nor does he tell us that the
}vell in the cellar was dug this summer, nor whether or not it is
in exactly the same place that the cemetery, or hole for smoth-
ered aups and infants, i3 said to have been,”



REPLY TO THE PRIESTS’ BOOK. 83

the fact, that they were thus considered by all who
were interested in ferreting out the truth of her awful
charges against that nunnery. Could they then for a
single moment have supposed, that an unfavorable
report from them would -terminate the controversy ?
And they must have known, that the priests would nev-
er have selected them for the task, unless they had felt
quite sure of oblaining such a report from them.
What object, thien, could they hope to gain by serviog
on such a comuittee? It is to be hoped, that Messrs.
Perkins and Curry—as to the rest of the committee,
it is of little consequence what ranks they occupy—
will hereafter leave the priests and nuns to defend
their own tnnatural and impure institutions. They
are in bad company, and in bad busines-.

Before leaving this subject, I wish briefly to notice
the senseless fiction, that Maria Monk has described
the interior of the Magdalen Asylum of Montreal,
instead of the interior of the Hotel Dieu nunnery. 1}
call this a senseless fiction, recently fabricated for the
purpose of deception, Mrs. McDonell, matron of the
Asylum, states on oath, “that the deseription given
in the said ‘ Disclosures,’ of the interior of the Hotel
Dieu, is an incorrect description of the apartments of

‘the said Asylum.” Here is a fair specimen of jesuitism,
found in the phrase “incorrect description.” What
does Mrs. McDonell mean by it 7 Does she mean to
‘say-that Maria Monk attempted to describe the Asy-
lum, and hLas done it incorrectly ? or does she mean,
that Maria Monk’s attempted description of the Hotel
Dieu, incorrectly resembles the Asylum? Iam una-
ble to conceive of any other meaning which may be
auached to it. To say that Maria Monk attempted
to give a description of her Asylum, is a declaration
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so absurd as not to be within the limits of reason or
common sense. It cannot therefore be reasoned about.
And to affirm that Miss Monlk’s descriptions bear an
incorrect resemblance to her Asylum, is about as rele-
vant as it would be to affirm, that they bore an incor-
rect resemblance to the moon ; for hoth the moon and
Mrs. McDouell’s Asylum have the dimensions of
length, breadth, height, and depth, and so has Maria
Monk’s drawing; and in this respect there is an
incorrect resemblance between all of them.

The truth is, this “exemplary and charitable”
woman is unworthy of the least confidence. She has
perjured hersell in several instances in her affidavit
She affirms that Maria Monk had led the life of a
stroller and a prostitute, for many years, in direct
opposition” to all the priests’ witnesses, who affirm
that she had been living during this time in Sorel and
St. Denis—in the latter as a school mistress, for
some fifteen months, while Dr. Nelson says she was
a part of the time with her mother. She also affirms
that Louis Malo was in the habit of visiting Maria
Monk during the winter of 1834-5, whilst he affirms
that he never heard of her during this period. Sheis
a mere 100l of the priests, ready to swear to any thing
which they command her. Respecting this triek of
the priests, I have more to say hereafter.

I will conclude this chapter with the subjoined ex-
pressive resolutions, simply observing that the com-
mitiee therein named to explore the convent, in
company with Maria Monk, have as yet received no
permission from the proper authorities, to discharge
the duty assigned them. Why is this? If Maria
Monk 1s an 1mpostor, why should the bishop of Mox-
treal reject this unexceptionable mode of counvineing
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the world of the fact?* It is earnestly desired that
the public will hereafter duly apprecxate the reports
of exparte and superficial examiners of the nunnery,
such as the one already examined; and also that
recently pablished in New York by Mr. William L.
Stone, who, according to his vwn narrative, appears
not to have seen a single room in that part of the
convent professedly described by Maria Monk. He
appears to have been completely duped by the prie=ts
and nuns; and of course, his report is a sheer imposi-
tion on lhe public, and «hould Le treated as such.

RESOLUTIONS.
lleSPE‘CTl."" d MARIA MO KK,

YAt a mecting convened in the American Tract
Society’s Rooms, at the eall of several gentlemen,
for the purpose of considering the controversy existing
between Maria Monk and the Ro:nish Priests of the
Montreal Diocess, Francis I). Allen, Lsq. was called
to the chair, and the Rev. Oclurvius li'inslow ap-

* The Rev. Mr. Clary says, in In pubiished h ter of Au ‘uat,

1600 e have {ried fo scl permission jor a Conunitice af gen-
tiemen from New Yorlk, with vthers from this place, ty go in,
and take Mavia Monl: with them, but Ihace not succeeded. In
his letter of October the 17th, he says:—Oa the samme day of
-the examinatiou of the convent, made in Juiy last, under tho
guidance of Mr. Junes, the Catholie editor of this city, I made
application io him for permission for a few gentlemen from
New York, with others from this ¢iiy, under the guidance of
Maria Yonk, to examine the  conveat, whose report I deemed
the only one which would bring odt the truth or satisfy tha
ecommunity. H: scemed in favor of this promsal,gn«the coti-
dition that if they failed to prove the truth of the'Qjsclusures,
its authoress should be given up to the authoritics to be at their
disposal ; and he promiscd to get permission, but the bishap
woi'd not grant it.

3
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pointed as Secretary. The following Preamble and
Resolutions were unanimously adopted:

" Whereas, Maria Monk has hitherto appealed in
vain to the Canadian authorities, both civil and eccle-
siastical, to bring her charges against the Romish
oriests of the Montreal Diocess, to some equitable
ribunal for investigation ; and, whereas, she now ap-
veals to the people of the United States, invoking
hem to interpose in her behalf, and demand that jus-
ice be rendered to her, a lonely girl, in her peculiarly
rying and unequal controversy with the priests of the
tomish church; and, whereas, the people of the
Juited States—besides being always disposed to lis-
en to the voice of the friendless and the persecuted—
iave a deep and solemn interest in the matter in dis-
ute, in consequence of the rapid increase of Popery
nd of popish institutions in their country ; and also,
a consequence of the contiguity of the Canadian
unneries, and their intimate connexion with, and
nfluence upon, the rising institutions of America _
"herefore.

“ Resolved, 1st, That it is the sense of this meeting
nat the appeal of Maria Monk to the American peo-
le, ought to be promptly and efficiently responded to,
o far as the nawre of the case will admit of.

“ Resolved, 2d, That the conduyect of the Romish’
lontreal priests and their advocates—(1) in attempt-
12, by every means, to asperse and vilify the eharac-
or of Maria Monk; and (2) '
1€ most artful 'deceplions, to decoy her into their
ands; and (3) in refusing, for the space of one full
ear, to allow the matter in coutroversy to be hrought

) a fair trial ;_bcspeaks any thing rather thap manly
onesty and virtuous innocence.

in attempting, through
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“ Resolved, 3d, That the recent examination, said
to have been made, of the I{otel Dieu nunnery of
Montreal, i3 altogether unsatisfactory ; because (1)
the gentlemen engaged in it have been, from the be-
ginning, strongly and actively prejudiced against
Maria Monk. Mr. Jones, editor of a Romish paper,
under the auspices of the priests, and principal mover
in getting up the book against Maria Monk, which is
about to appear, containing, among other things, the
results of this party examination, was their leader.
And because (2) malerial alterations are said to
have been made in and around the convent during
the past year—alterations, such as doubtless would
casily deceive such a committee of examiners. For
these reasons, any report unfavorable to Maria Monk,
made by these disqualified examiners, ought to have
no influence in deciding this controversy.

“ Resolved, 1th, That the recent effort of the priests
and their defenders, to make it appear that Maria
Monk, instead of describing the Hotel Dieu nunnery
and its inmates, has described a place which they
call a “Magdalen Asylum;? and also, their attempts
to prove, by the affidavits of some unprincipled prof-
ligates and infidels, calling themselves protestants,
and of ignorant papists, that she never was a nun;
hut that she has been of a bad character, living in
brothels, &ec., is highly characteristic of Jesuitism;
adapted to blind and bewilder the public mind, and
turn it away from the single point to which it ought
to be directed, viz: an impartial examination of the
Conrent.

“ Resolved, 5th, That the demand made and reitera-
ted by Maria Monk, during the space of a full year,
viz: that herself in person, accompanied by hsr
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friends, as well as enemies, should be permitted to
explore the nunnery, is perfectly reasonable and
right ; and that a further refusal, in the present state
of the case, forthwith to comply with it, on the part
of the Hotel Dieu Ecclesiastics, ought to be consid-
ered as equiralent to an acknowledgment of the
crimes alleged against them by Maria Monk.

“ Resolved, 6th, That a committee of four gentlemen
be now -appointed. with power to fill vacancies and
increase their number, either in the United States or
in Canada, to accompany Maria Monk to Montreal,
so soon as the authorities of Canada shall afford suit-
able protection to such a committee, and shall grant
them the necessary permission and facilities for tho-
roughly exploring the Hotel Dieu nunnery, and such
other establishments as are said to be connected with
it, viz., the Priest’s Seminary, and the Congregational
I\unnery, connected by subterranean passages; and
also the Black Nuns’ Island, which seems to be a
component part of the Hotel Dieu nunnery of Mon-
treal ; and that the following gentlemen be appointed
on that committee,—George Hall, Esq., late Mayor of
Brooklyn, Profe<501 S.F.B. Morse David Wessen,
Esq., and Rev. J. J. Slocum.

“Francis D. ALLeN, Chairman.
“Ocravirs WinsLow, Secretary.
“ New York, August 8th, 1836.”

The reader will please notice the length of time

since these resolutions were first published to the
world.
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CHAPTER V.
ORIGIN OF MISS MONK’S ¢ DISCLOSURES.”

Troublesome matter to the priests—Statement of the Boston Pilot—
Ascribed to a combination of individuals—To a nameless inan—Sald
to have obtained her facts in the Magdalen Asylmin—Her residence
fu the Asylum—Its gross absordity—First discovered in New York
by Mr. Hilliker-~His afidavit—Their incipient origin attributed to
Mr. Hoyt—Her supposed dying confession to the Rev. Mr. Tappin—
The true origin of the * Disclosures"—Statemnent of the writer of
her book as to the circumstances connected with its compilation—
Integrity of the comnpiler vouched for by several gentleinen.

NotuinG appears to have given the Roman priests
and their advocates more vexation, than the contri-
vance of some scheme, by which the world may be
induced to believe that Maria Monk is not the sole
authoress of the disclosures attributed to her. She is
yet in her youth, and according to the position assum-
ed and proved by them, as they say, she has hitherto
led the life of an infamous stroller, being subject to
fits of insanity from her childhood, and has never
been a Roman Catholic. Taking this ground, they
readily perceive that it will not do to admit that she,
and she alone, has furnished the matter of her disclo-
sures ; for they know that all the world will see that
the thing is impossible in the nature of the case.
Yea, they know that it will not do, on any considera-
tion whatever, to admit that she is the sole authoress
of her works. The admission would ruin them ; for
it is utterly impossible that she should have produced
the matter of her narrative, unless she had been an
inmate of the Hotel Dieu nunnery of Montreal. This

g*
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they know full well. Hence the various and contra-
dictory sources, which they have alleged to be the
true origin of her disclosures.—Let us notice some
two or three of these.

Immediately after the “ Awful Disclosures” were
published, the Boston Pilot (a Catholic paper) issued
the following statement, as disclosing their true ori-
gin :—

“We are ready and willing to declare upon "oath,
that the extracts which we have seen in the New
York Transcript, Boston Morning Post, Salem Ga-
zette, and other respectable periodicals, purporting to
be extracts from the disclosures of Maria Monk, &c.,
are to be found, word for word, and letter for letter,
(proper names only being altered,) in a book transla-
ted from the Spanish or Portuguese language, in 1781,
called ‘ The Gates of Hell Opened, or a Develop-
ment of the Secrets of Nunneries,’ and that we, at
present, are the owner of-a copy of said book, which
was loaned by us, a year or two since, to some person
in Marblehead or Salem, who has not returned it.”

This statement was extensively circulated both
through the Catholic and Protestant papers, and mul-
titudes were led to believe that it was true. But time
has shown it to be otherwise. Miss Monl’s publish-
ers forthwith offered one hundred dollars, to any in-
dividual who would present them with a work thus
resembling the “ Awful Disclosures.” But the priest,
who fabricated and published the statement, and
vcfho “was ready and willing to swear” to his own
lie, has never been able to produce such a book.

The 'ground usually taken by the opponents of Miss
Monk is, “that she is a mere tool in the hands of
others,” who have fabricated her disclosures, and
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“published them in her name. The writers of the
“ Awful Exposure” assume this position, as a truth
which needs no proof. Hence the title-page of their
book :—* Awful Exposure of the atrocious plot formed
'by certain individuals against the Clergy and Nuns
of Lower Canada, through the intervention of Maria
Monk.” Who these individuals are, we are not in-
formed. But they are unmercifully denounced as,
‘a band of. fanaties,” ‘“an association of impostors,”
“ abetters of Monk,” “advizers of Monk,” ** her crew,”
“infamous,” “canting hypocrites,” * calumniators”
“using Monk to convey theirown slanders,” “rendered
‘insane by the instigations of their own malice,” pos-
sessing “ unparalleled impudence and imbecility,”
“atrocious intentions,” “ minds prolific of calumny,”
“strange audacity,” being unable ‘“to construct a lie
of ordinary verisimilitude”—which by the way, is
equivalent to saying that they are notf practised in
the art of lying.

On page 81 of their book, the priests speak as if the
“ Awful Disclosures” were the production of some
one man; whom they handle after their accustomed
manner., Say they:—*“ When this refutation and
these proofs shall meet the scurrilous and unhesita-
ting defamer, will he not seek to escape the light of
day and the regards of his fellow men? The turbu-
lent current of his deliberate and blasphemous fanaii-
cism will be heated by hot shame and unavailing re-
gret. The stupid and lying wretch, the base knave,
the imbecile criminal, will writhe in his anguish,
scorned and loathed by an insulted and indignant
community.” Who the individual is, thus mauled, I
know not, But I think he must have been a name-
less man of straw, whom the priests, by this thunder
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storm of wrath, have blown into the land of nomen-
tity.

But the priests are not satisfied—or rather their
justly think that the reflecting part of the cominunity
are not satisfied with cither of these modes of account-
ing for the origin of Miss Monk’s disclosures. They
have, therefore, recently lit upon another, as novel as
it is singular. They say that the materials, out of which
her disclosures were fabricated, were obtained by her
from the Montreal Magdalen Asylum. This is truly
a marvellous discovery ; and, in order that the reader
may be enabled to judge of its truth, it will be neces-
sary, here, briefly to state Miss Monk’s connexion
with this establishment. This she has stated in her
first volume, pages 272-73; and the statement was
made by her, long before her enemies even alluded
to the fact; and indeed, they appear to have first
learned it from her narrative. She has stated all she
knew about it, though it appears that she was unac-
quainted with the nature of the establishment. She
states that she was never in the larger of the two
houses belonging to the Asylum, and of course knows
nothing about it. But when, how long, and how
came she in the Asylum? are questions which need
to be answered. It was in the winter of 1834-5, that
she was there, after she professes to have left the
nunnery. There is no disagreement on this point, be-
tween her and her opponents. There is, however,
as it respects the length of time that she was there.
The Magdalens affirm that she was in the Asylum
about three months, while she thinks that she was there
but about six or seven weeks. It appears quite evi-
dent that t?xey are mistaken as to the length of time.
They admit that she left the establishment about the
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first of March, 1835. Now it is stated in the “ Awful
Exposure,” that she was released from jail on the
19th of November, and taken by her mother to the
Government House, of which she is the keeper. And
it appears that she was at her mother’s residence, for
several weeks before going to the Asylum. She
could not, therefore, have been there for three
months.

. But how came she in the Asylum ? Her unfeeling
mother sent her there. But why should Mrs. Monk
place her in that establishment? It will be recol-
lected that Maria Monk had attempted to drown her-
self, und as a consequence, being considered an in-
sane vagrant, she had been imprisoned. “ Awful
Disclosures,” 266-7. This attempt at self-destrue-
tion connected with her confinement, for a few days,
in jail, were considered hy Mrs. Mounk as disgracing
her family ; hence she wished to cover up the matter
asmuch as possible, by keeping her daonghter con-
cealed from the eye of her friends. While Maria
remained with her mother, she was not allowed to
see any company—this, however, was in accordance
with her own wishes, as she was in censtant fear of
being apprehiended by the ‘priests—so that even her
own brother did not know that she was in the house,
until about two wecks after she entered it. But Mrs.
Monk becoming weary of keeping Maria after this
manner, procured a place for her in the Asylum, prob-
ably as a boarder. This conduct of Mrs. Monk, is
in perfect keeping with her general treatment of her
children—or at least of some of them—which is any
thing rather than maternal. In consequence of her
barbarous conduct towards her oldest son, now a res-
ident of New York, he left her house when only
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ten years of age. The same brutality which thus
drove her eldest son from under her roof, also drove
her eldest daughter, Maria, to seek a refuge in the
nunnery. Much might be said on this subjeet, but
I forbear.

Maria Mook states that, during her residence in the
Asylum, she kept her chamber from the day she enter-
ed, until about the time she left it. She was in fee-
ble health, though not as much so as she feigned her-
self to be, in order that she might he allowed to keep
her room. Her motive was, the fear of being detect-
ed by the priests, one of whom—Father Bonin, one
of the murderers of St. Francis—was the confessor
of the establishment. She states that she had as lit-
tle intercourse as possible with any in the house—not
even seeing Mrs. McDonell above three or four times,
until the day she left the house. Hence the fact that
Mrs. McDouell and a Miss Howard, both of whom
have given their affidavits respecting her, are igno-
rant of her person. A gentleman from New York,
being on a visit, not long since, in Montreal, hear-
ing that Jane Ray, concerning whom Miss M. has so
much to say in her writiogs, was in the asylum, call-
ed to see her. He was told that she was not in, but
would be in shortly. He remained in waiting for an
hour and a half, but no Jane Ray made her appear-
ance. During his stay he had some conversation
with Mrs. McDonell, and Miss Howard, about Maria
Monk, and they told him, and his companion, that
she had light hair! Now, be it known to these wo-
men, that Maria Monk’s hair is directly the opposite
of light. Ttis black. 1 would add that the gentle-
men were informed, that if they would call on the
first of the week—it being on Saturday they visited
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the Asylum-—they should see Jane Ray. The call
was made accordingly, and lo! the door was closed!
They could not receive visiters! Why was this ?

Having said thus much, we are now prepared to
nquire, whether Miss Monk did, in reality, obtain
the matter of her disclosures from this Asylun, du-
ring the few wecks of her stay in one of its cham-
bers Bul what could she have learned in this estab-
hishment, which bears any resemblance to the princi-
pal facts disclosed in her book ?

I frankly confess, that 1 do not know what to say
on this subject, because of its gross absurdity. There
are some subjects that beggar all proof or disproof,
all explanation or illustration. They do not fall
within the sphere of argumentation. 11 a man were
1o tell me that the proper place to learn temperance
principles was in a grog-shop, or that the sanctuary,
where Jehovah is worshipped in spirit and in truth,
and where his law and his gospel are faithfully ex-
pounded, was a it place to learn all that is infamous
in erime—what could I say to him ?  Could I reason
with him? How then can I reason with the priests
on the suhject before u~?7 A Magdalen Asylum is a
liouse of virtue; a place where unfortunate females,
who have wandered (rom duty, are taught all that i+
virtuous in purity, industry, and religion. But what re-
semblance is there hetween the instructions and practi-
ces of such a place, and those delineated in the * Disclo-
sures !’ Such as the most consummate hypocrisy, ly-
ing, producing and strangling infants, smothering wo-
men, and almost every other crime that can be named,
all practised under the highest sanctity of a religious
profession. Surely, one might as well think of “ gath-
ering grapes of thorns, or figs of thistles,” as to.think
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of gatheving the facts, narrated by Miss Monk, from
a8 Magdalen Asylum.

But tlie position of the priests is so grossly absulrd,
that I fear lest some may possibly think that I mis-
yepresent them; such may think that the priests
would be simply understood as saying, that Miss
AMonk obtained her knowledge of conventual cerewo-
nies in the asyluin,  This, however, is not se. Oln
page 5%. of their book, they say :— In fact, there 13
not, perhaps, a single lie told in the ‘Disclosures,'?' ff)r
which a similar (a practice in the asylum) ongm
might not be tound.”  Now, what are the praclices
spoken of by Miss Monk, which the priests would
have us to befivve are lies?  Arve they not those
which would disgrace 1 heathen and a publican?

This strinze resort of the priests. must convince
every unbiased mind, of the fact, that their cause
desperate.  The mere statement of it, is enough to
expose its intrinsic absurdity.

Whether the astounding fucts respecting the Hotel
Dieu nunnery of Montreal, which arve narrated in the
* Awful Disclosutes,” be true or false, T hope to show
to ihe satisfaction of every honest mind, that Maria
Mouk is the sole authoress of thewmn.

The wanner in which Miss Mouk passed her tine,
from the hour she left the convent, until she arrived
in New York, will be found narrated in the first four
thapters of her sequel, Awfnl Disclosares, beginning
at page 257, :

The affecting circumstances in which Mr. Hilliker
and his associates. first discovered Miss Monk, after
her jarr.ival in New York, are briefly stated in the fol-
lowing affidavit. It is to this kind and humane gen-
tleman, that the world. is indebted, under a benign
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Provider :e, for the preservation of Miss 3{onk’s tes-
timony, by re.cuing heefrom a premature grave, into
which she was then rapidly sinking, after having
spent several days in the forlorn situation in which
sle was thus discovered. I envy not the sensibili-
ties of that man who can read it unmoved.

“ City and Cor.nty of

New Yorl,

*John Hill aev, being duly sworn, doth depose and
tdy—that one day carly in the month of May, 1835,
while shooting near the Third Avenue, oppesite the
thiee mile stone, in company with three friends, }
saw a woman sitting in a field at a short distance,
who attracted our attention. On reaching her, we
found her sitting with her Lead down. and could not
make ler return any answer to our questions, On
riaising her hat we saw that she was weeping. She
was dressed in an old calivo frock, (I think of a green-
ish color,) with a checked apron, and an old black
bonnet. Afier much delay and weeping. she began
to answer my questions, but not until T fiad got my
comy-nions to leave us, and assured her that I was a
married man, and disposed to befriend her.

“ She then told me that her name was Maria, that
she had been a nun in a nunnery in Nontreal, from
which she lLiad made her escape, on account of the
ireatment she had received from priests in that insti-
‘ution, whose licentious conductshe strongly intimated
'0 me. She mentioned some particulars concerning
he convent and her escape. Sic spoke particularly
f a small room where she used to attend, until the
shysician entered to see the sick, when <he aceompa-
1ied him to write down his prescriptions ; and said
hat she escaped through « door which he sometimes

9
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entered. She added, that she exchanged her dress
after leaving the nunnery, and that she came to New
York in company with a man, who left her as soon
as the steamboeat arrived. She further stated, that
she expecteld soon to give birth to a child, having be-
come pregnant in the convent; that she had no friend,
and knew not where to find one; that she thought
of destroying Ler lile ; and wished me to leave her—
saying, that if I should hear of a woman being found
drowned in the IZast River, she earnestly desired me
never to speak of her.

“Jasked if <he had had any food that day, to
which, ske anzwered, no; and | gave her mouey to
get some at the groeery of Mr. Cux, in the neighbor-
hood. She left me, but I afterwards saw Ler in the
fields, going towards the river: and after much ur-
gency, prevailed upon her to go to a house where I
thonght she mizlit be aceoramodated, offering to pay
her expenzes. Failing in this attempt, I persuaded
lier, with much doliculty, to go to the Alinshouse;
and there we got her received, alter I had promised
to call to see hev, as she said she had something of
great consequence which she wished to communicate
tome, and wished me to write a letter tc Montreal.

“Bhe had every appearance of teliing the teuth;
so much so, that T have vever for a moment doubted
the truth Qf' her story, but told it to many persons of
ny acquaintance, with euntire confidence in its truth.
She seemed overwhelmed with grief, and in a very

desperate state of mind. 1 saw her weep for two

liours A ng ;
s or more without ceasing; and appeared very

feeble when attempting to walk, so that two of us
supported her by the arms. We observed also, that

[P -
ene always folded her hands under her apron when
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she walked, as she has described the nups as doing
in her * Awful Disclosures.!

“1 called at the Almshouse gate several times and
inquired for her; but having forgotten half of her
name, 1 could not make it understood whom I wished
to see, and did not see her until the last week, When
I saw some of the first extracts from her book ina
newspaper, I was confident that they were parts of
her story, and when I read the conclusion of the work,
I had not a doubt of it. Indeed, many things in the
course of the book I was prepared for from what she
bad told me.

“ When I found her, I recognised her immadiately,
although she did not know me at first, being in a very
different dress. As soon as she was informed where
she had seen me, she recognised me. I have not
found in the book any thing inconsistent with what
she had stated to me when [ first saw her.

“When I first saw her in May, 1835, she had evi-
dently sought concealment. She had a letter in her
hand, which she refused to let me see ; and when she
found I was determined to remove her, she tore it in
small picces, and threw themn down. Several duysy
after I visited the spot again and picked them up, to
learn something of the contents, but could find noth-
ing intelligible, except the first part of the signature,
‘Maria.’

 Of the truth of her story, I have not the slightest
doubt, and [ think I never can until the nunnery is
opened and examined. Joun HiLLIKER.

“Sworn before me, this Iith of March, 1836.

“ PereR JENKINS,
“ Commissioner of Deeds.”

Respecting the incipient origin of the *“ Awful Dis-
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closures,” the priests say on page 122 of their book,
that :—¢ The earliest instigator of Monk’s fabrications
appears to have been an individual named Hoyt.”
Concerning this man they have much to say that is
untrue, to the disadvantage of Miss Monk. They
would have the world to believe, that there was an
improper intimacy between them, on their first arrival
at Mr. Goodenough's tavern in Montreal , and that
this was observed by Judge Turner, of St. Albans,
Vermont, who accompanied them to that eity, for
the purpose of procuring a legal investigation of Miss
Mook’s eriminal charges against the priests. But
this is denied by the Judge.

However indiscreet Mr. Hoyt's management of
Aliss Monk’s affairs may have been, he appears to
have acted from upright motives, until a short time
before her book was completed for the press; when,
in attempling to secure its profits for himself, excep!
such as she needed for the immediate support of her
sell'and child, he took a misstep, which involved hir
in a multitude of others. Since then his conduct has
been very reprehensible. He hasinvolved her in law
suits, and occasioned her, besides much trouble an
vexation, the loss of cousiderable money. He is no
a ‘““ cast-off clergyman,” as the priests call him; fo
he never was a clergyman of any sect.*

The important testimony of the Rev. Mr. Tappi
settles the question, both as to the origin of Mis

Monk’s disclosures, and also her earliest acquaini
ance with Mr. Hoyt.

* The bitter feelings which have existed, for some ten montk
past, between Mr. Hoyt and Miss Monk, is decisive evidence
tk‘.e fa'ct, that there hasbeen no collision between them, in ot
ginating her book for purmoses of speculation. '
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The following statement respecting the origin of
Maria Monk’s disclosures, and her first acquaintance
with Mr. Hoyt, has the sanction of the Rev. Mr.
Tappin, Chaplain, for several years past, of the Hu-
mane and Criminal Institutions of the city of New
York—a gentleman of unblemished character.

“In the summer of 1835, Maria Monk, authoress
of the ¢ Awful Disclosures,’ was seriously ill, and, as
she supposed, on the borders of the grave. In this
situation, she sent for me, and with all the solemnity
of a dying hour, she communicated to me the princi-
pal statements respecting the Hotel Dieu nunnery
of Montreal, which she has since published to the
world, in her disclosures. She did this by way of
penitential confession. Her object appeared to be,
not to criminate others, but to confess her own guilt,
and thus relieve her troubled conscience ; {or she felt
that she had, in some sense, been a participator in the
horrid crimes which she divulged. At the time,
it was very evident to my mind, that she had no idea
that her disclosures to me, would ever be made known
to the public. The impression, which I then receiv-
ed of her honest sincerity, remains to this day unef-
faced. This was some time before her acquaintance
with Mr. Hoyt; who, having recently arrived in New
York from Canada, and having heard of her case,
called on me to make inquiries respecting it, and was,
by me, introduced to her acquaintance.”

Here then we learn, when it was that Mr. Hoyt
first became acquainted with Miss Monk. Mr. Tap-
pin states that a short time after Miss Monk’s con-
fession to him, he mentioned her case to a friend in
New York, under the expectation that it would have
been kept secret, at least [or the time being. Mr.

9'
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Hoyt, then recently from Montreal, called upon this
friend of Mr. Tappin’s, who communicated to him t}}e
circuomstances of the case. Hence the manner 1n
which Mr. Hoyt first heard of Miss Monk. And hav-
ing resided, as an agent for Sabbath schools, for some
time in Montreal, it was very natural that he should
feel an interest in the disclosures which Miss quk
had made. He accordingly sought an interview with
her, and after consultation with her, and with a few
gentlemen in New York and Brooklyn, it was deem-
ed advisable that Miss Monk should go, as sooun as
her health would admit of it, to Moutreal and present
her criminal charges against the priests and nuns 10
the civil authorities of that city for investigation.
She accordingly went, in company with Mr. Hoyt, to
Montreal. :

Mr. Tappin’s statement is of a very impressive
character. Sufficiently so, it appears to me, to more
than outweigh all the opposing testimony, which the
opponents of Niss Mook have ever been able to pro-
duce against the truth of herclaims! THhere is some-
thing in the dyirg penitential confessions of an indi-
vidual, that precludes the possibility of .intentional
misrepresentation. Such were the confessions of
Miss Monk, as she supposed. She was then a Roman
-Catholic, and as such, she supposed that the salvation
-of her soul depended, in a great measure, upon her
confessing to some minister of Christ before she died.
But then she supposed that her confessions would re-
main, locked up in the breast of her confessor, as she
had always been taught by the Roman priests.

In regard to the origin and compilation of Miss
Monk’s disclosures, I trust, that the following unim-
peachable statement, sanctioned as it is by gentlemen
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of the highest character, will for ever silence the bois-
terous ravings of the priests and their advocates,
-against certain nameless individuals, who, they say,
“have formed an atrocious plot against the clergy
and nuns of Lower Canada, through the intervention
of Maria Monk.” .

Copy of a letter from the editor of Miss Monk’s
book, addresscd to the Rev. J. J. Slocum, under date
of New York, Oct. 29th, 1836.

“You have requested from me a statement of the
origin of the book called *Awful Disclosures,” &c.,
of the circumstances connected with its preparation,
and the motives of its publication.

“The first time I ever heard of Miss Maria Monk,was
in the month of October, 1833, when Mr. Hoyt called
on me, in company with a friend of mine, (and, as I
alterwards understood, at the suggestion of another
friend, a merchant of New York,) and proposed to
me to write her narrative for publication. This I at
first declined, saying that iny time was too much en-
grossed ; but being informed of some of the leading
particulars of her history and disclosures, (which are
now publicly known,) and assured that her story was
worthy of investigation, I consented to devote a por-
tion of time to the subject for one week—that being
considered sufficient to perform at least an important
part of the task.

“ It was stated to me at the time, that Miss Monk
had been unwilling, when first invited, to publish a
book, and that she might perhaps be prevented from
giving her testimony, unless advantage were taken of
the present time ; and of the truth of these representa-
tions T afterwards became fully persuaded.

“ On my first interview with Miss Monk, I began to
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note down briefly her statements; and this I continued
to practise, with care, and all the accuracy 1 eould,
during the many interviews which I afterwrards had.
I endeavored from the first to subject her testimony
to the most rigid tests; and especially to try the con-
sistency of her statements ; being satisfied that if the
tale were not true, I should be able, first or last, to
detect inconsistency. I often entertained suspicions
of its truth ; and in order that I might detect and ex-
pose the imposture, I sought for evidence from differ-
ent quarters.

¢ The narrator did not receive my eonfidence, indeed
she did not claim it, independently of other testi-
mony. She represented herself as accustomed to
systematic deception ; though then disposed to com-
municate the truth, and only the truth; on subjects of
moment connected with her experience and observa-
tion. I was but little acquainted with those pictures
of convents drawn by Roman Catholic writers; and,
although I had seen many of them in other countries,
and often heard them condemned by foreigners of
intelligence and virtue, many of them Roman Catho-
lics, I was not prepared to believe them the scenes of
crimes like those described by Miss Monk.

“Isoon becanie satisfied that she had not fabricated
her story ; for the originality and variety of characters
and scenes which she introduced, appeared to me to
be beyond the invention of a young woman, only
nin‘eteen or twenty years of age, scarcely able to
write intelligibly, and to all appearance ignorant of
books, except a few such as may be used in nunne-
ries and Canadian schools. I feund foreign books,
however, which contained counterparts of her state-
ments, and the resemblances between them and her
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disclosures, were evidently such as could not have
been produced either by accidental conjecture, nor by
studied invention. On the contrary, they were of
such a nature, and brought out in such connexions,
as to show, beyond any reasonable doubt, that Miss
Monk drew, from recollection, real scenes and char-
acters, with which she had been acquainted, in a so-
.ciety tundamentally different from any known among
ourselves, or ever fully developed in any publications
I had seen or could discover.

“ But there were other kinds of evidence to which
1 had access. Although I never had entered the
Veciled Department of the Hotel Dieu, I had tormerly
visited Montreal, and had more local acquaintance
with that city, than Miss Monk was at first aware of.
1 had also meauns of testing some of ler statements,
by resorting to the testimony of individuals, disposed
to rendcr some assistance,

¢ Beside this, several scenes, of much importance in
her narrative, had transpired in this neighborhood ;
and some of the most important points connected
with them, were confirmed by persons worthy of all
credit. 'We thus becaine catisfied, from an early
date, that she had been found in a {riendless, exposed,
and suffering condition, and introduced into the Belle-
vue ho-pital ; that she was there sought for by Ro-
mon priests as a nun ; that she first made disclosures
when she supposcd herselt near death; that she af-
terwards visited Montreal, but failed in her attempt
to bring the priests to trial ; and that, while on the
whole rather unwilling to divulge her story, she yet
appeared to regard the truth with scrupuluus care, in
all the statements which she consented to make.

*The character of her mind, also, as it was display-
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ed in conversation, and in her habits of thought, feel-
ing, and action, ever afforded powerful confirmation
of the truth of her story. She appeared to know
such things as a nun (according to her description of
a nun) would be likely to know ; and to be ignorant
of what such a person would be ignorant of. Her
reflections, molives, fears, hopes, expectations, asse-
ciations of ideas, superstitions and errors, were as
appropriate to the character to which she laid claim,
‘as her Canadian dialect, to the city in which she
professed to have spent her life. The same may be
said of her hasty, and sometimes tumultuous feel-
ings, when excited by apprehension or opposition;
the changeableness of hLer views, and the succes
sive elevation and depression of her spirits. Her
motives and reasons for speaking and acting, were
also ofien such as would be appropriate only to a re-
cluse, shut out from the kaowledge and sympathies
of the world, accustomed to be controlled by super-
stition, and liable to be subdued by force, when that
failed to kecep her within desired bounds.

“She suffered a considerable part of the time, from
superstitions, and other fears, which were sometimes
almost too strong to be suppressed ; while a sense of
her friendless condition would at other times almost
overcome her. She felt no personal interest in pub-
lishing her disclosures ; and the task was unpleasant
and laborious to her, while she thought it would ex-
pose her to many inconveniences. Her expectations
of deriving pecuniary benefit from her book, may be
inferred from a single question she asked, when i
was in press. ‘Do you think they will print a:
many as a hundred ?

* Among the remarkable traits of her character, has
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ever been her indifference to property. She has been
accused, by writers who spoke on eonjecture, of hav-
ing fabricated her book for the sake of galn. A per-
son acquainted with her, would have been likely to
assign any other reason before this. In the first
place, she never proposed to publish it herself, and
was often half inclined to give over the undertaking ;
and, in the second place, she has shown such a dis-
rezard for money, that her friends have often found it
difficult to prevent her from giving away what she
pussessed, to any person who wanted it.

4]t was feand difficult to obtain all the testimony
from Canada, which was to be desired.  There were
gentlemen of high rezpectabilite, in New York, who
from the first scouted the idea of Miss Monk’s hav-
ing been a nun; and this was particularly true of
some of the Presbyterian clergymen; while it hap-
pened that, for some time, enly one ol their number
ever was known to express a word in her favor. I
have no doubt, that had it not been for the exertions
of one or two laymen, Miss Monk’s story would have
been rejected and suppres=ed, within the first few
weeks after her return from Montreal, and never have
been brought before the world.

“'The opposition among the Presbyterian clergymen
alluded to, was found to be chiefly owing to letters
written by the Rev. Mr. Perkins, pastor of the Ame-
vican Presbyterian church, of Montreal, to warn
them against the impostures of Miss Monk, who, he
said, had never been a nun, and whose residence, he
stated, had been proved to have been among scenes
of vice, during a great part of the time when she
pretended to have been an inhabitant of the Hotel
Dieu. Such charges were coupled with accusations
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against Mr. Hoyt, who first met with her in the Belle-
vue hospital, and accompanied her to and from
Montreal. He had been the agent of a charitable
society in Mr. Perkins’ congregation, (but was not a
clergyman, as had been erroneously asserted.) Seve-.
ral of the charges adduced by Mr. Perkins against
Mr. Hovt, after an investigation here, were deemed
to be founded in mistake, and to have grown out of
the excitements of a personal difference between Mr..
Perkins and himself; and in this opiniom some re-
spectable Americans, of Montreal, concurred.

“It then became a natural and imporiant inquiry,.
how far Mr. Perkins tight have been led into errone-
ous conelusions concerning Miss Monic’s history and
character, either by the circumstances above mention-
ed, or by the fact that she was coantenanced whilst
in Montreal, by some persons eonnected with the
Free Church, then lately formed by a secession from
his own. When therefore it was stated, by a clergy-
man in a letter to New Yoik, that there was satisfac-.
tory evidence in the possession of respectable persons
in Montreal, to prove that Miss Monk had never heem
a nun, a Jetter was addressed to Mr. Perkins request-
ing information, 1st. of the names of the-witnesses,
and 2d, of the amount of their testimony..

“ His reply conveyed none of the information asked,
but spoke of the application as a deliberate insult.
Under these circumstances, the opinions of respecta-
ble persons, on the other side of the question, seemed to
merit some consideration, especially as there were
those x.vho had had an intimate local knowledge of
that city, and an acquaintance with the people for
many years. They had also taken great pains to ob-
serve the conduct and proceedings of Miss Monk du-
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ring that trying period of her life, when she was
in Montreal, endeavoring to bring her enemies to jus-
tice.

“ But there was another kind of evidence constantly
before our eyes, which ever afforded a strong corrobo-
ration of the stery of Miss Monk, that is, its consis-
tency. All cross-questioning failed to confound or
confuse her; and the familiarity with which she ex-
plained apparent inconsistencies at one moment, and
at another presented new scenes and characters, or
proceeded to develop them with new circumstances,
were as striking as the childish simplicity and igno-
rance which she often displayed in relation to things
of every-day occurrence among ourselves.

It appeared to ine utterly impossible, that a person
g0 young, and ill-educated and inexperienced in the
world, should be able to forge a tale so abounding in
scenes and characters, true to nature in the circum-
stances with which they were connected, vt endless-
ly differing among themselves: and especially that
she should do all this in rapid conversation, and in
replying to questions often designed to perplex her,
apparently without exertion or the slightest fear of
exposure. Such sketches of persons and occurrences
as she has-communicated, could not have been in-
vented by any ingenuity inferior to that of Scott or
Shakspeare, even if they might have been by one su-
perior to theirs. And could they have performed
such a task us she did without study, and without
writing any part, in such a manuer as to undergo nu-
merous cross-questionings on all points wiihout self-
contradiction ?

“But, allowing that possibly Miss Monk might have
invented her story ; how could she have remnembered

10
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it? Let us imagine such a writer as Walter Scott (o
be questioned over and over again for weeks and
months in succession, on a thousand points of some
worlk of fiction which he had planned, but never writ-
ten. Wil any one believe it possible for him, or any
one else, successfully to avoid all collision between
his statements ? If required to specify time, place, and
circurnstance, at the will of unwearied querists, would
he not inevitably betray himself first or last? What
then could be expected of a young and ignorant girl,
totally unaccustomed to book-making in all its branch-
es. Besides, if it is so easy for her to forge such atale,
why cannot her oppoments present as good 2 one,
especially if they have truth on their side.
“Butagain, allowing it to be possible, (althoughitis
evidently impossible,) that the story was the inven-
tion of some unknown person, who contrived to teach
it to Miss Monk, and extended it at secret interviews,
while she was engaged in communicating it for publi-
cation ; the author, whoever he might be, must still
be allowed to possess peculiar talents, and must be
supposed to have had adeguate motives for his con-
duct. He would never have undertaken so difficult,
laborious, and dangerous a task, without an important
object. To carry on such a trick, he would know
must be no light task: certainly it would be a grave
kind of pastime. His motive must then be worth
knowing, and his name, character, and designs, would
become highly interesting objects of inquiry to the
people of this country. If Miss Monk’s story can be
supposed to be the invention of some person unknown,
1ts nature, and the fact that it was designed to impose
upon North Americans, should awaken the anxiety:
and the apprehensions of usall. Who s the author?
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What are his designs? would become natural and
reasonable questions. It thereforealways appeared to
me, that in every point of view the story of Miss Monk
was worthy of investigation.

“ Several of the charges which have been made
against Miss Monk, have with reason been regarded
as affording evidence in favor of its truth.

“In the first place the book has not been copied or
formed, even in the smallest part, on any other. The
editor of the Boston (Roman Catholie) Pilot, solemnly
asserted, that a large part of it at least was copied
from an old Portuguese book he had possessed; but
while this was known to be utterly void of truth, the
charge gave us a strong confirmation of its accuracy.
What better evidence counld be expected from the op-
position party, to prove that both the books were
faithtul pictures of nunncries on both sides of the
Atlantic?

“In reply to several other charges it may be stated,
that it is known and can be proved, that the book was
not written for the purpose of making money. The
primary object was the publication of important truth
and its secondary, to procure the means of supporting
an unfortunate and friendless young female, and her
innocent babe. None of those who have assisted her
in preparing her book, or in defending it, have received
a fair equivalent for their time and labor; and, I
think I may safely assert, that all have repeatedly
declared they neither expected nor desired it. Their
great object is the discovery of truth; and they will
hold themselves ready, il ever the fact shali be proved,
to confess that they have been deceived, and to make
all possible amends. The day when such evidence
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shall be produced, however, never seemed more dis-
tant than it does at the present time,”

The following certificate, signed as it is by gentle-
men of the highest reputation, is a sufficient voucher
for the unimpeachable character of the gentleman
who has furnished the above statement of facts.

“ This certifies, that the undersigned are personally
acquainted with the gentleman who drew up the nar-
rative of Xiaria Monk, and know him to have always
sustained a reputation unimpeached. We have full
confidence in him as an intelligent and upright man,
and believe that he is wholly incapable of wilfully
deceiving the public.

WM. PATTON, D. D.

W. . BROWNLEE, D. D.
JONATHAXN GOING, D..D.
PROF. S. F. B. MORSE.
GEORGE HALL, E3Q.

“New York, Nov. 2d, 1836.7

Thus it is evident, beyond all reasonable doubt,
that Miss Monk is the sole autheress of the facts,
contained in the disclosures attributed to ler. * And
it is proper to pause here a moment, and remind the
reader of the condition into which the advocates of
the nunnery have brought themselves, by endeavoring
to maintain their scveral positions, as to the origin of
her book, after it is thus rendered evident that they
cannot retain cither one of them. The ground is
false, and their plea preposterous. They have there-
fore now new ground to choose; but their case is
rem.]ered very suspicious by being thus driven back
again to their old position, and left exposed, without
a shadow of defence.

The following passage is cited from the priest's
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book, page 7. “Is the book which bears her name,
really written by Maria Monk? TImpossible, for she
is in fact, and by her own confession, an ignorant and
uneducated girl. It cannot be received as her own
evidence, although produced in her name. It may be
alleged that all the materials were obtained from her
own lips, and that the editor, or editors, have merely
arranged for the public eye the matter she supplied.
In that case, they have heen guilty of tampering with
the evidence, a misdemeanor for which there is no
excuse nor palliation.” Here arc two very absurd
notions. 1st. The idea that Maria Monk’s book can-
not be received as her evidence, except penned by her,
i35 very extraordinary, to say the least. The mere
statement of it is enough to expose its absurdity:
According to this rule, what would become ol the
four affidavits in the priests’ book, from as many indi-
viduals who are incapable of even writing their own
names? 2d. I wish to know how it can be consid-
ered a “tampering with the evidence” of an individual
to write and arrange his statements ? and in what con-
sists the “ misdemeanor for which there is no excuse
nor palliation” for so doing? Have not the piicsts
done the same thing in case of the affidavits referred
to above? 'The priests must have been very short of
good materials out of which t3 compoze their book. or
they never would have written such stupid nonsense.
If Miss Monk has stated the truth respecting the
Hotel Dieu, it is of little consequence to the world,
who penned or printed her statements, or who hound
or sold her book. And that she hasz tolu the trath, is
evident from what follows in the second part of this
work.

10*



PART IL

 CONFIRMATION OF MARIA MONK'S
DISCLOSURES.

CHAPTER L

GENERAL REMARKS.

Truth of Miss M.’s having been a nun and of her disclosures blended
together—Priests have great advantage—Ilave Miss M.’s external
testimony in their power—Canadian press—D>Miss M. as a witness--
Arguments establishing her truth—From her incapacity to have
acted the part of &n impostor—From her nunnery knowledge and
practice--From her comparalive ignorance of every thing else—From
marks on her person—Froiwn the situation in which she was first dis-
covered in New York—From her confession to the Rev. Mr. Tap-
pin—From the consistency of her conduct in the matter~-From-the
simplicity and consistency of her narrative—From the moral char
acter of her mind—Character of the evidence adduced in this chap-

ter.

Mara Monx affirms that she has been a nun in
the Hotel Dieu nunnery of Montreal, and that ber
statements respecting that establishment are such as
she knows, from her own experience and observation,
to be true. On the other hand, the priests and their
advocates deny that she has ever been an inmate of
that convent; and, of course, maintain that her dis-
closures are so many fictions. The hinge, therefore,
on which the whole controversy turns, is the fact,
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whether or not she has ever been a cloistered nun.
And, akthough this question is distinct from the ques-
tion of the truth of her statemeats, in point of fact,
yet, in the discussion, they naturally run into each
other. The priests, on the one hand, attempt to draw
an argument from the character of her disclosures, in
support of their position, that she has never been a
nun ; while on the other hand, the friends of Miss
Monk reason from the same source, to prove that she
must have been an inmate of the nunnety. The for-
mer maintain that the crimes, which she alleges are
habitually practised by themselves and the nuns, are
incompatible with human nature; while the latter
argue that they are just what might be expected from
the circumstances of the case—that they are in perfect
accordance with the history of convents, and that a
girl in her situation could never have become as
familiar with them as she is, unless she had been as-
sociated with a society addicted to their practice.
Hence the question, both as to the fact of her having
been a nun, and as to the truth of her disclosures,
are intimately blended in this discussion.

In this controversy, aside from truth, the priests
have greatly the advantage. They are a numerous
and powerful body of men, skilled in the arts of con-
troversy. Miss Mook is an inexperienced girl, yet in
her youth, having no friends, except such as she has
gained by her apparent honesty and consistency,
since the controversy commenced. Moreover, from
a variety of circumstances, the mass of the people in
Canada are prejudiced in favor of the priests and
against her, so that they are disposed to afford them
any assistance in their power. This is the case toa
great extent, even with the Protestants, especially in
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Montreal. Not only the ordinary relations which
bind society together exist between Catholies and
Protestants in Canada, but there are relations of a
special character existing in the present case. The
government, it is true, is nominally Protestant, but
then such is the state of partics there, that it requires,
in order 1o its very existence, the patronage, to some
extent, of the priests. This the wily priests give to
it: in order that they, in their turn, may receive the
special smiles of civil officers. Maria Monk states
another circumstance, respecting some few of the
more wealthy and nominal Protestants in and about
Montreal, which is. that they are licentious visiters of
the nunnery. If this be true, it exhibits a reason for
the violence of their opposition to her.

Another thing worthy of special notice is the fact,
that the field of nearly all Miss Monk’s external testi-
mony i3 in the power of the priests. They, have her
former associates and companions: nay, they have
her own blood-connexions, so completely under their
control and influence, as to restrain them from utter-
ing any thing favorable to her claims. They also
have the nunnery in their possession, and will not
allow it to be impartially examined. Hence the de-
mand for more external evidence, made by many, is
unreaspnaulp. Every sukject has evidence appropri-
ate to itzel(; and that—and that alone ought to be all
that shisuld be required.

The public press in Canada is either Catholic or
POlHIC:lI- _Hence it has from the first been violent in
its opposition ‘to Miss Monk. It took its stand
a;:amst'her belqre she had published a single word.
Not a single article has ever been published there, so
far as I can learn, the design of which has been t0,
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exhibit the evidence in support of her truth. The
consequence i3, that the people of Canada are, in gen-
eral, profoundly ignorant in respect to the existence
of any such evidence ; and notonly so, but they have
been led astray by the numberless misstatements,
which have been circulated by the priests, their
friends, and the Canadian press. Hence the strong
popular prejudices, which are believed to existtoa
considerable extent in that province, against Miss
Monk.

I might al:o remark respecting the horrid nature of
the crimes, which Miss Monk charges upon the
priests and nuuas, in eonnextion with her own charac-
ter as a professed witness. By her own confession,
while in the convent, she lived in impurity, and was
taught the arts of deception and hypocrisy. Ience
an argument, very properly used to a limited extent,
against her as a witness. Buat, it may be asked, is
she not as good a witness as the nature of the case
can possibly furnish 7 If her story be true, are not all
the inmnates of that convent alike in these respects ?
The criminal practices which she divulges are of the
deepest dye, insomuch that the more virtuons portions
of society instinctively recoil at the very thought of
believing them. IIence they are predisposed to dis-
card them, without examining the evidence of their
truth.

But, notwithstanding all these difficulties, the evi-
dence in support of Miss Monk’s claims, when col-
lected and intelligently considered, is irresistible.
The argument is cumulative. And I will now pro-
ceed, as succipetly as possible, to lay it before my
igaders,

The character and counduct of Miss Monk furnish
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the strongest evidence in support of the general
truth of her claims, as a professed ex-nun.

1. Her incapacity to huave acted the part of an
impostor, is, in the highest degree, evident fo all
who are personally acquainted with her.—The co-
gency of this argument is acknowledged by her oppo-
nents. Hence they deny that she is the authoress of
the disclosures attributed to her. They maintain
that she is a mere lool, in the hands of others, who
have fabricated and published them in her name.
But this, I trust, has been shown to the satisfaction
of the reader, to be urtrue. It has been shown, that
she, and she alone, is the authoress of the dark tale,
which she has published to the astonishment of the
people of this country.

Miss Monk is young, and possesses a mind alto-
gether undisciplined by study. Her education is in-
ferior to that of ordinary country girls. Habits of
study she has none. Her knowledge of books is, or
was when she first arrived in New York, next to no-
thing. And, if the “ Awful Exposure” gives usa
true history of her life, she has never heen either a
nan, or a Roman Catholic ; but *has led the life of
a stroller and a prostitute.,” If this be true, it is ask-
ed, how a girl of her age, character, and attainments,
could possibly fabricate such books as her * Diselo-
sures 77 The supposition beggars all belief, but that
of blindness.. If she has fabricated them, Rome,
with its numberless caints, may be fearlessly chal-
lengeq to produce a miracle any thing like as great.

Besnd.es, on the supposition, that she had fabricated
her “Disclosures,” it is impossible that she sho.uld'
have been al)lej to act the part of an impostor, up &
the present time, without being detected. Many
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minds have Leen at work, for more than a year past,
endeavoring to develop her true character. Both
friends and foes have been thus employed. Had she
been an impostor, it would have been discovered,
long before this day. She constitutionally possesses
transparency of chatacter, to an uncommon-degree.
Hence the predominant workings of her mind are
very apparent, lo a penetraling observer. She hasvery
little of that systematic concealment and forethought,
so necessary to a successful impostor. Her openness
of character, constitutionally considered, is alinost the
first thing observed, by an intelligent stranger who
may chance to see and converse with her. Hence, if
such a person has been skeptically disposed in regard
to the general truth of her claims, his skepticism, in
perhaps nineteen cases out of twenty, has been re-
moved by a free conversation with her.  Such an in-
dividual readily perceives, that her mental constitu-
tion is such, as totally to disqualify her to act the
part of’ protracted imposture.

The argument, therefore, under this head, is two-~
fold- —being founded, 1st, Ou her incapacity to create
her “Disclosures”—2d, On the supposition that she
possessed such ability, her incapacity to have suc-
cessfully concealed her imposture, up to the present
time, A

2. Her minute and extensive nunnery knowledge,
connected with the ease and dexterity with which
she can perform the many ceremonies of a cohvent,
can be accounted for, on no other supposition, than that
of her baving been a nun, as she states. Her prac-
tical knowledge of Popery and Jesuitism, of priests
and nuns, of the furniture and diversified apartments
of the Hotel Dieu, of the cercmonies and practices
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of that establishment, is such as could have been ae-
quired by her, only by a residence of years in that
convent. She is as familiar with the mummery of
Popish observaunces, as a school-boy is with his al-
phabet—such as penances, hymns, Latin prayers, &e.
&c., though she is as ignorant of the meaning of
Latin words, as she is of the.Chinese language. The
same is true with reference to. tne ease with which
she performs the various bodily ceremonies, some of
which she speaks of in her bool, such as falling upon
the knees, and standing erect upon them, &ec. &e.
With the Romish catechisms, she is perfectly famil-
iar. In a vord, she i3, in regard to these matters, all
that we might supposc her to be, on the supposition
that she has, for vears, been a resident in the convent.
Speaking in the language of common life, “she has
learned her trade.” And no man, in his senses, can
understandingly deny it. How, then, can this evi-
dence be resisted?

3. Her igznarance of life, disconnected from con-
venls, can be accounted for, only on the supposition
of her having lived a conventual life. I speak now
with special reference to what she was, when she first
arrived in New York, in the spring of 1835. At that
time, her acquaintance with matters and things, as
t!n‘ey.appear in the dowestic circle, and in ordinary
hl_e, was very limited. She was evidently a compar-
atwe’sstranger to thera; whilst all her movements
and manners were such, as bespoke her former life
to have been that of a cloistered nun. Says Mr
Hilliker, in his affidavit:—¢ We observed also, that
she always folded her hands under her apron -when

§he walked, as she has described the nuns as downg’
in her “ Awful Disclosures.”
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4. The marks on her person, which were produced
by suffering penances, and other violent treatment,
afford an argument in support of her claims. She
has several of these, ns she states in her first volume.
She speaks of having worn a broad belt around her
waist, “ stuck full of sharp iron points, for the morti-
fication of her spirit.” The writer of this has been
informed by a respectable lady, who examined Miss
Monlk’s waist, that the scars produced by this belt,
are very manifest. To use her own language, “it
looks distressing.”

The marks of gagging are seen on her lips; and!
there are scars also on her thumbs, which were “cut
severely by the tight drawing of the band used to con-
fine her arms.” These are the signs of Romish pen-
ance and violence. But the “ Awful Exposure” tells
us that she has never been a Roman Catholic!

5. The circumstances, in connexion with which
she was first discovered by Mr. Hilliker, and his as-
sociates, after her arrival in the city of New York,
afford an argument in proof of Miss Monk’s honesty.
See Mr. Hilliker’s affidavit on page 97. She was
discovered by Mr. Hilliker and his companions in a
retired place, above the city of New Yorlk, where she
had secreted hersclf for several days, and where she
had evidently made up her mind to die. She was
not far from death when thus found ; and it was with
much difficulty that she was prevailed upon to leave
the place of her concealment. Nay, she declined
leaving it, until she saw that the gentlemen were de-
termined to remove her by force, unless she would go
voluntarily. She had already become so feeble as to
need to be supported, by two of the gentlemen, in
walking the distance of half a mile, to the alms-

11
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house. She was in a strange country, under circum-
stances peculiarly distressing. After Mr. Hilliker
had conversed with her some time alone, and assured
her that he was a married man, and that he wished
to befriend her in every way he could, she stated to
him, that she was an eloped nun, and that she be-
came encienle in the convent. He states that he
foand her in tears, and that she wept for two hours
afterwards. He has mentioned several circumstances
in his affidavit, ail of which bear the marks of honest
sincerity, on the part of Miss Monk. It is impossible
to account fcr them on any other supposition than
that she told the truth, as to her elopement from the
nunnery. It is impossible, that such circumstances
should misJewd, for they cannot testify fulsely, as guil-
ty man can, and oiten does, do, '
The circumsiunces in connexion with which
Miss Monk fir<t divulged the principal facts recorded
m her book, are such s to afford the strongest evi-
dence in support of hLer claims to public confidence.
These are detailed in the statement of the Rev. Mr
Tappin, on page 101, &he made known these facts
to him by way of penitential confession, while sick in
the almshouse, and us she supposed, ready tn die.
AMr. Tappin states 1hat it was perfectly manilest to
his mind, that he had no idea of criminating others,
or that l'er statements would ever be made public.
She and others theuglit, that she was cn il borders
of the grave, and she \\1~]1ed to quiel her troubled
conscience, by confessing what she convidered to be
her grossest sins. She was still 2 Roman Catholics
it was there{ore in perfect accordance ith the reli-
gion she had been taught, thus o confess.

. There
are two things worthy of special notice in connexion
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with Miss Monk’s confession to the Rev. Mr. Tap-
pin:—1st. The meauifest abscice of ervery sinister
mifive, by which she could have bern influenced in
making these commmunications to him.  What earthly
motive could have influenced her? Tevenge to the
priests 2 Certainly not ; for she had no idea that het
confessions would go beyond the mind of him whom
she then considered as her confessor. The same re-
ply may be given to the insinuation, that she did itin
order to mitizate her unfortunate situation, in being
the mother of an illezitimate child; or that she did it
for the purpose of securing any earthly good whatever.

2d. The only matives which appeared to be pre-
sent, at the time, to her mind, were such as arise from
the apprehension of speedy dissolution, counected
with the solemn relributivus of elernity. Was it,
then, within the limits of possibility, under such
circumstances, for her to have acted the part of a dia-
bolical impostor? Is not the supposition utterly in-
credible? How then can it be otherwise, than that
she is honest in putting forth her claims as an ex-nun ?
{ would only add that the hand of God is extremely
manifest in bringing to light Miss Monk’s statements
respecting the Hotel Dieu nunnery, in a manner so
convincing to every reflecting mind., Let, then, her
sad tale he believed; and let it produce the benign
efleets, in counteracting vice and crror, which, under
the guvernment of the Supreme disposer of all events,
it is adapted to do.

7. The cousistency of Miss Monk's conduct with
the demands of truthy turnishes an argument favora-
ble to her claims. She has acted just as one might
suppose she would have done, on the supposition that
she was honest in giving her diselosures to the world.
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Her circumstances have been peculiarly trying, ari-
sing in part from her comparative ignorance of the
world, connected with the discredit which has been
thrown upon her statements, and ‘the consequent
violent denunciations which have been heaped upon
her by Protestants, especially editors of nevrspapers,
who have taken very little pains to investigate the
subject. Often has she felt, as if she had scarcely a
real friend on carth—as if all the world was against
her, making her the helpless victim of its combined
contempt and indignation. Yet amidst all her trials,
she haz exhibited, to those around her, that she felt
an unwavering consciousness of standing upon the
trath ; and that the God of truth would one day vin-
dicate her honesty. Beinz posscssed naturally of an
unusual degice of sensibility, and fecling her forlorn
sitration, it is true, she has often wept in secret
places, for having published ler dark story, not be-
cause of its untruth, but becausc of the cruel treat-
ment she has received in consequence of it.

She has invariably manifested a very strong desire
that the truth of her charges azainst the ‘Roman
pricsts and nuns of Lower Canada, might be tested
by some equitable tribunal. Hence her vi«it to Moat-
real for this purpose, in the August of 1333, and before
she ever thought of publishing a hook. She then and
?here .solemnly appealed to the civil authorities, to
investigate their truth. She was accompanied by
two Amencar} gentlemen, of the legu! profession, who
assisted her in presenting her charges in due form,
a'ttested on oath, to the Attorney General for prosecu-
tion. And after spending some three or four wedks,

in fruitless attempts to secure the object of her visit,
she returned to New York.
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While at Montreal, it was denied hy the priests
that she had cver been an inmate of the Hotel Dieu.
She at once offered a fair test of the fact, which, by a
very little trouble, would have settled the point beyond
the power of contradiction. She proposed a deserip-
tion of the interior of the convent—its furniture, its
inmates and different apartments, and their uses-—
and staked her all upon its correctness. Bat the
application of it was not allowed by her opponents ;
on what ground, no mortal can conjecture, unless it
were that they were alraid to abide the results.

On the fourteenth day of last July, I received a let-
from the Rev, Mr. Perkins of Montreal, informing
me, that on the following day a committee of gentle-
men were to apply the test, which she had proposed
nearly one year before. The theught immediately
occurred to me, if she be an impostor I can now dis-
cover it, by communieating to her this unexpected
intelligence. T applied the tesy, in the best manner
to accomplish the end in view, that T was capable of ;
and the re-ult was such, as decidedly deepened my
convictions of her honesty. Other particulars might
be mentioned, were it necessary, all going to show
the consistency of her conduet, with the supposition,
that she feels herself standing upon the rock of truth.

On the other hand, if she be an impostor, her con-
duct has been, in the highest degree, preposterous and
unaccountable. Suppose that she had described the
interior of the Magdalen Asylum of Montreal, instead
of the Hotel Dicu nunnery. She certainly must have
been sensible of the fact. And if so, is it supposable
that she would have gone to Montreal, for the purpose
of substantiating crimes, of the darkest hue, against
the Hotel Dieu ecclesiastics; and there make oath

1
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that she had resided for vears in the convent, where
she had witneszed their commission ; and in proof,
that she had thus resided in the convent, offer a de-
seription of the persons, furniture, and the interior ar-
rangements of the XMMontreal Magdalen Asylum ?
The supposition is absurd, beyond the power of lan-
guage to express, 1f she be an impostor, the extremes
of unparalleled genius, and the most stupid folly and
ignorance, meet in her. Considering her youth and
limited opportunities, she has exhibited a talent for
invention, in her works, compared with which the
powers of Sir Walter Scott are but as a drop to the
ocean; while on the other hand, she has evinced
stupidity, if possible more remarkable, in staking her
all upon the general truth of her deseription of the
interior of a huze building, of which she is as igno-
rant as she is of the palace of the king of China.
And then, to erown her folly, she has urged, with an
importunity that would accept of no denial, the ap-
plication of this te<t, which she must have known
would have procured her inevitable and hopeless ruin.
To believe, therefore, that she is an impostor, when
the belief implies such an absurdity, 1 must say for
one, I cannot, without a degree of insanity which it
would require, at least, as many as two ¢ pencils”
in each ear to produce.

S. The artless manner in which Miss Monk: nar-
rales the principal facts in her disclosures, furnishes
a cogent arzument in suppo:t of her claims. 'This
may be called the. internal evidence of the truth of her
bovk. The (irst ten or fifteen thousand copies of her
work were given to the public, accompanied with no
other cvidence than this. Tinmense multitudes who
read the book, believed it, because they perceived that
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it bore the internal marks of truth, notwithstanding
some of its statements divulred the perpetration of
crimes, by priests and nuns, under the cloak of reli-
gion, of so horrid a character as to make an honest
man shudder at the thought of them. I will mentivn
some two or three things which have been urged as in-
ternal marks azainst the truth of the “disclosures;”
but which, it appears to me, atford evidence in its favor.
The circumstances connected with the murder of St.
Frances, is one of theze. It is said *that its com-
parative publicity, and the number of individuals em-
ployed in it, are marks of its falsehood.” ‘Thus argues
the Rev. Mr. Perkins of Montreal. Now, in the first
place, there was no publicity about it, except such as
belonged to the convent. It was done within the
walls of the nunnery, shut out froin all communiea-
tion with the world. 1In the second place, the fact,
when understandingly considered, that so many were
erployved in it, is a circumstance corroborative of the
truth of the narrative.  'T'wo reasons may be assigned
for this:—1. 1t is the policy of such establishments
thus to do, for the double purpose of inspiring tertor
at the thought of disobedience, and at the same time,
implicating all present in the crime committed. It
bad this eflect on Maria Monk. IHence her peniten-
tial confession, at the time she thought that she was
going to die, to the Rev. Mr. Tappin. The second
reason i< this, that it was a regular court, or inquisi-
torial tribunal, the bishop presiding as inquisitor gene-
ral.  The Rev. W. C. Brownlee, D. D. of New York,
a gentleman as well versed in the history of popish
jurisprudence as any cther Protestant in /imerica,
mentioned this fact to me, as aflording, to his mind,
one of the strongest internal marks in the book, of its



128 CONFIRMATION OF

truth. Now Maria Monk knows nothing of these
reasons; all she knows is the simple fact, that such
and such persons w:re present, and that they did as
she states in ber narrative. Had she forged the story,
undoubtedly she would have made it a more private
affair, and would have created reasons for every thing
conoected withit. But as it is, it bears the stamp of
simple truth.

Maria Monk, on pace 195 of her work, says that
she once saw a book in the superior’s room, contain-
1ng, among other things, a record of births which
oceur in the convent. Now it is asked, *if infants
are lmmediately baptized and strangled after their
birth, what can be the object of such a record 2 Why
expose themselves, by making a record of their own
crime 72 Now, as in the case above, Miss Monk is
incapable of assizning any reason why sach a record
should be kept. All she knows, or pretends to know,
is the simple fact that such a record then existed.
Undoubtedly, if she were an Impostor, she never
would have created the statement, without creating a
reason for it at the same time. The same may be
said respecting there being no balustrade around the
“hole of interment,” described by her as existing in
the cellar of the Hotel Dieu. Ead the description
been the work of faney, fancy would have given us a
suitable balustrade.

Were it possible to put my readers in possession of
the manuscript notes of the gentleman who arranged
and gave form to Miss Monk’s disclosures, I am quite
confident that they would perceive in them all the
artless simplicity of childlike truth. They would
exhibit the simple statements of Misg Monk, just as
they fell from her lips; and also the fidelity of her
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amanuensis, in so examining her as to render it im-
possible for her to have acted the part of an impostor.
Miss Monk’s mind is undisciplined, and is wholly
unaccustomed to connected thought and orderly ar-
rangement. Hence her statements have all the sim-
plicity and want of connexion of those of a child.
This circumstance would have enabled her writer to
have caused her to contradict herself in her narrations,
had she not been based on the truth.

Miss Monk’s narrative is consistent with itself and
with rezson. It is minute and specific in its details,
respecting places, persons, and facts. In a word, it
has every internal appearance of truth. How ean all
this be accounted for, if she be an impostor ?

9, 7'he moral character of Miss AMonk’s mind,
for many months after her arrival in New Yorl, was
such as to furnish a high degree of evidence in sup-
port of her pretensions.  She told us how and where
she had lived for several years past. The moral con-
dition of her mind Lore its unequivocal testimony to
the truth ol her narrative. She informed us of the
systematic deceptions which were inculcated and
practised in the socicty with which she had been
connccted.  The painful truth of this statement,
was easily discovered in the state of her mind. It
was seen that for her to speak truth, when a slight
temptation to deviate (row it, presented itself, requir-
ed an effort on her part.  Truth being the basis of
conlidence, the latter, as matter of course, cannot ex-
ist in the absence of the former. It was, therefore,
evident that the inmates of the Hotel Dieu, could
place little or no confidence in each other; and that
jealousy and suspicion would naturally exist, toa
fearful extent, in such a community. Thus it was
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with Maria Monk; although cnnstilutionally she
possesses the opposite qualities.  She was suspicious
ol everybody, and eould confide in nobody. To re-
pose fnll confidence in those around her, was a lessou,
which it took Lev some time o learn.  In a word, ac-
cording to her statements, the character of the com-
munity with which she had been living, was pecu-
liar, suen as cannot be found in civilized life ; but
only in a ecloistered convent. It was in a high de-
sree selfizh, subject to the violent exereise of the
varker passions of depraved huran nature ; such as
constant fear, jealousy, want of confidence, suspi-
vions, subjection to absolute authority, not out of re-
spect, but fram fear, irritability, growing out of a
forced submission to a code of contemptible ceremec-
uies; in fine, the absence of whatsoever is pure,
lovely, and of good report, in the feinale character.
~he bare the impress of this wictched community on
her <oul, thas evincing the character of the education
she had received ; althoucly, a+ T had occasion to re-
mark before, the moral texture of Lar mind, constitu-
tionally considered, is directly the opposite. She is
naturally liberal, even tv excess, open, frank, aflec-
tcnate, und confiding ; and these traits of character
have Deen, for some time past, rapidly developing
themselves.

There can be no stamp without z corresponding
scal. But Miss Monk’s character furnishes us with
@ stamp or impress, altogether peculiar; and the
question is, where is the seal or counterpart? If it
does not now exist, it certainly must have existed at
the time the impression was made. I repeat the
question, where isit? Miss Monk declares that it
was in the Hotel Dieu nunnery. The priests deny
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it. Let the priests, then, tell the world where it can
be found ; otherwise the world must believe Maria
Monk.

Such is a summary view of the arguments, in
confirmation of Miss Monk’s claim to public confi-
dence, as deduced from her character, person, con-
duct, and narrative. They are susceptible of much
expansiom, as my objrct has been, ratlier to suggest
thought, than to expund it. The cvidence thus de-
rived, is of a cl:macter peculiarly strong and con-
vincing. It iz of an internal charaeter, such as an
enlightencd mind loves to confide in. It is the spon-
taneous lestiwony of nainre.  And can nature bear
fulse witness? Tpossible! It is true, nature may,
10 some cxtent, be counterfeited 5 or we may mistake
her voice, and atteibute testimony to her, which she
“does not give, and thus deceive ourselves and other-.
Buat it is impo=sible that she should utter any thing,
but what is strictly true. Now, it is possible that
inysell and others, have misinterpreted the language
of nature in the present instance ; thouzh 1 declare,
that I caunot realize it. Hence, it there were no
other evidence in conlirmation of AMiss Monk’s testi-
mony to be found, 1 should feel that 1 stood en firm
crounpd, 1 endeavoring tg support the truth of her
claims as an ex-nun.  For | feel; that the stuterments
and aflidavits of interested men, in opposition to the
evidence adduced in this chapter, are of no value.
In the scales of moral evidence, they are lighter than
a breath. T'hey are like chaff to the wheat; fit only
to be given io the four winds of heaven. Unbelievin
Protestants may hence learn what has been the prin-
cipal ground, on which the friends of Miss Monk, in
New York, Lave =tuvd, amidst the claaurous denun-
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ciation, abuse, and contempt, which have been pour-
ed upon them from various quarters. They have (elt
that they were standing on a solid foundation, against
which the waves of prejudice and wrath might beat
in vain,
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CHAPTER IIL

TEETIMONY OF OTHERS IN CONFIRMATION OF
MISS MONK'S CLAIMS.

Peculiarity of Miss Mounk’s case—Stutemcnt of a Montreal lady—§tato
of feeling in and abont Montreal—Testimony of M. Miller—Of Mra.
Halin—Opinion of three classes of persous—Of those who have fu-
forined themsclves upon the subjeet—Of those around Miss Monk—
Of these who know in part—sSubterrancan passagze—stuatement of Mr.

Sprague—Ofa gentleman—Or My, Wetimore—Of Mr., Uourne—Of
Mr. Ilogan.

It is often asked, why the friends of Miss Monk,
provided she has resided for years in the Hotel Dieu,
do not produce the testimony of a sufficient number
of living witnesses, to establish the fact, beyond the
power of contradiction. Ii" a person has lived for
years in a given place, it is asked, is it not an cusy
matter to prove it, by a multitude of witnesses? I
answer that it is, in ordinary cases. DBut the case of
Miss Monk is peculiar; perhaps without a parallel
on the pages of history. Her residence has been in a
eloistered nunnery, shut out from the world. Since
she escaped from the convent, she has made known
the vile practices ‘ol her former associates, the priests
and nuns; and they, in self~defence, deny that she
was ever one of their number. Moreover, by their
management they have sealed the lips of her friends,
out of the nunnery, in Canada, who might otherwise

“testify as to the place of her former abode. Had the
matter heen otherwise managed at first, doubtless
witnesses in abundance could have been found, who
would have testified to the factof her formerresidence
in the Hotel Dieu. But it wis not attended to, until

12
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the priests had every opportunity they could desire,
to arrange matters according to their wishes. Go to
Montreal now, and inquire of its older inhabitants, if
they ever l\ncw Maria Monk, and many of them will
tell you that they used to see her, some six or seven
years ago, at her mother’s resulonce and at other pla-
tes, but that they saw nothing of her during the time
in which she alleges herself to have been in the nun-
nery. They all say, that during this period of time,
they have missed her; but as to the fact, whether or
no she was in the convent, during this time, they
kaow nothing about it.

The (ollowing isa spccxmen of the kind of evidence
alluded to. A few days since, I saw a lady from
Montreal, who observed, that, a short time ago, she
was conversing with a Mrs, *#** of Montreal, a re-
spectable and Christian lady, who stated, that she had
known Maria Monk fiom her childhood ; -and that the
last time she ever saw her, was about the time she
says that she returned from St. Denis and entered
the nunaery—that she (M. M.) then called on her
(Murs. ****) to obtain money from her, for her mother;
and that she let her have some, though less than
what she asked for. Now it will be recollected that
Maria Monk states, on paze 33 of her book, that she
did obtain wmoney from several individuals, on her
mother’s account, in order to pay her entrance into
the novices’ department of the Hotel Dieu.

The following extract of a letter, from a worthy
gentleman in \Io‘ntreal who has taken some pains to
investigate this matter, will enable the reader to un-
derstand something of the state of feelmg, respecting
this subject, in and about that cit Y. er detailing the
efforts of himself and another vtntleman in making



MARIA MONK’S DISCLOSURESR. 135

Inquiries of those who ought to know something of
Miss Monk’s past history, he writes as follows :—
“Now the fact is just hLere, everybody is afraid to
know any thing about this matter: and all her rela-
tives seem backward to say what they might on the
subject. Romanism is so far predominant heve, that
there aro only a very few who have correct principle
and moral courage enouzh to think, speak, or act, aright
in the concern. Political, pecuniary, and relative in-
terests and connexions, have oceasioned such a com-
mingling of Romanism aud Protestantism, that it is
difficult to reach the blwck heart of the Roman beast,
nominal Protetsants are so much in the way, A
bookseller said to me yesterday, that ke and all the
- oither booksellers in the town were afraid to keep
Maria Monk’s book in their stores, lest a mob should
attack them.”

The subjoined testimony of Mr. Miller and Mrs.
Hahn has been some time Lefore the public. That
of Mrs. ITahn is the more imporiant. It is that of an
old companion, and of course there can be no mistake
as to her acquaintance with Miss Monk. Mrs. Hahn
described the person of Miss Monk, and stated the
substance of her testimony before she saw her; and
before Miss Monk knew any thing of Mrs. Hahn's
residing in New York. Collusion, therefore, between
the parties is out of the question. Mr. Jones, while
in New York, inquired of me what I should say re-
specting Mrs. Hahn’s testimony, if she herself were
to acknowledge that it was false. Ireplied that it
would not in the least shake my confidence in its sub-
stantial truth, for such were the circumstances con-
nected with the giving of it, that my reliance was
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chiefly upon them. Mrs. Hahn, however, remains
unchanged as to the truth of her statements. '

Mr. William Miller, a resident of New York for
several years past, and formerly an old schoolmate
of Maria’s in Montreal, testifies that, on a visit to the
latter city, in the summer of 1833, he called on Mrs.
Monk, the mother of Maria, and inquired for Maria
and was informed by her that her daughter Maria
was then in the nunnery. See his affidavit, Awful
Disclosures, page 237.—The priests, in their work,
dispose of this- affidavit by exhorting Mr. Miller to
repent!

Mrs. Hahn, now a resident of New York and for-
merly a schoolmate of Miss Monk, testifies that she
was with Maria in the school of the Congregational
nunnery for about two years: that she was present
at the time that Maria was received as a novice in
the Hotel Dieu; and thatshe saw her some time after
this, while she was yet a novice: and that she saw
her a veiled nun, towards the close of the winter of
1833-4, in the hospital of the Iotel Dieu, which she
at that time frequently visited, in order to see a sick
friend : and that “a short time afterwards,” she saw
her again in the same place among the veiled nuns.
See her testimony, Awful Disclosures, page 238.—
The. circumstances connected with the giving of this
testimony were such, as to preclude almost the pos-
sibility of an error. The reader will see some of
these by referring to the whole of her testimony,
The authkors of the “ Awful Exposure” glide over thiz
bY‘j‘ COD}?111PI‘~_!OUS sneer! A summary way of dis-
posing of important testimony.

‘There is glao the testimony of three classes of indi-
viduals, besides the above; or rather, their opinion
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formed on evidence more or less concluzive, which
ought to have its weight in determining this contro-
versy. There is the opinion of a large number of in-
dividuals, who have taken some consideiable pains
to inform themselves on the subject, not only by read-
ing what has appeared in print on both sides of the
question, but al,o by sueh an cxamination of Miss
Monk, as has been satisfactory to themselves.
Among this class are to be found men of the first
standing in the different learned professions. I know
that this is mere opinion, and as such I give it for
what it is worth.—There is another class of’ persons,
whose opinion ought to have still more weight, be-
cause their opportunities for forming it have keen
much greater. Among these are the different fami-
lies in which Miss Monk has resided, since she came
to reside in New York. ‘T'hecelebrated Whitefield, I
think it was, was once asked his opinion respecting a
certain individual, with whom he had some acquaint-
ance. His reply was, that he did not know him, hav-
ing never been with him in his family, the only place
in which a man’s true character could be discorvercd.
Thus it is in regard to Maria Monk ; her true charac-
ter is easily discovered by these with whom she daily
associates. And these, I think I may say without a
single exception, are thoroughly convinced that she is
not an impostor. The affidavits of all Canada could
hardly shake their belief.

To these I would add the unwavering opinion of
the gentleman who penned her worls for her. He is
a gentleman of high standing in the community, for
literature, integrity, and piety. No man could have
felt a deeper solicitude on the subject, than he has

felt, He has felt, that not only his own reputation
12
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was at stake, but that truth—to him priceless—was
to achieve new victories, or receive detriment, ac-
cording as Miss Monk’s testimony should prove true
or false. Hence he has spared no pains to get at the
simple truth of the case, whatever that might be.

I trust that the reader will not consider it out of
place, for the writer of these pages to add his own
opinion to the above. It is now some eight or nine
months, since Miss Monk came to reside among the
people of my pastoral charge. During this time I
have ceen her in a variety of circumstances; have
heard her converse with friends and enemies, Protest-
ants and Catholics, and men of all professions ; have
improved every opportunity, which God in his provi-
dence has given me, to ferret out the truth in relation
to her claims—and as the result of the whole, I delib-
erately say, that I have never seen any thing which
led me, for any length of time, fo doubt the general
truth of ler story; but on the contrary, the evidence
of its truth has been constantly augmenting, so that I
could now almost as easily believe any supposable
impossibility, as to believe that she has been acting
the part of an impestor, in what she has done.

The other elass of individuals whose opinion is of
some importance on the subject, are those who know
a part of Miss Monk’s statements to be true, and who
infer from that, the truth of the remainder. Among
these are to be found, those females scattered through
the country, who recceived their education in the
Congregational Nunnery of Montreal. A short time
since, I heard one of this class speaking on the sub-
Ject, after the following manner :—* Miss Monk’s de-
scription of things, persons, and practices, which
came under my observation, while a scholar in the
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Congregational Nunnery of Montreal, are generally
so correct, that I cannot but think, that her descrip-
tions of things and practices in the Hotel Dieu, the
cloistered part of which I was never permitted to
visit, are also generally correct.” I have heard gen-
tlemen who have long resided in Montreal, and who
were familiar with matters and things without the
concealed part of the convent, reason in a similar
manner. -

It is known to many, that there is a subterranean
passage, leading from the priest’s Seminary to the
Hotel Dien. 1In addition to what is said on pages 241
and 332 of Awful Disclosures, respecting this passage,
the following, taken from the St. Albans Franklin
Journal, is subjoined. Even Mr. Jones, the publizher
of the “ Awful Exposure,” admitted, to several gen-
tlemcn in New York, that there was such a passage;
but that it was not morc than thirty feet long! The
existence of this passage is known to many in Mont-
real. What is the object of such a passage? Can
awy thing virtuous require that a house of priests
should be thus united, by a concealed, under-ground
passage, to an establishment of secluded women ?
And I would further ask, how a man, who believes
in the existence of such a secret communication, can
disbelieve the “ Awful Disclosures” of Maria Monk ?
If the priests are such licentious hypocrites, as toneed
a dark, under-ground passage to the women of the
Hotel Dieu, from the commission of what crime
would they abstain, which they considered necessary
to conceal their infamy from the public eye 2 Would
they refrain from the murder of infants and nuns?
That man has but a slight acquaintance with human
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depnvit\' that can believe they would. The follow-
ing is the communication alluded to.

“ As there is some cxcitement in the commumty
upon the subject of Popish licentiousness and vice
from the dizclo.ures of Maria Monk, and as some af-
fect to disbelieve and ridicule her work as totally
false, being in possession of some strong evidence
that will confirm her statements, I give the public
the fucts.

“In conversation with a gentleman, who was some
months since a Roman Catholic in Montreal, but has
renounced their blasphemous dogmas, and is now a
professed Christian, he told me, that he had been em-
ployed to labor in the cellars of the Priests’ Seminary
at Montreal, and while therc engaged, he discovered
a door in the wall of the cellar, which on opening, he
fuund it connected with a passage under ground. He
entered the passage and passed through it until he
came to some stairs, at the head of which was a trap
door. From the direction and distance of the passage,
he was perfectly certain that it must be a subterrane-
ous communication between the Seminary and the
convent. He further informed me, that from the tes-
timony of many females, his relatives not excepted,
that at confession, the priests were in the habit of
asking the most licentious and revolting questions
that could be propounded, not only to married ladies,
but also to girls of thirteen vears.

“ Likewise from the habiliments of the nuns, and
their appearance at times, he was wholly confirmed
in the belief that their course in the nunnery was any
thing but virtuous. At the time of his making these
disclosures, I think Maria had not written her book.
1think testimony of thi: kind is powerfully corrobora-
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tive, and that these things exist, I fully believe. Itis
truly painful to come before the public with so offen-
sive a subject, but believing the contagion of death to
be spreading through the community by Catholicism,
leaving putrescence and wo behind, I feel coastrained
thus to appear. “E. SPRAGUE.

* 8t. Albans, July, 1836.”

The ensuiog statement is {rom a gentleman who
was for many years a resident in Montreal. TFor
reasons satisfactory to himself, bhis name is withheld.
His testimony is undoubtedly true.

“I often heard of a subterranean passage, {from the
Seminary to the Hotel Dieu nunnery, yearsago ; and
while the cathedral was building, I often saw that
part of it which was opened in digging for the founda-
tion. It was near the east corner of the cathedral,
where the waterworks were laid alosg St. Joseph’s
street. Several years before, I saw the same passage
opened in another place by the workmen, who bad
removed several stones and exposed it to view. I
bave often heard it spoken of, as a thing very generally
known ; and never heard any doubt of its existence,
until the appearance of Mr. Jones’ book, and Mr.
Stone’s pamphlet.”

The following documents on the subject of the
subterranean passage, are extracted from the Ameri-
can Protestant Vindicator, of November 2, 1836.
They have appeared since the above was written : —

“ The first witness is the Rev. Oliver Wetmore, of
Utica, In a late conversation with that beloved min-
iater of the gospel, he thus remarked—

%Mr, Stone says: ‘No subterranean passage be-
iween the Seminary and the Hotel Dieu nunnery, at
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Montreal, was ever seen or heard of ! T'hat 7s not
true! \When I travelled as a missionary in the north~
ern parts of the State of New York, thirty-three
years ago, | was fiequently at the house of Judge
Moers, who resided about a mile from the Canada
line.  That gentleman repeatedly talked with me re-
specting the Roman priests and Popery, in Montreal,
which he had often visited. He spoke of the subter-
ranean passage between the Seminary and the
Munneries, az a matter of most public notoriety ; and
detailed the dissolute lives of the priests, their habit-
ual gaubling, intemperance, and profligaey, as well
as the licentiousness of the female convents of Mon-
treal; which Judge Moers said, were as open matters
of talk at that period, in that city, just as much as
the most common affairs of life. Judge Moers also
represented to me the priests and nuns of Montreal,
from his own personal acquaintance with them, in
exactly the same light and character, thirty-three
years ago, as they have lately heen exhibited before
the American public. Mr. Stone, therefore, to my
own certain knowledge, has published that which is
not lrue I 7

Itappcars, from this statement, that the existence
of an underground passage, between the Priests’
Seniinary and the nunnery, has been a matter of con-
versation for many years.

The next statement is from the Rev. George
Bourne, of New York:—

“I most solemnly affirm, that the late Rev. Mr.
Christmas, conducted me in the year 1325, I believe,
for I have but one criterion by which I can determine
the first time that I saw it, to visit the subterranean
sassage, between the Seminary and°the Hotel Dien
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convent ; and that we frequently afterwards stood
over that passage together. At other times, in com-
pany with different Christian brethren, I have also
examined that underground avenue from the Semi-
pary to the Nunnery : at least, that part of it which
was open for common inspection {or a considerable
period, during the completion of the cathedral in that
city. “ GeorceE Bourne.”

The following is the aflidavit of Mr. Ifogan, now
a respectable member of the Methodist church, of
New York, but formerly a Roman Catholic student
of the Seminary of Montreal :—

% New Yorlk, Qctober 26, 13836.

“ Thomas Hoguan, of the city of New York, being
duly affirmed, doth say : That in the year 1324, he
was a resident of the city of Montreal, Lower Cun-
ada—that at that period, the existence of a subterra-
nean passage between the Seminary in Notre-Dame
street, and the Hotel Dieu convent, was a matter of
the most public notcriety ; and that he himself has
been in that passage, having entered it from the door
in the Seminary—and the said Hogan doth further
depose, that to his own personal knowledge, the Ro-
man priests were constantly in the practice of visiting
the nuns, for the purpose of licentious intercourse, by
that secret passage. Trnonmas Hocan.

“ Affirmed this 26th day of October, 183C.

 Before me, William H. Bogardus, Commissioner
of Deeds.”

Who, after this, can doubt the existence of such a
communication bheiween the two establishments?
Aud the question may be reiterated, what is the ob-
ject of such a passage 7 Can it be any thing lawful ?
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If so, what is it? The world would be glad to
know what it may be,

It is hardly necessary to remind the reader of the
fact, that the above testimony furnishes a high de
gree of evidence, in confirmation of the general truth
of the “ Awful Disclosures.”
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CHAPTER II11I.

THE CONDUCT OF MISS MONK’S OPPONENTS, FURNISHES
AN ARGUMENT IN HER SUPPORT.

They have expended much labor in vain to disprove hier claims—Re-
fugal to have the nunnery examined at first, is cvidence against
them—~Their attewpt to prove an Alibi in November, 1525, a failurew—
Priest Phelan’s visit to New York—Attempted abduction of Miss
Monk—Failed to destroy her testimony in their attewpt to destroy
her character—Also in their second atteinpt to prove an Albi—Also
in their exparte examination of the nunuery—Also in tleic Mag-
dalen trick—Rewmarks on this manauvre—OLther failures—Conclu.
slon—P'riests found guilty.

“ AcTicNns speak louder than words,” is a maxim
as venerable for age, as it is just and true. Accord-
ing to this maxim, it is evident, that the conduct of
Miss Monk’s opponents furnishes an argument of
great force against themselves, and, of couise, in
support of her claims. The position, which they
have taken, that she is an impostor, and ncver has
been a nun, if true, could have been proved beyond
all doubt, with one-thousandth part of the labor,
which they have fruitlessly bestowed in their several
attempts to prove it. They admit that, until recently,
she has always lived in and about Montreal. Could
they not then, with very little trouble, have shown us
where and with whom she lived, during the time she
professes to have been a nun in the Hotel Dieu con-
vent?

But let us look at their conduct a little in the de-
tail. When Miss Monk visited Montreal in the
month of Aygust, 1835, and there presented her

13
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criminal charges against the priests and nuns, it was
denied that she had ever been a nun in the Hotel
Dieu nunnery. In proof that she had been an in-
mate of that convent, Miss Monk offered to furnish
a description of its interior—its apartments, its per-
sons, and their occupations, &e.—and urged the ex-
amination of the nunnery, with a view to the appli-
cation of the proposed test. Certainly this was fait
on her part.  Why, then, did not the priests comply
with the proposal? If she had been an impostor,
what easier and more ready mode of proving it, to the
satisfaction of all concerned, could they have desired ?
The reply often made, that she and her {riends were
unworthy of their notice, and that the convent was a
sacred place, not to be inspected by men from the
world, is not less insulting than it is untrue ; for they
did notice her, by collecting and publishing affidavits
against her; and men from the world, such as they
have been pleased to select, have been admitted into
the nunnery to inspect it. Does not their conduct in
this particular betray guilt ?

A short time after Miss Monk returned to New
York from Montreal, her opponents made an attempt to
prove an alibi—to show that she was elsewhete than
in the convent, during the time in which she declares
herself to have heen in that establishment. They col-
lected and published six or eight affidavits, the im-
port and character of which is known to the public.
Five of them refer exclusively to matters subsequent
to her arrival in Montreal. The other two are those
of Dr. Robertson and her mother, Mrs. Monk. Dr.
Robertson states, that on inquiry, he had ascertained
t!xat she was at service in Sorel and St. Denis, a por-
tion of the time which she professed to have been in
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the nunnery ; and Mrs. Monk says, that she once
told certain persons, that her daughter had not been
in the nunnery. This is the amount of their testi-
mony ; and, if Maria Monk had been an impostor,
can any man believe that the priests and their advo-
cates, would have rested their cause on a foundation,
so unsubstantial as this? Does not the weakness of
their’ defence, show the unsoundness of their cause ?

The next step worthy of notice in the conduct of
the priests, is the vicit of father Phelan of Montreal
to New York, in order to decoy Miss Monk away
fiom her friends in that ¢ity. This was in the win-
ter of 1835-6. A detailed account of it may be seen
in the first chapter of the present work by Miss Monk.
As this priest came 10 New York in disguise, leaving
an impression in Montreal that he had gone to spend
a few weeks on Nuns” Island, it is presumed, that his
visit to this city will be denied. 1t can, however, be
proved that he was in New York at the time specifi-
¢d, and that the impression was made in Montreal
that he had gone to the Island. It has been publish-
ed again and again, without being as vet contradict-
cd, from any responsible source. Why then should
that priest visit New York under such circumstances,
utless it were in some way to destroy Mizs Mouk’s
testimony ? He knew her feelings towards himselfl
as the father of her child; and he knew thata spe-
cial intimacy had been formed and cherished between
himself and her, during her residence in the nunnery ;
ina word, he knew that if any man could draw her
away from her friends in New York, or induce her to
withhold her testimony, he was the man. Out of
regard to him, Miss Monk was perfectly silent re-
specting his vizit to New York, until after the abduc-
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tion plot, during the following summer, had been de-
veloped. It was, however, noticed by her friends,
that her feelings towards him, during this lapse of
time, were different from what they were, frior to
this visit. Now if Miss Mork were an impostor, is
it supposable that this priest would have thus visited
her? And does not this visit stamp with the seal of
truth her claims as an ex-nun? What stronger evi-
dence can be demanded ?

In the present work by Miss Monk, will be found
an account of the attempt in May, 18306, to abduct her
away from New York. The principal facts in the case
are mentioned by her, in her narrative of the attempt.
From personal knowledge, 1 know many of her state-
ments respecting this matter, to be true ; and others
of them I believe on good authority, to be equally
founded in truth. To mention particulars, such as
1 know too be true, would occupy too much space.
They may be seen in her narrative. My object at
present, is with the fact, that such an attempt was
made ; and of this there can be no reasonable doubt
in the minds of such as are acquainted with the facts
in the case.

It is certain that several individuals were thus en-
gaged; and it is certain that some of them were Ca-
nadians. They were prowling about the neighbor-
hood for a number of days. They were seen again
and again, and her uncle, on the Sabbath specified by
Miss Monk, was overheard in conversation with her
respecting the matter.

The design of the plot was to induce Miss Monk,
voluntarily, to leave New York. The plot was well
formed, and well conducted; and would have suc-
ceeded, had it not been thwarted by the untiring vigi-
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lance of Miss Monk’s friends. Miss monk was com-
pletely deceived by her uncle, until the time specified
by her in her narrative of the affair, when a gentle-
man called on her, and made known to her e true
nature and design of the plot. I was present at the
time when the gentleman called, and I regret that it is
not permitted me to mention, at present, particulars as
to the betrayal of one of the enemy, by which the ul-
timate object of the scheme was communicated to her.
Now they knew whether or not Miss Monk was an
impostor: on this point, they could not possibly be
mistaken. Would they then, be at so much trouble
and expense, to decoy away a known impostor?
The supposition is preposterous in the extreme. It
is therefore evident, that she is notan impostor.

The next attempt on the part of the priests to vin-
dicate themselves, worthy of special consideration, is
to be found in their book, entitled, “ Awful Expo-
sure.” The contents of this book have been examined
in the first part of this work ; and it is believed, that
the candid reader is prepared to unite in pronouncing
the attempt to be an entire failure. Their object has
been to destroy Miss Monk’s testimony. To do this,
they have undertaken :—

1. In the first place, utterly to destroy her charac-
ter. They have attempted to prove that, besides be-
lng insane, she is a compound of all that is infamous
in the vilest of women. But in this, they have come
short. Their attempt only evinces the weakness of
their cause, and the infamy of their witnesses. Their
w1tnesses, as we have seen, are false witnesses, tes-
tifying in several instances, in direct opposition to
each other.

2. They have repeated their attempt to prove an

13*
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alibi—that at the time she professes to have been in
the nunnery, she was living in Sorel, St. Denis, &e.
Here they have failed ; and on what ground can their
failure be accounted for, unless it be, the falseness of
thzir position? Is it possible rationally to conceive of
any other? If so, let it be made known.

3. Being themselves conscious of the incredibility
of their testimony to prove' an alibi, they have en-
deavored to support it, by an exparte examination
of the nunnery. But this examination has only help-
ed to expose the unsoundness of their cause. We
have seen, that the report of their professed architect
furnishes a high degree of evidence of the fact, that
Miss Monk has, as correctly as could have been ex-
pected, described the apartments of that portion of
the nunnery which she attempted to describe. The
priests have, therefore, utterly failed in this effort to
mislead and deceive the public. What, then, is the
consequenc of their failure 7. Does it not prove them
to be false ?

4. But, as if sensible of the rottenness of their foun-
dation, they have, as a last desperale resort, taken
refuge in Mrs. McDonell’s Magdalen Asylum.
Why should they go there, if they were satisfied with
the evidence which they had collected, to prove Miss
Mook to be an impostor? They donot even pretend
that she was ever there, prior to the time she profess-
es to have escaped from the convent. If they had
satisfactorily proved to the world, that Miss Monk
did not obtain the facts, published in her book, from
a residence in the Hotel Dieu nunnery, why give
themselves any more trouble on the su'bject'2 Ah,
they koew better; they knew that she had been a
nun, and they knew that they could not disprove it.
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Respecting this movement of the priests, it is proper
to make a few remarks, in order that its character
may the better be understood. The idea that Miss
Monk and her friends manufactured the “ Awful Dis-
closures,” from what she learned in the Asylam, is of
recent date. It was never heard of in New York, so
far as I can learn, until last summer, nearly a year
after she preferred her charges in Montreal, against
the priests. After this long period, they wish us to
believe that the conventual ceremonies, interior
apartments, and persons—themselves excepted, I sup-
pose, though they do not say so—described by Maria
Monk, are such as she saw in Mrs. McDonell’s Asy-
lum. Miss Monl, in her book, speaking of her novi-
tiate state in the Hotel Dieu, mentions the names of
four novices, as also that of Jane Ray. The priests,
in order to carry forward their novel device, have fur-
nished us with five affidavits, from as many persons,
bearing the names mentioned by Miss Monk as in-
mates of the Hotel Dieu. These women are made
to testify that they were inmates of the Asylum at
the time Miss Monk was, and that she became ac-
quainted with them there. But who has ever seen
these individuals in the Asylum? A gentleman
from New York called there twice, but he could find
but one out of the five named, and she evidently had
never seen Maria Monk, for she described her as
having light hair, when in fact her hair is black.

Now, that this whole affair is a mere jesuitical de-
vice, designed to mislead the public, is not only mani-
fest from its intrinsic absurdity, but also from the fact,
that immediately after it was publicly announced, t_he
Asylum was said to be broken up and its inmates dis-
persed, because no more means could be obtained for
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their support. How happens it that the streams of
benevolence in Montreal should become dry just at
that time 2 And how happens it, that if Maria Monk
has described the interior of Mrs. McDonell’s estab-
lishment, it was not made known at an earlier date?
Why especially was it closed from inspection, as
soon as the discovery was made? It does appear
that, if any thing can demonstrate the desperateness
of the priests’ cause, it Is this silly Magdalen trick
of theirs. I call it silly, for it does seem to evince a
degree of stupidity on the part of the priests, which
cannot be accounted for, unless it be on the principle,
that those whom the Almighty abandons to destruc-
tion for their vices, he often, in his providence, drives
to otherwise unaccountable folly and madness.

Thus we have noticed the more prominent at-
tempts, which the priests have made to defend them-
selves from the charges preferred against them by
Maria Monk. Several minor attempts have been
passed over; such as their celebrated handbill, which
was so extensively circulated in New York and other
places, declaring that Miss Monk was a Protestant
girl, and had been living for four years with Mr. Hoyt;
and also their declaration, that her “ book was a trans-
lation from an old Portuguese work;” and since then,
that it was not her production, but that of * certain in-
dividuals who had formed an atrocious plot against
the Clergy and Nuns of Lower Canada.”

. What a mass of untruth and palpable contradic-
txogs! Is th? supposition possible, that the priests
are innocent in this matter, when all their attempts
at self—defen.ce have only served to sink them deeper
z-md deeper, in th.e bottomless abyss of falsehood and
{nfamy? One'\ thing is certain, and that is if they are
innocent, their conduct is beyond measure unaccount-
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gble. It belies them in a manner that it is truly as-
tounding. With a voice that cannot be misunder-
" stood, it proclaims them guilty.

In conclusion, I would seriously press the inquiry,
wkether it is supposable, that, if the priests were in-
noceat they would have borne such a load of reproach
and infamy for so long a time, without having demon-
strated their innocency to the world. Especially when
it could have been done with so much ease, by pro-
ving Miss Monk to be an impostor, if she is an im-
postor as they maintain that she is. The belief of it
beggars credulity itself. The reply, “ they stand upon
their character,” and that the “ disclosures of Miss
Monk are unworthy of their notice,” is as preposterous
asitisuntrue. Stand upon their character! Common
sense rebukes so gross an absurdity. The horrid

-charges, preferred against them by Maria Monk, and

believed by thousands and tens of thousands to be
sober truth, “unworthy of their notice ! 'Who can
believe this 2 If it be so, it may be asked what is there
on earth, that can arrest their dignified attention?

Finally, it is manifest that the priests have utterly
failed, in every attempt they have made in their own
defence. What, then, is the legitimate inference, from
this fact? Is it not, that they are guilty ? That they
themselves are impostors, instead of Maria Monk’s
being an impostor? In reason’s name, it is asked, how
can it be otherwise? How can it be that they are in-
nocent, and that she is an impostor, when every thing
that speaks on the subject, proclaims the opposite to
be true. This is the voice—not only of her person,
character, conduct, narrative, of religion and pature,
and of the testimony of others—but it is also the
voice of every attempt which they have made in self-
vindication.
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CHAPTER IV.

REVELATION, REASON, AND NATURE, CONFIRM MIS3
MONK’S TESTIMONY.

Extract from the New York Observer—Inquiry as to the object of
nunncries—Condemned by Christianity—By reason and pature—
Their ultimate object not religion—XNor charity to the sick—These
are false garbs—Their object priestly indulgence—* Awful Disclo-
sures’’ confirned—* Sisters of charity.”

Tue following is taken from an able article in the
New York Observer.

“Popery forbids 1ts priests and ecclesiastics to
marry, and cncourages the devotion of each sex to a
single life. Hence convents are provided both for
monks and nuns, to which they may respectively
retire from the world, and lead a lifc of holy seclu-
sion, as it is termed, from the temptations of the
flesh. Nature cries out against this unnatural and
forced separation of the sexes. Reazon ccndemns
it as monstrous and absurd, and religion pronounces
upon the unnatural and absurd prohibition its sever-
est denunciations, © forbidding to marry,” being ex-
pressly classed with the “doctrine of devils.” We
cannot escape from the conclusion that a course
which nature, reason, and religion unite to condemn,
must be productive of evils of a kind and extent
commensurate with the folly, absurdity, and impiety
of the parent cvil. Wehere seec one of the strongest
passions of human nature, a passion implanted in
man for the wiscst purposes by the God of nature,
unnaturally restrained by pains and penalties. What
power have unhallowed vows to bind, where God
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has not required the sacrifice, where he has, in fact,
prohibited it? Need I pursue the details of the de-
generating process, to show the casy steps by which
passion thus restrained, descends to crime? How
the nun, at the confessional, must pour into the car
of'a man, the sceret conflicts of her own breast, with
regard to this very passion; how the priest ques-
tions ; and how he may advise his fair penitent in se-
cret? Need I depict the voluntarily incurred temp-
tations to which both are cxposed by this most un-
natural intercourse 2 It can scarccly be otherwise,
than that erime should he the result. Both priests
ind nuns are kept from its commission by no human
restraint, and certainly by no promise of divine as
sistance, but are letl weak and unaided to contend
with, and to be vanquished by, this strongest of hu-
man passions. Love thus perverted i= lust, and ev-
ery onc knows that the sceret servant of lust, is
Murder.”

In reason’s name, I would ask, what is the object
of female cloistered convents? Wiy congregate
massembly of youthful females, and then bind them,
10l only with bolts and bars, but with the most sol-
'mn and superstitious vows and oaths, never more
0 have any communication with the world? Why
leprive such of that liberty which the Cod of nature
1s given 1o all mankind 2 To imprisou an individ-
1l for life, and thus deprive him of his liberty, is
onsidered to be next to the highest punishment that
an be inflicted for crime. But of what crime lave
he helpless victims of female convents been guilty,
irior to their becoming nuns? Can it be said that
he religion of the Son of God demands such im-
risonment 2 ¥f so, where is the chapter and verse ?
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I have never been able to find it. But I do find that
Christ was “to proclaim liberty to the captives, and
the opening of the prison to them that are bound.” The
voice of Christianity, therefore, is that the doors of
these female prison houses be opened, and that the
captives be set at Iiberty. Christianity is from hea-
ven. It came into the world, not to derange and
break up the iastitutions of man’s social nature, but
to hallow and purify them. Did the God of nature
make woman for society, or to shut her up in a nun-
nery ? Letthe advocates of nunneries read the sec-
ond chapter of the first book in their Bibles, if they
have any ; and they willlearn that woman was made
for man, not to be shut up in prison. Revelation,
therefore, is against nunneries.

Reason still presses the inquiry, why should inof-
fensive and unsuspecting young ladies be decoyed
from the path of life, which Christianity prescribes,
and be intombed for life within the walls of a con-
vent? Youngladies, I say, for the priests will have
no others, unless it should be some who were very
rich, and received for the sake of their wealth. This
fact proves to a demonstration, that the object can-
not be of a religious character; for if it were, then
the aged and the infirm, who are now excluded,
would, of all others, be received. Tam aware of the
fact, that a religious profession is the bait, by which
young females are enticed, by the priests and their
panders, into nunneries. They are made to believe
that the moment they enter a convent, they are
thenceforth removed from all worldly temptation,
and are, during the remainder of their lives, to be
devoted ex.clgsively to the holy duties of religion.
But that this is untrue, is evident, not only from the
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testimony of eloped nuns, and others, but from the
above-named fact, viz., that the aged and infirm, to
whom such retirement and religious employment
might possibly be desirable, are the very persons
who are excluded.

Nor can the object be for purposes of charity, such
as educating poor children, and nursing the sick. I
am aware that the latter is connected with the Hotel
Dieu—that there is a fine hospital therc, and that
many of the sick have reaped essential benefit from
it. But, I ask, what necessary connexion there is
between this charity, and the imprisonment, for life,
of scores of young and tender females? Cannot the
sick be taken care of, without doing such violenceto
the laws, both of God and naturc? 'The sick are
nursed, and the poor are educated, to say the least,
among Protestants, who have no occasion for nun-
neries, as well as they are among Catholics. The
truth is, this charity business is a mere ontward garb
~fair to appearance, like a “ whited scpulchre”—
designed, in connexion with a “religious profes-
sion,” to conceal from the public eyve the real object
which the priests have in view, in sustaining clois-
tered convents. Roman priests are required by their
rtﬂigion, hLabitually to violate a primary law of the
human constitution, in being required to live a life
of celibacy. But nature protests against the requi-
sition, and determines on seeking relief from some
other sourcc. But concealmnent is requisite, in order
to give external consistency to their professions of
chastity., How then can gratification and conceal-
ment be secured? A cloistered nunnery, under the
colors of peculiar sanctity and charity, presents it-
self gs afiording both the requisites. Concealment,

14



158 CONFIRMATION OF

however, requires something more than the most
arrant deceit and hypocrisy. Children and refrac-
tory nuns must be disposed of ; and to secure this,
habitual murder is necessary, as well as a system of
the most severe and tyrannical discipline. Sin, in
its progress. being downward, where will it stop?
What bounds ean you sct to it, when unbridled as in
a convent, concealed from the public eye? The
Hotel Dieu is of lons standing, and has grown ripe
in iniquity. TIenece but a small pertion of its diabol-
ical abominations can be disclosed by Maria Monk
to the world. 'There are others which ought not to
be  once named as becometh saints.”

It scems, then, that the real object of cloistered
nunneries is, so far as they respeet the priests, their
own licentious gratification. Now ¥ do not say that
this was their original intention. Ithink it was not.
But they soon degenerated into it. FHence the ulti-
mate design of the scores of incipient nunneries in
these United Siates.  Oh, that they were rightly un-
derstood by mothers and by daughters! Then we
should hear of no more taking the veil.

The conclusion, therefore, of the whole matter un-
der this head is this,—That the disclosures of Maria
Monk are just what might rationally be expeected,
from the nature of the case; from priestly celibacy
m connexion with cloistered females. How futile,
then, is the following question of the priests: “ Now
we ask 'the ten thousand readers of the book, (Awf.
plsc.,) if the deeds therein alleged arc not incompat-
ible with human nature. —if any thing that is known
of man’s capacity for crime can render them credi-
ble 7 V\'h.nt is the history of Popery, but to a great
extent, a history of just such ineompatibilities ?
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Before closing this chapter, perhaps somcthing
should be said, respecting the order of “sisters of
charity,” as they are called. These females have,
no doubt, done much to mitigate the sufferings of
the sick and destituie; as also to impart papal in-
struction to poor children. This is natural to the
kind and sympathizing nature of the {emale sex.
But does this argue any thing in favor of this order
of women, who are required to live in « state of ce-
libacy ? Are these amiable female qualities contined
to this mode of life? Must woman live a single life
in order to be kind and gencrous to the needy and
the helpless 7

But the question is, what isthe object of the priests
in having these unmarried women clustered about
them, as they always have, espeeially in the absence
of cloistercd nunneries ? Let Miss Mouk’s narrative
in the subsequent pages, respecting the Black Nuns’
Island, answer the question. Tt would seem that the
obje(‘t of the priests, with refcrence to this order of
femdles was substantially the same with that of con-
vents. Lct 1hcn the lovers of good order and chas-
tity frown upon this order of women, until it shall
be broken up, together with convents.  And let
young women aveid this vow of celibacy, as they
would avoid impurity and wretchedness. It is death
to all that is lovely in the female character.



160 GONFIRMATION OF

CHAPTER V.

HISTORIC CONFIRMATION OF MISS MONK’S TESTIMONY.

Absence of historic information a cause of disbelief in the * Dis-
closures”—¥pirit of popish history agrces with that of the *Diaclo-
sures”—Of murder—The Inquisition—Uncondemned by papists—
Slaughter of French Protestants on the eve of St. Bartholomew's
day—Murderous spirit with which the news of it was received at
Rome—More than 6)00 heads of infants found in the pope’s fish-
pond—Licentious character of the Roman priests—Golden mnean to
be observed in speaking of it—Extract from Da Costa—Illustrates
the character of priests and of the Confessiunal—One object of the
Confessional—Catholic girl in New York—Practice of confessiug to
a priest should be discountenauced—Extracts frown Scipio de Ricei
confirmatory of the * Awful Disclosures”’—Object of exposing vice
~Jesnit moralists sanction vice—Miss M.’s character of the priests
true, independent of the fact of her having been a nun.

TaeRE are two things, in the disclosures of Maria
Monk, which render them comparatively incredible
to the American community. First, the enormity
of the crimes which she declares are perpetrated in
the Hotel Dieu nunnery of Montreal; and, in the
second place, the cool-hearted manner in which
they are said to be habitually practised in that es-
tablishment. This objection, so frequently urged
against the truth of Miss Monk’s narrative, arises
from two sources ;—1st, the comparative purity of
the American people :—and 2d, the want of historic
information respecting the character of the Roman
priesthood, in all former ages. The latter of these
is the more prominent obstacle in the way of gaining
full confidence in the truth of her statements.
Henc_c the faet, so frequently noticed by the friends
of Miss Monk, that those persons, who are versed
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in popish history, as also those who have so-
journed somewhat extensively in popish countries,
find no difficulty in believing the “ Awful Disclo-
sures” to be substantially true. Hence, too, the fact,
that gentlemen of extensive observation, who have
been reared in Catholic countries, amidst the vices
of Roman priests, not unfrequently ridicule the in-
eredulity of the American people, in reference to
this matter.

Roman Catholics glory in the infallibility of their
church; and, of course, its immutability. It is,
say they, the one church of Christ, the same in
every age and in every country. The author of
these pages is aware of the fact, that when the con-
sequences of this principle arc pressed upon the ad-
vocates of popery, they attempt to cvade them by
some Jesuitical prank or other. Still; it is true. if the
trec is one and the same in all ages and in all climes,
its fruit must be substantially the same, under all
cireumstances. Thus, in regard to the spirit of po-
pery, it is one and the same the world over, and in
every age; and bears substantially the samec fruit,
Wherever it is allowed to arrive to full maturity.
Now, what is this spirit, as exhibited on the impar-
tial page of history? Does it contradict the reign-
ing spirit of the Montreal cloistered convent, as il-
lustrated by the disclosures of Maria Monk? Are
the erimes which are divulged by her, such as mur-
der, hypocrisy, and the most unblushing licentious-
Ness, novel things in the history of popery? or are
they such as naturally fall in with that history ? If
the pages of Roman Catholic history could be made
honestly to oppose the statements of Maria Monk,
the controversy would assume altogether a different

14>
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aspect from what it now wears. But they cannot.
Truth is immutable, however much it may be falsi-
fied and glossed over. A few statements and ex-
tracts from well authenticated history will be suffi-
cient to show, not only that Maria Monk’s narrative
is no libel on the Roman priests, but also to confirm
its truth, so far as the history of the past can do it.
And herc I wish to be as brief as fidelity to the
cause of truth and humanity will admit of, for the
subject is painful to every virtuous mind.

1. In respect to the crime of murder.

Perhaps no subject more perfectly illustrates the
murderous spirit of Roman priests, in past ages,
than the “ Holy Inquisition,” as papists call it. This
“ipfernal tiibunal” originated with the priests—it
was introduced into every country into which they
had the power of introducing it—and by them it
was sustained, as long as they had the power of sus-
taining it. For cruelty, it stands without a rival on
earth, and, I hope, also in the dark domains of Sa-
tan below. Thank God, that humanity and the Pro-
testant religion have nearly banished it from the
carth, although its dreadful spirit still remains with
those who originated and sustained it. The object
of the inquisition is the destruction of “damnable
heresy,” by torturing, in the most cruel manner, even
unto death, all such as dare to think and believe con-
trary to the wishes of the church ; that is, the priest-
hoad,. from the pope downward, for such is the
meaning of the word church among Roman Catho-
lies. In Spain alone, its victims, according to the
estimate of Llorente, from 1481 to 1808, amounted:
i: 341t;021. Of these 31,912 were burned, 17,659

ere burned in effigy, and 291,456 were subjected
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to severe penance. Here, then, were ncarly 32,000
men and women burned to death, after suffering im-
prisonment, and a variety of tortures, simply for re-
sisting the will of the priesthood. What is this but
the most cold-blooded murder? Itis vain for the
friends of popery to attempt to blunt the cdge of
these facts, by saying that they occurred in the dark
ages. Are not all ages dark where popery reigns?
And are not papists loud in their denunciation of
the reformation, by which the darkness that covered
Christendom was, in some measure, dissipated?
Besides, what pope, cardinal, bishop, cr priest, has
ever been known to utter a sentence cf condemne-
tion against their “ most lioly inguisition?” What,
condemn an inetitution which for ages had the sanc-
tion of an infallible church! No,never. They will
sooner defend it, as bishops England and Hughes
have had the hardihood to do, the one in Baltimore
and the other in Philadelphia.

The manner in which the Pope and his court re-
ceived the intelligence of the baibarous massacre
of the Protestants in France, commencing on the
eve of St. Bartholomew’s day, in A. D. 1572,
is another instance which shows the murderous
gpirit of the priesthood. Pcrhaps the page of his-
tory does not contain a darker spot than this. The
principal Protestants of the kingdom were invited
to' Paris, under a solemn oath of protection {rem
Charles IX., a papist, to attend the marriage of the
king's sister. They attended the wedding, and thus
fell into the snare that had been spread for their de-
struction. The design of the papists was to destroy
every Protestant in France, and they came wellnigh
aecomplishing their nefarious project. Some ten



164 CONFIRMATION OF

thousand were inhumanly butchered in the single
city of Paris, while the work of death was carried
on in almost every part of the empire, until from
30,000 to 100,000 Protestants were slain.

And now, reader, how do you suppose the intelli-
gence of this drcadful slaughter was received at
Rome? Did the pope condemn the King for the
double erime of breaking his oath and murdering
his subjects? Did he grieve because so many hu-
man beings had been so fiendishly butchered? No,
reader. It wasto him and his court “glad tidings
of great joy.” The following is extracted from
“ Buck's Theological Dictionary.”—*“ When the let-
ters of the pope’s legate were read in the assembly
of the cardinals, by which he assured the pope that
all was transacted by the express will and command
of the king, it was immediately decreed that the
pope should march with his cardinals to the church
of St. Mark, and in the most solemn manner give
thanks to God for so great a blessing conferred on
the See of Rome, and the Christian world ; and that,
on the Monday after, solemn mass should be cele-
brated in the church of Minerva, at which the pope,
Gregory XITI., and cardinals were present; and that
a jubilee should be published throughout the whole
Christian world, and the cause of it declared to be,
to return thanks to God for the cxtirpation of the
enemies of the truth and church in France. In the
evening, the cannon of St. Angelo were fired to tes-
tify the public joy; the whole city illuminated with
bonfires; and no one sign of rejoicing omitted that
was usually made for the greatest victories obtained
'}n favor of the Roman church!!'!"’ Alas! what spirit
is here? Is it that of the compassionate Saviour?
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or that of Satan, “who was a murderer from the
beginning 7”

Once more, and I have done on the erime of mur-
der.

“Pope Gregory, drawing his fishpond, found more
than six thousand heads of infants in it; upon which
he deeply repented, and, confessing that the decree
of unnatural celibacy was the cause of so lorrid a
slaughter, he condemned it, adding: ‘It is better to
marry than to give occasion of death. *— ITulderic
Epist. adv. constit. de Cleric. Celib.

Were it not a tax upon the reader’s patience, I
would here add a few extracts from standard Roman
Catholic writers on morals, teaching the lawfulness
of murder for a variety of frivolous reasons, such as
might easily be offered by priests and nuns, in justi-
fication of the murders committed by them. But I
forbcar. See Awf. Dis. p. 355.

Respecting the licentious character of the Romish
priesthood, but little need be said. If ever the gold-
en mean should be observed on any subject, it
should be on this. The subject is disgusting, and
requires a skilful pen so to manage it as not not to pro-
mote rather than destroy its practice. There is,
however, a fastidiousness about it which is contrary
both to scripture and sound reason. This vice, like
every other, in order to destroy it, must be exposed
to some extent. Nothing can be more pleasing to
the priests than the senseless clamors which are
raised against the supposed licentious tendency of
Maria Monk’s disclosures. None are louder on this
point than themselves. They are like the thief, who
is first to cry, stop thief! stop thief! Herein Satan
transforms himself into an angel of light, and be-
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comes the staunchest advocate of chastity. See that
Canadian priest, so chaste that he cannot even shake
hands with his own mother, lest he should receive
pollution from the touch of woman! What hypoc-
risy ! -

It would seem, really, as if some of our newspa-
per editors had becn under the tuition of the priests
on this subject. Such moralists, while they avoid
Charybdis, shipwreck against Scylla. The charac-
ter of Roman priests and convents must be known
before they can receive that treatment which of
right belongs to them. Ah! how many thousands
of unsuspecting and virtuous young ladies have been
ruined for ever, for the want of just that knowledge
which is to be found in Maria Monk’s disclosures!
And yet, how strange that good men should be so
inconsiderate as to unite with profligate priests and
others in the only cry which can prevent its diffu-
sion among the people.

I will here give an extract from Da Costa, a Por-
tuguese Roman Catholic writer, who had suffered in
the Inquisition, in consequence of being accused of
Freemasonry. It illustrates the adulterous charac-
ter of Roman priests, as also the abominable char-
acter of the Confessional. Pope Paul IV., from some
cause or other, was induced to issue a bull, ordering
an investigation into the crime of solicitant, as it is
called—that is, when the confessional is used by the
priests for licentious purposes. This had reference
to the kingdom of Spain. The following is an ex-
tract from the bull:—“ Whereas certain ecclesiastics
in the kingdom of Spain, and in the cities and dio-
ceses thereof, having the cure of souls, or exercising
such cure for others, or otherwise deputed to hear
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the confessions of such penitents, have broken out
into such heinous acts of iniquity, as to abuse the
sacrament of penance in the very act of hearing the
confessions, not fearing to injure the same sacra-
ment, and him who instituted it, our Lord God and
Saviour Jesus Christ, by enticing und provoking, or
trying to entice and provoke {emales tolewd actions
at the very time when they were making their con-
fessions.”

“When this bull,” says Da Costa, “was first in-
troduced into Spain, the inquisitors published a sol-
emn edict in all the churches helonging to the arch-
bishopric of Seville, that any person knowing, or
having heard of any friar or clergyman’s having
committed the erime of abusing the Sacrament of
Confession, or in any manner having improperly
conducted himself during the confession of a female
penitent, should make a discovery of what he knew,
within thirty days, to the holy tribunal; and very
hc_avy censures were attached to those who should
negleet or despise this injunction. When this edict
was first published. such a considerable number of
females went to the palace of the Inquisition, only
in the city of Seville, to reveal the conduct of their
infamous confessors, that twenty notaries, and as
many inquisitors, were appointed to minute down
their several informations against them; but these
being found insufficient to receive the depositions
of so many witnesses; and_ the inquisitors being
thus overwhelmed, as it were, with the pressure of
such affairs, thirty days morc were allowed for ta-
king the accusations, and this lapse of time also pro-
ving inadequate to the intended purpose, a similar
period was gramted, not only for a third but a fourth
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time. The ladies of rank, character, and noble fam-
iies, had a difficult part to act on this occasion, as
their discoveries could not be made of any particu-
lar time and place. On one side, a religious fear of
incurring the threatencd censures, goaded their con-
sciences so much as to compel them to make the
required accusations; on the other side, a regard to
their hushands, to whom they justly feared to give
offence, by affording them any motives for suspecting
their privaie conduet, induced them to keep at home.
To obviate these difficulties, they had recourse fo the
measure of covering their faces with a veil, accord-
ing to the fashion of Spain, and thus went to the in-
quisitors in the most seeret manner they could adopt.
Very few, however, escaped the vigilance of their
husbands, who, on being informed of the discoveries
and accusations made by their wives, were filled
with suspicions; and yet, notwithstanding this ac-.
cumulation of proofs against the confessors, produ-
ced to the inquisitors, this holy tribunal, contrary to
the expectations of cvery one, put an end to the
business, by ordering, that all erimes of this nature,
proved by lawful evidence, should from thenceforth
be consigned to perpetual silence and oblivion."—
Nar. &c., by Hippolyto Joseph Da Costa Pereira
Furtudy de Mendonea, vol. i. pp. 117-119.

Here then, are the “holy confesscrs and the
holy conl"e.ssional” depicted to the life, so far as
dfacency* will allow the picture to be drawn. It
o priestho(’)d B }1 atholic hlSt?l‘laI)s: that
licentious body of r‘nemetlzS Conlp?geq 0f the most
society,  And yot then hat evey m;estec_l human

. =4 the writers of tne “ Awful Expo-
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sure’ have the brazen impudence io make the
following declatation, on page 56 of their book.
“Now the priests of Montreal and of Canada, do
enjoy, at least, public esteerm for morality, and if
necessary, the testimony of every adult in the
province would be gladly yielded to their excellent
character.” The father of lies could not fabricate
a purer untruth than this.*

I have taken some pains to inquire of gentlemen
from Canada, respecting the moral character of the
priests, out of the nunneries, and the result of my
inquiries is, that it would be doing them no injus-
Jice to apply to them the above picture given of
‘their brethren, the priests of Spain. I could men-
tion names and particulars, il it were deemed advi-
sable. I will mention the name of one “adult,” in
whose good opinion the friends of the nunnery
appear to place much confidence. The gentleman
dlluded to, is the Rev. G. W. Perkins of Montreal.
In a letter, dated DMarch 18, 1836, speaking of the
convent, he says:—* Now that fornication is com-
mitted, there is no reasonable question ;” that is, in
the nunuery.t

*# A Canadian, speaking of the intemperance of the priests
says—"that he had known a party of pricsts, with Bishop
Lartizue at their head, hold a convivial meeting in his village
on Saturday, and carry their revels so far that no one was fit
to say mass on the following Sabbath.”

t The following is the testimony of one of Rome’s Lest popes,
extracted from Baxter's Jesuit Juggling, page 219. “PiusIl.
wasone of the best that the Papal seat a long time had; and
yetin his epistle to his father. Epist. 15, who was angry with him
for fornication, he saith : ‘ Yousay you are zorry for my crime.
1 know not what opinion you have of me. You know what
you were yourself. Nor am I an hypocrite, that I should desire
rather to seem goed, than to be good. It is sn sucient and

15
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According to the above picture, what is the con-
fessional ? Beyond all question, one of its grand
objects is to secure female victims fur the impgre
indulgence of the priests. lIts history affords pain-
ful evidence of the truth of this declaration; and
were it properly understood, no virtuous family
would ever allow its female members to visit it, any
sooner than they would allow them to visit a
brothel.

For the truth of the following statement of facts,
I hold myself responsible. A Catholic young wom-
an,ardently devoted to her religion, by the name of
Miss N——, lived in the family of Mr. M——,in New
York. In her appearance she wus guite prepos-
sessing, and probably of virtuous character, up to
the time to which this narrative refers. A short
time before good-Friday, which was the first day
of last April, she was observed to be uncommonly
devoted to the ccremonies of her church. About
this time, she said to a young lady of the family,
¢ 1y father Confessor is a going to bestow upon me
a wonderful gift, about next good-Friday, if I am
faithful to ~o frequently to confession, and confess
all my sins, and answer all the questions which he
asks me”  *What is it, a new gown?” replied the
lady. “Oh,no, not a carnal gift, but a spiritval one;
I am to be exalted. and to be made a spiritual sister.”

usual sin. I know not who is without it. This plague 18
spread far and near; though I see it not, secing nature, which
doth nothing amiss, hath bred this appetite in all living crea-
tures, that mankind should be continued.” He who was the
zlory of the Papacy, knew none of the Hicrarchy without this
beastly sin"--No man, acquainted with the Romish priest-
hood, will qur-ztion the infallibility of this pope's testimony in
this instance.
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Miss N. increased her visits to the confessional,
going more frequentl y as the time of her exaltatzon
drew near. At length the time arrived. Miss N.
was to go to confess at that time in the evening.
She went, but did not return until early the next
morming. Sad disappointment and shame were de-
picted on her countenance. To the question, asking
her where she had passed the night, she declined
giving a direct answer. On one occasion she said,
that she staid in the church all night; but then 1t
should be known that the house of her father Con-
fessor was in the immediate neighborhood of the
thurch. Miss N. remained in the family of Mr. M.
but a few days after this.

I'leave my readers to make their own inferences.
But I would ask, if it be not the duty of the friends
of virtue and good order, to discountenance a prac-
tice so corrupting and so ruinous to all that is virtu-
ous in the female character, as is that of confession
to a corrupt priest. Destroy the confessional, and
you at once destroy that fatal power, which the
priests now have over their deluded followers ; and
until this is done, all your eflorts to enlighten and
elevate Catholics, will be thwarted by these enemies
of the human race. Let, then, every lawful means
be used to accomplish this end, remembering that
itis at the confessional those chains are forged, ap-
plied, and riveted, which hald in bondage so large
a portion of the human family ; a bondage more
dreadful than that of the African slave, because it is
the bondage of the soul, which God made in his own
glorious image.

I will now furnish my readers with a few extracts
from a standard Catholic author, for the purpose of
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illustrating the character of convents, and of show-
ing that the statements made by Miss Mouk, are in
keeping with the past history of these establish-
ments. As the authors of the “ Awful Exposure”
again and again refer us to the life of Scipio de
Ricei, a Roman Catholic bishop, as a model writer
on female convents, the extracts shall be taken from
his memoirs. And it should be borne in mind, that
these disclosures were made by this Roman prelate,
not in the dark ages, but some forty or fifty years
ago. And it should also be borne in mind, that
Scipio de Ricci was not a Protestant or an enemy
to convents, but a friend to the latter, and a staunch
Catholic. And it should be remembered also, that
this prelate, not having been connected with con-
vents, knew nothing of them, save what he learned
by report, and in his attempts to reform them;
when, instead of the inmates being inclined to di-
vulge their own infamy, they were doubtless dis-
posed, out of regard to themselves, to conceal their
deeds of darkness. Dut the case with Maria Monk
is very different. She was an inmate of the convent
for years, where she had cvery opportunity of wit-
nessing its abominations. But my readers will see
enough, in all conseience, to confirm Maria Monk’s
statements, in the subjoined extracts :—

 The Dominican Monks, who were members of
one of the most numerous ecclesiastical orders, had
been the scandal of all Italy, during one hundred and
fifty years, for their total corruption: and their di-
rection of the female convents had degenerated into
a scene of the basest profligacy. Long habit had so
acecustomed them to the greatest licentiousness, that
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scarcely any respect for public decency remained.”
—Memoirs of Scipio de Ricci, pages 96, 97, vol. i.

The nuns of Pistoia testified that the monkstaught
them “every kind of vice,” and that they should
look upon it as a great happiness, “that they were
able to satisfy their libidinous desires, without the
inconvenience of children.”

It was necessary to raze {rom the foundations a
monastery and a female convent of Carmelites,
which were in fact joined by means of subterranean
‘passages.—Vol. i. pages 98, 121.

A Hindoo brahmin, having become a Catholic
priest, says: “ The Roman priests in India are like
the bonzes of Japan. The nuns arc the disciples of
Diana, and their nunneries are seraglios for the
monks. They were more often pregnant than mar-
ried women in general. The Jesuits had become
brahmins, in order to cnjoy the privileges of that
caste ; among which were exemption from death
for erime ; and the right of enjoying the favors of
cvery woman who pleased them, it being commonly
received, that a brahmin priest sanctifies the woman
whom he honors with hisattentions.”—Vol. ii. pages
216, 217.

“The monks, confessors of the convents, openly
taught the Tuscany nuns atheism ; encouraged the
most disgraceful libertinism; and filled them with
impurity, sacrilege, and debauchery of the foulest
kinds. Immorality was thus added to profanation;
and corruption brought forth impiety. By tolera-
ling these crimes, the pope plainly announced his
indulgence of them; and by encouraging the com-
mission of those iniquities, he became an accom-
plice.”—Vol. ii. pages 263, 264.

15#
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“The false or forged virtues of the monks and
nuns, are but a tissue of hypocrisy, and a stimulant
to the most odious vices. The institutions called
Virginales, were schools of corruption and licen-
tiousness: and the sci-disant tribunal of penitence
is the constant source of infamous wickedness, by
those impudent jugglers, whose authority depends
on the blindness of man. The monks, the nuns,
their superiors, and even the pope himself, not only
tolerated thesc disorders, but took no mecasures to
arrest the infidelity and impiety of those who were
daily adding new victims to their atheism and in-
ordinate voluptuousness.”—Vol. ii. pages 276, 277.

But enough of such filth ; for it is filth of the dark-
est die; and such as ought not to be named, did not
the cause of humanity, virtue, and religion, demand
it, for the same reason that the Son of God divested
the ancient scribes and Pharisees, the embryo pro-
totypes of Romish priests, of their hypocritical
robes, and thus enabled the people to see that they
were “FULL OF DEAD MEN’S BONES, AND OF ALL UN-
cLEanNEss. —dMatt. xxiii. 27. The Saviour knew
that there was no other way to destroy the supersti-
tious vencration with which the Jews regarded their
priests, just as the Catholics, only in a much higher
degree, regard theirs. The naming of such vices,
should be regarded as an evil, the object of which
is the removal of a much greater onc; just in the
sense in which many a medical prescription is an
evil, atgolutely necessary, however, to be adminis-
tered, in order to remove disease, and secure health.
The unqualified condemnation, therefore, of this
mora.l rpedicine. on the ground that some writers
deal in it too freely, is as absurd as it would be to



MARIA MONK’S DISCLOSURES. 175

condemn the “healing art,” because unskilful men
abuse it.

Before leaving this subject, I wish to add a single
remark further. And that is this: That all the vices
spoken of by Maria Monk as practised in the Hotel
Dien, (yea, and more too,) are abundantly inculcated
by the standard writers on morals of the order of
Jesuits. If uny man wishes proof of this assertion,
Iwould refer him, among others, to Paschal’s Pro-
vincial letters, a work of undying celebrity. Pas-
chal was himself 2 Roman Catholic, but opposed to
the Jesuits.

According to these moralists, a priest may com-
mit lewdness on the ground of self-gratification;
and then on the ground of self-defence, or defend-
ing his reputation, he may lawfully murder, deceive,
lie, and swear falsely, or employ others to do the
same for him. I know that these principlesarehor-
rid beyond conception. But they are true; and I
hold myself pledged to prove them, giving chapter
and verse, if the priests, in any responsible manner,
have the audacity to deny them.

Who, then, after reading the preceding part of
this chapter, can seriously question the general
truth of Maria Monk’s statements respecting the
character of the Canadian priests and nuns? Espe-
cially when it is recollected, that a large portion of
these priests are foreign Jesuits, expelled from for-
eign countries, as an order of men too infamous to
be tolerated by civil governments. They have been
expelled, as an order of men, from almost every
country in Europe, by Catholic as well as Protest-
ant governments. Ilence they come in swarms to
the North American continent, bringing along with
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them their ill-gotten gain, by which they build col-
leges, churches, nunneries, &c. The “disclosures”
of Miss Monk, therefore, are unquestionably true,
and they would be substantially true, even if it
should be proved that she had never been a nun in
the Hotel Dieu. This is the opinion of the mass of
the Protestant people in Canada. It isto be hoped,
therefore, that the testimony of Maria Monk will no
more be disbelieved on the ground that she disclo-
ses practices so abominable, as to cause virtue to
hide its blushing face at the very mention of them.

In conclusion, I will mention two facts, which
ought not to be forgotten. 1st. A large number of
the Canadian priests are Jesuits, from France: and
2d. The fact that when Bonaparte broke up the con-
vents in France, bones of murdered infants were
found in great abundance. Can itthenbe supposed,
that the French Jesuits are any better in Canada,
than they were in France?



CONCLUSION.

Waar then is the result of the whole matter 2 We
bave, in the first place, examined the “ Awful Ex-
posure,” published in defence of the Canadian priests
and nuns; and have found it to be an entire failure}
nay, we have found it to furnish strong evidence, in
confirmation of Miss Monk’s claims to public confi-
dence. Thus also in reference to every attempt made
by them, for the same object. We have, in the sec-
ond place, briefly noticed the principal arguments in
.support of Miss Monk’s claims to our confidence, as
an ex-nun, derived from a consideration of her in-
capacity to have acted the part of an impostor—of her
mipute and extensive nunnery knowledge—of her
tomparative ignorance of other matters—of the marks
on her person, produced by the infliction of penance
and nunnery violence—of the forlorn condition in
which she was first discovered in New York—of her
supposed dying penitential confession to the Rev.
Mr. Tappin—of her consistent conduct with the de-
mands of her supposed truth—of the internal evidence
of her book—of the moral impress, stamped on her
mind—of the testimony of others, direct and indirect
~of the failure of her opponcnts in their varied at-
tempts of sell-defence—of revelation, reason, and na-
ture—of the past history of the Roman priesthood
and convents. And now, I reiterate the question,
what is the conelusion ? Is there a particle of ground
for suspense 7 It so, what is it? Is there a single
Pusition, taken by her opponents unswept away 2 If
%, let it be named. .

But, perhaps, some wiil say, after all, there isa pos-
sibility of her being false, of her being an impostor,
#0d of course. af the nrinstc and nuns being innocent
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of the crimes charged upon them. Yes; there isa
possibility in the cas2; and so thereis a possibilit
of her heing changed into a “pillar of salt.” But
is there any probability of it? 'The ground of ration-
al conclusions, is not possibilities, but probabilities.
When gentlemen, ia their reasonings, substitute the
former in place of the latter, they place themselves
beyond the limits of reason. ‘

‘With reasonable men the casc is different. It is
believed that the foregoing arguments are sufficient
to establish them in the belief, that Maria Monk is
pot an impostor, but is truly what she professes to be,
and that she has told substantially the truth, respect-
ing the nunnery. Such will readily perceive the im-
portance of the * Awful Diselosures,” as a means for
opposing the conventual system, as also the spread of
popery.

Let Protestants, then, act reasonably in appropri-
ately using them for these objects. Let them remem-
ber the deplorable state of more than one half of
Christendom, in consequence of popery. Let them
look at wretched starving Ireland. Let them behold
bleeding and distracted Spain, as well as South
America. Let them constder the iznorance, poverty,
and oppression, of papal countries in general. Let
them call to mind the condition of Canada; a vast
majority of whose inhabitants are so ignorant, as to
be ncapable of either reading or writing their names.
They are sunk not enly in ignorance, but in vice.
Intemperance abounds to a fearful extent, the priests,
their spiritual guides, setting them the example. Let
the American people especially, open their eyes upon
their own beloved country, and see with what rapid
strides, popery has been spreading itself, for a few
years past, over the length and breadth of the land.
Let them count the number of its churches, mass-
houses, convents, colleges, academies, and newspa-
pers, all devoted to the dissemination of a religion
which is fundamentally hostile to every thing that is
truly American. Let them count the number of its
ggjy':ct:!e:‘,]s_lé (:f them marshalled and kept in the most

Jection to these foreign Jesuits; ready to
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go anywhere, or to do any thing which their unprin-
cipled leaders may direct. And then, let them 1e-
member, ghat the God of their fathers has put into
their hands, this powerful instrumentality, with
which they may oppose and break the unholy power
of the Roman priests in their country. |

Before closing, T wish to offer a single remark re-
specting the following work of Miss Monk. It has
been written by the same worthy gentleman that
penned her first volume ; and great care has been cx-
ercised in writing it, to give to the community nothing
but the simple statements of the authoress. The
subject matter is hers. With relerence to this point,
I speak with the more confidence, from the fact, that
it has been written, since she came to reside with the
people of my pastoral charge.

And now, in conclusion, I would guard the public
against being misled by the deceptive arts of Roman
priests. They undoubtedly will do something torth-
with for the purpose of weakening the napression,
which the following * Disclosures” are adapted to
make. They will be ready perhaps, to swear that they
are a transiation {rom some old Portuguese work ;
ot that there never was such a priest as the murdered
L’Esperance ; or that there is no such place as the
Island described 5 or, perhaps, it being in the dead of
the winter, when a visit to Capada and such an ex-
amination of the nunneries, subterranean Fassages,
8eminary, and the Black Nuns’ Island, as has been
proposed to muke, would be attended with extreme
dificulty, they may possibly offer a compliance with
the conditions, specified by the meeting, held in New
York, in August, 1836. “A bewildering flourish of
some sort or other will unquestionably be made ; but
itis hoped that the community will remember the
deceptive tricks heretofore practised on them by the
priests, and that all further ones will be disregarded.
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Tue following pages contain disclosures
relating to various persons and scenes, many
of which were not alluded to in my former
volume. Some of these facts I did not consider
important ; and of others 1 felt a strong reluc-
tance to speak. I have at length come to the
cenclusion to add thus much to the facts I have
laid before the American public, under a belief
that it is likely to prove useful.

Since the greater part of the following pages
were prepared for the press, my character and
the truth of my book have been strongly at-
tacked by several persons. 1 do not cntertain
any unkind {feelings towards such as inay be
honest in opposing me, nor do I fear the result;
for I know I am speaking the truth, and they
will soon become convinced, and acknowledge
their error.

I have only to offer to my opponents the
following chapters, in which they will find
more facts to meet, new scenes and personages
to explain or justify. If they should accuse
me of deriving these also from the Montreal
Magdalen Asylum, I hope they will not keep
@he place closed, nor disperse or conceal the
Inmates, as they have done since they publish-

:gres:’?h a charge against the « Awful Disclo-



PART I.

ACCOUNT

OP

THE ATTEMPTS TO ABDUCT

MARIA MONK.

CHAPTER 1.
Discouragements and Difficulties attending the first Publication of
my Book.

I nave had various trials to undergo since my
escape from the Nunnery, many of which I have
particularly stated in the sequel of my Narrative,
which is contained in the last editions of my “ Aw-
ful Disclosures.” Other trials, however, have been
my :portion, some of which may have arisen in part
from my want of acquaintance with the world, and
others from the peculiar situation in which I was
placed, among persons as ignorant of me, as I was
of them. I have met with none, or at most but very
few indeed, who were at first prepared to believe my
story; and some have long remained incredulous,
at least in part. The doubts expressed by respect-
able persons around me, have often given me ex-
treme pain: for they always intimated want of con-
fidence in me.
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Besides, I have sometimes had to feel very kecn-
ly the effects of my self-conviction; for, in more
than one instance, I have heard disparaging re-
marks thrown out by the inconsiderate or unfeeling.
Perhaps it is not to be wondered at, then, in spite of
the resolution I had formed, of making known
my experience to the world, if I should have felt,
at some periods, a desire for retirement and tran-
quillity, in some place, no matter how humble, ‘
where I micght be free from trials like these.

At a period a little preceding the publication of’
the first edition of my book, I was much disquieted
by the circumstances in which I found myself I
felt extremely uncertain what reception awaited me,
and supposed that in case public incredulity should
vender the sale of my book very small, I should be
involved in heavy pecuniary responsibilities, with-
out the remotest hope of deliverance. What the '
laws of the country might condemn me to, in such
a case, [ knew not; but I sometimes apprehended
they might be severe.

Now, while I was in such a state of mind, I re-
ceived a letter, which excited my curiosity in an
uncommon degree. I had directed the penny-post
to bring to my lodgings any letters addressed to
me, because several intended for my hands, had
veen lying a long time in the Post-office. He left
one for me one day, dated in New York, written in -
Canadian style, half French and half English, and
signed F. P., which I, of course, understood for the
initials of Father Phelan, the father of my child.
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I presumed, at the first sight, that the letter must be
a forged one, for I could not persuade myself that
Father Phelan would visit New York, at so incle-
ment a season, or that he would invite me to hold
an interview with him. Yet, on the other hand,
the style and language of the letter, as well as the
signature, reminded me strongly of him; and my
curiesity was excited, to discover who it could be,
that had made so good an imitation. The letter
invited me to go, between the hours of two and
three, to the corner of Franklin Square and Ferry
street, as the writer had something important to say
to me,

I thought there could be no danger in going
there, to see who the impostor might be; and the
distance being short from my lodgings, although
the weather was bad, I went. Near the corner I
saw a man, whom I immediately recognised. It
was Father Phelan; and he accosted me with
mildness, told me he had something of importance to
say to me, but wished to avoid observation, and pro-
posed that I should go somewhere to a more retired
spot,. Without much reflection, I consented to ac-
company him, making a resolution, however, to
keep on my guard, feeling some dread of placing
myself in his power.

We proceeded to a very considerable distance
from the place of meeting, he asking questions, and
making remarks about my Disclosures, &c.; and
at length he pointed at a house, which he proposed
to enter, that we might converse at leisure. I, how-
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ever, pointed at another, which had a shop, and
looked something like an inn, and told him I would
not object to entering there. He consented; and
we seated ourselves in a room which was shown.
us, I telling him, that I would not trust myself in his
power, as I had reason to fear the consequences, but
that in that place I was not afraid of him. He spoke
as if disposed to quiet my apprehensions; and then
entered into a long conversation, in which he show-
ed that he was well acquainted with the contents of
the affidavit I made in Montreal, in August, 1835,
and which was left in the hands of Mr. Ogden, the
King’s Attorney. He, it appeared, must have had
it in his possession, although it had been retained
against 1y will, and I had not been able to regain,
it, after presenting it as a ground for judicial inves-
tigation.

He made different inquiries about my plans and
intentions, and spoke of my intended publication
with much solicitade, but in such a manner as to
show that he supposed it contained nothing more
than the manuscript he had seen. He remarked
that the priests in Canada did. not blame me for
what I had done, being' disposed to throw it all on
my advisers. He said he was glad T had not men-
tioned his name in speaking of the death. of St.
Frances: and in another case, in- which also I had
cal]e.d him a priest. He would rather not have it
published that he was engaged in either of these
scenes.

He inquired whether I had any difficulty in get-
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ting the work published. I told him that in the
present state of things, money was wanted to carry
it on, which I had not at my command. The ste-
reotype plates had not been paid for. He immedi-
ately said, that he would supply me with money, to
alarge amount if I wished, if I would let him have
the plates. I did not refuse this offer, for, at the
time, I did not know that I should ever be able to
publish the worl, nor was I sure that it would be safe
for me to do it, on the one hand, or useful to the
world, on the other. It was evident that the pros-
pect of getting possession of the plates, raised great
hopes in his mind; and he showed much earnest-
ness in pressing his request. It appeared to me,
however, that he had a very erroneous idea of the
importance of this object; for he seemed to think
that if he could once get the stereotype plates, the
work would be effectually and forever suppressed;
whereas I could at any time have prepared an-
other.

Although Father Phelan had invited me to an
interview, on the pretence that he had something of
much importance to me to communicate, our con-
versation took such a turn, during most of the time
I was in his company, that the promised informa-
tion was left out of view. He several times advert-
ed to things in Canada, but told me nothing of much
importance of any thing there. Once or twice also,
he spoke of our child: but in such terms as to dis-
please me very much, making some such expres-
sion as this, that he would rather it should have its

ll
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brains knocked out, than be brought forward as a
witness against him.

The only thing I can recall, which might be con-
sidered as any thing like the important information
he had said he had to communicate, was his declara-
tion that those in whom I confided, in New York,
were not my friends, bat in reality my enemies.
Of this he gave me no evidence, and of course 1
was not much disposed to rely on his word: yet I
felt, as I had often done, that there was then but
few, very few, who entirely relied on my story, or
who seemed disposed to treat me with kindness
and friendship. Whatever I might think of those
around me in New York, however, I would not al-
low myself to confide in him so far as to be put off
my guard; and I let him clearly understand, that
although I was willing to talk with him, I was de-
termined to regard him with caution and suspi-
cion.

After a long interview, we parted ; with an agree-
ment to meet on a fature time at a particular place
where I was to acquaint him with my determination
concerning the sale of the stereotype plates. On the
same day, I intimated to one of my acquaintances,
that I knew how to obtain money, if it was thought
best, in exchange for the plates; but this caused an
alarm among those who felt interested for me, and
measures were soon taken which rendered the
assistance of Father Phelan quite unnecessary.
fom. . oy 1 oy o b Lo

) was beyond his reach,
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which nppeared to produce a momentary regret;
but he soon remarked that that was a matter of no
very great importance, for there was to be a publi-
cation in opposition to the work, as soon as it should
appear, which would prevent the people of the Uni-
ted States from believing it; and besides, if I would
leave New York, return to Canada, and reside
there, as he wished me to do, I could come out
with a public denial of it, and that would have all
the effect he could desire.

Soon after this time I changed my residence, and
stayed a while at Wehawken, in New Jersey, op-
posite New York. As I occasionally visited the
city, he found opportunities to meet me several
times, in different places. Ie sometimes requested
me to see him again, always professing to have
something more to say to me. It might, perhaps,
be thought, that it would have been more safe, pro-
per, or judicious, in me, if I had refused all inter-
views with him from the first: but I began with a
belief that some one had attempted to impose upon
me; and after I had found it to be Father Phelan
himself, who had come on from Canada, and was
urgent to converse with me, I found no particular
objection to make against another and another in-
terview ; and feeling more and more confident that
he dared not make any attempt to do me injury, or
to get me into his power, while I conducted with
caution, I saw him time after time; and if any one
is to suffer from this publication of it, it seems to be
bimself rather than I. Whatever my readers may
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think of my prudence or imprudence, however, they
will not forget that I have had little instruction, in
the course of my life, in the opinions and customs of
society, out of the Convent; and I am telling facts,
not undertaking to apologize for what has hap-
pened.

I will therefore proceed to remark, that when
Father Phelan proposed a place for meeting me, it
was commonly a different place from that where we
had met last, and I uniformly refused to meet at the
place proposed, and chose another. Always when I
went there, I found he had taken his station ata
distance from it, where he could observe my ap-
proach, and that he always seemed to discover me
a considerable time before I saw him.

He informed me one day, that there was a priest
with whom he had been conversing, who wished to
see me, and asked my consent to an interview. I
refused, and so resolutely, that although he appear-
ed to wish it, he soon ceased to urge that request,
but proposed to let him stand at a distance, so that
he might see me, while we were conversing to-
gether.

Father Phelan wrote me a letter, while I was at
Wehawken, enclosed in one superscribed to the
person at whose house I stayed, requesting me to
meet him on one of the occasions above referred to.
It was not signed; but I knew the author from the
hand, and other internal evidences. After my re-
turn to the city, and while in a retired situation in
the upper part of it, near the Dry Dock, he sent
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me another letter, by two boys, in which he desired
that I would meet him at a particular corner near
the Park, at nine o’clock; and although I was not
on the spot till about eleven, he eame up and accost-
cd me, and prevailed on me to take a turn down
Spruce street, and one or two others, while he
communicated some requests witk. much cogency.
There was, he said, a woman in another part of the
eity, somewhere above Broadway and Canal street,
who was much disposed to: befriend me, and in whom
1 might place entire confidence.  He recommended:
to me to go and see her, and to take up my abode
with her, as T should be sure of good treatment.
He added that the lady was much more a friend to-
me than to him; which led me to suppose that she
did not fully confide in the character of priests, and
was suspicious of his intentions towards me. What
he said was calculated to male me thinlk she might
be one of those Roman Catholic women, who know
something of what I know, and at the same time
that she possessed humanity enough to afford me
aid and protection, while she credited my story. ¥
refused to visit the house he Indicated to me; but
the character he gave of the lady, I did not forget.
This was the last time I saw Father Phelan.
When we separated, he requested me to sce him
again, near the same place: but I did not comply
with that desire. A considerable time afterwards,a
letter was brought to my lodgings, by two boys,
which bore some marks of his; but I am unable to
say with certainty, whether he was the writer or not.
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L am not sure of the precise time at which he
left New York; but I believe it was not far from that
period. Such was the state of my feelings arising
from the perplexities attending the preparation and
publication of my first editions, that I sometimes felt
great uncertainty about the course I ought to pur-
sue. I sometimes feared that my pecuniary affairs
might become seriously embarrassed, and apprehend-
ed that one or another individual might yet involve
me in great difficulty, in case my bool should prove
unsuccessful, as I sometimes thought it would.
Being very ignorant of the laws, as I before remark-
ed, I for a while lived under the impression, that
[ might be at any time imprisoned for debts I had
not yet the means of paying. The incredulity of
many Protestants with whom I met, often weighed
heavily on my spirits, and led me to ask myself, to
what purpose was I disquieting my mind, and ex-
citing the enmity of the priests; when some of those
whose -benefit T wished to promote, seemed as sus-

picious of my motives and as hostile to me as those
whom I denounced.
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CHAPTER II.

Reception of my first editions by Protestauts—Newspaper aspersions
and opposition—Depression and discouragements—Wish 1o retire
into obscurity with my infant—Mecasures taken to effect my desire.

THE violent denunciations of my book which I
read in several Protestant newspapers, and the ma-
lignant and often unfounded attacks made by some
of them against the few persons'who had first be-
lieved my tale and befriended me, helped to depress
my spirits : while the Montreal affidavits contained
several things that greéatly wounded me. Some of
those documents cast the most unfounded aspersions
upon my character, which it was impossible for me
at once to remove by opposing evidénce, from the
very nature of the case; and these, I had no doubt,
must have produced 1mpressmns on the minds of
some honest people, unfavorable to me. But none
of these causes gave me half as much pain as the
affidavit of my mother. That long paper, (which
the' reader will find in the Appendix to the new
editions of my * Awful Disclosures,”) contained so
many aspersions of my character, and was written
in such a spirit, that I knew not which must suffer
most in the opinions of the virtuous, my parent or
nyself. Those who have feeling, will probably
10t wonder that . in such circumstances poor Maria
Monk should sometimes have felt a ‘great indiffer-
mnce to passing scenes, and even to lif¢ itself.  Cer-
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tainly, [ think some excuse will be found in them
for my frequent change of purpose and varying
views of things.

An incident occurred about this period, which led
to some painful thoughts. A woman, in a plain
black dress, and accompanied by a boy, obtained an
introduction to me one day, by making fair repre-
sentations to some of my friends, on pretenceof hav-
ing been converted from the Roman faith, after re-
ceiving an education in a Convent in France. She
said she had always entertained a high idea of the
sanctity of nuns, and could not be persuaded to doubt
it, by any of her friends, until she had read my book,
which she was now unable to disbelieve, on account
of the internal evidence of truth which it presented.
She wished to converse with me, and put a few
questions, that her mind might be a little further en-
lightened.  She was therefore introduced, after giv-
ing her namne and address, which was that of a
teacher of a private school in the lower part of the
clty.

This lady having expressed a wish to sec me in
private, we withdrew for some time, during which
she said some things which led me to suspect her
being a Roman Catholic in disguise. She put sev-
eral questions to me, which I think must have been
put into her mouth by some priest. From other
expressions, I became convinced that she knew much
of nunneries. She then turned to ask some ques-
tions about my infant, and remarked, that she could
not bear to sce the child of a priest—she thought it
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a pity it should live—it would be a kindness if some-
body would take it out of the way—she could hardly
keep her hands off from it—she wished its neck was
wrung. 1 began to be somewhat agitated, and was
glad to get back into the other room among the
family. But there, strange as it was, she repeated
ove or two of these expressions about my child; yet
left a piece of money in its hand on going away.
The impression this interview left with me, was
painful, although so unintelligible was the stran-
ger's conduct.

She afterwards made me two or three calls, when
she seemed still more wild and crazy than before:
for she once brought a young man with her, whom
I never saw before nor since, but whom she told me
the had induced to consent to marry me, urging me
to take him without delay for a husband. 1 an-
swered the woman very shortly, but it did not dis-
.courage her. One of my friends soon afterwards

.called at her school, and informed her that she could
not be again admitted to see me; when her appear-
ance and manners were so equivpcal as to excite
some suspicion that she had some project in view,
but nothing further has ever cometo our knowledge
in relation to her.

Bince I have spoken so much at length on the
state of my feclings about that period, I may add, that
the recollection of scenes in the Convent still con-
tinued at times to distress me.  Although it appears
to be gradually diminishing, it has not yet entirely
passed away ; and about the period of which I'speak,

0
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it was more vivid than it is at present. I still occa-
sionally revert to one event and another which I
have there witnessed, and sometimes review soms
of the circumstances through which I have passed,
at different periods of my life, with distressing fecl-
ings. [ kavealso reason to believe, that some super-
stitious ideas inspired in early life, are not easy to
be entirely eradicated, even after the judgment has
been convinced of their erroneous nature. _

As an evidence of the excitability of my fears in
sleep, I may mention, that a female friend who
lodged in the same bed with me about the time of
which I was speaking, waked me one night from a
most distressing dream. She inforined me after-
wards, that on coming to bed after I had fallen asleep,
I sprung wildly up, seized her, and with the appear-
ance of extreme terror, enddivored to throw her
from me, and to avoid her. When she had succeed:
ed in waking me, it was a long time before she
could compose me. I had been dreaming that the
priests had me again in the Black Nunnery, and
were just laying hold of me to inflict upon me
some dreadful punishment. Some time in the last
spring, I was informed by a young Canadian,
whom I had formerly known, and with whom I
had several times met within a few weeks in New
York, that a man had arrived from Montreal who
had expressed a desire to see me. ~He had repre-
sented himself as a firm believer in my * Disclo-
sures,” and as being in possession of facts calculated
to eorroborate them, which he was detorred from
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publishing merely by a regard to a branch of busi-
ness in which he was to engage on his return home.
I consented to an introduction, as did those friends
with whom I commeonly consulted in such cases;
and he made me several calls, in which he conversed
at first in 2 manner corresponding with what I had
been led to expect. But on one or two occasions,
when no one else was present, he intimated senti-
ments of a different nature,and expressed suspicions
of the motives of my Protestant friends. He also
threw out remarks which led me to suspect that he
had had intercourse with some of the priests before
leaving Montreal. 1 was displeased with his appa-
rent duplicity, and gave him little encouragement to
proceed: so that if he had any project, he did not
make it known to me.

Not long after my last interview with Father
Phelan, and when I presumed he must have been
gone back to Canada, I formed the resolution one
day of calling on Mrs. B, of whom he had spoken
in such favorable terms. I found the house in
which she had lodgings without difficulty ; and, on
introducing myself to her, met with a very kind and
friendly reception. I had been afraid to go there
wit8 Father Phelan, or during his stay in the city,
even alone, because it was a place he had recom-
mended, lest some plan might have been formed to
get me into his power. I never, I believe, thought
of going to any house which he proposed, without
the reflection that I might have my mouth stopped
with a plaster, or in some other way.
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Mrs. B. expressed great interest in me; and her
friendly reception induced me to speak of my own
affairs and feglings with perfect frankness, in a pric
vate interview she gave me in a room by ourselves.
When she heard my expressions of anxiety about
the results of my publ}c.mon she advised me to pro-
ceed no further, but to give up all. And this she
urged, not on the ground that it would injure the
priests, but merely as what was expedient for myself.
She did not question the truth of any part of my
ared to admit and believe
itall, and to entertain feelings of great enmity against
the priests. But she remarked that T had done
much, indeed quite as much as anybody could rea-
sonably expect of me; and now I ought to withdraw
from a situation that exposed me to many unpleas-
ant things, and tempted those around me to make
false professions of regard for my interests, that they
might gain something for themselves. She told
me that if I was disposed to live with her, I should
enjoy all the advantages of retirement and comfort,
and she would undertake to ensure me a pleasant
home as long as Ishould wish to remain.

She went on to say, that if I would consent, she
would take a house anywhere out of New Y3k,
and make Father Phelan furnish the money neces-
sary for our expenses, saying, however, that I need
not go to Canada. To all this I objeeted, and then
hinted at a kind offer I once received from one of
my uncles in Montreal, which she said she would
advise me to accept, if I would not agree to her plan.
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She then urged me to bring away my child from my
lodgings, and go directly to her. She was unable,
however, to get any promise out of me; for although
I believed her sincere in her professions of friend-
ship, I felt some fears of trusting myself wholly in
the power of any stranger devoted to the Roman
Catholic faith.

I once conversed with her about my mother's
affidavit. She offered to write to her, as an old ac-
quaintance, to make inquiries on the subject.

[ had another interview with Mrs. B. soon aiter
the publication of my book, when she pointed out
several little things which she considered as inaccu-
Tate or inconsistent ; and when the Montreal affida-
vits came out, she told me they would probably ruin
the work, by convincing the public that it was false.

I had some conversation with her, some time sub-
sequently to this, on the expediency of having some
mun to take charge of my affairs; when she pro-
posed her husband. When I objected to him as a
person unknown out of his immediate sphere, she
seemed displeased ; and when I mentioned the name
of a clergyman who I thought might possibly un-
dertake the task, she expressed anger, and said if I
trusted him I should be a beggar—it would be
jumping from the frying pan into the fire—and she
went on abusing me in rather severe terms. She
went indeed, so far, that I left the house, telling her
I would never return; but she called me back, and
explaincd a little, wishing to remove unfavorable
impressions from my mind.

2‘
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CHAPTER Il

Letter from Father Phelan to a friend—His propositions relterated—
A letter from my uncle—His arrival In New York—Interview witn

him.

SoME time after this, (how long I do not know
with precision,) I received an invitation from Mrs.
B. to call at her house. I complied, when she
showed me a letter from Father Phelan, in which
he invited me to go to Canada. I examined the let-
ter, and had reason to believe it was from him, partly
because it contained an expression, (*cher ceur’—
dear heart,}in the first sentence, which was alluded to
atthe close as a mark of its genuineness, and which I
felt confident no person but he would have used, as
it was one which he had often introduced in conver-
sation in the Nunnery.

Mrs. B. then told me she had received a reply to
her letter to my mother, in which she declared that
she had neither written nor signed the affidavit
which was published as hers ; but that she had been
prevailed on by the agency of some of the priests to
allow it to go out uncontradicted—some person hav-
ing written and published it in her name. She then
produced the letter and showed it to me; and I re-
cognised my mother's handwriting, which is very
peculiar, and almost impossible to be mistaken.
She, however, refused to let me carry away either
of the letters.
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Bhe then urged me to apply to Father Phelan,
and, notwithstanding my unwillingness, wrote an
answer, which she insisted on my signing, though it
contained nothing that appeared to me of much im-
portance. On other occasions she showed me more
than one letter from Father Phelan, in which some-
thing was commonly said of me or my affairs; but
during all this time I maintained an unshaken reso-
lution never to trust myself in his power, or to con-
fide far in any person who I might suspect of being
confederate with him.

It happened, that owing to circumstances similar
to some I have before detailed, some time in the
month of May, 1836, I made up my mind, that I
had better withdraw, if pessible, from the excitement
and trials to which I had been so long subject, and
retire into obscurity in some country place, where I
might spend my life unknown. I thought that I
had perhaps done all my duty—I had revealed as
much as would be believed. In this strife of mind,
I naturally recalled a flattering offer made to me by
an uncle one day, in August, 1835, during my visit
to Montreal, after my exertions to bring my charges
to a legal investigation had failed. I thought I
might safely apply to him. Iaccordingly wrote
him a letter, requesting him, if he could, to come to
New York and remove me to some retreat such as
I have described ; and taking it to Mrs. B's, asked
her to forward it for me to Canada. This was a
step which Father Phelan had never proposed or
even hinted at; and one which, I presumed, he
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would not be likely to approve of. It was one
which I thought would effectually secure e from
the power of the priests, of whom I felt as much
dread as ever. If Father Phelan had even made
the most distant suggestion in favor of it, that al?ne
would have been sufficient to deter me from decidlflg
upon its adoption. Mrs. B. took my letter with
readiness, and promised to forward it to Canada.

After a few days, T called again, when Mrs. B.
gave me a letter from my uncle, in which he ac-
knowledged the receipt of mine, and expressed.hls
willingness to comply with my wishes, but said I
had written in such a manner that he apprehended
I might change my mind, and wished me to write
again if I adhered to my intention. " He added, that
he had sent on money, and Mrs. B. could accompany
me part of the way to Montreal. I wrote again,
accordingly, repeating the former request, but de-
claring that I could never consent to trust myself in
Canada, and received an answer to that letter also,
in which my uncle still expressed doubts of the firm-
ness of my purpose, and requested that I would still
write once more, saying, on the receipt of my letter he
would immediately set out for New York. From
the time when I made up my mind pretty decidedly
to go, I began to speak of it freely with some of my
New York friends; but they opposed me, and ar-
gued with me against it.

I happened to call once more at Mrs. B's, too soon,
as I knew, for my last Jetter to bring him from Mon-
treal, when her sister told e my uncle was already
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in town. I replied that I could not believe it; soon
after which she said he was in sight in the street,
and a person entered- directly afterwards, whom I
recognised as him. My feelings almost overcame
me. Whatever was the cause, I was quite unable
to speak, and could hardly stand. His unexpected
appearance in so sudden a manner, filled my mind
with many painful thoughts and apprehensions ; and
Iimmediately began to realize that I had in fact a
great repugnance to a step which I had before con-
sidered as easy and pleasant. Some of my friends
had solemnly warned me against trusting myself in
the power of any one {rom Canada, without some
good security ; and the thought of what might be my
fate in case I should, when too late, find my confi-
dence betrayed, quite overpowered me. Atthe same
time, the sight of a person just from Montreal, re-
vived many of the most distressing recollections. I
was able at length to master my feelings, and en-
gaged in conversation with my uncle.

He spoke as if he expected to take me off without
delay, and appeared surprised when 1 expressed a
doubt of being ready immediately.  After conversing
together for a time in the house, we walked out, and
conferred at leisure on several topics interesting to
me. He told me, that although he had at first
thought only of having me with him at his residence
near Montreal, as [ preferred not to return there,
he was willing to change his abode; and would.re-
move to Vergennes, in Vermont, if I chose. . Being
a bachelor, he could easily change his residence;
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and he was willing to repeat to me the propositions
he had made to me while in Montreal last summer,
viz. to support me and my child for life, give me
the care of his household, in place of his house-
keeper, without requiring me to contradict any thing
[ had said, although I had now published a book, and
then had only made an affidavit. The only condition
he would require of me, was, that I should henceforth
be silent about those things which had given me so
much trouble, and never publish any thing more
about the Nunnery. He seemed to think that I
should thus save myself much vexation and anxiety;
not intimating at all that he wished me to be silent
on account of the priests, whose part he did not pre-
tend to take. So far, indeed, was my uncle from
appearing as their advocate, that he cursed them
whenever they were spoken of, and seemed to have
not much better opinion of them than I had.

He spoke also of my book, and of the measures
taken ia relation to it, as well as of my being a ward
in Chancery, with such familiarity as to surprise me.
He informed me that he had made many inquiries
on these subjects, mentioning bookstores at which
he had called, individuals with whom he had con-
versed on different points, without letting them sus-
pect who he was, and documents to which he had
had access; and claimed to know more of some of
my concerns than I did myself. All this showed a
great interest in me; and I naturally attributed it all
to his regard for his unfortunate niece. He told me
that the result of his inquiries into my affairs, was,
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that I had placed too much confidence n several
persons, who, under fair pretences, had gained great
udvantages to themselves; and from that time after-
wards, he occasionally threw out insinuations against
some of those whom I had most confided in, with
the mention of circumstances to which he gave an
unfavorable aspect. This might arise, I thought,
from his partiality for me, and I was disposed to
excuse him, as he was not acquainted with those
persons, and I could not prevail on him to be intro-
duced to them.

Before my uncle parted from me, he told me I
might say, if any of my friends inquired about him,
that he was soon going to New Haven for nine days.
He went to within a short distance of my lodgings.
and then appointed to mecet me the next day at a
house in Chrystie strect, where I understood lodged
a Miss F., a friend of Mrs. B. Some of my friends
whom I informed of my interview with my uncle,
were incredulous, thinking it was not himself, be-
ing apprehensive that some plan was on foot to get
me into the power of my enemies. They therefore
began to put some impediments in my way, object-
ing to my leaving home, and endeavoring to amuse
me in the house. The next day, however, I called
at the house indicated by my uncle, where I found
Miss F. in company with my ypcle and two other
men, one of whom, a tall man, somewhat lame, I
recognised as Mr. F, her brother. This man I had
occasionally scen in my childhood, at my mother’s,
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in Montreal, but never knew much about him, or
whether he had any profession.

His sister, who is a mantuamaker, is a Canadian
by birth and education, and has numerous and re-
spectable family connexions in Canada. One of her
«cousins, I know, is a priest; and I might have said
the same of Mrs. B. How long Miss F. has lived
in New York, I do not know. She boards ina
Protestant family, as I soon discovered, as he re-
-quested us to speak nothing but French, for fear
might become known to those in the house.



MARIA MONEK. 25

CHAPTER 1V,

Asrival of several Canadians—Interviews with them.

L 11ap but a short interview with my uncle that
day, and soon returned home, without speaking to
either of the other men. 1 asked him, however, who
they were, and he informed me that they had lately
arrived from Canada, on a mere visit. I inquired
whether they came with him; and I now remember
that he did not answer, but spoke of something else.
The next day, as I was walking in that part of the
city, [ was met by those two men, who addressed me
with cordiality ; saying, they had learned from my
uncle that I intended to leave the city and live with
him, They said he was a good man, and they
thought it would be a wise step on my part. I
should by all means accept of his propositions; but
I ought to avoid the Catholics. « But,” said I,
“what are you but Catholics?” They smiled, and
answered, “ Ah, but e are not such as you need to
fear—we don’t count ourselves Catholics.”

They told me that my uncle would perhaps want
.to see me occasionally, if I did not go at once; and
proposed to fix on some way in which he might
give me information. They thought the best means
would be by writing, and leaving a note in some
safe and convenient place. They said it would be
_better not to have my uncle introduced to my friends,

3
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because they would probably wish to prevent my
departure.

All this time they did not urge me to go, but con-
stantly spoke of my journey as of what I had freely
determined on, and on which they would not influ-
ence me, except so far as to express their approba-
tion of my decision, and to say, that the sooner I
went, the better it would be for me, Before they left
me, they mentioned that one or two other Canadians
were in the city, whom they thought 1 might like
to see. 1 made no objection to seeing them, as they
said they felt a friendly interest in me, and would be
pleased to have an interview.

- They told me also, that while I Temairied where
I was, they, as well as my uncle, would feel much
anxiety for me, and would wish to be assured of my
welfare very frequently; for they had so' bad an
opinion of those whe professed so much friendship
for me, that they believed théy had very evil designs,
and would be glad to murder me. I could not per-
suade them that this was out of the* question, and
they insisted that in order to satisfy them, they must
have some way in which they could ascertain from
?img to time whether T was still in my present lodg-
ings, and alive and well. They “proposed that I
should spend much of my time in my chamber, the
wim}gyyl_:of which they got me to point out to them ;
a'nd"to appegf at it whenever I might see my uncle or
either of the{r} passing. In case they had'any writ-
ten communication to make to me, they would raise
their hands in passing, two or three times; or, if the
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rainy weather continued, they would open their um-
brellas once or twice, as a. signal, so that I might
take an opportunity to visit the spot agreed on for
the deposite of their notes, and so ascertain where
and when they might wish me to speak with them.

I had made up my mind so decidedly in favor of
leaving New York, and placing myself under my
uncle’s protection, that I gave several of my friends
distinctly to understand that such was my intention,
as I have before stated. Fearing that their mis:
judged kindness (as I then considered it) might
raise embarrassments in iy way, 1 however did not
intend to communicate to them the exact period
when I intended to leave them. Indeed, I did not
myself agree with my uncle on any precise day and
hour, until a few days beforehand. He passed my
lodgings on Sunday, the 22d of May, and stopped to
converse with me. Wethen pitched upon Wednes-
day, the 25th of May, a1 — o’clock in the afternoon.
At that time [ was to meet him at Mrs. B's; or if
any thing prevented, I was to go where I could
with my child, and such of my clothes as I could
bring with me, when he would be prepared soon to
remove me beyond the reach of pursuit or inquiry.

1 had been under much excitement and disquietude
for many days, and my tsouble only increased as the
period approached. I haddone much totry the friend-
ship of those around me, who had argued with me
against the intentions I had avowed; but their interest
inme was not socooled but they continued to watch me
and take kind precautions to prevent my elopement.
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I did not inform them when I intended to set out
on my journey, but they had a suspicion of it.

I was at liome on the afternoon of Sunday, May
22, and while I was sitting at the parlor window,
my uncle and another man stopped before me
on the sidewalk, and began to talk with me. My
uncle proposed to me to leave the hoise and go with
him. He said, Mr. S. is now in church, you can
come as well as not. I replied that I would not go
without my child. He inquired where it was, and
Itold him a girl had taken it to Williamsburgh. He
made particular inquiries about the time when she
was to return, the way, and the appearance and dress
of the git], to which I readily replied. He then
soon left me, with his companion.

After a time, the girl returned with my babe ; and
of her own accord began to tell us that she had been
much alarmed by the conduct of a man who had
accosted her on board the ferry boat. She described
him in such a way as to convince me that it could
be nobody but.my uncle. He had approached her,
spoke of the child, offered to take it in his arms,
called it his own, spoke to it, played with it, and
was hardly to be prevented from taking it away
from her. She was unwilling to give its mother's
name in the boat, and suppressed it, but refused to
part with {, saying she was not permitted to let a
stranger take it. The man, however, at length be-
came 30 urgent, that she was obliged to tell him
she would certainly call for help if he did not desist.



MARIA MONK. 29

CHAPTER V.

My arrangements to leave New York—Accidental defeat of my plaus—
_ Disappointment—Alarming intelligence—The secret operations of
iny enemles exposed.

Tt

I p1p not inform my friends of the time we had
1igreed on for my departure, for that I feared would
:ntirely defeat my intention. I sometimes felt a little
loubt of the kindness of their feelings, so many
mputations had been cast upon their motives by my
incleand his acquaintances. Even when I believed
hem sincere, T thought they misjudged concerning
ny real interests. From something that took place,
is I'since have learned, my friends were very suspi-
ious that I intended to leave them on Wednesday;
nd they were doubly watchful of me that day.

Knowing my unwillingness to be separated from
ny babe, they felt little uneasiness about my leaving
hem, so long as they had her in their possession;
nd I found an opportunity to go round to Mrs. B's
bout 3 o'clock on Wednesday, to request my
incle to wait for me in a carriage at a near poim,
vhere it would be more convenient to join him in
hree-quarters of an hour. I then set off for home
> get my babe, he accompanying me a part of the
vay. I stopped a little in Grand street, to wait for
n omnibus, when 1 felt a wish to see a family once
10re whose residence was near, and from whom I
ad received many marks of disinterested kindness.
went in and told theft. I had called to take lcave,
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as I expected soon to leave New York. They
were a little apprehensive, as I since have learnt,
that I might then be on the eve of my departure, and
wishing to detain me as long as possiblé; urged me
to sit again when I rose to depart. Their urgency
was so strong that I complied, and twice afterwards
was persuaded again to seat myself At length J
got away, and hastened home to get my infant; but
here I had to encounter a new delay. Two of my
female acquaintances were in the house alone; and
when I entered I hoped they would not oppose my
wishes., To my disappointment, however, they made
decided opposition to my getting possession of my’
child, good-naturedly it is true and with every ex-
pression of interest in her and myself, but so resolute-
ly that T could do nothing. At length, after an hour's’
delay, I got my babe into my arms, and proceeded
to the corner of Avenue D and Houston street, where
Iwas to have met my uncle about two hours before.
He was not there, but I presumed had got weary
of waiting for me, and perhaps becoming suspicious
of my intentions, might have gone away in disgust.

At a corner not far off, I was accosted by three of
the Canadians I have before spoken of, though,
such was the excitement of my feelings, I cannot
remember which they were. They told me my
uncle had been waiting for me at the time appointed,
and that they were willing to go and request him to
wait for me at Mrs. B's, at the same time advising
me to get into an omnibus. They immediately
set off in haste, and T was on the point of fol
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lowing them at once in the first omnibus I could
find, when it occurred to me that I had better return
home a moment for my clothes, which I had previ-
ously arranged to take with me. [ therefore called
in at the house of a woman whom I had occasion-
ally seen, and requested permission to leave my
child there for a few moments, till I could return
home, adding something else which I do not very
distinetly recollect. She not only consented to this,
but expressed a willingness to go and help me bring
away my clothes, when she understood . that 1 had
1o one to assist me in carrying them. Leaving my
child, therefore, we proceeded together to my lodg-
ings; but on reaching them, I found that my depar-
ture with my infant had caused much excitement
among my friends. One of them had already gone
to the police to prevent, if possible, my departure
from the city ; and the news had been communicated
to some of the newspaper offices, under the full persua-
sion that I had been unsuspectingly decoyed into the
power of my enemies, and that, if I were once got out
ofthe city, I should probably never again be heard of.
The two kind females whom I again found alone
in the house, were therefore rejoiced to see me
again, but they were much more resolute than before
In opposing my wishes. One of them stepped out
and called her brother to her aid, who promptly
came, and interposed such impediments to my leav-
ing the house that I found myself again disappointed,
and compelled, though at the time with pain and re-
gret, to abandon the plan I, as well as others, had

taken such trouble to accomolish.
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I afterwards learnt that some of my friends, who
had heard from me that my uncle and other persons
from Canada, were making arrangements for my
departure from New York, had eonsulted on having
them apprehended. Application was first made to
one of the city magistrates, but he gave it as his
opinion that whatever suspicion might be had, there
was not evidence enough to act upon. A lawyer
was consulted by another of my friends, who recom-
mended the immediate adoption of measures for their
apprehension ; in consequence of which, he applied
at the upper police. The magistrate, after hearing
the state of things, thought the cireumstances very
strong, and that they gave room to presume that a
serious plet had been formed to get me away. He
called the next day to converse with me, accompa-
nied by another person ; but when he had considered
the circumstances at leisure, he remarked that they
appeared to have kept just within the bounds of law,
and never to have transgressed, so that they had not
committed any overt act which might have rendered
them amenable. He expressed surprise at the evi-
dence he found of their caution, and said it was
clear to him that they had been acting under first
rate advice.

I confess that it was pleasing to me, that they
were-not to be proceeded against; for it was painful
to think of having persons arrested on a high
charge, with whom I had so recently been on terms
of apparent mutual confidence.

Ustill continued firm in the belief that the propo-
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sitions made by my uncle, and warmly approved
by the Canadians I had so often met, were in
good faith, and dictated by a sincere interest in my
welfare. I fully belicved their story, as they had
repeatedly declared it, viz.: that the plan originated
with my uncle when I was last in Montreal; that
neither his Canadian companions nor any one else
had known of it, or had any interest in carrying it
through ; that it was entirely owing to accident that
my uncle had met with any of his acquaintances in
New York; and that the pains they had taken to in-
duce me to accede to his wish, grew out of their
friendly disposition towards me.

An occurrence took place, however, a short time
after the events which I have natrated above, which
produced a sudden and very powerful change inmy
feelings. An evening or two after the disappoint.
ment of my plans, a gentleman called on me, with
whom I had been acquainted for several months,
and in whose character 1 had reason to place entire
confidence. Fe made some remarks, and asked
three or four questions which filled me with sur-
prise. I at once perceived that he had some know-
ledge of the Canadians I had conversed with, which
nobody but an intimate acquaintance could have
:ommunicated. It is not my design here to convey
1 particular account of this interview, as the time
1as not yet arrived when it will be proper to do so.
[ will only add, that in a few sentences my friend
ntroduced scveral expressions which had fallen
fom the lips of the Canadians in my hearing, and
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alluded to a few circumstances to which they also
had alluded ; and although both the expressions and
the circumstances would have been, of themselves,
unworthy of any serious regard, in the eonnexion
in which they came up, they convinced me, ina
most serious and cogent manner, that I had but just
escaped a deep laid and dangerous plot. One sub-
ject to which allusion was thus blindly made was
the same to. which the Canadian already mentioned,
had alluded in a private interview with me. 1
shuddered; for I saw, to my own entire conviction,
that the seventeen Canadians, instead of being my
friends, and merely casual visiters in New York,
had come here only for the purpose of inveigling
me back into the power of my enemies; and that
they had been for many days practising profound
duplicity merely for the purpose of deceiving me.
Even if this, though strongly indicated, was not in
fact fully proved, yet I had unquestionable evidence
that the person from whom the questions proposed
to me had proceeded, must be intimately acquainted
with the character and intentions, the motives and
plans of the Canadian troop—and I turned, with the
deepest solicitude, to my friend, to inquire what infor-
mation he had of them and their operations. To
my questions he replied, with solemn declarations
that I had barely escaped frem a plot which had
been long maturing in Montreal ; and that the indi-
vidual primarily engaged in directing its accom-
plishment, had acted under the promise of a reward
of fifteen thousand dollars in case of success.
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CHAPTER VI,

Recollectlon of several things which happened at different periods~—
Records made by me of my “ disclosures”—My first opinion of Mise
Reed’s book—Intention to confess while in the Bellevue Asylum—
Interview with 2 New York lady ahout to become a nun.

SincE the publication of my first edition, I have
had different things brought to my memory, which
I had forgotten while reviewing in itthe past scenes
ofmy life. Some of these have presented themselves
to me while meditating alone, by day or by night; and
others have been brought to mind by conversing with
others. I have seen a number of my former acquaint-
ances, and in my interviews with them, my memory
has often been refreshed on one subject or another.

During a conversation { had in March last, with
Mr. John Hilliker of New York, who by so kindly
persisting in taking me from my exposed retreat,
saved my life as I believe, and introduced me to the
Almshouse, he recalled to my mind a paper which
I held in my hand when he found me in a field. 1
did not mention that paper. in my Sequel, because I
did not think of. it.. He.mentions, in his affidavit,
that I refused to let himn see it, and tore it in pieces,
when I found he was resolved to remove me. I
had made up my wind that . I was soon to die. In-
deed, although I have felt unwilling to declare it
heretofore, my intention had been to dic by starva-
tion, in the lonely place where I had taken my
abode. Sometimes this resolution fuiled me for 1
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time, and I would cat, and even send the little boy
who visited me, to buy a few cakes. Sometimes, also,
I thought of destroying my life by other means; but
still thinking it would have some merit in the sight
of God, to disclose the worst of the crimes I had wit-
nessed in the Nunnery, I determined to leave behind
me a record which might be picked up after my death,
whenever and however that event might come upon
me. Itherefore one daysent T'ommy to buyme some
paper; and, understanding I wanted to write, he
brought me an inkstand and pen, as I believe from
his mother’s house. I wrote a brief statement of facts
upon the paper, and folded it, I believe, in the form
of a Jetter, after siguing it, as I think, with my Chris-
tian name only, *“ Maria.”” This was the paper which
Mr. Hilliker endeavored to obtain, and which I tore,
to prevent it from being seen, when I thought death
was not so near as 1 had supposed.

‘The -Sunday before the birth of my child, I again
wrote, with similar feelings, and in a similar style,
and hid the paper. But I afterwards took it again
and burnt it.

While I was in the Asylum, a gentleman who
had Miss Reed’s book, (* Six Months in a Convent, )
read some passages in my presence, which irritated
me so much that I spoke to him with passion, and
I fear almost insulted him. I had never heard of
such a person or such a book before, but I believed
every thing I heard, because it cor responded withmy
own experlence, so far as it went; but I thought, at
that moment, that it was wrong to mal\e known such
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things to the world, as it was calculated to injure
the Church: in such an unsettled state did my
mind continue to be for a-considerable time. It was
perfectly evident to me, however, that the institution
where she was, must be materially different from
the Black Nunnery, as it was far from being so
close, or governed by such strict rules. She also
had been in it too short.a time to learn all; and be-
sides, being only a novice, it was impossible that
she should be fully acquainted with many things
which are communicated only to nuns.

While I was in the Asylum, I had once made up
my mind to confess to Mr. Conroy, after receiving
his invitations and threatening messages, being
strongly urged by some of the Catholic women
about me. It happened, most fortunately for me,
that I was befricnded and advised by an excellent
woman, Mrs. Neil, who took great pains to instruet
and influence me arightt When I had decided on
obeying the summons of the priest, Mrs. Neil came
in, and having ascertained my intention, urged me
to reflect, and impressed it upon my mind, that I
was responsible to God, and not to man, for my con-
duct, and that his power and authority over me were
only pretended. I believe T had then sometimes
more confidence in priests than in God Almighty.
Bhe assured me that I had rights, and had friends
there who would protect me. I then determined
motto goto Confession. )

I have generally found it easier to convince
Catholics than Protestants of the truth of my story

4
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if they come to me with doubts or even unbelief.
Since the first appearance of my book, I have re-
ceived visits from a great number of persons in con-
sequence of what they had seen or heard of its con-
tents; and among these have been a considerable
number of Catholics. While I am able to say that
I have had the satisfaction of removing all doubts
from the minds of some Protestants whom T have
seen, I must confess that in general I have received
the greatest satisfaction from interviews with iatelli-
gent Catholics. Fhe reason of this is, that I know
better how to treat the latter in argument. Having
been one myself, I know where their difficulties
lie, how to appeal to their own minds, and how
to lead them to correct conclusions. Perhaps Ican
best convey my meaning to my readers, by giving a
brief account of some of the interviews alluded to.

There is an interesting little girl whom I have
repeatedly conversed with, (the daughter of an igno-
rant Catholic woman,) who has enjoyed some of the
advantages of instruction in the scriptures, and sub-
mits with extreme reluctance to the ceremonies
which her mother requires her to perform, in com-
pliance with the requisitions of her priest. She be-
lieves my book, and she has reason for it. She has
acknowledged to me, though with shame and relue-
tance, that, when compelled by her mother to confess
to Father **** in his private room, he has set with
his arms around her, and often kissed her, refusing
money for the usual fee, on the plea that he never
requires pay for confessing pretty girls. He told
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her the Virgin Mary would leave her if she told of
it. His questions are much the same as I have
heard. All this I can believe, and do believe. I
need not say that I tremble for her fate.

During the first week in March, 1826, I received
a visit at my lodgings in New York, from a young
woman, of a Protestant family in this city, who had
received a Roman Catholic education. She called,
as [ understood, at the urgent request of her mother,
who was exceedingly distressed at her daughter’s
intention to enter a Canadian nunnery.

Part of our interview was in private; for she re-
quested me to retire with her a little time, where
we might be alone; and I found her intention was,
by certain queries, to satisfy herself whether I had
ever been a Roman Catholic. She inquired if I
could tell any of the questions commonly asked of
women in the Confession box, «nd on my answer-
ing in the affirmative, she desired me to repeat some,
which I did. This satisfied her on that point; and
I soon became so far acquainied with the state of her
mind, as to perceive that she was prepared to avoid
the influence of every argument that I could use
against the system to which she had become at-
tached. )

She confessed to me, that she had given five hun-
dred dollars to the Cathedral, and a considerable
sum to St. Joseph’s Chureh, and that she had decided
on entering a nunnery in Canada. I inquired why
she did not enter one in the United States.  To this
she replied, that she had ornly one objection; her



40 ATTEMPTS TO ABDUCT

Confessor, Father Pies, having told her that he
would by no means recommend the latter, and
greatly preferred the former, because the priests had
entire control over the Canadian nunneries, which
they had not of those in the States. This, and
some other parts of our conversation, took place in
the presence of other persons: and on hearing this
declaration of the priest, the motive of which wasto-
us so palpable, a lady present laughed outright.

While we were alone, on her expressing a doubt
of the erimes I have charged upon the priests, 1
said, but you admit that they have said and done
such and such things, (which I do not like to re-
peat.) She signified assent. Then, said I, how can
you pretend that any thing is too bad for them todo?
I also said, you admit that they have asked you in the
Confession box, whether you ever wished to commit
bestiality. Shereplied, “ Yes; but if we have not evil
thoughts, there is no harm.” “You admit that they
have treated you with great familiarity at confes-
sion?” She replied, that she confessed to her priest
while he sat in a chair, and that he had; «but,”
said she, “ you know a priest is a holy man, and can-
not sin.”  And when I pressed her with another
question, she confessed that her priest had told her
she could not be sanctified without having perform-
ed an act commonly called criminal, and replied in a
similar manner. :

She was ashamed or afraid to assert her full
faith in some of the doctrines she had been taught,
when I loudly and emphatically demanded of her
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whether she did indeed credit them. This was the
case with her in regard to the pardon of sins by
priests, the existence of purgatory, or a middle
place, &c. She spoke of ‘these and other subjects
as if she believed in them: but when I said, « Do
you believe it really and truly ?—you do "’ she in-
variably faltered and denied it.

She spoke of my * Disclosures’”” as untrue ; and I
got it out of her, that she had conversed with her
priest about me at Confession, who had assured her
that I was not myself, not Maria Monk, but an evil
spirit, in short, the devil in the form of a woman.
After considerable conversation, however, she ad-
mitted that my book was undoubtedly true; but still
she refused to do; as I told her she ought after say-
ing what she had, come out and be a Protestant.

She informed me that her Confessor had a
great desire to see me, and inquired if I would
consent to an interview. I replied, that I would
readily agree to see him, in the presence of Dr.
Brownlee, but not alone; and she went away with-
out leaving me any reason to hope that she had been
released from the power of superstition, or had any
intention of gratifying her mother, who was so
deeply distressed at the prospect of her daughter’s
ruin.
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PART II.

FURTHER DISCLOSURES.

CHAPTER 1L
Recollections of my Noviciate in the Hotel Dieu Nunnery. Miss Du~
rangeais

WauiLe I was a novice, there was a young lady
of our number from the Tannery,* named Ange-
lique Durangeau, with whom I was somewhat ac-
quainted, and of whom I had a favorable opinion.
She was about eighteen, and at the time of her en-
trance had every appearance of good health. Af-
ter she had been there a considerable time, it might
be about seven months, (as I know she was not near
the period when she could make her general confes-
sion, that is, at the end of the first year,) I saw her
under circumstances which made a strong impres-
sion on my mind.

I had received a summons from the Superior to
attend in the Novices’ sick-room, with several other
novices. When I entered, I found Fathers Savage
and Bonin reading a paper, and Miss Durangeau
on a hed, with a look so peculiar as quite to shock

* A village a few 1niles from Montreal.
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me. Her complexion was dark, and of an unnatu-
ral color, her laok strange, and she occasionally
started and conducted very singularly indeed, though
she never spoke. Her whole appearance was such
as to make me thinle she had lost her reason, and
almost terrified me. The Superior informed us that
she wanted us as witnesses; and the priests then
coming forward, presented the paper to Miss Duran-
geau, and asked her if she was willing to give all
her property to the church. She replied with a feeble
motion of the head and body, and then, having a pen
put into her hands, wrote her name to it without
reading it, and velapsed into apparent unconscious-
ness. We were then requested to add our signa-
tures, which being done, we withdrew, as we enter-
ed, I believe without the sick novice having had any
knowledge of our presence, or of her own actions.

A few hours afterwards I was called to assist in
laying out her corpse, which wasthe first intirnation
[ had of her being dead. The Superior, myself,
and one or two other novices, had the whole of this
melancholy task to perform, being the only persons
admitted into the apartment where the body lay.
It was swelled very much. We placed it in a cof-
fin, and screwed on the cover alone. On account of
the rapid change taking place in the corpse, it was
buried about twenty four hours after death.

Not long after the burial, to brothers of Miss
Durangeau came to the Convent, and were greatly
distressed when told that she was dead. They com-
plained of not being informed of her sickness: but
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the Superior assured them that it was at the urgent
request of their sister, who was possessed of so
much humility, that she thought herself unworthy
of attracting the regard of any one, and not fit to
be lamented even by her nearest friends. “ What
was she,” she had said, according to the declara-
tions made by the Superior, “what was she that
she should cause pain to her family ?”

This was not the only occasion on which I was
present at the laying out of the dead. I assisted in
three other cases. Two of the subjects died of con-
sumption, or some similar disease; one of whom
was an old-country girl, and the other a squaw.—
The latter seemed to fallaway from thetime when she
came into the nunnery, until she was reduced almost
to a shadow. She left to the Convent a large amount
of money.

Several stories were told us at different times, of
nuns who had gone into a state of sancnty in the
Convent. One, who had excited much attention and
wonder by prophesying, was at length found to be
in such a condition, and was immediately released
from the duty of observing the common rules of the
Convent, as the superior considered her authority
over her as having in a manner ceased.

It was affirmed that many priests had been taken
to heaven, body and soul, after death.

The following story I was told by some of the
nuns and the superior while I was a novice, and
made a considerable impression upon my mind.—
After catechism one day, a dove appeared in the
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room while the nuns were kneeling and engaged in
prayer. H addressed one of the nuns and the Supe-
rior, not only in an audible voice, but in a string of
French rhymes, which were repeated to me so often
that Ilearnt them almost all by heart, and retain seve-
ral to this day.

“Un grand honneur je vous confere,
* Aussi a vous, la Superieure.”

These were the first two lines. Inthe sequel the
dove informed the audience that in eight days the
spirit of the nun should be raised to heaven, to join
its own, and that of other souls in that blessed place;
and spoke of the honor thus to be conferred upon
.the nun, and on the Supcrior too, who had had the
training of one to such a grade of holiness.

When the day thus designated arrived, a number
of priests assembled, with the Superior, to witness
her expected translation; and while they were ali
standing around her, she disappeared, her body and
soul being taken off together to heaven. The win-
dows had been previously fastened, yet thesc offer-
ed no obstacle, and she was seen rising upward like
2 column moving through the air. -The sweetest
music, as I was assured, accompanied her exit, and
continued to sound the remainder of the day, with
such charming and irresistible effect, that the usual
occupations of the nuns were interrupted, and all
joined in and sang in concert.
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CHAPTER II.

Story of Ann, the Scoteh Novice—Letters of her lover—The Superior's
deception—-Miss Farnes-—Ann’s deterimination to leave the Convent
—Means taken to persuade her to stay.

TueRE was a young girl, named Ann, who was
very stou. and rather homely, but not of pleasing
manners, though of a good disposition, seventeen or
eighteen years of age, to whom I took a liking.
She was a novice with me, and the time of which I
am to speak, was not long after I returned from St.
Denis. The Superior also displayed a partiality for
her, and I found she was much in favor of having
her received as a nun, if it could be accomplished.
She was very handy at different kinds of work; and,
what I believe chiefly induced me to regard her
with kindness, she was a fatherless and motherless
child. She had a beau in town, who one day
called to see her at the nunnery, when she was
going to confession.

I was with the Superior at the time, who, on be-
ing informed that the young man was there, and of.
his errand, requested me to go into the parlor with
her, to meet him.  He put into the Superior’s hands
a parcel and three letters, requesting her to give
them to Ann. She took them, with an expression
of assent, and he withdrew. Just as he had gone,
Ann came hurrying into the parlor, saying that
some one had told her that the Superior had sent for
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her. The Superior rebuked her sharply, and sent
her back, without, however, showing her what she
had promised to give her. Ann said, that she had
understood a young man (mentioning her visiter)
had called to see her. This the Superior denied,
telling het never to come till she was wanted.

When Ann had gone, the Superior told me to go
with her to her room, which I did. She there first
made me promise never to tell of what she was go-
ing to do, and then produced the letters and package,
and began to open them. One of the letters, [ re-
member, was folded in a singular manner, and fast-
ened with three seals. In the parcel was found a
miniature of the young man, a pair of ear rings, a
breast pin, and soinething else, what, I have now for-
gotten. The letters were addressed to her by her
lover, who advised her by all means to leave the
Convent. He informed her that a cousin of hers, a
tailor, had arrived from Scotland, who was in want
of a housekeeper; and urged her to live with him,
and never renounce the Protestant religion in which
she had been brought up.

I was surprised that the Superior should do what
I felt to be very wrong and despicable; but she re-
presented it as perfectly justifiable on account of the
good which she had in view.

I considered myeelf as bound to be particularly
obedient to the Su];erior. in order that I might make
my conduct correspond with the character given of
me to her, by Miss Bousquier, who, as I have men-

tioned in the sequel of my first volume, had shown
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me an evidence of her friendship by recommending
me to her, and becoming, in some sense, responsi-
ble for my good conduct, to induce her to receive
me back into the nunnery. This was a strong rea-
son for my complying with the Superior’s wish in
the case of which I am speaking.

Since I have alluded here to the period of my re-
turn to the Convent, I may remark that the Superi-
or took some pains to ascertain, by her own inqui-
ries, whether there was substantial reason for reli-
ance on the favorable opinion expressed to her of
me by Miss Bousquier. I recollect particularly her
inquiring of me whom I had conversed with, while
at St. Denis, to persuade them to enter the Black
Nunnery: for Miss Bousquier, I understood, had
mformed her that I had shown my attachment to the
Hotel Dieun, by making favorable representations of
it while with her engaged in keeping school. To
the Superior’s inquiries I replied, that I had urged
little Gueroutte to become a nun. She was the
daughter of Jean Richard, as he was familiarly
called, to distinguish him from a number of other
men of nearly the same name: for he had exten-
sive family connexions in that place, He lived op-
posite Miss Bousquier, so that I had had frequent op-
portunities to converse with his daughter.

But not to detain my readers longer on this di-
gression, I will return to my story and poor Ann,
the Scotch girl.  Having received particular instruc-
tions from the Superior, I promised to endeavor to
get into her confidence, for the purpose of influen-
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cing her to take the veil,and to proceed in accord-
ance with the directions given me. The Superior
told me by no means to male any approaches to her
at once, nor indeed for some time, lest she should
suspect our design; but to wait awhile, until she
could have no reason to think my movements might
have grown out of the circumstances above mention-
ed: for Ann appeared to be uncommonly penetrating,
as the Superior remarked ; and of course much cau-
tion was necessary in dcaling with her.  Some time
subsequently, thercfore, 1 cannct tell exactly how
long, I engaged in conversation with her one day,
in the courve of which she remarked that Mizs
Farns, a confidential fricnd of hers, who had spent
a short time in the nunncry some time hefore, was
soon eoming back.

This Miss Farns had come in on trial, while I
was in the Convent, and I had ofien heard the Su-
perior say, that she must be separated from Ann,
because they were so much together, and so often
breaking the rules. Ann now told me in confi-
dence, that her friend was coming back, not with
any real intention of staying, but only for the pur-
pose of giving her some information favorable to her-
gelf, which she had obtained. This she wished to
become fully possessed of before she would decide
whether to leave the Convent or not.

All this I communicated to the Superior, who
then began to look for Miss Farns' return, with a
determination to treat her with every appearance of
kindness. She cften, in the meau time, gave me lit

5
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tle delicacies, with directions to share them with
Ann. Miss Farns soon presented herself for re-
admission, and was admitted without any difficulty,
not being required evento change her dress. This
occurred, as nearly as I can recollect, about six
weeks after the affair of intercepting Ann’s letters,
mentioned a few pages back, and somewhere about
the close of summer, or the beginning of autumn.
Being allowed to do pretty much as they chose,
Ann and her friend were much together, and gen.
crally engaged in deep conversation : so that, as the
Superior declared, it was evident they were forming
gomne plan for secret operations. I tried several
times to get near and overhear what they were talk-
ing about: but [ could not learn any thing. The
next day Miss Farns departed, saying she never in-
tended to return; which offended the Superior so
much, that she said she would have the doors shut
if she ever came again.

The same evening Ann requested me to tell the
Superior, that she wished to get her clothes, that
she might leave the Convent. I went to the Supe-
rior’s room, where I found Father Bonin sitting on
the sofa talliing with her. When they were informed
of Ann’s message, the Superior said, she would let
the girl go at once back to the world, and be given
sup to the devil. Bonin argued a good -deal against
“this.  The Superior replied, that she had set the old
nuns at work, but without success; they had net
been able to influence Ann as she desiu.zd; and it
avas a shame to keep such a creature within holy
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walls, to make the flock discontented. At length
she decided on the course to pursue; and turning
to me, said : take her up stairs, give her her clothes,
yet argue with her in favor of remaining in the Con-
vent, but at the same time tell her, that [ am indif.
ferent about it, and care not whether she goes or
stays.

Laccordingly returned to Ann, and telling her that
she might follow me up stairs and get her clothes,
led the way, and delivered them to her. In obedi-
ence to my orders, I lost no time in representing
her intentions to depart from our holy residence as
an insinuation of the devil; and told her that he
was trying his best to draw her out into the world,
that he might secure her for himself. I told hexthat
he had a strong hold upon her, and she ought to use
the greater excrtions to resist his temptations; that
the Superior thought it might be better on the whole
if she departed, because her influence might be very
injurious to others if she remained; yetthat T felt a
decp interest in her, and could not bear to have her
perform her intention, because I well knew that her
throwing off the holy dress that she then wore, to
take her former one, would be the first step towards
damnation.

“You need nottalk soto me,” replied Ann, “you
have done the same yoursell”” Itoldherthatif I had,
I had lived to regret it, and was glad to get back
to the Convent again. After a while an old run
came up, called me aside, and said the Superior
wished me to continue talkine with Ann; and,
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case I should prevail with her to remain, to make
her go down and beg pardon for the scandal she
had caused by her conduct, and ask to be taken
back again into the flcck of the good shepherd, as
the Superior was often called.

IPoor Ann at length began to listen to me; and I
gother to repeat to me all that Miss Farns had said to
her during her tte short visit to the nunrery. The
amount of it was, that if Ann wonld come out at
dusk, and go to a particular house, she would find
her relations waiting for her, who had arrived from
Scotland—they were, if I mistake not, her brother
and cousin. Having prevailed upon her to break
hier engagement to meet them, I scon persuaded her
to go down stairs as a penitent, and there she hum.
bly kneeled, and in the wsnal manner kissed the
feet of the Superior, and a'l the novices, and begged
and obtained a penance, which was to serve as an
atonement for her offecnce. This was, to fast three
mernings, ask forgiveness of all her companions on
the same days, and perform acts of contrition.

That evening the Superior called me to tea in her
own room, when I told her all that I had learnt from
the confession of Ann, who I knew was fasting at
the time. When the Superior understood the plan
proposed by Miss Farns, she spoke of her in very
gevere terms, and then commended me, saying that
I ought to rejoice at having saved a soul from hell,
but ought to guard against pride, as T had accom-

plished what T had undertaken only by the help of
the Virgin Mary.
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Ann continued to behave as she had promised,
and we heard nothing more of any attempt by her
friends to get her out of the nunnery. Not long
after, however, she was taken sick, and [ ascertain-
ed, from observation and inquiry, that the cause of
it was her discontentment, as she complained of
loneliness. I felt compassion for her, and told the
Superior that T thought she ought to be treated with
more leniency. She said she would get some of
the old nuns to talk with her a little more.

Ann was received, in due time, as a nun. ] was
not present at the ceremony, but I afterwards met
with her, and several times had a little conversation

with her.
5’
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CHAPTER III.

Miss Ross.—Our carly acquaintance.—Her request

Tuere was a girl whom I knew from a child, a
Miss Ross, the recollection of whom gives me deep
pain: for I know toowellthat T have been the cause of
great misfortunes to her. I remember being with
her at different times in my early days. After our
family removed to Montreal, and had our residence
in the Government House, we often had calls from
persons of our acquaintance, as many were fond of
walking in the garden, or green, as we commonly
called it.

Such of my readers as have visited that city will
be likely to remember the place of our residence:
for the Government House, of which my mother is
still the keeper, is of very large size: (I have some.
times heard it spoken of as the most ancient in
Amertica.) It was said that the foundation stones of
that and the old French church were laid on the
same day, as recorded. The gatewa¥ is of stone,
and it is furnished in a manner becoming the resi-
dence of the Governor of the Province. The gar-
den and green are of great extent, and present fine
walks and flowers; and as the former overlooks
the esplanade, to which it is adjoining, it was a favor-

ite resort on Sunday afternoons, when the troops are
on parade.
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Miss Ross, I recollect, one evening in particular,
paid e a visit with a Miss Robinson; and we
amused ourselves together in the green.  Her moth-
er lived a little out of the city, ncar the Lachine road.
She was a Scotch lady, and possessed a large pro-
perty.  When Miss Ross grew up, she became at-
tached to a young man of my acquaintance, and in-
deed a relation of my mother; but when it became
known, she found her mother very much opposed
to her wishes.

While T was a novice in the Hotel Dieu, Miss
Ross came in ag one; and we had frequent inter-
views together, as our acquaintance still continued,
and indeed we had always been friends.  She be-
came informed of my design of taking the black
veil—[ presume T must have told her of it myself;
and one day she told me, that she hnd sometimes
thought of becoming a nun, butstill felt but little in-
clination that way; yet she requested me to do her
the favor to inform her how I was pleased with
that mode of life, after I should have been in long
enough to form an opinion. If I thought she would
be happy as a nun, she desired I would frankly in-
form her; and if not—as I was acquainted with her
disposition—that I would warn her against it.  We
often conversed on the subject afterwards; and it
was repeated, and plainly understood between us,
that T was to tell her the exact truth, as she would
probably be guided entirvely by my opinion in the
course she would adopt.

I went through many preparatory steps before my
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admission, as I have mentioned in my first volume,
took the veil, and passed through some of the scenes
which I have before spoken of, before I ever partica-
larly reverted to the request of Miss Ross, so far as
I now can remember. One thing, however, I here
stop to mention, which I omitted to say in my first
volume, and which I might forget hereafter, viz:—
that soon after my admission as a * Received,” the
Superior gave me the charge of her room, that of
the old nuns, and the adjoining community-room;
and thus kept me for about three months in a degree
more separate from the other nuns, than I should
ctherwise have been. This brought me more into
intercourse with the Superior, and in the same pro-
portion made some other nuns regard me with jeal-
ousy : for some of them occasionally, in some way
or other, would express dislike towards me. Per-
haps this state of things the more disposed me to
confide in the Superior.

After I had been a nun for some weelcs, 1 cannot
tell exactly how long, Irecollect thatas I lay awake
one night, I began to think of Miss Ross, and to re-
call the conversations we had held together in the
novices’ apartment. All at once it occurred to me
that I might probably do a great benefit to myself,
an honor to the nunnery and to true religion, as
well as save her, by inducing her to take the black
veil, especially as she had so much property to add
to the funds. At the same time the thought present-
ed itself to my mind, that by so doing I should gaina
very exalted place in heaven for myself: for I had
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already heard a great deal said, and had repeatedly
read the same in our book, that to bring a persen
intoa Convent, was one of the highest kinds of mer-
it I'soon made up my mind to communicate to the
Superior all I knew; for although I questioned at
once whether it would not be shameful and sinful to
betray the confidence of my friend, this was easily
got over, by the thought of the vast benefits to result
from it, especially to herself.

The next day I told one of the old nuns that I
wished to spealc with the Superior: for as this was
commonly required, and nuns could oot go into her
room without leave, I conformed to custom. I was
soon admitted, when Itold her all Miss Ross had
said to me, and added, that I wished to get her to
take the veil. I apologized for my private conver-
sations. She said they were perfeetly justifiable.—
Ithink I never saw the Superior express more sat-
isfaction than she did on the receipt of this intelli-
gence.  She appeared overjoved; listened to all I
had to say with great attention, and highly appro-
ved of my proposition. When I informed her of
Miss Ross's attachment to young ————, she repli-
- ed that that might explain the state of hier mind; for
the old nuns had for some time spolien of her de-
pressed appearance, and she had mentioned at con-
fession that something lay very heavy on her mind.

The Superior appeared froin that moment to de-
vote her whole attention to the consideration of the
subject. She seemed for a time almost lost in
thought; and remarked to me, * We must consider
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this matter; we must consider the best way to bring
her into the nunnery: for some persons are harder
to get out of the devil’'s power than others. After
a little time she told me I should be sent to read the
lecture to the novices, and she would tell the old
nuns to allow me to converse with Miss Ross, which
they would not let me do, as I well knew, without
her express orders, as it was contrary to the rules.
She then told me many things to say to Miss Ross,
and some of her instructions she repeated to me, so
that T might not be at a loss when I should converse
with her, no matter what objections she might raise.

Among other things which I most distinctly re-
collect, she told me to assure ber, that as to the hap-
piness of a Convent, no person could possibly be
more happy than nuas; for there we were assured
of the favor of Giod, and of heavenly enjoyments af-
ter death ; that while inthe world, other young wo-
men would draw us off’ from our duty, and occupy
our minds with thoughts that would do us harm:
there we were exposed to no such dangers. The
sinfulness of vain thoughts might appear to us very
trifling, but it was very different in the sight of God;
and how could we hope to resist the temptations
surrounding us in such a manner in the world?
If she made any allusion to her attachment to the
voung man before mentioned, the Superior told me
to declaim against it, as an abomination to think of
such a thing in the nunnery ; that I could not con.
verse with her if she spoke of it again, as nota
proper person. If she appeared to hesitate at my
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proposition, I was to tell her solemuly, that my offer
was a direct invitation from Jesus Christ to become
bis spouse, which could not be rejected without
great guilt.

The Superior told me that T should be richly re-
warded if I succeeded. She thought I would soon
be made an old (or confidential) nun; and she would
give me a most precious relic, with a piece of the
heart of Mary Magdalen, and intereede for me with
the Virgin.

After I had listencd attentively to all these in-
structions received {rom a woman to whom I looked
with unbounded respect avd veneration, I Icft her,
prepared to put them into practice to the best of my
ability, much excited with the hope of accomplish-
ing what I thought a truly great and meritorious
act, and one that would ensure the salvation of my
friend.

The reader may perhaps here recall the disclo-
sures I have heretofore made, of the crimes 1 had
witnessed, and the sufferings I had undergone before
this period of my convent life, and wonder how 1
could possibly have been so far deluded, as really to
believe what I was thus prepared to say. Such,
however, is indeed the truth; except that I must
allow, that my conscience repeatedly disturbed me,
and seriously too, with the suggestion that I should
be guilty of direct deception, if I said, either that I
was happy in the Convent, or that I had at all times
unshaken faith in any of the declarations T was
about to make. More than once, too, I was shock-
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ed at the idea of deceiving my confiding young
friend. But as I believed what I had been so often
taught, about the virtue of deception in certain cir-
cumstances, I did my best to smother my scruples.

The promised arrangements were made by the
Superior; the old nuns were instructed not to inter-
rupt any conversation they might witness between
Miss Ross and myself, and I was directed, at the
appoiated hour, to read the lecture. 1 thus easily
found the opportunity I sought, and was soon with
Miss Ross, while the old nuns appeared very busy
in another part of the room, and unobserving.
Though under a repested promise to reveal to her
the state of my mind, now that I had been long fa-
miliar with the secrets of the nunnery, I most cau-
tiously guarded myself, and assumed what did not
belong to me—the appearance of one devotedly fond
of the institution.

I told her that I had now been long enough a
«Received” to be able to express an opinion; and 1
must inform her that we lived a most happy life
within the institution ; that I would urge her, as a
friend, to take the veil, and withdraw from that
world which was so full of temptations. To this
she lent a very serious ear; and I saw that my
words produced a solemn and saddening effect upon
her feelings.  She replied that she felt quite undeci-
ded what to do. She scemed solicitous to be still
farther assured of the happiness I had spoken of as
enjoyed by the nuns.

When she touched that subject, I addressed hex



MIS8 ROSS, 61

exactly after the manner directed by the Superior,
and speaking rather harshly, inquired of her, * Do
you condemn the Jife of a nunthen?” Sheinstantly
answered, * No ;" and she easily admitted all I said
about the attention paid to the comfort of those in
the Convent. *But,” said she, « my mother is very
much opposed to my taking the vcil; she is a wid-
ow, and you know e are bound to honor and ohey
our parents—nature teaches us that” The Supc-
rior had furnished me, in French, with an answer
to this objection; and as we were accustomed to
converse in English, I had only to translate her
words, which were,

“ Les droits de nos parens ne sont pas devant les
droits de notre religion.”

“The claims of our parents are not beforc those
of our religion.”

# T shan’t be anun!” said she, with determination.
I talked with her, however, some time, and she be-
gan again to listen patiently.

[ thenadded, that Christ had commanded us to *for-
sake father and mother” to be his disciples, and that
we must have trials and tribulations before we could
enter the kingdom of heaven. She told me that she
felt then less inclined to the world than she had wher
we had last conversed together; but at length she
alluded to Mr. « Never mention,” [ exclaim-
ed, * such abominations! It is sin, it is defilement
to speak of such a thing in so holy a place as a
Convent.” This I said very much in the manner
and tone which the Superior had used in dictating

6
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itto me. I then added, « Now this 1s the only ob-
stacle which the devil puts in the way of your sal-
vation—and see how he tries more to prevent you,
the mearer you are getting to it. Allthat you have
to do, then, is to resist the more.”

And the repetition of these expressions has brought
to my mind many others which I often heard, not
only about that time, but frequently before and after-
wards. One brings up another; and to speak of
objections that might be made to any of -our hunnery
doctrines, or to hear a question asked about our way
of life, naturally calls to my memory the replies
which were made to them.

“Are you at liberty to buy a farm, and sell it
when you please? No—Then how can you give
yourself to a young man when you please 2’

“ Must we not obey our parents?—Quand les
droits de la religion sont concerné, les droits de la
nature cessent.”

[“ When the rights or claims of religion are con-
cerned, the rights (or claims) of nature cease.”’]

When the question is put to an old nun— What
made you become a nun 2"’ the regular, fixed answer
always is, with a peculiar drawl—¢ Divine love.”
But such things as these, although they come up
very strongly te my mind, may perhaps appear to
be not worth mentioning.

The conversation I held with poor Miss Ross
was much longer than I can undertake to givea
full account of; but after I had over and over again
painted the happiness of a nun’s life in the brightest
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manner [ was able, and assured her that I had never
known blessedness before I had entered upon it, I told
her that I had had some inspirations from heaven,
such as I had never enjoyed before, and that she
would have the same. I also told her with solem-
nity, that she had now received, through me, an in-
vitation from Jesus Christ, 1o become his bride ; and
that if she rejected it, it would be a sin of deep in-
gratitude, and he would reject her from the kingdom
of heaven ; that it was her duty to enter the Convent
as a veiled nun, without regarding the feelings of
her mother, or any other obstacle; and that she was
bound to obtain all the property she could, and put
it into the treasury of the institution.
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CHAPTER IV,

Story of Miss Ross continued—Plan to get her into the Nunnery for
life—Arrangements—Execution of our design.

IT was very easy for me to see that what I said
had a great effect on Miss Ross. I found it impos-
sible, however, to make her promise me to take the
veil. She persisted that she must see her mother
first. Ithen left her, and went to the Superior's
room, where I informed her of all that had passed.
She appeared very much delighted, and treated me
with great condescension and kindness. She said,
however, that we should yet have to do much; for
it was plain to her that the novice had very strong
scruples to overcome—and she added, that the dev-
il's influence was very powerful over some persons.
We must therefore pursue a plan which would re-
quire great caution and skill on our part, but which,
she had no doubt, would prove successful. This
she communicated to me in few words. That even-
ing the Superior told the nuns that she had been
warned in a dream that some one was in great temp
tations, and desired them to say a Pater and an Ave
for her. )

We were to disguise ourselves, and appear to Mis:
Ross, I as Satan, and she as the Holy Mother
Miss Ross must be brought alone, and with solem
nity, to some place where we could carry througt
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the deeeption without interruption, and with the best
effect. The whole of her plan she ecommunicated
to me; but as we had several rehearsals to go
through in preparation, instead of repeating her in-
structions, I had better relate what was done in con-
formity with them.

When we were prepared to go throagh with our
parts, in order that we might become familiar with
them, she gave me an old robe, which she made me
wrap around me, and the devil's cap, head, and
horns, which is kept to scare the nuns, few of whom
know of it. Thus I was concealed, every thing ex-
cept my eyes, and then approached a spot where we
imagined the novice to be lying. I addressed her
in a feigned voice, and invited her to become my
servant, promising her a happy and casy life. In
an instant, at a moment when we supposed her to be
making the sign of the cross, I stopped speaking,
and hastily withdrew. After a short time, I return-
ed, and made other propositicns to her; and then,
after flying again from the cross, again came back,
and promised her, in case she would comply, to
ensure her marriage with the man she loved. I
then retired once more; after which, the Superior
approached, and with as sweet and winning a voice
as she could assume, said that she had listened to
what had passed, and had come to assure her of her
protection,

After I had become familiar with my part in this
sad farce, and acted it to the satisfaction of the Supe-
rior she took measures to have it performed for the

6’
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last time. In this also I had a principal part to per-
form; for I was directed to hold another conversa-
tion with my deceived friend; and, in obedience to
instructions, on Saturday evening took her into the
Examination of Conscience room, and informed her,
that I had been inspired by the Virgin Mary to tell
her, that if she would go into the nuns’ private
chapel, the Holy Mother would speak with her.
I informed her, however, that it would not be at all
surprising if the devil should appear to her, and en-
deavor to prevent her from holding so happy an
interview ; and that if she should be tempted, she
must cross herself, and Satan would instantly leave
her, because he could not withstand the power
of the sign. Then telling her that she must keep
a strict fast on Sunday evening, I informed her,
that on Monday morning I would be with her
again.

In the mean time, the Superior, with the help of
one of the old nuns, Saint Margarite, and myself, had
darkened the private chapel as much as we could,
by means of black curtains, and placed only a sin-
gle light in it, and that a taper, burning by the side
of the altar.  'We also took down the cross, and laid
it on the floor, with the head turned towards the
door, and the foot towards the altar. When all was
prepared, I went to Miss Ross, and conducted her
into the chapel. I told her to lie down upon the
cross, with her arms extended, in the attitude of
the crucified Saviour, which she did; and then bound
her eyes tight with a bandage, all just as the Supe-
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rior had ordered, telling her she might otherwise
see a horrid sight. I then retired by the door, just
outside of which, the Superior was standing ; and
there I was covered with the old robe; for although
it was so dark, the eyes of the poor girl were blind-
ed, and her head purposely so placed, that she could
hardly have seen us under any circumstances, yet
the Superior said, perhaps she might peep a little
and see us. If this plan failed, she said, she must
resort to some other.

We were both completely disguised; and I
had not only the dress on, and devil's cap, but
a slice cut from a potato, and slit in different ways
so as to resemble great teeth, which was crowd-
ed into my mouth. The front part of my cap
had been turned up inside, and I painted my
cheeks with some red paint the Superior gave
me; and she afterwards put on more, thinking I
had not enough.

After T had left Miss Ross m the chapel about a
quarter of an hour, the Superior signified that it was
time to return, and begin my temptation. I there-
fore approached her, and standing a little distance
from her head, repeated some of the words 1 had
been taught; and the circumstances are still most
distinctly before me, so that I remember the words
as if I had uttered them only yesterday. Per-
haps one reason of it is, that every few min.
utes during the whole time, my conscience stung
me severely, so that I could scarcely go on with
my part.
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I

« Are you a fool,” said T, “to be lying there in.
such a posture, for that God of yours? Had you
not better serve me?’ She raised her hand, without
speaking, and made the sign of the cross, saying,
“ Jesu, Maria, Joseph, ayez pitié de moi.” (Jesus,
Mary, Joseph, have pity on me!) I waited no
longer, but immediately retired softly, as if I had
vanished. After standing a few minutes beside the
Superior, just outside of the door, without either of
us speaking, she touched me, and T approached the
poor novice again.

“ Would you not like to come out of this place,”
1 asked her, “and serve me? You shall have
nothing but balls and pleasure of all kinds.” Miss
Ross made the sign of the cress again, and I van-
ished as quickly and silently as before. 1In a short
time I entered again, and told her, « If you will only
leave this nunnery, I will do any thing for you
you wish—1I will get you married to the young man
you love so much.”

Still the poor unsuspecting girl, though doubtless
terrified, made the sign of the cross again and again;
and at length I left her saying “Jesu, Maria, Joseph,
ayez pitié de moi.”" Ithen took off my dress, when
the Superior made me sit down, and signified that
I must not make the slightest noise. She remarked,’
“Well, if this plan does not succeed, I will try foree.”
She then went in and addressed her, in French, in
this manner:

“I am your Holy Mother, (which means the Vir-
gin Mary,) I have been listening to your faithfulness,
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and willadopt you as one of my children. Are you
willing to become one of my daughters? If you
are, you must join the sisters this weel, and make
your vows before another Sabbath passes over your
head; for I am afraid the devil is making great
plansto get you. Butif you have your vows made,
I think you will be safe.”

She then asked her if she was willing to give up
all she had to the Holy Church, and told her, that
unless she would part with all, she could not accept
her. She then promised her her protection, if she

was willing, and retired saying, “ Peace be with
1

you.

In the afternoon I was sent to request her to go
lnto the Superior’s room, as she wished to speak
with her. On entering it, we found the Superior
of the Convent and the Superior of the Seminary
both there. The former addressed her, telling her
that she had had a vision, in which she was told
that the young novice who was doing penance in
the chapel, was acceptable in the sight of God. At
this, Miss Ross appeared quite overjoyed, but scarce-
ly able to speak.

The Superior then told her, that she ought to list-
en to any advice I might give her, for she had entire
confidence in me, and she ought to be guided by my
counsel. She requested her to return to the novices’
department, retire into a corner, and determine what
she would do. She then whispered to me, and de-
sired me to remain with her until the Superior of
the Seminary went away, which I did. She then
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told me to go to Miss Ross again, and coax her to
be received almost immediately.

I went accordingly, and endeavored to get a prom-
ise from her to that effect, but I was unable. She
persisted that she must see her mother before she
could take the veil. I inquired of her the reason.
She replied, that she wished to give to the nunnery
all the property her mother could spare her. 'This
I communicated to the Superior, whe told me to say
that her mother should be sent for the next day.
Her mother came, and had an interview with her,
in which she learnt her daughter’s intentien to be-
come a nun. This she opposed to her utmost; but
all the arguments and entreaties she used, were
utterly vain—she could make no impression. Her
daughter had wished to see her only to tell her that
such was her resolution, and to request her to deliv-
er her that afternoon, all the mcney she intended
ever to give her. Phe widow retired—the money
was sent—Miss Ross took the veil on the Wednes
day merning following, and brought a large contri
bution. I was not present at her reception; and ]
do not think it necessary to say any thing further or
a subject, which is, and ever must be, all my life, one
of the most painful with which I have had any con
nexion. I will only add, that although I often saw
Saint Mary, (as she was called, after her supposec
patroness,) I never spoke with her after her re
ception. Oppertunities, it is true, were not very
frequent; but, when they were offered, she re
peatedly seemed disposed to speak to me. I saw
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i length, that she was becoming a favorite with
Jane Ray, which pleased me, knowing that she
would be of some service to her, and befriend
her. Many a time she would fix her eyes upon
me, and it seemed as if they would pierce through
nry soul.
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CHAPTER V.

More recollections of Jane Ray—Her confessions of her history.

ONE of the nuns was [rom St. Mark’s, and bore
the name of St. Mark. Her father visited the Su-
perior one day, and requested her to have the nuns
pray for him daily for a short time, leaving with
her a considerable sum of money to pay for their
intercession. Such things were occasionally done
by different persons. He also sent about forty dol-
lars to his daughter, with a desire that they might
be distributed among the nuns, to purchase whatev-
er they might wish for. The Superior informed us
that it was quite inconsistent with the rules for the
nuns to receive such presents, but that, considering
the devout character of the giver, she would not en-
tirely forbid the execution of his request. She there-
fore furnished us with some molasses to make into
candy, and allowed us an unusual degree of liberty
during a part of a day. A considerable quantity of
molasses was made into candy by some of the most
skilled in the process: though by no means as much
as forty dollars’ worth. The Superior, however,
had a trick played on her in consequence of the in-
dulgence : for some of us attributed it to a desire of
pleasing the rich contributor, and not to any kind-
ness towards ourselves.

When the time for evening prayers had almost
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arrived, Jane Ray proposed to drop a little warm
candy in the chairs of the Superior and twe
old nuns. This was soon done; andin a few min-
autes those seats, as well as the others in the commu-
nity room, were occupied, and the prayers going on.
At the close the Superior attempted to rise, but fell
back ‘again into her chair; and at the same me-
ment the two old nuns did the same. After a few
unsuccessful attempts, theirsituation became evident
to all the assembly; and there was a great embar-
rassment at once among us all, arising from a dis-
position te speak and to laugh, opposed by the
endeavor to suppress both. The scene was a very
ludicrous one, and Jane cujoyed much amusement
before the Superior and ‘the old nuns could be set
at hiberty.

Jane Ray would sometimes seem 'to be overcome
and lose courage, when detected and exposed for
some of her tricks, even though not condemned t»
any severe ipenance. 1 have seen hercry,and even
roar, after committing some breach of rules; and
then retire to a corner, and after composing herself,
begin to meditate a new ‘trick. This she would
commonly carry into effect with success; and then,
lzaghing aloud, declere that she was satisfied and
happy again.

Sometimes she would submit to penances with pert-
fect indifference, though they made her the constant
‘object of observation. 'To punish her for her habitu-
al negligence in dress, she was once ordered to
wear an old nightcap until it fell to pieces ; but still

7
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she was seen again as usual, with her apron half on
and half off, and with stockings of different colors.

She would occasionally slip into the Superior's
room, steal pass tickets, and get into the hospital
with them; and this she did so boldly, that she wat
the occasion of the tickets being disused. Some
times she would bring a Roman Catholic newspa
per out of the Superior's room, and give it to the
nuns to read; and sometimes repeat to us what she
had overheard said in private.

Sometimes scenes of great agitation would occur,
and things would be carried to such a state, that one
and another of the nuns would become desperate,
and resist with violence. For it is to be remember-
ed, that unspeakable practices were sometimes resort-
ed to, at the will of the priests or bishops, counte.
nanced by the Superior; and sometimes, as I have
stated in my first volume, required on the authority
of the Pope.

Jane Ray sometimes appeared as a loud and vio-
lent opposer of what were considered the established
rules of the Convent. She would break out in de-
nunciations of the priests, and berate them in a stylo
which it would be difficult to imitate, if it were
worth while. Other nuns would sometimes exclaim,
*Are you not ashamed to show so little respect for
the holy fathers?’ « Why are they not ashamed,”
she would reply, “to show no respect for the holy
sisters ?”

Some of the best opportunities I ever had for con-
versing with Jane, were at night; for during a con-
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siderable time she had her bed opposite mine, and
by watching for a moment, when she could do it
without being seen by the night watch, she would
slip over to me, and get into my bed. Thus we
have often spent hours together ; and she found such
occasions very convenient for commumcatmg to me
such plans as she devised for amusement or revenge.
I sometimes lent an ear to her proposals, quite
ngainst my will; for I commonly concluded with a
solemn confession of the wickedness, as I supposed
it, in which she thus induced, and sometimes almost
compelled me to engage. Indeed, it often happened
that I had nothing to do in the morning, as it were,
but to beg pardon; and when I was asked why I
hud so much of that business to do, I commonly
laid it to Jane Ray. She, however, appeared to take
much pleasure in the stolen interviews we thus had;
and when we were obliged to lie at a distance {rom
each other, she told me that it caused her to weep
more than she had ever done in her life.

[ naturally felt much curiosity to learn something
of the history of Jane Ray, and repeatedly asked
her questions intended to lead her to tell me some-
thing of her family, her former residence, or life.
But, although so communicative on most other sub-
jects, on this she evidently did not like to speak.
Repeatedly have I known her to waive my inqui-
ries, and many times, also, when I spoke very plain-
ly, she would become silent, and refuse to speak a
word. All this unwillingness, only served to in-
crease my desire to know the truth, but I never was
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able to draw from her any thing more thau a very
brief and general account of herself ; for never; ex-
cept on a single occasion, did she comply with my
wishes so far as even to speak on the subject.

©ne night, when she had secretly left her bed
and entered mine, she happened to be in a very
communicative mood, though she appeared more de-
pressed and deeply sunk in melancholy than I had
ever known her before. She then informed me,
that she had beceme attached to an officer of the
British army in Quebec, in whom she confided to
her ruin, believing that he intended to marry her.
She left her parents, and after a time proceeded with
him to Montreal. There he invited her to visit the
Hotel Dien Nunnery, as a curiosity; but to her
surprise, she suddenly found herself deserted by him,
and the doors closed upon her From what she
observed or heard, she soon learnt that this was done
in consequence of an arrangement made betweer
the officer and the Superiors of the Seminary and
Convent, the first having paid a large sum of money
to have her shut up from the werld

I understood her to say that the officer was an
aid-de-camp of the former governor of Canada, Sir
Peregrine Maitland. The priests, she believed,
knew her story, but few of the nuns, she thought,
had any knowledge of it except myself.
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CHAPTER VI.

My fear of the priests—Arguments used to keep us in sabjection—
Old nuns.

I was kept in great fear of the priests, by preten-
ces they made to various kinds of power. I was
once confessing to Father Bedar, who is now dead,
and told him I had something on my conscience
which I did not like to communicate. He said to
me, “ I have power to strike you dead this minute;
but I will not. Iwill spare you. Go and examine
your conscience, and see if you cannot come back
and tell me what it is that you now conceal.”

I was much frightened; for I believed what he
said, and supposed he could have taken away my
life on the spot by only wishing it. I therefore im-
mediately went to the examination of my conscience
with fear and trembling.

I have remarked in my first volume, more than
once, that we were told it was a duty to submit to
the licentious wishes of the priests. This we were
urged to on various considerations. We were told,
for instance, that being consecrated to God, we were
not our own, and even our persons were not to be
regarded as at our disposal. Out of considerations
of gratitude, too, we were told, it was our duty to
suppress the doubts and misgivings which would
sometimes arise in our minds, when we allowed our
consciences to present the nature of our life in its

7
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own proper light. If there were no priests, we were
reminded we could never get to heaven; and it
would be ungrateful in the extreme, after being in-
sured of eternal life by their kind offices, if we
should deny them any wish whatever.

In spite, however, of all that was said, our feelings
often revolted, and arguments were renewed. Not
only so, but now and then, as I have before remark-
ed, penances of different kinds were ofien resorted
to, to suppress them.

One of the tales told us by the priests, was this—
intended to prove the power they exercise by means
of sacraments which none but they can administer.
I recollect that it was recounted to us one day at
catechism, by one of the fathers.

« T was once travelling,” said he, “in a desolate
region, when I saw something flying like a white
dove. Believing it to be the Holy Spirit, I followed
it, and it led me to a house, over the door of which
it stopped. I went in, and found an old man on his
death-bed, who had never been baptized, ner ever
heard of any religion. Ibaptized him; and he went
off straight to heaven.”*

+ Among my early recollections, are many anecdotes illustra-
ting the peculiar opinions and ceremonies of the Canadian
Catholicsin and about Montreal. My grandmother, Mrs. Mills,
was a Scotch woman, and a firm Protestant. She had a hand-
some estate about four miles distant from the city, on the Lachine
road,where I repeatedly visited her. She wasrequired, like eve-
rybody else in the parish who was able, to furnish, in her turn,
what is called “holy bread,” which is given out in ¢hurch by
the priest before sacrament, but eaten afterwards. The prepa-
ration of it was attended with much trouble and some expense ;
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One reason why I did not like to approach the
cells occupied by the imprisoned nuns, was this:
the Superior had told me that they were possessed
by evil spirits, and that I must always make the
sign of the cross on going into the cellar,

There are seven sins, as we were tanght, which
priests cannot forgive, viz: that of refusing to pay
tythes to the church, injuring dumb animals, setting
a house on fire, hearing a Protestant preach, rea-
ding Protestant books, and one more which I do
not remember. These, however, can be forgiven by
the Bishop or the Grand Vicar.

From what I heard and observed at different
times, I had reason to believe that a serious mis-

for there were to be eleven loaves made, of different sizes, though
they were nll of considerable weight. They were made with a
good supply of eggs and butter, and took about a bag of flour.
They were ornamented on the top with Peter’s cock crowing,
having on his head a tinsel crown, and were starred over, in a
particular manner, which required great painstaking, and often
cost many trials before they would be done right. My grand-
mother usedto say that it always cost her ten or twelvedollars to
prepare the holy bread ; and the sacrifice of her feelings appear-
ed to be still more reluctantly submitted to; for she called it, in
her broad Scotch dialect, a service to the Deevil.

She was a regular devout attendant on public worship;
notwithstanding her advanced age (above eighty) and the dis-
tance from her church, in Montreal, she seldom or never failed
to attend, although in consequence of certain unhappy circum-
stances in her family, she could not for some years command
the services of the horses in the barn, and always had to walk.
I have lately conversed with a Protestant clergyman residing
in Canada, who spoke in high terms of my grandmother, and
said he had often overtaken heron the road home from church
in the snow, and taken her up in his sleigh.

After her death, the Roman Catholics dwelling in her neigh-
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understanding existed between the Bishop and Fa-
ther Richards. I have heard it hinted, in some way,
that the former would probably have had his resi-
dence in the nunnery but for the latter. But this I
state only as what I have been told.

The term *“old nun,” I did not particularly ex-
plain in my first edition. It did not refer entirely
to age. None of the nuns, indeed, were old women.
For some reason or other, none of them appeared
to me to be above forty years of age, and few more
than thirty. [ never knew what made the differ-
ence between them and the common veiled nuns,
like myself. It was easy to see that they stood on
a different footing from the rest of us, but what that

borhood held her memory in great dislike, and were not allowed
to pass over any part of her farm unless they had holy water
about them, for fear of being beset by evil spirits.

A manl knew, whose name it is not necessary to mention,
the son of a Protestant mother, wished to marry a Catholic
woman, but knew he would be disinherited if he did so before
she disposed of her property. The priest allowed them to live
together as man and wife, with the intention. to be married at
a future time. When the neighbors began to talk about them,
the priest gave the woman permission to turn Protestant fora
time, and to be married by a Protestant clergyman, which was
done by Mr. Black. Afier the death of her mother-in-law, she
threw off all disguise and avowed her Catholic sentiments
agzain. .

As this worthy couple lived in the house of the parent, in accord-
ance with custom they had to have the house blessed by a
priest, before it was thought to be proper or safe to inhabit it.
Accordingly the ceremony was performed, of driving out the dev-
ils; and a considerable sum of money was paid to the priest, I
believe about a dollar for each window in the house. The man
(who appeared to have no real principle) had a priest on his farm
as many as seven or cight times to my knowledge, to bless his
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footing was 1 never could thoroughly understand.
They had a separate sleeping room, which I have
described, and exercised much authority, not merely
in overseeing and directing operations in the nuns®
and novices’ departments, but were allowed to in-
flict various punishments without consulting the
Superior, and sometimes did punish with great se-
verity.

[ sometimes imagined that there might be some
formal introduction to the dignity and authority of
an Old Nun, and that a higher grade existed, above
that of the *“Received.” It has occurred to me as
quite possible, (from what I kknew of the difference
between novices and veiled nuns,)that « Old Nuns
might have taken some peculiar oaths, and submit-
ted to rules of a special nature. All this, however,

grouud, and to securc his crops from insects: for some of h.s
neighbors had persuaded him that it had been cursed in particu-
lar apots where a Protestant minister had trodden, when he
vigited it during the life of his mother, so that it was unfit to
produce the priests’ blessed grain.

The ceremony of blessing ground and secds is one very
commonly practised in those places in Canada, where I have
been. Before a farmer plants, he takes a handful of seed tohis
priest, who blesses it, before it is fit to grow; and reccives a
sum of money for it, commonly, I believe, as many shillings as
there are grains. These are to be mixed with the rest of the
seced before sowing, and then you are sure of a good crap.—
At sowing time the pnests haveoften a good deal to do in this
way, and receive much money. The farmers often pay them
in grain instead of money, which is commonly the best that is
tobe had. I know that an uncle of mine commonly bought his
seed wheat at the Seminary, because it was the best he could
aobtain, 'The priests have in this way a good deal of trade and
oarter to carry on, as is well known in and about Montreal.
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I inferred only from their conduct, and the con-
cert and understanding which they appeared to
have with each other and the Superior. No fur-
ther light could I obtain on the subject; and
I am still as much in the dark as ever, although the
Superior once gave me much encouragement to
hope that I should become an * Old Nun.”

Some of that class, as I began to say, were far
from being old ; and indeed a number of them were
below thirty years of age, according to my judg-
ment. As for their real names, families, or person-
al history, I knew as little of them as others. We
called them, familiarly, Ma Mere (my mother,) or
Ma Tante, (my aunt,) and commonly obeyed them
without delay when they laid their commands upon
us.

I have no doubt, that, whatever was the process
by which “Old Nuns” are made, the reason of the
elevation of a “ Received” to that dignity, is her su.
perior cunning. It was in consequence of my suc-
cess at imposture, that the Superior told me she
hoped I might become one; and the old nuns whom
I best knew, were among the greatest adepts at du-
plicity I ever saw.
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CHAPTER VII.

#having the hair In the Nunnery—Disputes about inoney—A Nun ad-
mitted for money.—Influence of jealousy.

Amone the practices in the nunnery, is that of
shaving the hair of the nuns on their admission.—
This is done to most, but not all; as the hair of
some is more easily disposed in a manner thought
necessary to the proper arrangement of the head-
band and veil. My hair was shaved on my recep-
tion, and frequently afterwards. At the time of my
escape from the Convent, it was very short; since
when it has been growing, and it is now about six
inches long. We used sometimes to shave each
others heads, and I have done it for other nuns.

It is a rule, that no novice shall be received who
is not in sound health. Miss Louise Bousquier, of
Bt. Denis, owed her escape from the life of a nun to
an affection of the head, on account of which she
was discharged from her noviciate when within
about three months of the period when she would
have taken the veil.

Sometimes the priests would come to the Superior
to borrow money of her, when she would show lib-
erality towards some, but others I have heard her
blame for not paying what they already owed her.
In several instances I knew difficulties to arise from
mor.ey affairs.
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One day I heard a conversation between the
Bishop and the Superior of the Seminary about a
quantity of plate which an old lady, on her decease,
had bequeathed to the church. The Superior wish-
ed to appropriate it to the expenses of the Semina-
ry, but the Bishop claimed it as his own. He said
he wanted a set of plate, and would have it sent to
his house for his own use. The Superior repli-
ed, that he could do that as soon as he had paid
the price which he could get for it at the silver
smith’s. 'The Bishop asked him if he knew whom
he was talking to; and things seemed likely to rise
to some height, when I left the room.

I heard a conversation, soon after my admission
as a nun, between the Bishop and the Superior of
the nunnery, in her room. The Bishop was com-
plaining that he could not get his proper dues from
the priests : for, as I understood, each priest is re-
quired to pay two English shillings out of every
dollar he receives, for his support in the Seminary ;
while the whole of the profits of every high mass
for the dead, is considered the property of the Sem-
inary. The Superior of the nunnery replied, that
the priests would be better able to pay all their
debts if they did not gamble so much ; and the state
of the country at that time was unfavorable, and lit-
tle money wasto be had. The Bishop said he must
preach a sermon to the people, to make them more
liberal in their contributions.

I saw a nun one day whose appearance struck
me In a singular manner. She was conducting a
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priest through the sewing room, and had a large
bunch of keys, like an old nun. I could hardly
tell what to think when I looked on her. It seemed
asif I must have seen her before, and yet I could not
remember when or where; and I had an impres-
sion that she could not be a nun. For somc rea-
son or other which I could not understand, I felt a
great anxiety to know something about her, and in-
quired of Jane Ray, but she could tell me but little
or nothing. I then asked leave of the Superior to
speak with Sainte Thomas,—for that I understood
was her name.—She consented, on condition that
we should converse in her prescnce.  Iaccordingly
addressed her: but, much to my mortification and
surprise, she replied very coldly, and showed at first
no disposition to interchange more than a salutation
with me. She soon, however, took an opportunity
to write something on a bit of paper with a pencil,
and to slip it into my hand, which I eagerly read
as soon as I could safely do so; and there I found
an explanation of her conduct. She intimated that
she was unwilling to confide in the Superior, but
wished to see me alone the first opportunity.

We soon after had a secret interview, for one
night she stole into my bed, and we lay and talked
together. She then appeared quite unreserved, and
perfectly cordial, and repeated that she believed the
Superior was only a spy over us. We soon found
that we had been acquaintances in former years, and
had been in the Congregational Nunnery together,
but after her leaving it, I had met her twice in the

8
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street, and heard of her from some one; her family
being so wealthy, we had no intercourse in society.
She was from a place behind the mountain, where
her father, I believe, was a grocer, and a man of
wealth. She had an uncle McDonald.

I learnt from her the circumstances under which
she entered the nunnery; and they were peculiar.
She had not passed a noviciate, but had purchased
her admission without such preparation, by the pay-
ment of a large sum of money, as she had peculiar
reasons for wishing for it.

My restless anxiety was thus in a degree reliev-
ed, for I found that my impressions were right, and
that 8t. Thomas was not a nun in the common
meaning of the word; but, on the other hand, I
found I had been deceived in believing that all ad-
mitted into the Convent, had to pass through the
same long trial and training to which I had been
subject.

The state of things in the nunnery cannot be ful-
ly understood, without a knowledge of the fact, that
much jealousy always exists between some of the
nuns, on account of their preferences for particular
priests. And yet a priest once told me, that there
was more wrangling done in the Seminary about
nuns, than any thing else.

Saint Clotilde died while 1 was there, of a nat-
ural death; and I heard one of the other nuns say
she was glad of it, because she had drawn off the
affections of a priest from her. The priests often
bring in little delicacies into the nunnery for their
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. favorites, such as fruit, confectionary, &c. and give
them without the Supcrior’s knowledge ; and some-
times make them much more valuable presents.

There was a nun who entertained a very bitter
spirit towards me. This was Sainte Jane; and a
cross, disagreeable creature she was as I ever saw.
Bhe would sometimes get close by me on purpose,
while employed in ironing, or some other kind of
work which required us to be up, and in time of si-
ience stand upon my feet, in order to make me
speak and get a penance. She once complained to
the Superior, that she saw me looking from a place
in the nunnery which she mentioned, and heardthe
voice of some person speaking withme.  Although
this was utterly false, the Superior thought I might
have some intention of escaping, and sentenced me
to the most severe penance I ever endured—viz:
to live on bread and water for three weeks. This
diet appeared to reduce my strength ; and I suffered
more severely than usual from the kneeling posture
at prayers, which was always peculiarly distressing
tome, and made me almost desperate, so that I would
sometimes almost as readily die as live.
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CHAPTER VII

Manners of the Canadian Priests—Confessions of crimes by some of
the Priests—Story told by Aunt Susan, of her visit to a2 Quebec
Nunnery—Nuns in Priests’ dresses—Sister Tuarcot.

THE priests who are natives of Canada, are gene-
rally very clownish in their manners, and often quite
brutish in their vices. The nuns would sometimes
laugh at seeing a Canadian priest {from some coun-
try parish, coming in with a large piece of bread in
his hand, eating it as he walked. A large propor-
tion of the priests are foreigners; and a constant
intercourse appears to be kept up with France, as
we often heard of such and such a father just ar-
rived from that country. These are decidedly the
worst class. Most of the wickedness of which [
have any knowledge, I consider as their work. If
I should repeat one half the stories of wickedness
I have heard from the mouths of some of the
priests, I am afraid they would hardly be believed;
and yet I feel bound, since I have undertaken to
malee disclosures, not to omit them altogether.

It is not uncommon for priests to recount anec-
dotes of what they have seen and done; and seve-
ral stories which I have heard from some of
them I will briefly repeat.

A country priest said one day, that he knew a
priest in a parish better off than those of the Sem-
inary, for he had seven nuns all to himself.

A priest said to me one day, that he had three
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daughters in Montreal, grown up. Their mother
was 2 married woman. One of the daughters, he
added, now occasionally confessed to him, ignorant,
however, of any relationship.

Another said he was once applied to by a man
for advice, in consequence of suspicions he had of
his wife, and quieted his suspicions by telling him
a falsehood, when he knew the husband was not
jealous without cause, he himself having been her
seducer.

It may, it must offend the ear of the modest to
hear such exposures as these, even if made in the
most brief and guarded language that can be used.
But I am compelled to declare, that this is not all.
I shall stop here, but lest my readers should infer
that it is because there is nothing more that could
be said, I must first malke the solemn declaration,
that there are crimes commitied in the Hotel Diew
Nunnery too abominable to mention.

I remember a variety of stories relating to con-
fession, which I have heard told in the nunnery
by priests; who sometimes become very commu-
nicative when intoxicated. One of their favorite
topics is Confession. One of them showed a
watch, one day, which he said was worth a hun-
Ired dollars. He had received it at confession, from
1 fellow who had stolen it, telling him that he
must see it safely restored to the owner, while his
intention was to get it into his possession to lceep,
which he did, and boasted of what he had done.

I have known priests to sit and talk about what

8’
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they had done in the Confessional, for three or four
hours at a time; and I have heard one give an-
other instructions how he might proceed, and what
he might do. One priest, I know, paid another fifty
dollars, to tell him what was confessed to him by
a young woman for whom he had a partiality, or
what he called love. Sometimes one will request
another to send a particular lady to confess to him,
either on account of her beauty or her property:
for considerable sums are in such cases obtained
from the rich.

In the country the common practice is, so far as
I know, to fix the price of Confession for the year,
at some particular rate: as two bushels of wheat
out of twelve; or if the person is not a farmer, a
sum of money.

A priest one day said to another in my hearing,
You confess such a young lady, mentioning her
name. She does not like you, I understand, be-
cause you kiss her. She is rich, and you have
more rich persons to confess than I think is your
share.

I knew a country priest, on a wager, drink a
shoe-full of wine. I was once near the priests
parlor (as I have called it,) when I heard two of
them in an altercation, about the speed of two in-
sects; which led to a wager, on the question whether
that insect would move quicker over a hot brick
or a cold one. They told meto put a brick in the
cold, while they heated one on the stove; and
when both were prepared, they actually tned the
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experiment. This scene caused great excitement
and loud talking. I have mentioned it to give an
idea of the manner in which much time passes in
the nunnery.

One day when I was employed in the hospital,
Aunt Susan came in, one of the old nuns, who had
been absent for several days, and just returned. The
circumstances which I am about to relate werc
brought to my mind the other day, by reading in
Rosamond’s book about the priests in Cuba taking
her into a monastery in disguise.

Aunt Busan was something like Aunt Margaret,
in having something the matter with her feet which
made her rather lame. 1 noticed something strange
in her appearance when she came into the hospital,
and found that she was unable to apply the cup in
cupping a patient for whom that remedy had been
prescribed, although she had been remarkably skil-
ful before, and now appeared to try her best. I
thought she must have taken too much wine, and
undertook to perform the operation at her request,
which pleased her so well, that she sat down and
became very tallative, in a manner little consistent
with the rules and practices of the institution.

She told me that she had just returned from Que-
bec, whither she had gone some days before from
our Convent, on a visit to the Hotel Dieu Nunnery
of that city. She had gone in the dressof a priest,
in company with some father, and had an opportu-
nity to witness the arrangements and habits of that
institution, She went on to make remarks on dif-
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ferent subjects which had come under her observa-
tton, while I was employed in operating on the pa-
tient. She represented the rules in the nunnery
which she had visited as less strict, or less strictly
regarded, than our own; and said there was much
less order, peace, and quietness, than we enjoy. The
Superior, she said, had less command over the nuns,
and they were less orderly, and not so well eontent-
ed. She had a cousin there, as she informed me,
a Miss Duraugeau, who was very stubbern, and
unmanageable. If she were Superior, she decla-
red she would half murder her for her rebellious
conduct.

All that T knew about the story told by Aunt Su-
san, was what she told me. I did not see her in the
dress of a priest, but I had reason to believe that
the nuns often left the Convent in such a disguise,
and that this part of her tale was by no means in-
credible. Indeed, during my stay in the Hotel
Dieu, I personally knew more than one caseof the
kind.

There was an old nun, notorions in Montreal,
known by the name of Sister Turcot, her family
name. I was one day employed in the hospital,
when I saw her enter dressed like a priest, in com-
pany with one or two fathers. She spent a few
minutes there, during which she went up to one of
the patients’ beds, and performed prayers instead of
one, and with such address that I should never have
suspected any thing irregular, I think, if I had not
known her appearance as well as I did. It was with
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the greatest difficulty that I refrained from laugh-
ing ata sight so ludicrous. She was at the time on
her way out of the nunnery, in company with the
priests, and after a short delay left the hospital, and
went, as I supposed, into the street.

But I had still stronger evidence than this, of the
departure of nuns in open daylight, in the dress of
priests; for I was repeatedly called in to help them
put on their disguise. I havedressed the nun Sainte
Felix, three or four times; and a hateful creature
she was, in consequence of her jealous disposition.
She was always thinking some one else a greater
favorite than herself, with some priest.

The place where the change of dress was usu-
ally made was the Superior’s room ; and intheclos-
et in the adjoining passage, at the end neorest her
door, were always kept a number of priests’ dresses,
nearly a shelf full; as well as several black-hood-
ed cloaks, like those worn by the Sisters of
Charity.

A priest once told me, that he had three nuns to
take out of the Convent that day, and was troubled
to know how to do it. He had often taken out one
at a time, and had sometimes thought he might lose
them if they were disposed to run away. He com-
monly directed them to limp as they passed along
the streets ;—* for,”’ said he, ** many of the priests
do so, and they might pass very well for limping
priests ; and in our dress, how can you tell a man
from o woman? DBut, he added, “now I have got
three; and if T should undertake to lead them all
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out together, the devils of women might start of
three different ways at the first corner we come to,
and how could I eatch them ?”

The change made in the dress, when a nun dis-
guises hersclf as a priest, is complete. All the
clothes of the latter are assumed. They passthrough
the public rooms in going out of the nunnery, and
are often absent for several weeks.
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CHAPTER VIII.

4 vt to the Bishop’s—My Reception—My Occupations—The Bish-
op’s Visiters—Rcturn to the Nunnery.

AvTHovG it is a painful duty, I feel it incum-
bent on me to give my own experience, on the sub-
ject of disguising nuns as priests, that they may
leave the Convent unobserved.

The Superior one day informed me, that [ was
to pay a visit to the Bishop on the evening of the
next day. The intelligence surprised me; and, as
no further information was given me, 1 did not
know exactly what to think of it. The period
of which I speak wmight have been about a year
after I took the veil.

On thc evening appointed, I was taken to the
Superior’s room, and furnished with a priest's
dress, which, in compliance with her directions, I
put on. Father Phelan, who was present, then
conducted me out of the Nunnery soon after dusk,
according to my recollection. We passed down
towards my mother’s house, across Notre Dame
street, and round Citadel Hill, till we reached a
housc which I had never before known for the
Bishop's, and stopped at the door. No house ad-
Joined it on my right. We rang; and the door
was opened by the Bishop himself, which greatly
astonished me  He received us with kindness, and
led the way up to the third story, where we stop-
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ped and sat down. Supper wassoon ready, which
was a rich one.

The room in which I was, was that in which I
remained during my stay, and the only one in the
house which I ever entered. It had windows look:
ing upon the street, but in the rear the remaining
part of that story appeared to be taken up with
dark cupboards, which I afterwards found contain-
ed clothes and other articles, in considerable num-
bers. There was a large staff, which the bishop
said was of solid gold, and cost seven or eight
thousand dollars.

After Father Phelan had gone away, the Blshop
invited me to play cards, which we did on that
and other evenings; commonly the game called
“catch the ten.” The Bishop’s table was set with
a complete service of plate, marked with two let:
ters, one was L. I spent a part of almost every
day in a small apartment or closet in one corner
of the room : for as there were commonly fre-
quent calls on the Bishop, when persons were ad-
mitted to that room, he chose to see them alone.
The custom was, when any person called, for the
servant to give notice to him by ringing a bell;
and if he wished to have him brought up stairs,
he would ring one in reply; but if not, he took no
notice of it. There was a supply of excellent
wines and confectionary, in a closet in the large
room, which was always open.

During a part of my stay, I was employed in
¢leaning and putting in order the Bishop’s money,
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which he kept in an iron chest in the closet I have
mentioned. He told me that the silver and gold
very soon became tarnished by lying there, and
that he found it necessary to have it cleaned once
a year. I should judge that he had ordered a nun
ta be sent from the Convent, partly to perform this
task. He said that sometimes, when he had a
large sum of money to pay for land, he had felt
quite ashamed to give only tarnished silver and gold.

I worked for hours at rubbing the coin, with
chamois cloth, to make it bright, and had to ar-
range it all with care upon a table, before put-
ting it away in the chest. The silver was prin-
cipally half dollars, which the bishop told me
to place in piles of six. 'The gold was kept in a
beautiful little box, and wag quite tarnished, so that
he made me wipe it over and over several times,
before he was satisfied with its appearance.

Besides these, he had a large amount of moncy
in bank bills, principally of five dellars. These
he made me smooth out carefully with a hot iron,
which was brought to the door. When that was
done, I put them in parcels of fifty bills each. The
iron chest was studded, and locked itself when the
door was closed. While I was astonished at the
quantity of money [ handled, I observed that I
was closely watched by the Bishop; so that, if ¥
had wished, I knew I could not have taken any
of it without discovery.

Priest Bourgette was the most frequent visiter
at the bishop's during my stay,” but he never saw

9
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me, although he was sometimes there seven or
eight times a day. Father Phelan also came of-
ten; but generally during the bishop's absence,
who rode out every day. Whenever the bishop
went out he locked the door and took away the
key; but when Father Phelan came in his ab-
sence, he opened it with a key of his own, as I
suppose unknown to the bishop. He repeatedly
inquired of me what the bishop had said about
him ; and seemed very anxious to ascertain wheth-
er he stood high in his estimation or not. Father
Tombeau or Tabeau, also had a key, and some-
times used it, but, I believe, with the bishop’s
knowledge, although he never happened to see
me there.

The partition of the little room, or closet, was
so thin, that I could distinctly hear conversation
held in a considerable part of the great room.
Tombeau came in one day and said to the bishop,
I have had a good day at confession, (with something
like an oath,) throwing down a quantity of money
on the table. The bishop replied, that so it ap-
peared, and gathered it up. On another occasion
he came in at evening, and said, “ Well, I am go-
ing to the nunnery to-night;” to which the bishop
replied—* Very well, I have nothing for you to
do.”
~ One day a number of gentlemen came to see
the bishop, and sat a long time conversing about
some land which he was buying. A notary was
present, whose name I heard, but cannot 'n(;w re-
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eall; and Mr. Sullivan, a gentleman of Montreal,
whom I had often seen from a child. He remain-
ed a considerable time after the others were gone,
and then I had to listen to the most vile conversa-
tion that I ever heard.

Persons came in at different times to confess;
but as the bishop seated himself at the other end
of the room, I heard little or nothing of what they
said. One day a woman came in who called her-
self Mrs. Green, of Montreal, and made a long
complaint against her husband for illtreating her.
I got a sight of her face through the keyhole,
and found her quite hundsome. This woman had
a dog with her, which caused some annoyance by
barking. She afterwards called several times;
and once, I think it was on her third visit, was ac-
companied by another woman, whose voice I
thought I recognised as soon as I heard it. After
a little time I ascertained to a certainty that [ was
not mistaken ; but the discovery was one of the
most painful I ever made. She confirmed the ac-
count the woman had given of the conduct of her
husband, and afierwards conversed with the bishop
on other subjects; for she remained there probably
not less than an hour and a half. The bishop
told her, that the next time the Governor came to.
town, he wished her to get him another interview
with him, to which she replied, that she always
did what she could to oblige him. They had also
a long talk about some furniture, which she had
lent him, and never received back. He said he
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had "sent it back to her at the Government
House.

The reply which the bishop finally gaveto Mrs.
Green was, that she need not live with her hus-
band, but that she must confess to him daily. He
afierwards told me he would not have had me seen
by one of those visiters for any thing in the
world. '

Soon after I came to the bishop's, I found that
he was finishing the composition of a hymn, which
he was making, to be sung to a war song, begin-
ning with these words:

* En allant, marchant, contre les canons,
A travers des feux, des feux des battaillons.”

He had the papers by him on which he was
writing it, and would often sing a part of it over
and over. I will give from memory a verse or
two, of the seven or eight of which it consisted,
and most of which I might recall, as I have since
heard it repeatedly sung in the Convent.

De tous les biens que Dien nous donne
Les biens qu'il est le mieux charmait,

Ce n’est nilor nila couronne,
Mon Dieu Sauveur dans destiné.

Chorus.—O Dieu de mon cceur, O mon dieu Sauveur,
Jesus plaint destrait
Ma joie et mon bonheur,
O guel cruel martyr.*

* This, like some other specimens of French, I have written
down from memory, without pretending to accuracy, or even to
a meaning in every word—I do not understand it all myself,
though I suppose the original had a meaning.
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I soon became extremely weary of staying im
that place, and asked for permission to return to
the Convent: but it was not allowed me until [ had
been there about twelve or thirteen days. Much
apprehension was expressed lest I should be dis-
covered on the way; but at length, the arrange-
ments being made, and I dressed again as a priest,.
left the house with Father Phelan, and walked to
the nimnery, which, bad as it was, I was glad

to see.
g'
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CHAPTER IX.

Attend in the Parish Chureh as confessor—The persons who confess.
ed to me-~My return to the Nunnery.

A RrREcARD to truth requires that T should not
charge other persons with assuming the office of a
priest, without admitting that I have done so myse]f,
if my testimony is necessary to convince my read-
ers that such things are ever done. ’

Early one morning, Father Bonin told me that
he was quite indisposed, and felt unable to perform
the taslk of confessor in the church, which devolv-
ed upon him, and he thought T might takehis place,
and go through the ceremony without being dis-
covered. The priests have often expressed in my
hearing a dislike of sitting for hours in the confes-
sional box, as a dull and wearisome task ; but Bo-
nin appeared at that time to be somewhat indisposed,
and offered to tell the Superior if she asked for me.
I did not make any serious opposition to his prope-
sal ; and he went on to give me instructions how to
proceed.

He told me that I must first put on his clothes
and gown, and cover my head with his hat, and thén
proceed to the church through the subterranean
passages, enter thefirst confessional box by the chap-
el of Saint Magdalen, near the high altar, with all
the familiarity I could assume, take my seat, pat on
a little cap which I should find there, cover my face
with his handkerchief which he gave me, and pro-
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ceed as I should think proper with such persons as
should present themselves, remembering to speak
in a feigned voice. Particular instructions were
necessary to enable me to find my way tothe church;
and he told me first to go through the subterranean
passage leading into the cellar of the Congrega-
tional Nunnery, then turning a corner a few steps
_distant from the door, descend into another and fol-
low itto the end. There I should find a light trap-
door, which I could raise with my head. This
would admit me into the sacristy of the church,
from which to my station the passage was direct.
After rcceiving such instructions in haste, though
at greater length than I have given them here, and-
having dressed myself in his clothes, I set out on
my errand ; but the garments were so much too
large for me, that I found some difficulty in pro-
ceeding. I wentdown into the nunnery cellar, pro-
ceeded to the farther end of it, opened the low door
to the subterranean passage I was first to enter, and
soon reached its extremity. TFollowing my direc-
tions, though still in almost total darkness, [ group-
ed my way round a corner of a stone wall, and
found a staircase, (I think of eleven steps,) down
which I cautiously proceeded, then, by putting up
both hands, so as to touch both sides of the passage
to which they led me, I found my way along with-
out much difficulty, except what arose from the size
and weight of my dress. I had two falls in conse-
quence of this; but, not receiving any injury, after
a pretty long walk I saw two or three streaks of



104 BLACK NUNNERY.

light above, and mounting a few steps, I found the
trap-door of whieh I had been informed. Pressing
my head against it a little, it easily rose, and I en-
tered an apartment above ground..

At the time when I left the Hotel Dieu, 1L was
scarcely daybreak, but the light was now so much
stronger, that I could distinguish objects with clear-
ness; and, proceeding at once towards the bighal-
tar, and the chapel of Saint Magdalen, I made for
the first confessional box. There I saw a number
of persons of different descriptions, kneeling, on
both sides of the box, engaged in preparing for
confession; but I walked with as firm a step, and
an air of as much unconcern as I eould, kneeled
before the altar, and said (er appeared to say)a
prayer, then entered the box, closed the door, and
took my seat on the little narrow bench on which
the confessor sits.

But by this time my feelings had materially
changed; I found myself ina place from which L
could not retire without being again exposed to ob-
servation, and in which appearances required that
I should remain a long time. I had a difficult task
before me; I knew ¥ must say something to those
who were about to address me, and yet I knew but
little of a confessor’s duties. Besides, in spite of
the levity and thoughtlessness with which I had con-
sented to undertake the task, I now felt something
like a conscientious scruple, as I drew on the cap,
pushed by the curtain, and covered my face with
Bonin'’s red .1"%t handkerchief with a yellow border,
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so that a trembling came over me. I leaned my
head upon my hand, and for a few instants heartily
wished myself out of a place which I still regard-
ed as sacred.

All these thoughts, however, passed through my
mind much more rapidly than I have described
them. I had hardly time to sit down by the lattice
work, cast a glance through it about the church,
and reflect, that although a confessor can see cvery
thing from his box, he is himself in the dark, and
entirely concealed from all inspection, when I heard
a low and mournful voice murmuring in my ear—

“ Mon pére, benissez moi, parce que j'ai péché.”

These words, with which confession commences,
came from an old man, who had earliest taken his
place by the confessional box in the morning, and
who, according to general custom, was entitled to
the first hearing. I let him run on with his story
without interruption, and was glad that he made it
long, as T dreaded to trust myself to speak. He
said, “I have performed the penance which you
laid upon 1ne, and I have sinned but once since my
last confession, when I got into a passion with my
wife. But you ought to know what kind of a crea-
ture she is, and how impossible it is to get along
with her in peace.” He atlength brought his tale
to an end, and then, to my surprise, asked me for
absolution. Up to this time I had not opened my
lips, and did not like to trust my voice, even in the
lowest tone; but the thought of being called on to
bestow absolution, ignorant as I was of the Latin
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form which I knew was necessary, although I had
heard it repeated, was dreadful to me. I therefore
spoke in a rough voice, and told him he must per-
form a penance for the sin he had committed in be-
ing angry with his wife, by saying five acts of con-
trition and five Ave Marias that night on his knees
by his bedside, and repeat the same the next day,
after which he might come again for absolution.
The old man then rose, and sorrowfully went
away ; while a young lad who had been long wait-
ing next him on his knees, pushed up as close to me
as he could get, and began to tell his “ father” how
he had got into a dreadful predicament, through the
enmity of a woman who was disposedto do himall
the harm she could, although she had an interest-
ing daughter for whem he had the highest respect.
He said that the mother was then in the church,
having come to confess and accuse him ; and he be-
lieved she had done so already. He then went on
to tell the particulars of the circurmstances attend-
ing his case, and how a littfe act of civility and
kindness which he had shown the young lady,
had been misrepresented. He said he had come
hoping to get some indulgences that morning, but
feared that he should be refused. I replied that
that was out of the question until some future time.
He then asked for a penance. I had become quite
amused by his foolish talking, and now asked who
lived in the house of the old woman ; and on learn-
ing that there were several persons, told him he
must kiss her feet that night in the presence of alt
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the family. He replied that he could not do that;
but I insisted that he could not be let off from such
an act of self-denial.

After this boy had gone away, a woman came up
and held up to me a handful of silver, saying she
had told a great many lies to her mistress, (she was
a servant in a house in the city,) and had brought me
three dollars, mostly in British shillings, to pay for
high mass, which, she said, she thought would pro-
cure her forgiveness for the whole. She handed
the money to'me, and I took it, telling her her
wish should be granted.

A young country girl afterwards presented her-
self, with a long story about a trick she had tried,
to find out whom she was to marry, and the’ fear
she had that the Devil had appeared to her. She
had gone about dusk to a bridge, on the advice of
her mother, and thrown one of her garments to the
opposite bank of the brook, when a young man sud-
denly appeared, and restored it to her. He had in-
deed the form of a good young man she knew, but
she thought perhaps it might have been the Evil
One in his shape. I told her she had been guilty
of sacrilege, in having any thing to do with such
tricks; and laid a penance upon her which I am
sure she must have found both difficult and vexa-
tious, saying that I could by no means forgive her
until she should have performed it. My father,”
she exclaimed, * but don't you remember what you
forgave me last year? and yet it was something
worse than what I have now confessed.” T replied
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that this case was rather a difficult one, and I must
communicate with the Bishop before I could give
an answer.

After this a woman took her place at the lattice,
and began a confession of a nature not proper to be
repeated, disclosing a character which disgusted me
extremely. I was obliged to listen in silence, for
I could not invent any way to interrupt her; but
was glad when she had done. I do not recollect
the order in which all appeared whom I confessed
that morning, and shall not attempt to give it; nei-
ther can I fix with absolute certainty the exact
number.

One man told me he had come for absolution for
the sin of drunkenness, which he had recently com-
mitted. I told him to get drunk again daily, and
return at the end of the week, and he should be ab-
solved from all together ; for I thought from what
I had seen in the Convent that drunkenness was its
own best punishment.

A girl brought me a parcel of money which she
had stolen from her mistress, requesting me to re-
store it to her, and informing me that her mistress’
name would be found in the pareel. This I took,
and on her asking me to bestow absolution upon
her, T told her to do an act of contrition, and ventured
to say something over in a low voice which she
could not distinctly hear, and making the sign of
the cross with my hand, I sent her off well satisfied
that she was pardened.

Another girl approached, addressing me in these
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words: “ My father, I was unable to come when
you wished, but I have come now.” Not knowing
why she had been sent for or directed to come, I
dismissed her, as I had done others, by telling her
to come at another time.

One fellow asked my permission to give his fa-
ther a good beating ; for he said the old man had
¢onducted so of late, that he did not know how to
get along with him. He often took opportunity
when he was absent, to give away things in the
house ; and he was afraid he would soon strip it of
all it contained. He could not tell why he had -
been seized with such a whim, but he thought that
2 good whipping might very probably reform him,
and he wished to know how much money he must
pay me for leave to do it. I inquired whether his
father really deserved such treatment. He replied
that I might be sure he never would have proposed
it if he did not. I told him I could not give my
tonsent then, but directed him to come again.

An older man confessed things which ought nev-
ef to be repeated, and not less shocking than those
before alluded to in speaking of the confession of
one of the females.

There were two little lattices opening to the con-
fession box, as usual ; and sometimes I sat at one
and sometimes at the other, according as the appli-
cants stationed themselves. The curtain always
fell as I left one side before I raised that on the
other; and the door being kept closed, and every
other part being tight, I was so much in the

10
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dark that I knew I was invisible, and ran no risk
of detection from any thing that conld be seen, even
if I had not kept Father Bonin’s handkerchief con-
stantly over my face. At the same time, as [ men-
tioned before, I could at any time peep through the
lattice, and distinctly see a great part of the church.
Whenever I looked out, however, I was distressed
to find that there were numbers of persons still
kneeling near the box, waiting their turns for con-
fession, so that, in spite of all I had listened to, I
saw no prospect of being soon released from my
unpleasant situation.

One of those who addressed me. was a felow
who slyly showed me a bundle, which he told me
contained some jewelry that he had brought to give
me. He had stolen a quantity, he said, from a man
from whom he had before stolen four times since
his last confession, and had brought half of it to
me. I was quite shocked at his communication,
and shrunk from receiving the bundle, telling him
I could not at present determine what directions to
give him.

The last person I confessed was a poor simple-
ton, who acknowledged with great appearance of
contrition that he had eaten a piece of liver on Fri-
day. I felt by this time so weary of my business,
and so much perplexed to find a way to escape from
my box, that I answered him rather shortly, telling
him to do a penance for the offence he had commit-
ted, the next time he ate liver, by putting on it an
equal quantity of mustard. At this he exclaimed,
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saying there was never such a thing in his father’s
house; and went away complaining that I was
more severe with him than at his last confession.

Lhad by this time made up my mind, that it
would be folly to try any longer to confessall who
were waiting their turns; and that T might as well
desert my post then as at any other time, for I must
go abruptly sooner or later, if I intended to get
away before noon. 7 therefore rose as the last men-
tioned fellow withdrew, and having changed my
cap for the hat, in a hasty manner stepped out of
the box, without saying a word to any of thos.
around me, lneeled o moment at the altar, and cross-
¢d into the sacristy. Lifting the trap-door, L de-
scended into the passage, and made my way as fast
as [ could in the dark, first tothe ceilar of the Con-
gregational Nunnery, then back to the Hotel Dieu.
Returning to the Priests’ room, I found Fa.ther Bo-
nin, to whom I gave an accomnt of my proceedings,
while I exchanged his hat and coat, &e. for my
nun’s apron and veil.

The Superior was present, and when she heard
me say that a bundle of jewelry had been offered
me, and I had refused to receive it, she betrayed
strong feelings of contempt and anger, sayinc—

“Vous etes plus béte que je ne pensais.”

(You are a greater fool than I took you for.)

And then she scolded me very severely for mis-
sing such an opportunity to get something val-
uable.

I gave the English shillings which one of the
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women gave me, to Father Bonin; but when I in-
formed him that I had left the confession box with-
out confessing all who were prepared, he found
much fault, and expressed himself with some se-
verity ; so that I have seldom felt more unhappy
than I did after the close of that morning’s task,
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CHAPTER X.

Death of Priest Bedar—Frightening Nunsto get Money from their
Parents—Trick played on Saintes Margaret and Susan—Similar
Trick on St. Charles—S8tory told wne of Mra; Milligan—1er atlempt
to egeape from the Nunoery.

During the first appearance of the Cholera at
Montreal in 1832, I witnessed the death of Mr.
Bedar, a priest, who came to the nunnery sick.
Whether he was conscience-struck, or not, I do not
know; but I never saw a man die a more awful
death. I spoke to Father Richards about him,
saying, that I thought his faith must be weak, as I
was surprised a Christian man like him should
dread the approach of death.

Father Richards replied, that his mind was not
strong enough to bear with the joys which his spi-
nit received from another world. His spirit, he
said, was already in heaven. I had been called to
sit up with him the night before, and I had set up
with him all night. At different times in the
night, he would ask for a crucifix, and then occa-
sionally would throw it from him, as if he was
afraid to appear before it. At different times
in the night, he wished to speak to one of his
nieces, who was a novice, before his death, which
was granted him. He said to Father Richards,
that it was the last request he had to make, and he
desired to be left alone to speak to her for a few
minutes. Father Richards left the room, and went

10*
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towards the Superior’s apartment; but requested
me to try to overhear what was said, through the
door, which was not quite shut. He told me the
old man was so overjoyed that he did not know
what he was saying.

I therefore stood and listened, when I heard him
request his niece never to become a nun, but to
leave the nunnery before a fortnight, which she
did three days after his death. I was a novice at
that time, and it was but a little before I was re-
ceived. As I was preparing to become a Veiled
Nun, it struck me as very strange; but still I
thought, as Father Richards had said, that Bedar
was so overjoyed with a view of heaven, that hedid -
not know what he said. I had witnessed the sick-
ness of one person beforce, who appeared to be likea
man in horror, and the recollection of it was
awakened at that time.

Mr. Savage, the priest, told me, after the death ot
Mr. Archambeaun, that while, on the evening be-
fore he died, he was praying for him in his room,
near the window, he heard a noise like singing
and instrumental music, which he could not at first
account for, until an angel appeared, and told him
that there was no more need of praying, and that
they were already preparing a crown in heaven to
receive Mr. Archambean.

Not very long after I took the black veil, the
Superior, on two occasions, remarked to me, that
some nuns had parents so unwilling to part with
their money, that in order-to get it for the use of
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the Convent, it was necessary to resort to extraordi-
nary means; and that fear was sometimes the most
successful. Soon afterwards she told me to stop at
her room that evening on my way to bed. With
this I of course complied, and when I reached the
passage in which is the staircase leading to our
sleeping-room, with the procession of nuns, I left
them, and entered the Superior’s apartment.

On her bed lay a singular object, something like
a rude mask, with holes cut for eyes and mouth,
and painted in such a manner as to appear quite
hideous. - She informed me that she had need of
my services: for there were two nuns, Sainte Mar-
garet and Sainte Susan, (not the lame Sainte Susan,
whom we called *la boiteuse,”) whose parents
withheld money which the Convent ought to have;
and they must be frightened. One of these wo-
men slept on one side of me, towards the end of
the room, and the other on the other side, beyond
the staircase, and both at some distance from my
place. The Superior informed me, that she wish-
ed me to be disguised, to represent the devil, to
visit them in succession, and in a feigned voice to
urge them to withhold from the nunnery all the
money they could. She remarked, that if I should
urge them to give to the Convent, they would of
course think it their duty to withhold; but, as
whatever came from the devil must be wrong, they
would probably act contrary to his advice, what-
ever it might be.

She then took off my apron, let down my black
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gown, took the thing I have spoken of from her
bed, and placed it on my head. It proved to be
the shell of a pumpkin, hollowed out, shaped, cut
and painted; and it went over my head so as to
cover it entirely, and show an awful face in front.
She then repeated her instructions to me; and the
time being elapsed when the nuns were probably
all in bed, and some of them asleep, she sent me
up stairs to execute my commission. I mounted
to the sleeping-room, and slipping along as quietly
as possible, found my way to the bedside of Sainte
Susan. She seemed to be dozing, for she did not
at first appear to be aware of my presence, but di-
rectly raised her eyes and started with fright, then
crossing herself, looked at me without speaking.

I addressed her, as 1 had been directed, in a
feigned voice, telling her that she ought by no
means to let her parents give any of their property
to the Convent, to a set of people so religious, but
to spend it in pleasure and dissipation, at the the-
atre, and parties. She crossed herself again and
again; and then I withdrew, passed along the pas-
sage, and turning in again, stood by the side of
Sainte Margaret. She was wide awake, and shrunk
from me as soon as I approached her. I repeated
my diabolical counsel to her, pretty nearly in the
same words, and after withstanding two or three
crossings, left her, and hastened down to the Supe-
rior, where I gave her an account of what I had
done, and left my mask, and then returning quietly,
retired for the night.
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A short time afterwards I learnt from her, that
the parents of the two nuns had been solicited by
their daughters to make liberal presents to the
nunnery, and had given something, but so little
that the Superior was very much dissatisfied.

One night, sometime alfter this, when I was go-
ing up to bed, the Superior called me into her room,
and told me she wanted me to frighten another nun
for her. St. Charles, she said, had been conceal-
ing something from her confessor for two or three
weeks; and the way to make her bring it out,
was to terrify her.

I had some acquaintance with the nun of whom
she spoke. She was a young woman who had been
occasionally in the apothecary’s room, and I had
conceived a considerable regard for her. 1did not
like the thought of doing any thing unfriendly to
her; but the Superior’s will wasnot to be opposed,
and I was not accustomed or prepared to show any
backwardness in complying. She told me that I
was to disguise myself as the Devil, and, in his
character, urge St. Charles to persist in withhold-
ing her confession.

She then went to a cupboard, and brought out a
sheet, which she put round me, and a singular
thing, which, on being unfolded, proved to be a cap,
with lappets to hang down the back and over the
face. The former was black and the other white;
it had two cows’ horns sticking out at the sides.—
This she placed upon my head; and after some in-
structions, sent me to the apartment in the common
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sleeping room occupied by the young nun. I pro-
ceeded cautiously along, according to the Superior’s
directions, stepped in, as I believe, unnoticed, and
took my stand beside the bed of St. Charles. The
light was feeble, and she could have had only an
indistinct view of her unexpected visiter. I instant-
ly perceived that she was extremely terrified. She
had only the power to cross herself and say, “Sainte
Marie, Joseph, &c. have pity on me.” I however
staid near her, told her that I was pleased that she
had resisted the persuasions of her confessor, and
hoped she would continue to disobey him. She re-
peatedly crossed herself, and murmured over and
over her prayers to the saints for mercy; and at
length, presuming I had done enough, I withdrew,
returned to the Superior’s room, was relieved of my
disguise, and permitted to go to bed.

The next day, as the Superior afierwards inform-
ed me, St. Charles showed great urgency to see her
confessor, and made a frank and full exposure of all
the sins she had so long and so obstinately conceal-
ed. The effect of this scene, however, was as great
on my own mind as on hers, though in a different
manner. I never afterwards heard of the appear-
ance of the Devil, or any evil spirit in the sleeping
room with any degree of faith. _ It always brought
fresh to my mind my personating him, and led me
irresistibly to conclude, that the Superior had only
employed some other nun in my place. This I
have not the least doubt she repeatedly did. I feel
little less confident, however, that there were nuns,
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and a considerable number of them tos, who were
never so employed, and were not let into the secret.
The fears expressed by some of those who had
been visited by such spectres were too genuine to
leave any room for doubt. However, the impres-
sion was kept alive in the Convent, and the fear ot
evil spirits operated powerfully, I believe, on ma-
ny; and every now and then a new case of the
Devil’s appearance would be reported, which was
commonly soon followed by praycrs, said in the
presence of all, for the perseverance or greater ho-
liness of some nun under temptation.

Among the persons with whoia I became ac-
quainted in the Congregational Nunnery, was a
girl nam«d Mulligan, or Milligan, who helped to
teach me bark-work, considerable quantities of
which are sold at the Convent, in Montreal, as vis-
iters well know. This branch of work, by the
way, is not very difficult to- learn. The bark is
purchased of the furriers in the city, and worked in
the dry state. The porcupine quills with which it
is sewed, are purchased already colored; and their
points are commonly touched with a little wax.

Miss Milligan spoke with something of an. Irish
accent, from which I concluded that she had Irish
parents, being herself, I believe, a native of Upper
Canada. Her manners were rather reserved, yet
of 2 much superior order to those of many of the
women around me, so that I regarded her with pe-
culiar respect. I think her family must have been
uncommonly intelligent and respectable. She was.
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in her novitiate in the Congregational Nunnery at
the time I knew her.

During the time when I was employed in the
Hospital of the Black Nunnery, Father Bonin told
me the following story of events, which, 1 under-
stood, took place about the time when I was re-
ceived. This Miss Milligan, who had been for
some time a Congregational nun, being attached to
a man much older than herself, made her escape by
night, ran off with him into some adjacent part ot
the United States, and was married to him by a ma-
gistrate. The priests, however, got an early alarm,
und Father Bonin, with some others, joined in the
pursuit. “We liked her so well,” said Bonin,
“that we could not think of losing her. We would
rather have lost three of the flock than her.” The
couple were overtaken in a very short time after
their marriage, and the bride was brought back to
Montreal, and put into the nunnery again. There
she soon became, or feigned to be, reconciled to her
former situation, so that she was set free from all
uncommon Testraint. On the Sabbath, as I have
remarked in my first volume, the Congregational
nuns often go ina procession to church. Miss Mil-
ligan was allowed to join them, and was on her
way through the streets, when her husband sudden-
ly appeared, accompanied by two other men, and
seizing her, carried her to a carriage, and attempt-
ed to take her off.

Father Bonin, however, interfered, as he stated,
and with some difficulty, assisted by others, agam
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recovered her. The husband then prosecuted the
priests, and a public trial took place, which result-
ed in their favor, it being decided that the marriage
was not legal, having been performed only bya
magistrate ; and the poor man was obliged to pay
several hundred dollars to the priests. I heard
expressions made by some of them on receiving the
money : They said they would have no objection
to having several of the nuns run away, if they
could get as well paid for it.

Some years ago there was a priest who was put
into the madhouse. 1 wasnot acquainted with the
reason at the time, but I have since learned from a
young womnan who was in the Congregational Nun-
nery about the period when it happened, that he ran
away with one of the Congregational nuns. He
was talcen a few miles from Montreal and brought
back; and, for fear he would expose the dreadful
deeds done there, theyv put him into the madhouse,
und he is there, I believe, to this day.

11
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CHAPTER XI.

Fatner T. B. McMahon—Tirst Recollections of hin—IIis habits in the
Nunnery—A Fightin the Priests’ Parlor—Similar Occurrences.

I nap an acquaintanee with Father T. B. Me-
Mahen before I met with him in the nunnery. He
nsed occasionally to call at the Government
House. "When the Governor visited Montreal, the
riests sometimes wished to hold an interview with
him in private, after the public reception of citizens
was concluded.  MeMahon once applied to my
mother, in some way to procure him an iuterview;
and as it was obtained, he expressed much pleasure,
and some gratitude to her. They commonly were
anxious to get a sight of the rolls of officers, when
a new detachment of troops arrived from Eng-
land; and this could be done by making favor
with some one who could admit them into the
Government House, where they were accessible.
The cause. as I understood it, was this: No Ro-
man Catholic is allowed to hold an office in the
British army ; but those who renounce that reli-
mion are admitted. Such as have renounced it are
marked in some way on the lists; and those names
the priests used to cet and copy off; that they might
afterwards visit the officers, and get them to attend
their church. From what I saw and heard, I
judged that the priesis supposed that many of them

had renounced only that they might become of-
ficers. )
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I saw Father McMahon so often, and heard of
him so much before I entered the nunnery, that I
suppose I was about as well acquainted with his
character as many of the citizens of Montreai;
and to those who have intelligence, and are free
from bigotry, I would appeal for the truth of what
I say in the next paragraph. He was intemperate,
and often was to be secn lolling from side to side
in a calache, when driven through the streets, by
one of his spiritual children, as he called the man;
though he was held in such repute for sanctity, by
many of the ignorant Canadians, that they would
say he was holding communion with Ciod, and bad
his spirit in heaven. He was sometimes complain-
ed of to the bishop, who would often let him off,
calling him the persecuted McMahon.

After my entrance into the Veiled Departiment,
T often saw McMahon's character displayed, under
even less disguise. He was a great friend of the
Superior, and spent much time in the indulgence
of his favorite vice, intoxication, as he enjoyed
great freedom in the nunnery. He often drank
himself fast asleep, and then was accommodated
with a bed until he was able to walk. When he
was sick, too, and resorted to the *“Holy Retreat,”
he was allowed as much indulgence as any of the
priests. This was the case at a period when he
was confined there by two of the most loathsome
diseases known in the world.

I was more than once ordered by the Superior
to make punch for her and Father McMahon; and
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I have known them to drink until both were evi-
dently affected by liquor, indeed, to such a degree,
as to present a disgusting appearance. Several of
the old nuns were also addicted to drinking. I was
one day directed by the Superior to go with an-
other nun, and lift McMahon from the floor to the
sofa in her room. We obeyed her orders, although
the task was a degrading one, under the circum-
stances in which we found him. There he lay
and slept until towards night, when he awoke,
groped his way to the Seminary, through the sub-
terranean passage, and came back in clean clothes,
in time to say vespers in the private chapel. And
this was not a solitary instance of a similar kind:
for several times afterwards, I knew of his being
in a state not less discreditable to his morality and
religious character.

In consequence of his influence with the Supe-
rior, he had authority to demand the best wines
whenever he pleased. These were kept, in consid-
erable quantities, in the first range of closets, in
the cellar next to the stairs, at the end; as I well
knew, by being often sent to bring up some : for
McMahon has sometimes used a very profane ex-
pression, when demanding the best wine—* Bring
us,” he would say, “ some of the blood,’—alluding
to the blood of Christ.

There were many occasions on which the
Priests’ Parlor was a scene of riot; more than one
in which they proceeded to violence. I was one
day alarmed, by hearing the Superior direct an
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old nun to go to the Seminary through the subter-
ranean passage, and call for help, as there was a
quarrel in the apartment. There was much noise
there; and when the door was opened, two priests
appeared, who had been fighting for some time, and
were bleeding as if half dead.

The priests’ room in the nunnery, was frequent-
ly thus disturbed by disputes, quarrels, and fight-
ing. The causes were different, and I generally
knew something of them, especially when I was
employed in waiting on the priests, as I have men-
tioned in my first volume. I was often sent to
carry waiters loaded with refreshments and liquors
to the door, where I would set them down, and af-
ter knocking, retire. So when the priests wished
any thing removed, they would set it outside, and
knock for me to come.

They would often get decply engaged in gaming,
either there or in somie other room; and I have
known them stake the profits of their next mass—
play, and lose them. Afterwards quarrels would
sometimes arise when the account was to be set-
tled; as the winner, perhaps, would claim that it
was to be the profits of a high mass, whilst the
loser would say it was a low one. Even after
such a question had been settled, the winner would
sometimes charge the loser with promising a high
mass, and paying a low one; and then high words
and blows would ensue.

On Saturday afternoons, the priests were accus-
tomed to assemble in their parlor, or private room,

11*
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in the greatest numbers—sometimes twenty or
thirty of them would be there together, drinking
and gambling. One day the bishop came in with
a black eye, and a priest asked him how he had
got it, insinuating something, in reply to which
the bishop told him he lied. The priest answered
that he cared for neither bishop nor devil, and
soon struck at him, and knocked off his hat. The
others interfered; and when some remonstrated,
and explained the enormity of the sin, the offend-
er, though half intoxicated, threw himself upon
his knees and humbly begged pardon, promising
to pay him all the fees he should receive before a
particular time, which he mentioned.

On another occasion, a party of seven or eight,
who were drinking together there, at an entertain-
ment given by the Superior of the Seminary, fell
into a terrible battle. The cause of it, as I gather-
=d afterwards, was this: A song had been made
in ridicule of Bishop Lartigue, 1 do not know
when, by some of the American priests, with whom
he was not popular. On this occasion, most of
those in the room being Americans, some of them
began to sing it, after they had been drinking to-
gether for some time. 'Those who were in favor
of the bishop, got angry at this, and they proceed:
ed to blows. The Superior of the Seminary, who
was one of the party, struck old Father Bonin,
when two others came up to take his part. The
table was covered with cut glass tumblers, &e. sent
in by the Superior of the Seminary, and 1n a short
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time two of the party were dancing on it, and
kicking it about in all directions. The floor thus
Became strewed with broken glass; and in a violent
seufle which censued between them all, several
fell, and were badly cut.

In the midst of it came in Bishop Lartigue, who
attempted to stop the fight, but could not succeed
for some time, and got one or two severe blows
himself, from nobody knew who. The noise and
confusion were dreadful. The nuns present were
all frightened, but could do nothing, and the Supe-
tior of the Convent stood by wringing her hands,
and crying bitterly. When the battle was over,
one of the nuns was sent to Father Bonin, to dress
a wound he had received, but was too much agita-
ted to do it, and I took her place. 'The old man
had a long and deep cut near the temple, and bled
very freely. He said he had fallen upon a piece
of glass and cut it, but told me he had long wanted
to give the bishop one good knock, and had taken
advantage of the confusion to strike him in the
"~ face.

I found afterwards that his story was very likely
to be true ; for the bishop had a good large bruise
near his eye, which he did not like to have secn,
and in con.sequence spent the remainder of the day
inthe nunnery. After sunset his calache was sent
for, in which he took his departure for home.

Some of the most alarming scenes I ever knew,
were the fights which now and then took place in
tho nuns’ dortoir at night, between priests. One
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night, when I was sitting up in the sick room, I
heard an alarm, and ascertained that such a quar-
rel had taken place there, in which an old nun,
(old Saint Mary,) had had a limb broken in at-
tempting to suppress it. Two priests were fight-
ing, when she interfered, and received a blow from
one of them. which laid her up for a long time,
and from which, asshe used to say, she never en-
tirely recovered.
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CHAPTER XIL

Remarks on my own state and feelings, during the last few monthg—
Reasons why I did not publish all I knew in my first book—Reasons
for making new disclosures in this volume.

SincE the completion and publication of my first
edition, I have experienced so much kindness and
sympathy among persons of different classes, who
have taken an interest in me, that I feel less like
a lonely and friendless female, and suffer no less
from the apprehensions of falling into the hands
of those enemies whose power I was then inclined
too much to magnify and to dread. I have real-
ized, from experience, what one of my earliest
female friends in New-York tried to make me be-
lieve while I was an inmate of the Bellevue Asy-
lum, that no Roman priest could cxercise over me,
in this country, any of that authority to which I had
been subject in Canada, and which I wasinformed
was claimed by Conroy and Kelly.

It is but seldom that [ am visited, in my dreams,
with those awful recollections which so frequent-
ly haunted me when I closed my volume which
has already been before the public. T was then
often rendered miserable by visions which would
for a time seem as vivid and real as truth; and those
who were near me at night would tell me that I
screamcd and spoke French. Butnow I have beenfor
weeks an inmate of a kind and sympathizing Chris-
tian family, and enjoyed the attentions, the counsels,
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and the care of friends with whom God has blessed
me; and now, with improved health, a constitutton
shattered, but apparently improving, and feelings
more uniform and tranquil, I have reviewed my sor-
rowful life with more care and deliberation, and not
only brought together the contents of the preceding
pages, but recalled a considerable amount besides,
which I have thought ought now to be recorded
and published.

I am now, perhaps, better able than before to
judge what kind of information is most important
to be laid before the people of this country; for,
having conversed with many of different stations in
life, I have found not only that they are desirous of
learning the truth, but what kinds of truth it is they
are most ignorant of.

While preparing for my first bool, the question
often presented itself to my mind, what class of facts
within my knowledge, ought I to publish, and what,
if any, 1t would be proper to withhold? Before I
could form any satisfactory plan on this subject, it
seemed necessary to fix upon some general princi-
ples to serve as a guide; and after much reflection,
I decided upon the following :

In the first place—although some things which
I had to communicate were of such a nature as
ought not to be mentioned without solid reason;
yet, such was the important object to be gained by
their avowal, and the necessity of having them
understood, that I could not long hesitate in bring-
ing them out. After I had overcome the extreme
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reluctance I naturally felt to present myself volun-
tarily as a participator in dreadful and shocking
scenes, I still might question, whether by narra-
ting them, even with the most scrupulous caution,
I might not propagate something of the very evil
of which I had to complain. But I was among a
people who had no suspicion of the existence of
enormities with which I had been familiar; and
there was nobody but myself able to open their
eyes. It seemed to me to he important to the peo-
ple of the United States, that they should know
the characters of the priests and nuns of Montreal,
as I had seen undeniable cvidence of their being
connected with others in this country, and having
considerable influence with them.  If allowed to
go on, who could tell hew far they might succeed
in bringing things to such a condition as they arc
in Canada? [ therefore determined to run the risk
of puttiny the modest to the blush, by the disclo-
sure of truths necessary to Le known for the safety of
astate of society which I had alrcady scen enough
of to admire and love. In malking such disclosures,
however, 1 determined to use the most guarded lan-
guage, and as much brevity as could be made con-
sistent with a clear exposure of what seemed most
necessary to be known.

In the second place, there was a considerable
amount of information of which T was in posses-
sion, which T had reccived from others, and counld
not veuch for on my own responsibility, and with
that full and entire confidenca with which T could
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state facts of which I had been a witness or a par-
ticipator. This I resolved to pass over in silence,
at least the great body of it, that I might run no
risk of introducing any thing erroneous into my
book, whose accuracy I designed to render proof
against any attack whatever. Facts of this class
I have therefore thus far abstained from introducing.
In the third place, there was one more class of
statements which I had it in my power to make,
concerning which I felt greatly at a loss. These
were things of which I had been an eye-witness,
but the publication of which would draw into the
ranks of my opponents many individuals and many
feelings not touched by my first volume, It is true,
80 long as I withheld these from the public, I might
be chargeable with only an imperfect development
of what I proposed to unveil; but some considera-
tions had weight with me on the other side.
Perhaps if I should disclose the whole at first,
my tale might appear too far surpassing belief
Indeed, my experience has done much already to
persuade me that such would have been the case. I
have suffered much pain from the doubts expressed
of my story by intelligent persons and Protestants,
who could plead neither want of education, nor
prejudices against mc—merely on the ground that
I told incredible things. What would they have
thought, if' I had begun by telling all I knew?
Another object I had in view, was to confine the
public attention to the Hotel Dieu, and not permit
the cye to wander from the centre and source of
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evils. To that the attention of my readers has been
heretofore confined, notwithstanding the efforts made
by my enemies to distract it. The time has comes,
however, when I feel it my duty to proceed to oth-
er disclosures and other scenes.

I would, however, assure the public, that it has
cost me many an effort to overcome my repugnance
to enter upon them. 1 have passed many a sleep-
less night, while pondering on the question: Shall
I reveal other truths, or let them be for ever un-
known? It has appeared to me, however, that
those other facts which I am acquainted with, ought
not to die with me; but that every thing important
to be known, which I have either witnessed myself,
or had proved to me by sufficient evidence, should
be brought before the world.

i2
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CHAPTER XIIL

Two of the Vows taken after I was received as a nun--Father Bresseau—
His story as he narrated it—His reception from the Bishop—His in-
troduction into the Nunuery wounded—His Death.

I mavy perhaps have excited the curiosity of some
of the readers of my first volume by my allusion
to my three vows, and yet withholding them. I
could not make up my mind at that time to mention
them; and now, after much consideration, I have
hardly known whether I ought to give them tothe
American public, or to pass them over in silence.
I have ascertained, however, since I have convers-
ed with so many persons of different characters and
stations in this city, that very little knowledge ex-
ists in relation to Convents, and the character of
our Canadian priests and nuns, which, it seems to
me, ought to be better understood. Besides, I have
undertaken in this volume to disclose things not
mentioned in my former one, which are intimately
connected with the purport of those vows, and in-
deed quite dependent upon them.

In doing this, which { have deliberately conclu-
ded to be a part of the solemn duty I owe to the
world, it must be recollected by those who might
be most disposed to blame me, that the fault is
chargeable, not upon her who proclaims the evil,
but upon those who commit and conceal it.

The import of the First Vow was this :~that all
officers and citizens admitted into the nunnery in
priests’ dresses were to be obeyed in all things.
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The Second Vow was—that there are things in
the Island, which, if I know, I will not disclose.

These two vows, and a third one, led to the com-
mission of many crimes.

Some time after I was received, to my great
amazement, after we had retired to our sleeping
room one night, a man inthe dress of a priest spoke
to me, whom I recognised to be a gentleman, who
resided but a few streets from my mother’s.—I
spoke to him, and asked him if it was not he; I
told him it was of no use to attempt to deceive me,
for I knew him. He requested me never to men-
tion that 1 had seen him there; and informed me
that he had given five hundred dollars to the Semi-
nary for permission to come in under the garbof a
priest, through the subterranean passage. He in-
formed me that many British officers were admit-
ted in the same manner.

Not many weeks after my reception, an old priest,
Bresseau, came into the nunnery one day ; and not
long afterwards, in the priests’ sitting-room I found
him in a state of intoxication. He began by say-.
ing how little he cared for the bishop, and then
spoke on a subject which seemed to be uppermost
with him—a controversy which existed between the
bishop and himself. Without any encouragement
'on my part, beyond that of being a listener, which
I could not very well avoid, he told me a long sto-
1y, the substance of which I very well remember,
although I do not know that I had recurred to it in
many months, until it was accidentally brought ta
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my mind by a little circumstance which occurred
just before the following record of it was commit-
ted to paper.

Priest Bresseau, as he stated, had been for many
years stationed at the parish of Barqui—the position
or distance of which I do not know. It was, I be-
lieve, out of the districted country, and I presume,
is not to be found on the Montreal calendar. How
long he had his residence there I did not under-
stand ; but long enough, as he said, to have a fami-
ly of seven children in the house of a woman of
the parish, and one of four in another. Besides,
he mentioned a third case of a somewhat similar
nature.

Bishop Lartigue, as my informant declared, had
practised on this plan in many instances—viz : when
he saw that any country-priest was making money
fast, he would soon send another to take his place,
and remove him to some less lucrative situation.—
In the circumstances above inentioned, Bresseau re-
ceived an order from the bishop to leave his parish.
He wished to remain, however, long enough to
make provision for the support of his children, and
determined that he would remain at all hazards.—
* He cared not for the pope or bishop,” as he told
me; and resolved to do as he pleased. He there-
fore resolved to take the only means that he knew
of, to obtain legal authority for remaining in his
parish. The Governor of the province, as he sta-
ted, had a right, at least in certain cases, to prevent
the bishop from removing a priest; and he peti-
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tioned him to interfere in his behalf, In this he
was successful ; and he was suffered to retain his
place. The bishop, of course, could not but be
displeased at such an interference; and the circum-
stances of the case Bresseau either knew, or pre-
sumed to'be extensively known among the clergy.

In time he succeeded in the object he had so
much at heart; for he accumulated money, and
by some means got enough to purchase three or
four farms, which, or the incomes of which, he
secured for the support of his children. He then
determined to hold out in his opposition to the bish-
op no longer, feeling rather conscience-smitten at
the thought that he had set his authority at defiance.
He did not wish to remain in the position of a
determined opponent of him, and decided to pro-
ceed to Montreal, and have the matter properly ar-
ranged, so that he might again enter into a good
understanding and connexion with the Seminary.
He added that he had recently arrived in the city,
and was expecting the bishop’s returr, who was then
absent on one of his tours of visitation, and expected
to return before many days. It appeared that he
had found no impediment to his entrance into the
Seminary, and he certainly was received with free-
dom in the nunnery, as he had been indulging ina
too free use of wine when I saw him. ;

1 heard some of the main points of Bresseau’s
story corroborated by remarks which fell from sev-
eral other priests in conversation, particularly B?-
nin, who spoke of the conduct of Bresseau in his

12*
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opposition to the bishop, with much applause. Ha
said that if he should ever hereafter be well sta-
tioned in any country place, he never would submit
to be driven out of it. He would be as bold and
resolute, and have his own way.

It was no uncommon thing to hear priests speak
in strong terms against Bishop Lartigue, when
they supposed they might do so without its reach-
ing hisears. I have heard some of them curse
him, and use different French terms of contempt.
At the same time there were always numbers of
the priests who would on every occasion advocate
his part.

Some time after the occurrences above mention-
ed, T was in the sick-room one day, attending on
the sick nuns, when several priests came in gréat
haste, and asked me where Dufresne was, (he was
then Coufessor in the nunnery.) 1 replied that he
was probably in the chapel; when they desired
me to send Sainte Susan for him immediately. We
went into the little sitting-room adjoining, which I
have so often mentioned before, and waited a short
time for Father Dufresne. While there, the priests
spoke of there being a dreadful state of things in
the Seminary : a scene of violence and bloodshed,
which had induced them to come through the sub-
terranean passage to obtain assistance. Bresseaun,
they said, was severely injured; they left him ly-
ing bleeding and helpless, and they presumed he
would die.

Sainte Susan soon returned without Dufresne,
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whom she could not find ; and then the priests sent
me to call the Superior, as they wanted permission
to bring Bresseau into the hospital of the nunnery.
Some said he could be brought through the under-
ground passage, tc avoid observation. Others said
no; he could not be, but had better be brought in
a caleche into the nunnery yard—but the gates
must be instantly closed, to shut out the spectaior&

I hastened off to find the Superior, and, having
delivered my message to her, she returned with
me to the sitting-room. The priests told her that
there was a terrible affray in the Seminary, caused
by Bresseau’s appearance. 'The bishop, who had
recently returned, had found him there, and ordered
2imout. Bresseau refused to obey, and the bishop
attempted to force him out, when one and another
came to the aid of each, and a scuffle and a fight
ensued, with chairs for weapons, in which the of-
fender had been severely, and probably mortally
wounded.

“ That is exactly as it should be,” replied the
Buperior, on hearing the news: “ that is what those
must always expect who disobey their superiors.
That is the proper reward for those who are rebel-
lious. Itis his own fault, and the right punish-
ment has befallen him—Ilet him die.”

The priests told her that they wished to obtain
her permission to bring the wounded man into the
hospital. * That,” said she, *would be setting a
bad example, and encouraging disobedience in
others. The devil will have him—let him die.”
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At length, however, she appeared to relent, and
said she would admit him out of charity, and for
the love of God; though not for his own sake.
One of the priests, therefore, hurried off under
ground, to have Bresseau brought from the Semi-
nary. I think it was Bonin who carried the
message.

It was not long before I saw a caleche coming
through the yard; and when I was near enough
to observe distinctly, I saw Bresseau in it, with his
head leaning on the left, and a long wound on
his right temple, from which the blood was flow-
ing freely. Several priests were round him, en-
deavoring to stanch the blood with a towel, and a
substance, which I believe grows in Canada, call-
ed vestriliew. Their eflorts, however, appeared to
be in vain: for the blood continued to flow freshly
in spite of their exertions.

Bresseau, I found, was not so far gone as to have
lost his senses, or the power of speech : for I soon
heard him cursing in a great passion. *That
rascal of a bishop,” said he, * has done it for me,
with the kick he gave me in the stomach with his
boot.”

When the carriage stopped, he was taken up by
three or four priests, and carried into the priests
sitting-room, or parlor, and laid on a bed.

It happened that while the caleche had been on
the way from the Seminary, and in passing along
the street, the wounded priest had attracted the
notice of several passengers; so that a number of
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persons were immediatcly at the nunnery doer, to
learn what was the matter. The answer made to
them, as I understood, was, that the old man had
fallen down stairs in the Seminary, and was on his
way to the hospital to be taken care of.

The care of Bresseau was assigned to me; and
I was employed much of my time in attendance on
him.  Of all the profane and infamous men I ever
knew, I thought 1 never had met with his equal
Yet, what made it the more remarkable, I under-
stood he had several sisters who werc very respcet-
able ladies. He was always in bad humor, and
gave vent to it in volleys of curses, and language
otherwise most offensive.

I had reason to believe that he was attended
more than once by the nunnery physician, Dr.
Nelson: for I was several times told by the old
nuns, that the doctor had given such and such
directions about him. Among the instructions
given me, as by his authority, was one to let Bres-
seau have no more brandy.  When he learnt that
this was to be denicd him, he cursed the doctor,
and then once more abused the bishop; saying,
that after death, if he found he had the power,
there was not a devil in hell that he would not
sond to torment him. He one day handed me a
tumbler to get some brandy for him; and on my
refusing, he threw it at my head. I was s¢ much
frightened, that'I screamed and ran away.

Bresseau lingered in the nunnery, I think, about
three weeks. Scveral priests came in, at different
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times, to ask his pardon in any thing they might
have offended him. He freely granted their re-
quests, but always with the condition, that they
should, on every occasion that might offer, give
the bishop a blow for him. He often indulged in
the most severe language against the bishop, but
was usually more guarded in the presence of the
old nuns, who sometimes checked him when he
went too far, by threatening to tell the Superior.
He knew that she had the power of turning him
out of the nunnery when she pleased, and that 1if
he were turned out, he would have no better ac-
commodations than those afforded by the Seminary.
There he might stay in his room, and receive the
attentions of a man, but the treatment of the sick
is vastly inferior in that institution, to what is se-
cured to them in the Hotel Dieu.

The Superior one day called me to her room,
saying she wished me to fix a cap for her to go
out with. I went to the drawer to get one out,
when I heard the bishop’s name mentioned as en-
tering, and was, therefore, induced to pay attention
to the conversation, which ensued between him
and the Superior, when otherwise, it was possible,
I might not. He told her she had taken an im-
proper step, in admitting Bresseau into the nunnery.
She had donc that which she had no business to
do. The consequences would be bad—for if he
had remained in the Seminary, he would have
humbled himself, and submitted to his authority,
but now he was encouraged to set him at defiance.



DBRESSEAU’S DEATH. 143

It would be worse for his soul, as he ould suffer
punishment in the next world for his disobedience.
The Superior listened to the reproof of the bishop
with seeming respect, and did not attempt to justify
herself entirely. “We are all apt to err,” she
said; “1I as well as others. I thought I was doing
right, and intended to do so—but I may have done
wrong.”

Bresseau gradually grew weaker and wealker,
but lost nothing of his temper. One day I had
got him some soup; but on presenting it, he found
it warmer than he wanted, and cursed it in an
awful manner. A few moments after, having left
the room, I was informed that he had breathed
his last.
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CHAPTER XIYV.

Nuns’ Island—What I heard of it In my Childhood—The different
Islinds so called—Priest L’Esperance—My visit to Nuns’ Island.

JanE Ravy, in a conversation she once had with
me, told me that she had been at Nuns' Island, and
mentioned strange things in relation to it, which
made a considerable impression on my mind. Of
the place to which she referred, I had before a lit-
tle knowledge, as much, I suppose, as is possessed
by most people in Montreal, and the vicinity. [
knew that there were several islands in the St
Lawrence called Nuns' Islands, of which the three
principal ones have large buildings upon them.
Some of these must have been noticed by almost
every person visiting Montreal, particularly the
one nearest that city, whieh belongs to the Gray
Nuns, and is in full view from Laprairie, and the
ferry. Many travellers from the United States
must also have noticed the Black Nuns’' Island
near Lachine, several miles up the river. I had
often seen it when visiting my uncle, who lives
near that town; and had heard reports and suspi-
cions concerning it.

A considerable part of it is shut in by a high
stone wall, which encloses three large buildings of
the same material; but I never had been with any
person who gave me any description of it from
personal knowledge, as all access to it was said to
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be most strictly forbidden, even by law, except to
the priests, and those permitted by them. My
uncle sometimes sold cattle to persons employed to
purchase for the island, but never visited the place.
Some of the neighbors, particularly old country
people, I have heard call the place “ The Priests’
Wives' Island.” I sometimes used to look towards
it with some curiosity ; but even from my uncle’s
garret window, little of the buildings was discern-
ible except the chimneys, according to my recoliec-
tion, the view of them being intercepted, I think,
by some high land on the great island; the other
Nuns’ Islands, as I might have mentioned before,
being called “Les petits isles”—the small islands.
Thus it was that I knew little about the subject on
which Jane Ray spolke, on the occasion above al-
luded to; but what she said, although spoken with
teserve, and an air of mystery, impressed me with
the conviction that the island was the scenc of
strange things.

I'must also stop here a inoment to remark, that this
was not the first intimation I had in relation to that
place, though what I had before received was very
indistinct. It was conveyed to me in one of the
three oaths, which I was required to take immedi-
ately on my taking the Black Veil, as the reader
will find in my first vglume.* Those oaths I felt
much unwillingness t&mmunicate in that book,
because they bound us to'perform things of a re-
volting nature, and because they are connected

* See page 135; and Awful Disclosures.
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with disclosures which I thought best to reserve
for the time. In one of those oaths I had made a
most solemn promise to do every thing, that might
be required of me at Nuns' Island, and never to
speak in the nunnery of things which I might
witness there. This was accompanied with the
most dreadful imprecations on myself, in case I
should violate the oath: as that I might be sunk
to the lowest place in hell, have the worst of devily
for my tormentors, and never see the face of the
Savior. No information was given me, however,
from which I might form any idea of the condition
of Nuns’ Island, or the scenes transacted there. [
could only form an unfavorable idea of the place.
I may stop here a moment, to speak of the
Priests’ Farm. The Priests’ Farm is a piece of
ground not far from Montreal, of which I repeat-
edly heard mention made while I was in the nun-
nery. Father Phelan told me most of what I then
heard said about it. No person, as I understood,
is ever admitted there without permission from the
Seminary. Priests, under penance for offences
committed in their parishes, are sometimes sent
there for a time. I have reason to believe that
some old nuns are constantly kept there, and that
others are frequently taken to and from there and
the nunnery, but always ingpriests’ dresses.
Father Phelan told me,f at if a priest wishes
to get a handseme woman™n Lis power, he some-
times manages to get her to the Farm, and then
her friends never hear from ker again. He told
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me also that the priests are somectimes punished
there, who have offended their superiors, by means
of a cap, which is drawn over their head and face,
and destroys life almost at once.  From what he
said, I should judge that the cap might be in some
respects like that I have worn in the Nunnery,
and that it was frequently used. If those in au-
thority are disobeycd in any manner, he said, the
offender is sure to be punished at the Priests’ Farm.

There was a young priest, named LEsperance,
very ignorant and disagreeable, whom I saw a few
months after I took the veil. I had confessed to
him when in the Congregational Nunnery. He
came to the Black Nunnery several times, and I
had several conversations with him on different sub-
jects, particularly one Sunday, when he wished
me to stand by and see that he was not cheated at
cards. But one day he made a proposition to me,
which T thought I ought to communicate to the
Superior. He informed me that he was going to
the United States as a missionary, and invited me
to go with him, as a teacher, and privately live
as his wife. He said that the Bishop would
doubtless permit me to leave the Convent in secret,
and we should never be known. I made little re-
ply to this proposal; but took an early opportunity,
when I found the Superior in her room alone, to
acquaint her with it. It was one day while I was
fixing a dress for her. She expressed great dis-
pleasure, and evidently appeared to regard the
subject very seriously.
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I soon after found that she had informed Father
Phelan, for he spoke of the proposal, and said,
“Je lui donncrais un coup qu'il nc faut pas un
second.” [I will give him a dose, (that is, ecither
a blow or a drink,) that shall be the last] IFrom
this time the Superior and others began to talk to
me of paying a visit to Nuns' Island. She some-
times said it would be good for my health, as I
necded air and exercise; but I found that both she
and Father Phelan had a particular wish that [k
should go; and I was disposed to obey them, as L
considered it my duty. I found that the Superior
appeared, to LiLEsperance, to give in and be his
friend. Something I now understand, which I
could not as well penetrate at that time. I have
no doubt of the meaning of the expression of Fa-
ther Phelan, which I have given above, although
its meaning is of itself rather equivocal.

At length the time was fixed for my visit to the
Island, and I was to go in company with I’ Espe-
rance, at a late hour of the night, and in disguise,.
to avoid discovery. At the time appointed, 1 was
taken into the Superior's room, had a black cloak
thrown over me, (such as are worn by the * Sisters
of Charity,” in the streets of New York,) and the
hood pulled over my head. This was taken from
a cupboard near the Superior’s room, where a sup-
ply is always kept. We then left the Convent
by the same door through which I afterwards es-
caped, turned to the left round the end of the Veil-
ed Department, and at the gate opening on St. Jo-



NUNS' ISLAND. 149

seph’s street, found a coach (charrette) into which
we got.

We took our seats in the carriage, and the
coachman drove to the Seminary, where he stop-
ped, and my companion alighted, rang a bell, and
was admitted by the yardman, who then came out
and addressed a few words to me, and remarked
that it was a raw night, and rather late to cross.
I am unable to speak with certainty of the season,
but I think it must have been early in autumn.
After a delay of fifteen or twenty minutes, L' Espe-
rance reappeared, with another priest, who took
his seat without being introduced, or named to me.
I did not remember ever to have seen him, and did
not afterwards learn his name or any thing con-
cerning him.

The city streets were still as we passed through
them, and nothing occurred worthy of notice, until
we reached the bank of the St. Lawrence, at a soli-
tary spot, some distance below the outskirts of La-
chine. There we went down the bank to the
tiver's side, where we found a boat with two men,
who were addressed by my companions familiarly
as Pierre and Jacques. They received us at once,
as if they had expected our arrival; and, indeed,
complained that they had been obliged to outstay
the appointed time by an hour or two.

These men I recognised, having repeatedly seen
them at the nunnery, on errands to the Superior.
Sometimes I had seen them eating in the yard,
when they happened to be there about dinner

13*
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time. They brought the green trees, or branches,
every year, which were put up before the Nun-
nery, at the time of the Procession, which is held in
commemoration of the Savior’s entrance into Jeru-
szlem, when a priest walks under a canopy held
over his head, while lighted candles are carried,
flowers are strown before him, and all the Congre-
gational Nuns are out.

The boatmen were evidently much besotted with
liquor ; and I had afterwards reason to believe that
they were kept in this cendition, most if not all
their time. We were, however, at length safely
landed, and I found we were on Nuns' Island.

We proceeded up from the shore, passed under
the shade of trces, over turf still green, if I recol-
lect right, and soon reached a gate in a high wall,
where one of the priestsrang a bell. An old man
opened it and freely admitted us, as if prepared for
our arrival. Indeed, it was evident that he had ex-
pected the arrival of visiters, for he told us we
should find a light in the building. The priests

seemed well acquainted with the place, and led
~ me across a yard, towards three large edifices, two
of which stood at right angles. We entered the
one on the right, by a door which opcned inte a
narrow passage, on the left of which an inner door
led us into a room with plain furniture, in which
we found two old nuns sitting, and I think, knit-
ting.

Here also, we found that our arrival had been
expected : for the women were not at all taken by
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surprise, but received me with cordiality, and ap-
peared to have been sitting up till that late hour,
on purpose to await us. Here I took a seat and
sat for some time. The old nuns brought me some
refreshments, of whish I partook; and then one
of them led me to a chamber near the end of the
building, in which were two or three very wide
beds, at least one of which was occupied by
women. Into one of the others I soon got, at the
proposition of my attendant, and she threw herself
down upon one of the others, near me, and enter-
ed into some conversation, with much appearance
of kindness, in which she mentioned that informa-
tion had been sent from the nunnery, that our
party would arrive at the island that night, and that
the gardener, as well as themselves, had been duly
notified of it.

In the morning I found that I was. at liberty to
go where I pleased, without leaving the walls, as
no ceremonies werc to be performed, or prayers
said, as in the nunnery. I was under no obliga-
tion to rise at any particular time, there was no
fixed hour for breakfast, no processions were to be
formed, no time of silence to be observed, and,
which was still better, no penances were to be ap-
prehended. I took advantage of the freedom al-
lowed me, to make some observations on things
around me. The following description embraces
things which I subsequently observed, and is in-
troduced here to make it more complete. An
imperfect plan of the place has been made from
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several hasty drawings made with my own hand,
amended in some points according to descriptions 1
subsequently gave. I do mnot pretend to perfect
accuracy in all things, for that cannhot be reason-
ubly expected in a case of this kind. Asin my
plan of the Veiled Department of the Nunnery,
50 here, I insist that the relative position of build-
ings and apartments, doors, windows, stair-cases,
the furniture, and uses of different parts, as far as
I give them, are substantially correct; and in
relation to this place, as well as to the Convent,
I solemnly declare, the truth of my narrative will
be established whenever a fair examination of the
place shall be made. To that test I appeal, and
on that evidence I rely. What I have to say of
Nuns' Island may be by many questioned, or per-
haps wholly discredited. To such persons 1 will
say—I have furnished you with all the evidence
in my power, and would gladly give more if it
were at my command. I take it upon myself, spon-
taneously, and without any other miotives than a
desire to publish the truth, the declaration of things,
which must expose me to the enmity of many per-
sons. If this volume is proved false, my former
one will of course lose all credit, and my charac-
ter must be past recovery. I shall be condemned
as a false-hearted, though probably a pretty inge-
nious fabricator, and must lose the confidence and
countenance, the society and kindness of such
friends as I now possess. These considerations
would lead to the presumption that what I am to
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say is not a deliberate forgery; but my readers may
ask for more decisive evidence.

To them I would say, that in the river St. Law-
rence lies Nuns’ Island, and on that island are the
edifices I describe, surrounded by their wall, and
carefully secluded from the approach of all but the
priests, nuns, and their confederates and victims.
Within that wall are many visible and tangible
witnesses, ready fo bear testimony to my truth.
If access can be obtained, and the premises exami-
ned, you will be convinced, and 1 shall be justified.
Maria Monl tells a tale which it is important to.
people of America to know; but she may perhaps
excite only the unbelicf, the contempt, or condem-
nation of some by her attempt to open their eyes:
but whenever Nuns' Island shall be examined, her
veracity will be established beyond the reach of
suspicion, and then, I rejoice to think, her motives
will, and must be appreciated.  This confirmation
she may, perhaps, not live to witness; but she has
the satisfaction of anticipating it as a thing abso-
lutely certain, as well as the hope to indulge, that
her child will at some future day reap some benefit
from it, in the regard of those among whom she

may dwell.
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CHAPTER XV.

Description of Nuns’ Island, and the Buildings on it—Reflections on
the Position I assume in making further Disclosures—Commission
given me by Father Phelan—Its Execution—My Terror at the
Thought of Poisoning—Contined by Illness.

Nuns' IsLanp, (that is, the Black Nuns' Island,)
lies in the St. Lawrence, not far, I think, from the
middle of 1, a little below Lachine. The wall
encloses a considerable space, but yct leaves an
extensive pasture outside, with fruit trees scattered
about it, and room for two or three small buildings.
It is so high as to shut out the view of the edifices
from any near point, except, perhaps, the roof and
some small part of the upper stories. It has but
one gate, which is generally closed, and sufficiently
watched by three or four yardmen, to keep out all
persons not allowed to enter, viz. such as bring no
permits from the Bishop, or the Superior of the
Seminary and Hotel Dieu Numnery. The yard-
men, as at the nunnery, are never allowed to enter
the buildings, unless it be such parts as are devoted
to the stable, fuel, &ec.

The buildings are three in number. The lar:
gest stands in front, the second behind it, and the
third at right angles, on the right, as you enter
the first; and the last is that which I first entered.
Entering the first building by the front door, you
find vourself in a hall, with several doors. The
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fist story rooms along the front are slecping-
rooms, and two of those in the rear are spacious
and elegant sitting-rooms, with windows that open
upon a gallery, which extends along the rear, and
one end of the building on the left hand. With it
a door communicates from one of them, and this
is the only way of access to it {from this side of the
building, which looks towards Montreal. In the
gallery we sometimes walked for cxercise.

The first large room had elegant bluc merino
curtains with tassels. There was an ottoman in it,
of blue cloth, bound with black velvet, with raised
corners, so formed as to afford a distinct seat on
cach side, being the most clegant thing of the kind
Iever saw. In one corner of the room was a
sofa. The walls are pink, and the cornice is of
rich alabaster work, a piece of which I picked up
one day on the floor.

Adjoining this apartment is the dining-room,
which, like it, is carpeted. The walls are colored
blue, and the windows without curtains. Except
during meal times, a table commonly stood in this
room, with papers on it. From this room is a door
opening, (like the windows,) upon the piazza,
which is the only direct access to it from any of
the rooms.

Beyond the dining-room is a large spare-room,
and, another of some kind beyond that.

The staircase to the second story leads on from
that below, as well as up to the garret. Near it
is a large stove for warming the second story In
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the winter; and doors open on several sides. One
of them leads into a place which I thought very
singular, and the use of which I could not imagine.
It is a large room without furniture, with a stone
floor, lighted, I believe, only by a small grated
window, with about four panes of glass. In the
midst of this room is a small one, capable of
containing about twenty persons, entirely unfur-
nished, and perfectly dark. The partitions are
so thim, that I think a conversation might be
overheard through them, even if conducted in a low
voice.

At one end of this story are four bed-rooms, each
with two windows, a bed, and other plain furniture.
These rooms are warmed by one stove, placed in
the middle partition, pipes from which extend both
ways through the other partitions.

The entrance to the basement is at one end.
The second room in it is the kitchen, with a large
baking furnace and roasting jack, and several
small furnaces, in a corner. A large table used to
stand in the middle, and the steps lead up outside to
the gallery, which is supported by timbers. The
next room has a stone floor, and the remaining one
on that side of the basement, a wooden floor. On
the front side, and adjoining, is a small cellar with
only a little light admitted through a narrow win-
dow, which I have peeped through from without.
The remainder of the front cellar is all in one
woom, and used for storing fuel.
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e

The second and smallest building, which is in
the rear of this, [ was in but three times. It has
two stories, with a number of small rooms, and lit-
te furniture. It appeared to be principally devoted
to the priests, when T was there, as I recollect see-
ing a number of priests there, and several musical
instruments lying about.

The third building bas a staircase leading up
from the visiters' room, which I first entered, into
the second story, which is oceupied by sleeping-
rooms, with a passize on one side into which they
open.

I have been in the varret of the third building.
It is not partitioned off’ into rooms, but all thrown
mto one, if 1 except a small part towards one end,
where pigeons arc canght. There isalarge looking-
glass, so placed that the birds may see themselves
in it as they fly by; and, some wheat being scatter-
ed near, considerable numbers are caught, most of
which are killed, and sent to market in Montreal.
The pigeons, being deccived, and taking their own
shadows for other birds, are induced to stop, and
are then attracted in by the food, until they cannot
escape. This is a very common way of taking
them in Canada. While in the garret, 1 some-
times looked out of the windows, and enjoyed a
fine view. T could see the river St. Lawrence for
a considerable distance, with boats of Canadians or
Indians passing down, or crossing to the village of
Caughnawuga, which wasalso insight, as well as
the river’s banks for sume milrs.  According to

14
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my recollection, there are windows only at one end,
and on one side of the garret.

They have a cicrgerie, or candle-room in one of
the buildings, wheré, however, only tallow candles
arc manufactured; there is sometimes a good deal
of work to be performed in that branch of busi-
ness.

One day Father Phelan met me in the Pink
Room, and informed me that he had something for
me to do. I of course did notdare to object, much
less to disobey, after the solemn obligations of my
oath, and the hazard, or rather certainty of punish-
nent. I felt myself to be no less in the power of
others there, than when I was in the nunnery, and
believed that disobedience would be as surely fol-
lowed with a heavy penalty. Besides, I believed
that all authority wes vested in the Priests, by the
divine law; and was disposed, on this account, (at
least a great portion of the time,) blindly to follow
their commands and indications, without presuming
to question the propriety of them.

Father Phelan told me that I should meet with
L’Esperance in the other building, that is, the se-
cond, in an apartment which he mentioned ; and
he wished me to take him to a chamber, which he
described, and give him a glass of wine. I should
find two botles, he informed me, in the cupboard
in that room, one of them marked with a paper,
and that I should pour ont for him a tumbler full
from that, and might drink some from the other
myself. Now I knew that L' Esperance was much
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addicted to drink, and always ready for wine, I
might, under other circumstances, have questioned
the object of the step required, or inguired what
was the reason for proceeding in such a manner
whether there was any thing mixed with the wine
in either bottle, and if so, what, and in which.
But how could I dare to do so in my present situa-
tion? I can hardly think that any consideration
would have induced me. I therefore proceeded to
the place indicated, and met L/Esperance, invited
him to take some wine, aad led him to the apart-
ment. On opening the cupboard, I foand two bot-
iles, as T had been told I should, one with a paper
upon it; and filling a taumbler from it with red
wine, and another from the other, I presented the
former to L'Esperance, and taking the other, began
to drink. Suddenly it occurred to me, with an in-
pression of horror, which I cannot describe, that if
there was poison in the wine I had given to the
priest, I should be the cause of his death. Phelan
had threatened, in the Convent, to give him a dose
that should be hislast; and wasnot this the way in
which he intended to accomplish his purpose? My
feelings were entirely too strong to be restrained. [
became in an instant overpowered with the convic?
tion of the truth; and I believe that no threat or
punishment in the power of thoss around me to in-
flict, would have induced me any lonqer to pursue
the plan on which I was proceeding.

I turned round to look at the priest, and saw
that he had not hesitated to tulce oft” the dranght L
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had presented to him, and was then drinking the
dregs of the cup. What Ifelt, it would be useless
for me to attempt to describe. I put down the
glass I held in my own hand, a considerable por-
tion from which I had swallowed, and hastened
out of the room without speaking, ina state of mind
distressing beyond endurance. I left the house,
ran across the yard to that from which 1 had pro-
ceeded, rushed into the room in which I had left
father Phelan, and threw myself upon the sofa. A
new thought had occurred to me on the way. Per-
haps my wine had been poisoned, either by de-
sign or accident: for how did I know that the pa-
per had not been put upon the wrong bottle, or
what reason had I to confide in the honour of any
person who would treat another as I supposed
L’Esperance had been treated? In my extreme agi-
tation of mind, I did not stop to reason: but' m
fears led me to believe the most dreadful thing
which suggested itself I therefore at once em-
braced the idea that I was poisoned, and was soon
to die in agony. I began to cry, and soon to
scream with horror, regardless of every thing
around me. Some of the old nuns came to my as-
sistance, and first asked me to be quiet, and then
commanded me, lest others should learn the cause ;
but for a long time they found it impossible to paci-
fy me. From some remarks which fell from them,
I plainly understood that they had been watching
me while I was giving L'Esperance the wine,
probably through a glass door.
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My health was seriously affected by the occur-
rences of that day, so that I was removed to a bed,
and there was confined about tcn days, suffering
for a time great pain. My strength became gradu-
ally restored, but it was long before I could pru-
dently leave my room.

14*
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CHAPTER XVI.

Companions in Illness—Their Mysterious Appearanco, and Melan.
choly Deportment—Confessions of Angelique—Miss Gordon—
Young Wownen from the U. 3tates.

Tuere were several beds in the same room,
occupied by young women, whose health was fee-
ble. While I remained in the room, there were
several changes among the other occupants: for
sometimes one would enter, and occasionally an-
other would leave us. The names of many I never
heard, and some of them secemed to be almost en-
tirely unknown to cach other. These were com-
monly reserved and silent, apparently averse to
communicating any thing, and not well satisfied
with their condition or company. Some of those
who left the room while I was in it, I afterwards
met with in some of the apartments; but others I
never saw again nor heard of.

What could be the object of having so many
young women assembled here—who they were,
and whence they had come, were natural ques-
tions : but at first [ had no one to answer them.

The reserve and depression observable in such
as I have mentioned, were not by any means exhi-
bited by all.  Several of my room-mates, on the
contrary, were very willing to converse, and in-
deed quite communicative. From these I soon de-
rived information which explained what would
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otherwise have appeared mysterious. I may, per-
haps, best convey to my readers the impressions
which I received, by giving it to them as I myself
received it. ‘

There was a young woman who occupied the
bed directly opposite mine, who was called Ange-
lique. She was among the most communicative
of all, and one of the first who talked with me.
She felt no unwillingness to make known to me
her history, and conversed with apparent frankness
and sincerity. She was of middling stature, slen-
der, with dark eyes and hair. She informed me
that she had once been in the Congregational Nun-
nery, but arrived at the Island a few weeks before
from New York, where she had resided for some
time; and that her visit to Canada was owing to
her intimacy with a distinguished personage, at
whose house she used frequently to resort. She
stated that she used to go to his residence some-
times in the dress of a man, at evening; and on
one occasion felt much apprehension of being dis-
covered. She happened to be late, and had to make
so much noise to gain admittance, that she attract-
ed the attention, not only of two men who appear-
ed to be at watch on a neighboring corner, but of
the neighbors, who raised their windows to see
what was the matter, when, seeing a head with a
night-cap at the window, some one laughed in a
way calculated to express, and at the same time to
excite suspicion. She continued in this practico
until it was thought necessarv, for the sake of con-
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cealment, to send her to a retired place for a time;
and she accordingly proceeded to Canada, and was
received on Nuns' Island. She informed me- fur-
ther, that she had then become a mother, had had
her child talten from her immediately, and had not
seen it since; and expected to return to New
York when her health should be restored.

She told me that most of the young women I
saw, were from the United States. They were the
victims of priests, who had access to them in the
schools and nunneries, to which they were attach-
ed. Some, I understood, were « Sisters of Charity,”
as they are called in this country, who had left
their missions for a time cn similar emergencies;
but most of them were natives of the states, attach-
ed to the nunneries there, either as nuns, novices,
or scholars. These had come off under different
pretences; the place of their retreat, as well as the
cause of their journey, being kept a profound se-
cret from their friends. I got the impression that
Angelique was one of the *Sisters of Charity”
herself, though I am not certain that she told
me so.

She urged me to return to New York with her,
saying I should prefer it to Canada, and used such
arguments as she supposed would incline e to
accede to her proposition. As for herself, she said
she should suffer nothing on account of her expe-
dition to the island, as nobody could ever discover
that she had gone there for any thing but a com-
mon visit to Canada.
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One of the young women, who conversed some-
what freely with me, was called Miss Gordon,
which I presume was her real name. She was
small, good-lvoking, with light hair, and had a scar
on her lip. She told me that she had been in a
Couvent in some part of the United States, but not
as a nun—1I suppose, as a scholar; and had come
to the Island for the same reason as many of the
others, having been sent there by the head priest.
She was soon to return, and told me that she
was resolved to leave the Convent, and to return
to it no more. She carefully abstained from men-
tioning the place of her residence; and this is
ell I recollect about her, except that her infant had
‘been taken from her, (as I was informed was the
‘common practice,) to be placed in the Orphasn
Asylum, at the Gray Nunnery.

Scveral of the young women told me they had
come from the United States, and mentioned their
places of residence; but from my ignorance of the
country, 1 did not particularly regard them, nor
can I now remember them. One said she had been
there several times, and had sent several infants to
the Gray Nuns, and hoped to live to come a dozen
times more. I judged her to be one of the * Sisters
of Charity,” because she worea hood like theirs.

One of these young women had a peculiar scar
on her cheek, and a mole on her lip, which I well
remember, and should know again anywhere. 1
have wished, when meecting any of the «Sisters
of Charity,” in New York, to have their hoods
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raised, as I might, perhaps, recognise some of
them. Possibly I might find the peculiar scar, and
the mole on one of their faces, or something else, 1
have seen on Nuns' Island—at least co I sometimes
think. T have been told by a young Catholic wo-
man, in New York, that many of the “ Sisters of
Charity” are Canadians, and that she knew one
who could hardly speak the English language. I
recollect to have seen several, at different times,
while in the school of the Congregational Nun-
nery, taking leave, to go on missions to L'Ame-
rique, as they sometimes called the United States.

One of the women remarked, in conversation
one day, that the pricsts had more children born o
that Island in a year, than there commonly are ia
a good-sized country village.

There were several arrivals of yourg women,
while I was on the island, and several left it, but I
never saw them coming or going, and was com-
monly left to infer it from circumstances which
came under my notice.  Some of the priests, I be-
lieve, were frequently going and coming : asthere
is no obstacle in the way of those who have the
necessary authority.

A few days before my leaving the place, I miss-
ed Angelique from her bed, and on inquiry, was
informed that she had left the island. She might
have been gone a day or two before I missed her:
for as we went to bed and rose when we pleased,
we were not regular in our hours, and did not ex-
pect to find each other regular.
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She wus not secn by me again, nor have I heard
of her since that day. I am still somectimes re-
minded of her, or some of the other visiters at
Nuns' Island, when I meet one of the * Sisters of
Charity” in the strect.

After the restoration of my health, T began to
leave my room, and visit the different apartments
as before. I commonly spent most of the daytime
in the large building, (No. 1,) and often sat at the
window, at the end of the dark passage, enjoying
the air and the view, which was exteusive and
agreeable.
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CHAPTER XVII

Occupations of Men and Women on Nung’ Island—A Heart-broken
Woman—Conversation with her—My Departure from the Island
and Return to the Hotel Dieu.

It would be impossible for me to form any esti-
mate, on which I could place reliance, of the num-
ber of men or women I saw on Nuns' Island
There was no regular time for breakfast, dinner
or supper. No bell was rung, no notice was given
for meals, any more than for retiving at night, or
rising in the morning. Food was always prepa-
red and ready, when any of us were disposed to eat;
and we went when we chose, alone or in company,
to the eating-room, at one end of the building, and
helped ourselves in true Canadian style.

Many of my readers may not be aware of the
style of eating practised among many of the lower
Canadians. So many of the priests are of Cana-
dian origin, that their meals in the nunnery, and
on the island, are often disposed of in a rude and
unmannerly way, with but little use of knives and
forks. We often ate standing, while on the island,
and it was common to take even mcat in the
fingers.

As there was no general call, or occasion for as-
sembling at any time, the inmates resorted to their
rooms, or lounged about the galleries, yard, or sit-
ting-rooms, as they pleased : so that it would have
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been impossible to count them all, even if I had
been disposed. But I did not ever think of do-
ing so.

Some of the priests, os I understood, were there
on penances. 'This wus indeed a merely nominal
thing. Priests who have been complained of by
their parishioners, in a formal manner, are some-
times sent by the bishop to Nuns' Island, and some-
times to the Priests’ Farm, to satisfy their accusers
with the form of punishment. I had reason, how-
ever, 10 believe that they generally suffered no pri-
vations, and were far from regarding their resi-
dence as a place of punishment. On the contrary,
I often saw them partake of indulgences. The
edifice numbered 3, was specially devoted to the
priests : but they enjoyed much liberty, and were
allowed to go wherever they pleased.

Among their occupations, some occasionally
spent a while in reading ; and I saw a number of
books lying about in several rooms, which the wo-
men were not expected to look at. Some played
flutes and sang. I have sometimes heard several
of them play together.  Most of their music, how-
ever, was vocal ; and while I was on the island I
heard a varicty of songs sung, particularly those
which were most popular in the nunnery.

The women, that is those whose health would
permit, had a variety of work to perform, particu-
larly with the needle. Sometimes an order would
come from the Superior of the nunncry, to make
a number of towels or shects. and sometimes six

15
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or eight shirts were ordered for some priest, in
great haste. The old nuns would call upon us to
assemble, and gave us no peace till they were
done. Orders sometimes came for the Seminary,
Nunnery, Priests’ Farm, and Bishop. It com-
monly happened, however, that the greater part of
the job was performed by a few of the most indus-
trious or good-natured ones; for the cross and in-
dolent would contrive to get off their part on wheo-
ever would do it. At certain seasons of the year
large quantities of soap were made, and then old
Aunts Margaret and Susan are sent from the nun-
nery to manage that department. Butter and
cheese are made from the milk of the cows kept
on the island ; and several of the nuns most expert
in making them, are employed in the dairy.

I had often noticed a young woman, apparently
rather older than myself, with a peculiarly un-
happy and depressed countenance; but I had never
spoken with her. One day I was set to sew with
her on the same piece—a sheet which was to be
made. We sat together sewing a whole afternoon,
during which little or nothing was said by either
of us. When it grew too dark to do any more,
and our work was laid aside, we kept our places,
and she began to converse with a degree of free-
dom which I had not expected. We were at the
end of the long gallery in the building No. 1, near
the window where I often sat, and knew that we
could not be overheard.

i She began. by saying that she was lonely and
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unhappy; and spoke of the wretchedness of such
a situation, to which I replied with equal freedom,
and in such a manner as to lead her on to say
more. Indeed, she must have known, that if she
gave me opportunity to accuse her of complaining,
and to get her subjected to severe penances or pun-
ishment, I equally committed myself.

She then went on to speak of her early life, and
the place of her former residence, whieh I do not
recollect, although she named it. I have the im-
pression that it was somewhere in Upper Canada,
a retired and pleasant spot. She said that she long-
ed to get away from the nunsand priests, but knew
not how. She was a nun in some Convent, I do
not kknow where ; and her Superior was very harsh
in her treatment, and had put some dreadful pen-
ances upon her. Once in particular, she had near-
ly destroyed her life; for she made her lie, for se-
veral weeks, upon a bed made of ropes, which
wealcened and injured her so much, that she was
unable to sit up for six weeks. If we could con-
trive any way of escaping from the Island, we
might find our way to her native place, where she
would be certain of getting a good and comfortable
residence, for me as well as herself. At the same
time she spoke of it as utterly hopeless, shut up
and watched as we were. She spoke of the pen-
ances she had endured, with a kind of horror; and
said it was hard for her to belicve that it was by
means of such sufferings that anybody could get
to heaven. Indeed, she said heaven must be 2
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dreadful place, if such trials as she was suoject to,
were the way of introduction to it.

She did not speak particularly of the occasion
of her visit to the Island: but, from the state of
her health, and other circumstances, I had no
doubt that it was similar to that which had brought
many others there.

I found that her melancholy was that of despair.
While speaking of her home, she seemed, indeed,
to forget, for a moment, that it was impossible for
her ever to see it again, and exclaimed, “ O, how
happy we should be, living there together!” But
then, when recurring again to her actual condi-
tion, she assured me that she constantly prayed for
death, and sometimes thought sericusly that she
would take her own life.

I felt very much for her, and once told her I
would almost venture to attempt an escape with
her. She said that would be entirely useless—we
had no chance at all. [ afterwards trembled to
think how I had exposed myself, and that she
might possibly inform against me: but this she
never did.

I was not particular in noticing the number of
days I spent on Nuns' Island : but I believe I was
there very nearly three weeks. I am certain, at
least, that three Sundays passed while I was there.
One evening an old nun told me I was to return
to the nunnery ; and that night I set out in com-
pany with three priests, and several nuns, after
putting on a black cloak and hood, as before.
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Savage was one of the priests, and Brunean an-
other. The latter was then confessor at the nun-
nery. Sainte Mary, I remember, was one of the
nuns in company, and two others were old nuns,
who expressed much regret at leaving the place,
saying, that if there was any thing to be done in
the nunnery more than common, they must al-
ways be sent for.

We proceeded from the gate of the wall on foot
to the shore, where Jacques and Pierre were ready
with their boat; and having entered it, they rowed
across to the river's shore, where we found a cha-
rette waiting for us, in which we rode to the city.
The driver stopped at the nunnery gate, from
which I had started with L/Esperance, and having
alighted and rung, we wege admitted into the nun-
nery through the chapel, the sacristy, and the long
passage I have more than once alluded to, in my
former work. Proceeding to the Superior’s room,
she received me ; and, having made me take off’
my cloak and leave it there, she conducted me
into the nuns’ sleeping-room, where I retired to
bed.

The next morning, when Jane Ray met me, she
addressed me with a sarcastic look, saying—
“Well, so you've been to the White Cats’ cas-
tle?”

I never heard the name of L'Esperance men-
tioned after this, except on two occasions. Father
Phelan one day remarked, “So you gave him a
good dose!” thereby confirming my belief, that he

15*
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was dead with poison, if evidence was wanted to
make me feel certain of it. A considerable time
afterwards, while I was in the sick-room, 1 was
called to attend a mass, to be celebrated in honor
of L'Esperance; so that his death was then no
longer to be doubted.
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CHAPTER XVIIL

Dr. Nelson—His visits to the Nunnery sick-room—A night visit to the
vaults—An alaria at night.

Tue following chapter has been written since
the preceding was in the printer's hands. The
contents were brought to my mind by certain re-
cent circumstances. I have occasionally thought
of them before, but did not think of writing them.

I have remarked more than once, I was employ-
ed, for several of the last months which I spent in
the nunnery, in attendance on the nuns in the
sick-room. This is numbered 3 in my plan of the
second story, given in my first volume. I have
now to mention some circumstances which occur-
red in the course of that time, previously to which
I may state a few things in relation to the practi-
ces there.

Dr. Nelson commonly paid his morning visit at
about nine o’clock, and after he was gone, the office
of the Virgin Mary was performed, which occupi-
ed a long time, and consisted of many prayers, &e.,
attended with various and tiresome postures, which
often quite exhausted my strength. We would
have to sit, stand, kneel, bend, &c., till, at the close,
I have been obliged to throw myself upon the floor
from extreme fatigue. After the conclusion of the
office, the sick nuns were supplied with their lun-
cheon.
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Dr. Nelson had often much to say to the Supe-
rior. But one day I observed him in conversation
with her, after he had visited the sick, at a time
when I wished him away. It was Monday morn-
ing; and then there was always an additional
amount of work to be done, and more hurry than
usual in doing it: for at that time more priests
than on other days come into the nunnery; and as
they frequently passed through the sick-room, the
Superior wished to have every thing in good or-
der. The sheets were changed: on that day, and
the Superior, who was always particular in hav-
ing things right there, would insist on eur being
quick.

It must have been on a Monday merning when I
saw the Doctor talking with the Superior, because
I remember that when I saw him, I thought he
would interfere with my prompt performance of
the laborious task I had before me. The Superior
soon called me to her, and, I remember, used a
term which she often did when disposed to coax us
to any thing—

“Vien & ta mére. ma petite-fille” (Come to
your mother, my little daughter.)

* T approached her, and she made me take a seat
between her and the Doetor, when she informed
me that she had something to say whieh I must not
repeat. “ The Doetor,” Sald she, * wants the corpse
of St. Agnes, and will give forty dollars for it. He
will come this evening to get it; and when all is
still, you must come down to my room. Do not
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mention any thing of this to the 0ld nuns, for they
will tell the Bishop.”

She then gave me two keys, which I took; and
then attended to the work I hadto do. That even-
ing, at about half past nine, I went down to the
Superior’s room, ready, in case of meeting any one
by the way who might question me, to say that I
was on business to the Superior, as she had told
me to answer. [ was surprised to find Dr. Nelson
with her. They both rose, and proceeded with
Jne through the first story, to the little covered pas-
sage leading into the sacristy. Crossing that, we
came toa door at the corner, which I had never
noticed before; and that the Superior intended to
open, but found she had left the key behind. She
therefore made me and the doctor wait while she
returned to get it; but after a time she came back,
having been unable to find it.

The Superior then said that we must go another
way ; and leading us to the door which cpens into
the church of the Convent, went under the altar
and raised a trapdoor. Below this was another,
fastened by a large iron bolt, which the doctor re-
moved ; and beneath we saw the steps which led
into the vaults. )

I had been in the vaults before, but not by this
way. There is a trapdoor in the floor of the
church, not far, I should think, from the middle,
but nearer the altar than the front door; and by
that I had gone down on some occasions of burial.
The steps were carpeted. One night, I recollect,
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I was sent there with some others, in consequence
of the fears of the Superior, who thought old Susan
might have left some fire there, as she had gone
down with a light. I well remember the dread
with which I passed along the gloomy place, and
the thought that some of the many dead' persons.
there might rise and catch hold of me.

But to return to the occasion of which I was
speaking. The doctor, I remember, remarked
that he had never been there beforc. When he
had opened the door, he came up, and going to the-
front door of the church, called in two men. who
were waiting there, and then we all went dowm
together. The smell of the place was oppressive
and disagreeable, as I had before found it. The
men took the coffin- of Sainte Agnes, brought it up,
and carried it into the street. 'The Superior and
myself accompanied them to the door. It wasa
hateful night, the air, I recollect, was cold; and I
stood a little behind the Superior, till the doctor
and his men were gone; when she closed the door,
and locked and bolted it. The handle, T recollect,
was brass, and the inside considerably ornamented.

Some things occurred in. the nunnery which I
never fully understood: There was a dreadfuf
alarm one night, during my attendance in the sick
room, the recollection of which is very painful to
me. While I was sitting up, T heard shrieks at,
some distance, but so loud that I sprung up imme-
diately, as did all the sick nuns who were able.
As soon as I recovered myself, I told them to. re-
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turn to their beds and lie down; for I knew the
Superior would blame me severely, if she should
come in and find them in such confusion. The
screams, however, continued, and they would not
pay any attention to me, until they ceased, which
they did in a short time. They then lay down,
-and every thing became pretty tranquil again. It
was very plain, however, that the curiosity of all
was excited by so extraordinary a noise, though
they were not allowed to talk about it, and of
course kept silence. My first thought was, that
some person was undergoing great suffering in the
little room to which I have several times referred
in my first volume, as the room of the three states,
or the Purgatory chamber: butthe sounds seemed
too distant for that, and I presumed the sufferer,
whoever it was, must be farther off in some apart-
ment in that direction. There was a shrillness in
the sounds at first that made me think the voice that
of a nun; but they afterwards seemed more like
that of a man.

While [ was reflecting -on the subject, after the
lapse of a short time, the Superior opened the door,
and passed rapidly through the sick-room, accom-
panied by a few old nuns, without speaking-a word.
She afterwards passed again and again. The last
time she passed, I was in the sitting-room; and it
happened, (owing to her flurry, as I presume,)
that she locked the door that led into the sick-
room. A few moments after, the screams began
again, more loud and dreadful than before, so that
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I sprung up and pulled at the door, to prevent
another scene of confusion among the sick nuns,
and then first found it locked. I eould hear them
moving, and perceived that they were in a dread-
ful state of horror. Every moment the shrieks
seemed more terrifie, till it appeared as if several
voices were mingled, at their highest pitch. At
length they ceased, and I never heard a word said
on the subject afterwards, nor obtained any light
whatever of the origin or canse. The night I
spent seems to me one of the most dreadful I can
recollect in the whole course of my life.

I have seen the short letter from Dr. Nelson,
(the nunnery physician,) which is inserted in the
book called “Awful Exposure,” published by Messrs.
Jones & Leclere, in opposition to my * Awful Dis-
closures;” and as he professes never to have seen
me in that institution, it has occurred to me that I
may assist his memory, not only by narrating the
preceding account of our visit to the vaults of the
church to obtain the body of Sainte Agnes, but by
requesting his attention to other circumstances
which he can hardly have forgotten. -

I would therefore address myseIf particularly to
Dr. Nelson, and ask him if he remembers, about
the spring of 1834, entering the nuns’ sick-room,
(No. 4, in the second story of my plan of the veiled
department,} and speaking with a patient who occu-
pied the bed in the corner on the right hand?
Does he remember a little nun, in attendance at the
time, whom he called into the adjoining sitting-
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room, (No. 3,) and directed her not to tell the Su-
perior his opinion of the case until he should call
again?

Does he remember calling again that afternoon,
dressed in a colored round jacket, figured waist-
coat, white trousers, and grayish colored hat, ac-
companied by a tall, handsome young man, with
light hair and a gold watch chain, who had often
been sent by him before with messages about medi-
cines, &c. ? Does he remember, that after speaking
and laughing with several patients, and saying
something to or about “ little Mary,” (a nun whom
they both kuew,) he spoke with the sick nun first
mentioned, who was bathing her fcct on the left
side of the room? Does he remember calling the
little nun in attendance again into the sitting-room,
and telling her to state to the Superior his opinion
of the case, with his advice to have her removed up
stairs? Does he recollect the name of that little
nun to whom he gave the message? Ifnot, I can
assist him. Her name was Maria Monk.

Perhaps he may have forgotten also in what
place he commonly washed his hands, and what
he said one day to a nun as she handed him a tow-
el. Also, the oranges he brought in privately for
little Betsey, and his request to have them placed
in the cupboard, to be given to hera few at a time,
to avoid the notice of the Superior.

For that young girl, little Betsey I felt, and al-
ways shall feel, a peculiar interest. She had beau-
tiful black eyes, was remagkably handsome, and

16
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her disposition was to be friendly and true. I did
not mention her in my first volume, lest I should
be the cause of her suffering in some way or other.
It is not my intention now to add more than a sin-
gle paragraph respecting her.

She told me one day, that in consideration of a
sum of money paid to Father Dufresne, by a young
officer, whose name she mentioned, he was allow-
ed to take her from the nunnery, and place her in
a hired lodging in a part of the Government
House, not under my mother’s charge, where she
remained for several weeks. She was present at
the theatre and at other public places, where she
appeared under a feigned character, and was after-
wards brought back to the nunnery, as a large sum
of money was pledged for her restoration.

I also know, from certain facts, that this was not
a solitary instance of the kind.
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CHAPTER XIX.

Specimens of songs sung by Priests in the Nunnery—Reason why
they are introduced here—Song of La Brunette—Bonjour Prétre.—
Frangois Margotte—A Parody--Les trois jolis Vicaires. Les prétres
du Seminare. Le joli prétre. Les prétres s’en vont. Les gens de
New York. Mon cher pére.

I was always fond of music from a child. 1
have never received much instruction even in sing-
ing: my only teachers having been a few priests,
who, as I mentioned in my first volume, used occa-
sionally to come into the nunnery on Saturdays,
and lead the nuns in performing some of the chants
and hymns which were used in the chapel.

In my childhood I heard a variety of songs, par-
ticularly among the Canadians, and in the French
language; but in the nunnery I often used to hear
the priests sing a number which were entirely new
to me. All these contained expressions more or
less disgusting and immoral; and there is not one
of them which I have been able to recal, that I
should be willing to see printed in full. Indeed,
although there are but few which I can now re-
member entire, there are verses or lines in all
which a regard to morality should never allow me
to make known. A few specimens I have conclu-
ded to give, of such passages as are not objectiona-
ble, with a general account of the nature and sub-
jects of the rest, since I have been advised to do
so, by persons whose opinions I respect.

I should remark, by the way of explaining why
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I have never mentioned them before, that the
thought even of alluding to them in a book, never
occurred to me, until a few weeks before the pres-
ent volume was put to press. I had often caught
myself singing my infant to sleep with tunes I had
heard in the nunnery; and my friends had fre-
quently noticed that I sung airs with which they
were unacquainted. But I never mentioned the
peculiar character of nunnery songs to any of them,,
or repeated a single verse of them, until one day
when the subject was introduced by accident, while
conversing about the fight that occurred between
Bishop Lartigue, old Bonin, and other priests,
which I have described in a previous chapter of
this volume. I then alluded to the affray. I was
questioned about its origin ; and having mentioned
the offensive song which was the cause of it, I was
asked for others. Several persons, being informed of
their nature, expressed the opinion that they con-~
tained in themselves an important kind of evidence,
and a desire that something respecting them might
be introduced into the present volume. After some
hesitation I consented ; and such extracts and re-
marks as seem proper, will be found on the sue-
ceeding pages.

I may remarl, that those who have urged me to
take this step, have done so on the following
grounds :—Ist. That if it should prove that these
songs are not known in Canada, out of the nunnery,
as I believe to be the case, they will afford a strong
evidence to the reader that I must have learnt them
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in the nunnery, which 1sthe fact. 2d. That being
sung by priests, and in some cases at least, composed
by them, they afford witness to the truth of what I
have said of their character and conduct, thus con-
demning them out of their own mouths. Certain
it is that they are very favorite songs with them,
especially some of the most objectionable ; as I
have heard them, in spite of myself, repeated over
and over again, particularly when the priests were
engaged in drinking and gaming.

I am not well acquainted with the French lan-
guage, and there are some words and lines here
which I do not understand, and cannot get explain-
ed. I never saw any of these songs on paper be-
fore.

1. LA BRUNETTE.

La Brunette allait & confesser;

La Brunette, allant, i€ ié ié.

Dites donc moi si je suis noire,

Ou si mon miroir me dément.

O ma belle, vous &tes si peu brunette,

Que dans le confessional on n’appergoit pas tant.
& » * » »

J'ai mis la main dans sa goussit,

Je tirais six cents livres.
* L * * L 3

The Braonette went to confess—
Tell me if I am so very dark-complexioned.

Oh no, you are so little of a brunette .
That it is hardly to be perceived in the confessional.

* * * L] *

1 put my hand into her purse,
And took out six hundred livres.—&ec. &e.

(The remainder it is better to withhold.)
16*
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2. BONJOUR PRETRE.

Bonjour, prétre! Jéan Marte! -
QOu Etiez vous veiller eamédi?
J ai &6 veiller dans le Convent,
Avec Marie. Elle n’a point faite la betisse
Que tu m’a faite quand je viens icit.
C’est trop mal m’ordonner,
Pour venir.de Ruissean borré, &e. &ec.

Good day, priest, Jean Marie!
Where did you spend Saturday evening ?
1 went to spend it in the Convent
With Mary. She did not play me such a trick
As you play me when I come here,
It is too bad to-make me come
From Ruisseau borré,

(Ruisseau borre was the parish in which this priest resided.)

3. FRANCOIS MARGOTTE.

Une foisun prétre qui s’appelle Frangois Margotte,
11 s’habilliait bien propre
Pour aller en promer.de. * *
** Bonjour, M~.:sieur Godreau.”

En faisar* jes farreaux,
En faisant les manigances,
Des civilitiés & la compagnie,
11 gest fait une belle entrée
11 se jisse de parler
Des affaires de consequence.

* * * * *
(The father of the young lady mentioned, then begins)—
Parlez, parlez, mon amile prétre,
Vous pouvez parler, vous avez de I’esprit—
Sans compter de P'indiscrat,
Vous 2tes unhomme de génie.
Jai entendu parler que vous 2tes vanté.

* * %* *
Pour vous recompenser, nous allons vous donner
Une épelle bien manchée.
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There was once a priest named Francis Margotts, who dress-
ed hinself very clean to take a walk.

'“ QGood-day, Mr. Godreau,” (said he,) making hisbows; and
with compliments to the company, he made a handsome en-
trance, and began to talk about things of consequence.

(Here follow several verses which I but imper-
fectly remember. They intimate, that after coming
into the house disguised as a citizen, making a citi-
zen’s bow, and talking of common things, of which
a priest is ignorant, he meditated how to carry in-
to effect a plan for the ruin of Godreau’s daughter,
which he had boasted to some of his friends that he
could accomplish. Here the father is introduced
as addressing him:)

* Speak, speak, friend priest: you can talk ; for you have wit.
In spite of your indiscretion, you are a man of genius. I have
understood what you have boasted of. To pay you, I am go-
ing to give you a shovel,” &c. (And then the song gives an
account of abeating the priest received with a fire-shavel, and
his ludicrous complaints.)

-4, A PARODY ON A HYMN.

Alleluia, le prtre s'en va.
Alleluia, la fille s'en va.
Alleluia, les vépres sont dits, &c. &e.

Hallelujah! the priest is going.
Hallelujah! the lady is going.
The evening prayers are said, &c.

The remainder of this, which isa parody on a
hymn, I will never repeat.
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6. LES TROIS JOLIS VICAIRES.

Celui 12 qui a fait ce chanson.

Sont trois jolis Vicaires.

En venant d’un voyage

Ils se sont arrétés

Faire faire un souper,

Tout pendant le souper

11 faut lui racconter

Les aventures de dame Margotte.
Je vous dis en verité

Qu'elle a merité

Une chanson composée.

Chorus—Chantons les chansons,
En vuidant les flacons,
Sans épargner le bouteille,
Le verre i la main,
Bannissant le chiagrin.

The authors of this song were three jolly Vicars.
On their return from a journey they stopped to sup.
. (something forgotten.)
During the supper he wanted to hear the adventures of Dame
Margotte.
I tell you in truth that she deserves a song.
Chorus—Let us sing our songs,
‘While we empty our flasks,
Without sparing the bottle,
With the glassin our hand,
Banishing care.

This song was long, and the chorus I have heard
often repeated, by a large ecompany of priests, till
all would ring again.

There is also a parody on a hymn beginning
thus:—

0, que je suis heureux !
Je trouverals celui que yaime !

), qie Je suis }"eureux.
s tiens leroi des cieux !
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O, how happy am ],

I shall find him whom I love!
O, how happy am I,

I have got the king of heaven !

The parody on this hymn is so profane and
shameless, that it used to shock me to hear it, for
-it impressed me with the dreadful conviction, that
the priests were perfect infidels and atheists. I
felt certain that they would never have sung such
things if they had any belief in a God.

6. LES PRETRES DU SEMINAIRE.

Les prétres du Seminaire font faire wn répas,

Que les Protestants ne s’en plainent pas,

Ils s'ont mis en 1 lusieures classes—:

Avec du vin magnifique,

Dansants leur musique.

Chorus—L’Eveque est arrivé de France

Avec les pardons et les graces,
Vivants, chantants, divertissons nous,
Puisque I’ Eveque est arrivé de France,
Avcc despardons et des graces.

The priests of the Seminavy made a feast,
That the Protestants should not complain,
They put themselves in different classes
With magnificent wine, dancing to their music.
Chorus—-The Bishop has come from France,
With pardons and favers—
Come, let us sing and divert ourselves,
Since the Bishop has come from France.
With pardons and favers.

7. LE JOLI PRETRE.

1l-y-a un joli prétre, qui a un\'joli ventirc.
Cuisant, cuisant, cuisant, un joh cuisant.
Le nombie, un joli, joli nombre.
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Les genoux, les jolis, jolis genoux.

La main, une jolie, jolie main.

Tous ces prétres 'amour les prends,.
pipon, pipon

L'amour les prends. * *

Et quand le dimanche est arrivé,

A la grande messe elle veut aller.

Quand elle est dans I’église entrée,

L’€pergisse d’or 3 elle presenté.

O mon dieu! Quelle belledame!

This describes a handsome priest—with the re-
mark, that all the priests fail in love. Then it
speaks of a young widow who came to live in his
parish, and attracted the attention of the confessors
on entering the chureh at high mass. The rest
of the song is taken up with descriptions of the
quarrels the priests had about her.

8. LES PRETRES S’EN VONT.

Les prétres s’en vont aux cabargts, boire la: chapina,
Un verre & la main, et la fille aux genoux.

L’amant, passantpar I3, se mit i dire au prétre,

Ah, trista mina! N’allez plus au cabarat

Boire la chapina.

The priests go to the cabarets to drink chapina;
A glasgin their hand, &ec.

A lover passing by says, Ah trista mina!

Go no more to the cabarets,

To drink chapina.

9. LES GENS DE NEW YORK

Les gens de New York se sont vanié,
Que I'eglise lassait approcher;

Ils ont fait un requéte,

Pour presenter 4 'Evéque.



PRIESTS’ NUNNERY SONGS,

V3, vi, tuiras,
1l s’en répentira !

Et I'Eglise de la Protestante
Ce n'est qu’un boucant;
Et tout le tems il veut se mocquer
De la sainte Eglise de mon Seigneur.
Vi, v, tuiras,
11 se’n répentira.

Buvants, chantants, divertissons nous,
Pour le jour veut arriver

Que tout ce boucant

Sera jetté i terre

Par notre Seigneur.

The men of New York have made a boast,
(1 do not understand this line.)

They made a request to the Bishop—
Go on, go on, you may go on,

But you'll repent before you're done.

The church of the Protestants
Is only an abandoned house;

And is always deriding

The holy church of Our Lord.

Go on, go on, you may go on,

But you'll repent before vou're done.
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Drinking and singing, let us divert ourselves,

For the time is coming
When that abandoned house

Will be thrown down to the ground

By Our Lord.

10. MON CHER, PERE.

“ Mon cher Pére va pour I’ Amérique,”’—&e.

* * *
“ Je décrirais les belles,
“ Et tu auras de moi nouvelles.”
“Mas il-y-a dans I'Amerique _ '
“ Des filles plus jolies, plus jolies que moi;
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* Et vous confesserez des filles

*“ Plus jolies, plus jolies que moi;
*Et tu penseras des filles

** Plus jolies, plus jolies que moi.”

* Non, ma belle, je penserais toujours a toi!”

This is for two voices—for a priest and a young
lady, to whom he has been Confessor.. The occa-
sion of the song is his departure for the United
States, which are often called I’ Amerique, (Ame-
rica,) in Canada.

Lady—"' My dear father is going to America.”
{Then came in several lines which I forget.)

Priest—"*I will describe the ladies, and so you shall get
news from me.”

Lady—'* But there are in America
Ladies more fair, more fair than me;
And you will confess ladies
More fair, moreé fair than me;
And you will think of ladiés
More fair, more fair than me.”

Priest—" Oh no. my fair, I shall always think of you.”
12*



CONCLUSION.

I nave now concluded all the *further Disclo-
sures” which I deem it important to make, in rela-
tion to the Hotel Dieu Nunnery. There are many
incidents which have been brought to my memory,
while I have been employed in preparing the pre-
ceding pages; and [ might name and describe
many other persons with whom I had some ac-
quaintance, or of whom I heard particulars of dif-
ferent kinds. It is necessary, however, to put some
limits to myself; and, although I may not be the
best judge of what is most important to be known
to my readers, I think I have not kept‘back any
thing indispensable to them.

So far as I have been able, consistently with
truth, and the interests of many, I have endeavored
to avoid giving pain to individuals, by exposing
what I know, even though they be culpable, and
some of them highly so. My object has not been
wantonly to destroy peace ; and of this I think seve-
ral persons will be convinced when they find that
I have not mentioned in this book things which
they know I am acquainted with.

The public will easily understand why I did
not allude in my first volume to the fact that I saw

17
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American females at Nuns' Island, under the cir-

cumstances in which I have here described them.

I was afraid of ‘the consequences at that time, be-

cause I thought that was one of the last things the

priests would be willing to see published ; and that

something coming so near home, would imbitter

some against me, more than any thing I could say

about deeds done at a distance, and in a different.
country.

I now take leave of my readers, with a belief
that I have done all that can be required of me,
and with a sincere wish, that while my disclosures
may save some innocent and unsuspecting females
from sufferings like my own, I may be enabled to
spend the rest of my life in retirement and peace,
amongst those who will- protect a feeble woman
and her harmless child, and in the midst of the
blessings of virtuous society.






